
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Audit Board

A meeting of the above Board will be held on

Wednesday 28 June 2017

at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford

Councillor D A Hammock (Chairman)
Councillor A Bardoe (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor J S Hawkes
Councillor J A Hayes
Councillor A R Lloyd

Councillor Mrs J A Ozog
Councillor D Swinerd



This page is intentionally left blank



AUDIT BOARD

 AGENDA

Wednesday 28 June 2017

1. Apologies for Absence. 

2. Declarations of Interest. 

To receive declarations of interest from Members, including the 
term(s) of any Grant(s) of Dispensation.

3. Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 12 April 
2017 

MD
(Pages 1 - 8)

4. Urgent Items 

The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are 
any urgent items and their position on the agenda.

ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION IN PUBLIC

5. References from Other Committees (IF ANY) 

There are presently no references from other Committees for the 
Board to consider.

6. Annual Report 2016/17 of the Monitoring Officer on the 
Review of Ethical Governance Arrangements and Ancillary 
Matters 

(Pages 9 - 54)

To review the Council’s ethical governance arrangements and 
ancillary matters. 

7. Complaints Monitoring and Procedure Review -  2016/2017 
(Pages 55 - 92)

To provide Members with information on the Council’s Corporate 
Complaints Procedure, including the number and nature of 
complaints received in respect of services provided by the 
Council during the period 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017. 

8. Planned Audit Fee for 2017/18 
(Pages 93 - 98)



To consider the attached correspondence from the Council’s 
External Auditor, Grant Thornton UK, LLP. 

9. Financial Regulations 
(Pages 99 - 

144)

That Board Members note the new Financial Regulations 
attached as Appendix A to the report. 

10. Counter Fraud & Compliance Team Annual Report 2016/17 
(Pages 145 - 

150)

This report is to update the Audit Board on the work undertaken 
by the Counter Fraud & Compliance Team during the year ended 
31 March 2017. 

11. Annual Review of the Effectiveness of the Internal Audit 
Service 2016-17 (Pages 151 - 

190)

This report provides Members with a summary of the findings 
from the review of the effectiveness of the system of Internal 
Audit for 2016/17.

12. Review of Internal Audit Recommendations - Progress 
Report (Pages 191 - 

202)

This report is to update Members on progress of the 
implementation of recommendations agreed with Management, 
and to report on outstanding recommendations due for 
implementation by 30 April 2017. 

13. Audit Reports Issued Since Last Meeting of the Board 
(Pages 203 - 

210)

This report is to inform Audit Board Members of outcomes of the 
audits completed since the previous report to the Board on 12 
April 2017 and to provide Members with the opportunity to 
request clarification or further information, if considered 
necessary.

14. Selective Invoice Checks 
(Pages 211 - 

214)

During the April 2017 meeting of the Audit Board, Members 
selected five creditor payments for checking. This report 
summarises the findings of that exercise and provides the 
opportunity for Members to select further payments for audit 



checking. 

15. Annual Governance Statement 
(Pages 215 - 

304)

This report considers the governance arrangements and the 
system of internal control which operated during 2016/17 and the 
review that has taken place of those arrangements and controls.

16. Internal Audit Annual Report 2016-17 
(Pages 305 - 

322)

This report provides Members of the Board with a summary of 
the work of the Internal Audit Service during 2016-17.

17. CIPFA training with Sevenoaks Audit Committee Members 

To receive an update from the Chairman on the CIPFA training 
undertaken with Sevenoaks Members on 5 June 2017. 





1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

AUDIT BOARD

MINUTES of the meeting of the Audit Board held on Wednesday 12 April 2017 at 
7.00 pm.

PRESENT: Councillor D A Hammock (Chairman)
Councillor A Bardoe (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor J S Hawkes
Councillor J A Hayes
Councillor A R Lloyd
Councillor D J Reynolds (Substitute)
Councillor D Swinerd

ABSENT: Councillor Mrs J A Ozog

IN ATTENDANCE: Sarah Martin – Strategic Director (Internal Services)
Tim Sams – Financial Services Manager (FSM)
Lisa Nyon – Principal Internal Auditor (PIA)
Liz Jackson – Grant Thornton UK (External 

Auditors)

46. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE. 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Mrs Julie Ozog 
(Substitute Cllr. Denzil Reynolds).

The Chairman welcomed Liz Jackson from Grant Thornton UK, the Council’s 
External Auditors and noted the presence of the Strategic Director (Internal 
Services), the Financial Services Manager and the Principal Internal Auditor. 

47. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST. 

There were no declarations of interest.

48. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 11 
JANUARY 2017 

RESOLVED:

That the Minutes of the Audit Board meeting held on 11 January 2017 be 
confirmed as accurate.

49. REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY) 

There were no references from other Committees for the Board to consider.



AUDIT BOARD

WEDNESDAY 12 APRIL 2017

2

50. REPORTS FROM THE EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND ASSURANCE LETTER 

The covering report from the Financial Services Manager (FSM) presented 
two reports from the External Auditor, Grant Thornton UK for noting and one 
letter. Detail:

 The Audit Plan for the Council for the Year ended 31 March 2017 
(attached as Appendix A to the report);

 An Audit Board Progress Report and Update for the Year ended 31 
March 2017 (attached as Appendix B to the report) including the latest 
position on the Housing Benefits claim;

 A letter dated 17 January 2017 addressed to the Board Chairman for 
the Year ended 31 March 2017 explaining how the Audit Board gained 
assurance over management processes and arrangements.

The FSM advised that he was co-ordinating a comprehensive response to the 
letter from Grant Thornton on behalf of the Chairman.

Liz Jackson, Engagement Lead, Grant Thornton advised Board Members that 
the contents of the Audit Plan for the Council for the year ending 31 March 
2017 had been discussed with management and would be conducted in line 
with the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and in accordance with the 
Code of Practice issued by the National Audit Office (NAO). The Plan required 
the External Auditors to assess significant and other risk associated with the 
conduct of the Council’s finances and make a Value for Money (VfM) 
conclusion with regard to the Council making proper arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.

She advised that under ISA 240 two (2) significant risks were ‘presumed’ for 
all audits with regard to (i) misstated revenue streams and (ii) management 
over-ride of controls: in the case of the Council both risks had been rebutted 
by the External Auditor.

Following an initial risk assessment and detailed discussions with the 
Council’s Finance Officers, the External Auditor had identified no significant 
risks with regard to the Council’s Value for Money (VfM) arrangements. The 
External Auditors had also found the Council’s proposed budget for 2017/18 
to be well balanced, but would re-examine this area later in the year, as 
revenue streams tightened, and prior to issuing its final report to the Board in 
September 2017.

At the previous Board held on 11 January 2017 [Min. No. 35 refers] Members 
had been advised by the External Auditor that initial findings from certification 
work undertaken on the Council’s Housing Benefit Subsidy Return for 2015-
16 had revealed that the Council was at risk of losing Government subsidy; 
due to errors identified in the testing of calculations of claimant’s Self-
Employed Income, by Council staff. Following additional review work 
undertaken by Council staff in February 2017 and submission of a revised 
extrapolation by the External Auditor to the Department of Work & Pensions 



AUDIT BOARD

WEDNESDAY 12 APRIL 2017

3

(DWP) it was calculated that the Council would now retain around £70K of the 
subsidy which it had been at risk of losing. Subject to any follow-up from the 
Department work on the Council’s 2015-16 HB Subsidy Claim could now be 
closed.

The Chairman sought clarification on one point in the Audit Plan [agenda 
page 29] with regard to the work of Internal Audit, for the record. He noted  
that the Strategic Director (Internal Services) and Section 151 Officer 
continued to act as the Chief Audit Executive (CAE) despite, he recalled,  a 
previous External Audit recommendation to separate these roles to conform 
with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS).

The Strategic Director (IS) confirmed that this was indeed the case. Her 
previous responsibilities as CAE had been transferred to the Audit, Risk and 
Anti-Fraud Manager (ARAFM) in 2016 as recommended. However, in the 
subsequent and continued absence of the ARAFM, the SD (IS) had had to re-
assume the CAE role on a temporary basis. To provide a check and balance 
to the ongoing temporary staffing arrangement however, the Audit Board were 
able to request sight of any Internal Audit review.

Liz Jackson confirmed that Grant Thornton, as External Auditor, was content 
with this temporary arrangement for 2016/17, given the ongoing staffing 
difficulties involved and the mitigating arrangements that had been put in 
place (as detailed above). 

RESOLVED:

1. That Audit Board Members note the plan from the External Auditor for 
the external audit of the Council’s 2016/17 Accounts [as attached at 
Appendix A to the report];

2. That Board Members note the contents of the Audit Board Progress 
and Update report from the External Auditor [attached as Appendix B 
to the report];

3. That Members note the contents of the letter from Grant Thornton UK, 
External Auditors dated 17 January 2017 [attached as Appendix C to 
the report] and the proposal that the Financial Services Manager 
prepare a full response to the External Auditor for signature by the 
Board Chairman.

51. INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN 2017/18 

This report set out for the Board the proposed draft Internal Audit Plan for 
2017/18 (attached as Appendix A to the report).

Members were asked to review and approve the proposed Internal Audit Plan 
for 2017/18 as set out in Appendix A to the report together with the detailed 



AUDIT BOARD

WEDNESDAY 12 APRIL 2017

4

Programme Reviews for 2017/18 (attached at Annex 1) and the Resource 
Plan for 2017/18 (attached at Annex 2).

The Principal Internal Auditor (PIA) summarised the salient points in her 
report for Board Members:

 The 2017/18 Internal Audit Plan [Appendix A to the report] had been 
prepared in accordance with professional standards, including the new 
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 2016 and the Accounts and 
Audit Regulations 2015;

 The objective of the 2017/18 Plan was to ensure that Internal Audit 
resources were deployed in order to add value to the Council’s 
objectives whilst delivering reasonable assurances to the Council 
regarding the effectiveness of the internal control, governance and risk 
management processes, in the fulfilment of the Council’s statutory 
obligations;

 The Audit Approach [agenda p.64] detailed the methodology used to 
evaluate where there was a need for individual audit reviews and took 
into account the resources currently available to the Internal Audit 
Team; 

 Annex 1 to Appendix A [agenda p. 69-73] set out details of the 25 
(twenty-five) reviews planned in the 2017/18 Audit Plan cycle, 
including 5 reviews covering; Non-Domestic Rates, Licensing, 
Electoral Services, FOI/Data Protection and Parking Income which 
had been deferred from 2016/17 on a risk assessment basis;

 Relevant management had been consulted prior to the selection of the 
proposed reviews and the finer points of each audit brief would be 
agreed with managers prior to commencement of the audit fieldwork; 

 Annex 2 to Appendix A set out details of the Resource Plan for 
2017/18, which included extra training days for the Team. All reviews 
included in the 2017/18 Plan would be completed using ‘TeamMate’ 
audit software to bring consistency to audit report writing and further 
improve the Team’s efficiency;

 The Internal Audit Team now comprised 3.8 auditors, 1 audit 
administrator plus the Principal Auditor fulfilling the role of Audit 
Manager, in the continued absence of the Audit, Risk and Anti-Fraud 
Manager (ARAFM);

 The audit opinions that had been introduced in 2016 had all been well 
received by the relevant managers and would continue in force in 
2017.

The Chairman sought confirmation that Officers were content with the control 
arrangements for the procurement of agency staff [Review No. 7 ‘Agency 
Staff’ - agenda p. 70]. 

The Strategic Director confirmed that all new staff (including agency staff) 
were now subject to a Baseline Personnel Security Standard Check (BPSSC) 
prior to appointment.



AUDIT BOARD

WEDNESDAY 12 APRIL 2017

5

The Shadow Leader asked why Review No. 20 - ‘Homelessness Prevention 
Grants’ [agenda p.72] had been proposed and whether any ‘oversight’ 
mechanisms were in place to review the Council’s use of Grants which 
appeared widespread, in his view.

The PIA advised that a review of the Council’s ‘Homelessness Prevention 
Grant’ had not been undertaken for some time and was being undertaken in 
2017/18 on that basis. The Council’s use of other grant funding mechanisms 
could be subject to similar review as the Board desired/defined a need. 

The Chairman reminded Board Members that they could request to see any 
audit report in full, on an individual basis if desired, rather than the standard 
summary of reports submitted in agenda papers.

RESOLVED:

1. That the Audit Board note and approve the Internal Audit Plan for 
2017/18 as attached at Appendix A to the report, including Annexes 1 
and 2.

52. REVIEW OF INTERNAL AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS - PROGRESS 
REPORT 

This report updated Board Members on progress of the implementation of 
recommendations agreed with Management during the year and reported on 
outstanding recommendations that had been due for implementation by 31 
January 2017.

The Principal Internal Auditor (PIA) confirmed the standard format for the 
progress report and its Appendices. Detail:

 Appendix A summarised in a table format those recommendations that 
had been followed up with Management and those where 
implementation had been delayed;

 Appendix B provided details of agreed recommendations where 
Management had advised Internal Audit that implementation of agreed 
actions had initially been delayed from the planned date together with 
a ‘latest position + source’ for each outstanding recommendation with 
more audit days allocated to undertake the outstanding checks.

The Chairman sought clarification on how the Council chased outstanding 
debt [‘Collection & Enforcement of Debt 2015/16 – Appendix B agenda p. 82]. 

The Strategic Director advised that use of the bespoke ‘Retriever’ software 
tool had proved particularly effective in the tracing of sundry debtors, allied to 
the increased use of Enforcement Agencies when debtors had been traced.

RESOLVED:



AUDIT BOARD

WEDNESDAY 12 APRIL 2017

6

1. That Board Members note the reasons for delayed implementation of 
audit recommendations as set out in Appendix B to the report;

2. That Members endorse the revised dates provided by Management for 
implementation of outstanding audit recommendations as set out in 
Appendix B to the report.

53. AUDIT REPORTS ISSUED SINCE LAST MEETING OF THE BOARD 

The report (and attached Appendices A and B) informed the Audit Board of 
the outcomes of the audits completed since the previous report to the Board 
on 11 January 2017 and gave Board Members the opportunity to request 
clarification or further information as deemed necessary.

The Principal Internal Auditor advised that since publication of the report two 
(2) further audits had been finalised in respect of;

 ‘Members’ Allowances’ (Full Assurance); and
 ‘Markets Income’ (Substantial Assurance)

RESOLVED:

1. That Audit Board Members note the contents of the report and 
Appendices A and B.

54. PROGRESS REPORT ON INTERNAL AUDIT ANNUAL PLAN 2016/17 

This report provided Members of the Board with information regarding the 
progress of the Internal Audit Team in delivering the Annual Internal Audit 
Plan 2016/17.

The Principal Internal Auditor (PIA) reminded Board Members that the Internal 
Audit (IA) Function was a key process of the Council’s overall governance 
arrangements. The key purpose of the IA function was to conduct 
independent reviews of the Council’s system of internal controls, risk 
management processes and governance arrangements, in order to provide 
assurance to both Senior Management and Members regarding the 
effectiveness of such systems. 

A summary of progress made in delivering the assurance requirements for 
2016/17 was attached at Appendix A to the report and included reviews 
conducted in March 2017. Members were advised that nineteen (19) planned 
reviews had commenced, with twelve (12) finalised, one (1) at draft stage and 
six (6) others at various stages of progress. 

Members were informed that the Internal Audit Plan 2016/17 had been 
amended to take into account existing capacity and to reflect the assurance 
priorities for the remainder of the 2016/17 municipal year. Some productive 



AUDIT BOARD

WEDNESDAY 12 APRIL 2017

7

capacities had been lost due to a vacancy and the long-term absence of the 
Audit Manager. With the approval of Senior Management nine (9) reviews had 
been re-assessed resulting in five (5) reviews being carried forward into the 
2017/18 Plan and four (4) as being of low risk and withdrawn. 

The use of Internal Audit resources for the period up to 31 January 2017 was 
recorded in Appendix B to the report and took account of additional staff 
training days.

The PIA advised that since publication of the agenda the number of reviews at 
final report stage had increased to fourteen (14) [Appendix A agenda p.95]. 
This figure compared very favourably to the corresponding period in 2016 
when only eight (8) reviews had reached final report stage. 

The Shadow Leader expressed the view that; whilst understandable given 
recent electoral activity and the forthcoming Kent County Council elections in 
May 2017; the proposed review of ‘Electoral Services’ [Appendix A agenda 
p.95 review No. 6] should be conducted as a matter of priority in 2018.
 
The Strategic Director (Internal Services) and Section 151 Officer paid tribute 
to the efforts of the Internal Audit Team in the period under review, an 
especially commendable effort she advised, given the continued absence of 
the Audit Manager.

The Audit Board fully endorsed the Strategic Director’s comments and 
congratulated the Internal Audit Team on their performance in the period 
under review.

RESOLVED:

1. That Board Members note the contents of the report and the progress 
made against the 2016/17 Annual Audit Plan.

55. SELECTIVE INVOICE CHECKS 

At the last meeting of the Audit Board on 11 January 2017 Board Members 
selected five (5) creditor payments for checking. The report advised Members 
of the outcome of that exercise.

The results of the Internal Audit review of the selected creditor invoices 
confirmed that all spend decisions made were appropriate and in compliance 
with Council procedures.

Members were invited to select five (5) further creditor payments for 
examination by the Internal Audit Team and subsequent reporting to the 
Board in June 2017.

RESOLVED:



AUDIT BOARD

WEDNESDAY 12 APRIL 2017

8

1. That Board Members note the contents of the report;
2. That five (5) further creditor payments be selected by Board Members 

for checking by Internal Audit and the outcome reported back to the 
Board in June 2017. 

56. ANTI-FRAUD AND CORRUPTION STRATEGY UPDATE 2017 

The report set out proposed amendments to the Council’s existing Anti-Fraud 
and Corruption Strategy (approved by the Audit Board in January 2011) as 
part of the required annual review process [Strategy, Section 5 refers].

An amended Strategy document was attached as Appendix A to the report for 
review by Members who were advised that; the review was in line with ‘best 
practice’, was required - given the passage of time since the last review in 
2011, that the proposed changes were minor in nature and had been 
approved by Senior Management. Detail:-

 The inclusion of a translation and alternative format strapline to the 
back page to inform users that the Policy, if required, was available in 
alternative formats [Policy pages 8/9 Agenda pages 111/112];

 All references to the former ‘Anti-Fraud Team’ had been replaced with 
‘Counter Fraud Team’ terminology;

 Re-wording of para. 2.4 of the Policy to include “A Baseline Personnel 
Security Standard Check (BPSSC) will be made for all new starters”.

RESOLVED:

1. That Members approve the proposed amendments to the Anti-Fraud 
and Corruption Strategy as set out in Appendix A to the report.

 
57. JOINT CIPFA TRAINING WITH MEMBERS OF SEVENOAKS COUNCIL'S 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 

The Strategic Director advised Board Members that Sevenoaks Councillors 
had expressed a preference for the proposed joint CIPFA training to be held 
at their Civic Centre offices on the evening of Monday 5 June 2017 to begin 
at the slightly earlier time of 6.30 p.m. 

The training was expected to last between 2.5 and 3 hours and would offer 
Members from both authorities the opportunity to share in existing ‘best 
practice’ in addition to deepening their knowledge of CIPFA procedures as a 
whole.

The meeting closed at 7.24 pm

Councillor D A Hammock, CHAIRMAN



AUDIT BOARD
28 JUNE 2017

ANNUAL REPORT 2016/2017 OF THE MONITORING OFFICER ON 
THE REVIEW OF ETHICAL GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS AND 
ANCILLARY MATTERS

1. Summary

1.1 To review the Council’s ethical governance arrangements and ancillary 
matters.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the Monitoring Officer’s Annual Report 2016/17 on the Review of 
Ethical Governance Arrangements and ancillary matters, as set out in 
Appendix A, be considered and endorsed. 

3. Background and Discussion

3.1The Monitoring Officer’s Annual Report set out at Appendix A, focuses on 
the effectiveness of the ethical governance framework and reviews the 
Council’s ethical governance arrangements and ancillary matters by 
providing:

(a) an acknowledgement of responsibility for ensuring there is a sound 
system of ethical governance;

(b) an indication of the level of assistance that the systems and 
processes that comprise the Council’s ethical governance 
arrangements can provide;

(c) a brief description of the key elements of the ethical governance 
arrangements;

(d) a brief description of the process that has been applied in 
maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the ethical 
governance arrangements; and

(e) an outline of the actions taken to deal with changes to the 
standards regime introduced by the Localism Act 2011.

3.2The Council is responsible for ensuring inter alia, that its business is 
conducted in accordance with the law and ethical standards.  Members 
and Officers are responsible for implementing proper ethical governance 
arrangements.  To this end, the adopted Member Code of Conduct [GAC 
16.07.12:Min.No.35 & 16.12.2013 [Min.No:72]], is consistent with the legal 
principles and reflects the requirements of the CIPFA guidance ‘Delivering 
Good Governance in Local Government’ and Addendum.  

3.3The Monitoring Officer’s Annual Report summarises the key work carried 
out in 2016/2017 and provides assurance that the Council’s control 



AUDIT BOARD
28 JUNE 2017

environment, in the areas which are the responsibility of the Monitoring 
Officer, is adequate and effective.  This Annual Report supports the 
assurance statements included in the Annual Governance Statement.

3.4Members are asked to consider and endorse the Monitoring Officer’s 
Annual Report at Appendix A.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

The Monitoring Officer’s Annual Report is part of the Council’s ongoing 
commitment to good corporate governance and supports effective decision 
making and an effective ethical governance framework.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications As detailed in Appendix A 

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment The Monitoring Officer’s Annual Report 
increases awareness of the ethical 
governance framework and sets out 
the good governance arrangements 
that are in place

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Monitoring Officer 2016/2017 Annual Report 

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Marie Kelly-Stone
(01322) 343634

Legal Services/
Strategic 
Directorate 
(Internal 
Services)

N/A



 1 

APPENDIX A

ANNUAL REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER ON 
THE REVIEW OF THE COUNCIL’S ETHICAL 
GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS AND ANCILLARY 
MATTERS

2016 and 2017



 2 

1. Introduction

1.1.1 Local authorities are established in statute, with their responsibilities largely set 
out through a framework of legal duties. Councils are subject to duties which set 
out what they must do and set checks and balances on their actions. These 
duties include the role of officers and accountability to the public.  The core 
accountability system is largely based on the application of these legal duties.

1.1.2 Effective local government relies on public confidence in elected councillors and 
appointed officers.  Good governance underpins credibility and confidence in 
public services.  The function of governance is to ensure that the Council fulfils its 
purpose and achieves its intended outcomes for citizens and service users and 
that it operates in an effective, efficient, economic and ethical manner.  These 
concepts guide all governance activity.  

1.1.3 Ethics is a key element of governance and the purpose of the Monitoring Officer’s 
annual review of the Council’s ethical governance is to ensure that robust 
arrangements are in place and that the Council continues to develop and improve 
management and reporting arrangements so as to satisfy itself that its approach 
to ethical governance is both adequate and effective in practice.  Other aspects of 
governance within the Council are reviewed by the Section 151 Officer and 
reported to the Audit Board/Cabinet.

2. CIPFA/SOLACE framework for good governance

2.1 The framework produced by CIPFA/SOLACE ‘Delivering Good Governance in 
Local Government’ and Addendum1 (the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework’) provides a 
structure to help individual authorities with their approach to governance. It also 
provides guidance on best practice for developing and maintaining a local code of 
corporate governance.

2.1.1 To achieve good governance, the Council should be able to demonstrate that its 
governance structures comply with the core and sub principles contained in the 
CIPFA/SOLACE Framework. The Council should therefore develop and maintain 
a local code of governance/governance arrangements reflecting those principles. 
Whatever form of arrangements are in place, the Council should test its 
governance structures and partnerships against the CIPFA/SOLACE 
Framework’s principles.

2.2 The following are the key elements of the typical systems and processes that 
comprise an authority’s governance arrangements.  The Council’s review of 
the effectiveness of its governance arrangements will need to make 
appropriate reference to these elements:

1 December 2016



 3 

 identifying and communicating the authority’s vision of its purpose 
and intended outcomes for citizens and service users;

 reviewing the authority’s vision and its implications for the authority’s 
governance arrangements;

 translating the vision into objectives for the authority and its 
partnerships;

 measuring the quality of services for users, to ensure they are 
delivered in accordance with the authority’s objectives and for 
ensuring that they represent the best use of resources and value for 
money;

 defining and documenting the roles and responsibilities of the 
executive, non-executive, scrutiny and officer functions, with clear 
delegation arrangements and protocols for effective communication 
in respect of the authority and partnership arrangements;

 developing, communicating and embedding codes of conduct, 
defining the standards of behaviour for members and staff;

 reviewing the effectiveness of the authority’s decision-making 
framework, including delegation  arrangements, decision making in 
partnerships and robustness of data quality;

 reviewing the effectiveness of the framework for identifying and 
managing risks and demonstrating clear accountability;

 ensuring effective counter-fraud and anti-corruption arrangements 
are developed and maintained;

 ensuring effective management of change and transformation;
 ensuring the authority’s financial management arrangements 

conform with the governance requirements of the CIPFA Statement 
on the Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government2 and, 
where they do not, explain why and how they deliver the same 
impact;

 ensuring the authority’s assurance arrangements conform with the 
governance requirements of the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the 
Head of Internal Audit3 and, where they do not, explain why and how 
they deliver the same impact;

 ensuring effective arrangements are in place for the discharge of the 
monitoring officer function;

 ensuring effective arrangements are in place for the discharge of the 
head of paid service function;

 undertaking the core functions of an audit committee, as identified in 
CIPFA’s Audit Committees: Practical Guidance for Local Authorities and 

2April 2016 publication
3February 2010



 4 

Police4;
 ensuring compliance with relevant laws and regulations, internal 

policies and procedures, and that expenditure is lawful;
 establishing whistleblowing arrangements and for receiving and 

investigating complaints from the public;
 identifying the development needs of members and senior officers in 

relation to their strategic roles, supported by appropriate training;
 establishing clear channels of communication with all sections of the 

community and other stakeholders, ensuring accountability and 
encouraging  open consultation;

 enhancing the accountability for service delivery and effectiveness  of 
other public service providers;

 incorporating good governance arrangements in respect of 
partnerships and other joint working as identified by the Audit 
Commission’s report on the governance of partnerships5, and 
reflecting these in the authority’s overall governance arrangements.

2.3 This report addresses the key elements (shown above in italics) which are the 
responsibility of the Monitoring Officer.  These key elements are supported by a 
number of underlying principles, which in turn, translate into a range of specific 
requirements referred to in the Council’s local code of corporate governance, to be 
presented to the Audit Board at its meeting on 28 June 2017. 

2.4 The Council is required to prepare an Annual Governance Statement.  This 
Statement is presented by the Section 151 Officer to the Audit Board for approval, 
with the Annual Statement of Accounts.  The Annual Governance Statement will be 
presented to the Audit Board at its meeting on 28 June 2017.

2.5 The Monitoring Officer’s Annual Report provides assurance that the Council’s 
control environment in the areas which are the responsibility of the Monitoring 
Officer is adequate and effective.  This Annual Report supports the assurance 
statements included in the Annual Governance Statement. 

2.6 Some of the assurances required to be given affect the Audit Board’s work in so far 
as ethical standards are concerned.  By way of example, the Council is required to 
demonstrate how the Member Code of Conduct is embedded, how awareness is 
raised about the Code, what steps are taken to enforce the Code in the form of 
registers of interests etc. and how the Code is reviewed.  Other key documents and 
functions which impact on the work of the Audit Board include the Constitution, 
Member induction and training, Member/Officer Relations’ Protocol and other 
Protocols which have been adopted by the Audit Board.  Those assurances are 
dealt with in this report.

4 2013
5 October 2005



 5 

3. THE ANNUAL REVIEW OF THE CONSTITUTION

3.1 Executive arrangements

3.1.1 Elected Members are collectively responsible for the governance of the Council.

3.1.2 On 23 April 2001 [Min.No.186], the Council adopted ‘executive arrangements’ 
comprising a Cabinet and Leader form of local governance.  In 2010, the Local 
Government & Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (as amended) required the 
Council to reconsider its governance arrangements to either an elected mayor 
and cabinet executive or to a new style leader and cabinet.  The Council 
consulted on its preferred model between June and September 2010.  Following 
the consultation, the formal resolution to adopt a leader and cabinet form of 
executive from 8 May 2011 was passed by the GAC on 13 December 2010 [Min. 
No.85].  Standing Orders provide for the removal of the Leader by way of 
resolution, on a vote of no confidence.

3.1.3 Under the Local Government & Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (as 
amended), the Leader was appointed for a further 4 year term of office from the 
2016 Annual Meeting.  The Localism Act 2011 (Local Authority Governance 
Transitional Provisions) Order 2012 preserves the current rules relating to the 
election and terms of office of executive leaders, until such time as the local 
authority makes provision for different arrangements under Section 9C of the 
Local Government Act 2000 (different forms of local authority executives).

3.1.4 By law, executive arrangements must include one or more overview and scrutiny 
committees through which non-executive councillors can question and challenge 
the performance of the executive and promote public debate. 

3.1.5 The Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 
2000 (as amended) provide for a division of responsibilities between the Cabinet 
and the remainder of the Council, in particular the GAC and the regulatory 
committees. 

DCLG has consulted on proposed changes to the 2000 Regulations. The 
proposals contained in the Draft Local Authorities (Functions and 
Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2015, combine a consolidation of the 
amendments which have already been made to the original 2000 Regulations, 
with further amendments to take account of recent legislative changes, plus a 
number of significant changes to the balance of power between Cabinet and the 
GAC in respect of, for example, budgeting, neighbourhood plans, land disposal, 
car parking charges and weekly bin collections. In almost a throw-away 
paragraph, the DCLG letter6 to Chief Executives states: "Ministers are also 
minded to include in the proposed Regulations provision to require decisions 
relating to: 

629 January 2015



 6 

 new parking enforcement areas or parking charges, and 
 the frequency of waste collection, 

should be put to the full Council."

The consultation paper does not elaborate on either proposal or provide a draft 
text for a Regulation. The outcome of the consultation has yet to be made public. 

3.2 The Constitution 

3.2.1 The Constitution sets out how the Council operates, how decisions are made and 
the procedures which are to be followed, to ensure that decisions are efficient, 
transparent and that those who make the decisions, are accountable to local 
people.  The Monitoring Officer is the guardian of the Council’s Constitution and 
is responsible for ensuring that the Constitution operates efficiently, is properly 
maintained and is adhered to.  The Monitoring Officer is responsible for the 
review of and keeping up to date the Constitution, in line with changes in 
legislation, Officer structure etc.   

3.2.2 A key role for the Monitoring Officer is to be aware of the strengths and 
weaknesses of the Constitution and to make recommendations for ways in which 
it could be amended, in order better to achieve the proper governance of the 
Council.  

(i) The General Assembly of the Council (the GAC) is responsible inter alia 
for:

 agreeing the Council’s Constitution containing the key governance 
documents including executive arrangements;

 agreeing the policy framework and key strategies;
 agreeing the budget;
 appointing Statutory Officers7 and electing the Leader of the Council;
 appointing committees to discharge Council functions.

(ii) The Cabinet is responsible inter alia for:

 proposing the policy framework and key strategies;
 proposing the budget;
 implementing the policy framework and key strategies;
 appointing committees to discharge Cabinet functions.

The Constitution will require amending, should the proposals referred to in para. 
3.1.5 become law.

7 Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and Section 151 Officer 



 7 

(iii) Statutory Officers

All local authorities are required by law to:

 designate an officer as Head of the Paid Service;
 designate an officer as Monitoring Officer responsible for informing 

councillors of any proposal, decision or omission of the council which is 
unlawful or involves maladministration and having investigation and 
advisory duties under the ethical framework for councillors;

 appoint an officer as Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer) 
responsible for the financial administration of the local authority’s affairs. 

The Statutory Officers’ roles encompass both proactive and reactive elements.  
The proactive role centres on raising standards, encouraging ethical behaviour, 
increasing awareness and utilisation of the elements of good governance and 
ensuring that robust procedures are in place.  The reactive role focuses on taking 
appropriate action to deal with issues and potential problems as they arise.  The 
Statutory Officers’ effectiveness in this role is, in turn, dependent on effective 
systems and procedures being in place to identify problems and ensure that 
Councillors, Officers and the public are aware of appropriate channels to raise 
concerns.

The specific roles and responsibilities of the Statutory Officers are set out in the 
Annex 1 to this report.

The Local Authorities) Standing Orders (England) (Amendment) Regulations 
2015 provides new statutory disciplinary and dismissal procedures for Statutory 
Officers. The key feature of the new process is that the requirement for a 
Designated Independent Person is removed and instead, a Statutory Officer 
cannot be dismissed unless the dismissal has been approved by full council, by 
way of a vote. The legislation also makes provision for a panel, on the face of it 
made up of independent persons, which can advise the authority on the proposed 
dismissal. 

The Joint Negotiating Committee for Local Authority Chief Executives has issued 
a comprehensive set of new procedures. These will be reviewed and 
incorporated into the Council’s disciplinary procedures.  

3.3 Contract Standing Orders 

3.3.1 All local authorities have statutory power under the Local Government Act 1972, 
to make discretionary standing orders if they choose for the regulation of council 
proceedings and business and regarding the quorum, proceedings and place of 
meeting of their committee etc.  However, there are a number of mandatory 
standing orders relating to staff and regulating certain aspects of the local 



 8 

authorities’ proceedings and business and for contracting purposes which must 
be incorporated into local authorities’ constitutions.  

3.3.2 Section 135 of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) imposes a duty on 
local authorities to adopt contract standing orders (CSOs), which contain the core 
obligations for a robust purchasing framework.  In addition to CSOs, the Council 
has adopted a Procurement Guide which provides practical guidance on how the 
CSOs apply to purchasing decisions and processes.  The Guide explains some of 
the more technical and legal issues involved in procurement and provides 
practical working examples.  

3.3.3 Pursuant to the Public Contracts Regulations 2015, the requirement to ensure 
that tender processes are run on a fully electronic basis will apply to all 
contracting authorities, from 18 October 2018.

3.3.4 The Procurement Guide is currently under review. Any amendments to CSOs will 
be actioned under the Managing Director’s delegated authority. 

3.4 Scheme of Delegations to Officers

3.4.1 Pursuant to the powers contained respectively, in Section 101(1) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 (as amended) and Section 14(3) of the Local Government 
Act 2000 (as amended), Council and Cabinet may arrange for certain of their 
respective functions to be discharged by Officers, in the manner, to the extent 
and subject to the conditions set out in the Scheme of Delegations to Officers.

3.4.2 The Scheme of Delegations to Officers is reviewed annually by the Head of Legal 
Services in consultation with Directors and service managers to ensure fitness for 
purpose.  The Managing Director has delegated authority to amend the Scheme.  

3.4.3 A comprehensive review of the Scheme of Delegations to Officers was 
undertaken in 2011 [Cabinet 21.04.11 - Min.No.167 and Annual Meeting 
25.05.11: Min.No. 25].  A further comprehensive review will be undertaken during 
2017 and reported to Cabinet and the GAC.

3.4.4 The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012 requires written records to be made of 
Cabinet decisions that have been delegated to an officer under a specific express 
authorisation, or under a general authorisation (scheme of delegations).  
Following representations to DCLG that it would be an unnecessary 
administrative burden to record each and every decision taken under a scheme 
of delegations, that it would be stretching resources and in turn, would slow down 
the decision making process and delay operational decisions generally, the 
Government issued guidance in June 20138 stating:

8 Your council’s cabinet – going to its meetings, seeing how it works - A guide for local people



 9 

‘Many administrative and operational decisions officers take on how they go 
about their day to day work will be delegated within the council’s rules and are not 
in this “executive decisions” category’.

‘Ultimately it is for local decision makers to decide what information should be 
recorded on the basis of the national rules.’

3.4.5 The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 extends the 
requirement to produce written records of decisions delegated to Officers by the 
GAC and Committees.  

The Council has made provision within its Constitution for the recording and 
publishing on its website, of decisions taken by officers under delegated authority.

3.5 The committee framework

3.5.1 It is important that committees are clear about their roles and responsibilities and 
that there is a clear distinction in their terms of reference.  This avoids confusion, 
disputes and possible duplication.  Furthermore, committees are likely to be more 
effective, if they are required to focus on their own defined areas of business.  

3.5.2 The functions of ‘overseeing financial processes, audit and risk management’ are 
delegated to the Audit Board.  Since the repeal on 30 June 2012, of the 
legislative requirement to have a statutory standards committee, the promotion of 
good ethical conduct by Councillors has been delegated to the Audit Board.  The 
Audit Board not only fulfils its statutory obligations, but also provides a supportive, 
as well as a regulatory role, within its Terms of Reference.   

The Audit Board oversees the following functions:

 internal control;
 risk management;
 financial management and reporting;
 anti-fraud and anti-corruption arrangements;
 issues raised by internal and external auditors.

The Audit Board also:
 provides the Council with advice on adopting the Member Code of Conduct;
 monitors the effectiveness of the Code;
 trains Members on the Code or arranges such training;
 promotes and maintains high standards of conduct for Members;
 assists Members to follow the Code.

A Hearing Panel (a sub-committee of the Audit Board) deals with hearings into 
alleged Member misconduct, following an investigation. There is no right of 
appeal against the Hearing Panel’s or Monitoring Officer’s decision on a Code of 



 10 

Conduct complaint, except through the courts by way of judicial challenge, or 
through the Local Government Ombudsman on matters related to 
maladministration or service failure.  

3.6 Overview and Scrutiny

3.6.1 The Council appointed the Scrutiny Committee in response to the Local 
Government Act 2000 (as amended), in order to introduce more democracy into 
the decision making process and to ensure that those who make decisions are 
held accountable.

Scrutiny Committee:

 reviews and questions Cabinet members and Officers about decisions and 
performance;

 scrutinises the performance of the Council in relation to its policy 
objectives, performance targets and/or particular service areas;

 makes recommendations to the Cabinet, the Council etc. arising from the 
outcome of the scrutiny process.

3.6.2 The Councillor Call for Action (CCfA) is a process by which Councillors who 
are not members of Scrutiny Committee, may refer to the Committee for scrutiny, 
any genuine, significant and persistent local government matter which is relevant 
to the functions of the Committee.  Although no CCfA referrals were made to 
Scrutiny Committee in 2016/17, it should be noted that the Scrutiny Committee 
Protocol provides for Members to raise concerns related to their ward and that 
Cabinet Advisory Panels are an opportunity for all back-bench Members to 
participate in policy formulation etc. pre-decision. 

3.6.3 Scrutiny Committee Call-ins

Scrutiny Committee and the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 
Committee may, in accordance with their Protocols, exercise a call-in of Cabinet 
decisions and key decisions delegated to officers, either prior to the decision 
being taken or once the decision has been taken, but prior to implementation. 

During 2016/17, Scrutiny Committee made one call-in relating to the revised 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme proposals.

3.6.4 Policy Overview Committee carries out the ‘overview’ function by reviewing 
general policies of the Council and recommending accordingly to the Cabinet on 
future policy options.  

3.6.5 Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee reviews and 
scrutinises the discharge of the Council’s crime and disorder functions. 



 11 

3.6.6 Treasury Management Panel oversees the Council’s treasury management 
function, in accordance with the CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services 
Code of Practice9 and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local 
Authorities10.

3.6.7 Scrutiny Committee, Policy Overview Committee and the Crime and Disorder 
(Overview and Scrutiny) Committee have adopted protocols which provide 
guidance on the application of the Committees’ respective processes.  The 
protocols are reviewed annually by the Committees, to ensure fitness for purpose 
and compliance with legislation. 

The Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health 
Scrutiny) Regulations 2013 came into force on 1 April 2013. Local authorities can 
review and scrutinise matters relating to the planning, provision and operation of 
the health service in their area. 

3.7 Terms of Reference are reviewed annually to ensure fitness for purpose and 
compliance with legislation.  They are then adopted at the Annual Meeting in 
May.  In - year amendments (delegated to the Managing Director) may however 
be required, through changes in legislation and/or officer structure.    

3.8 The co-ordination and maintenance of Key Decisions through a Regulation 9 
Notice (formerly referred to as the ‘Forward Plan’) is central to meeting the 
requirements of good governance as it enhances open and transparent decision 
making.  In compliance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules and the 
Constitution, the Regulation 9 Notice sets out Key Decisions which will be taken 
by the Cabinet, together with any decisions expected to be taken in camera, and 
the date/period within which the decision will be taken.  The Regulation 9 Notice 
must be published on the Council’s website www.dartford.gov.uk at least 28 days 
in advance of a Key Decision being taken by the Cabinet.  

3.9 Support to GAC, Cabinet, Scrutiny and other committee meetings

3.9.1 The distribution and publication of committee reports, agendas and decisions is 
central to meeting the requirements of a key deliverable.  Responsibility for 
overseeing the process and for ensuring that documents comply with statutory 
and constitutional requirements is that of the Member Services Manager reporting 
to the Strategic Director (Internal Services).  Responsibility includes:

 distributing and publishing all agendas not less than five clear working 
days’ prior to the meeting taking place and ensuring that all agendas are 
compliant with the access to information rules and exempt information is 
identified/marked accordingly;

 advertising public meetings five clear days’ before the meeting date;

92011
102011

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/


 12 

 ensuring that papers are made reasonably available to the public;
 drafting minutes for agreement by the Chairman within five working days’ 

of the meeting;
 publishing a record of all decisions, including key decisions taken by 

Cabinet within five working days’ of the meeting;
 ensuring that petitions are handled in accordance with the Council’s 

Standing Orders;
 ensuring that meetings are accessible.

3.9.2 Meetings analysis

One of the explicit aims of the Local Government Act 2000 (as amended), was to 
streamline the decision making process to allow councils to focus on service 
delivery.  In 2016/17, the following meetings were serviced by Member Services 
(MS):

2015/2016 2016/2017

GAC (including Budget 
and Annual Meeting)

6 6

GAC specials (Aldermen) 0 0

Cabinet Advisory Panels 8 8

Cabinet 8 8

Scrutiny Committee 4 3

Policy Overview 
Committee

4 4

Development Control 
Board

12 12

Audit Board 4 4

Hearing Panel 0 0

Licensing Sub-committee 
hearings

3 2

Licensing Committee 0 3

Appeals Panel 0 0

Joint Transportation 
Board

4 4



 13 

Deed, Trust and 
Obligations Committee

2 2

Borough and Parish 
Council Forum

4 3

Resident Involvement 
Joint Liaison Group

3 2

Electoral Provisions Sub-
committee

0 0

Crime and Disorder 
(Overview and Scrutiny) 
Committee

2 2

Treasury Management 
Panel

3 3

Appointments Panel 0 0

Discretionary Housing 
Payments Panel

0 0

Remuneration and 
Performance Management 
Panel

0 0

Independent 
Remuneration Panel

2 0

Dartford, Gravesham and 
Swanley Health and 
Wellbeing Board

6 5

3.9.3 The volume of meetings represents a substantial commitment of both Councillors’ 
and Officers’ time and resources.  It is of great importance that meetings 
constitute an effective use of time and resources that they add value to corporate 
effectiveness and help in meeting the aims and objectives set out in the 
Constitution and the Corporate Plan.  

Following the regular review for fitness for purpose over a number of years of the 
Council’s strategies, policies etc. in accordance with the Code of Corporate 
Governance, business for the GAC has reduced.  

3.9.4 Under the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 any person 
attending a local authority public meeting may film, photograph, audio record or 
use any other communication methods, including the internet, to publish, post or 
otherwise share the results of their reporting activities, during or after the 
meeting. 



 14 

The Council has approved a policy which governs the exercise of these rights 
[GAC 28 July 2014 - Min.No:114].

 
The 2014 Regulations do not affect the current circumstances in which a private 
meeting may be held or a person may be excluded (for example, where exempt 
information would be disclosed or in the case of disorderly conduct).

3.9.5 The Local Government (Electronic Communications)(England) Order 2015 now 
allows for agendas to be sent electronically thereby delivering savings.  Members 
must however consent to receiving summonses electronically and they may at 
any time withdraw their consent.

Members will be consulted before a decision is taken to adapt to the digital age.

3.10 Skills of committees and councillors

3.10.1 Given the different roles of committees, it follows that arrangements should be in 
place to ensure that Members have the necessary skills, experience and 
knowledge.  Although some aspects of the skills and experiences required for 
committees are likely to be similar, there are some which are likely to be more 
specific.  For example, overseeing risk management and financial arrangements 
undertaken by the Audit Board requires different skills to that of overseeing the 
Council’s ethical governance arrangements.

3.10.2 The Development Control Board and hearings of the Licensing Committee 
and its sub-committee, the Appeals Panel and the Hearing Panel, are quasi-
judicial.  All quasi-judicial committee members are trained on the quasi-judicial 
nature of their functions, either through attendance at relevant training courses or 
through previously gained experience - Members cannot participate in the 
decision making of these committees, until they have been trained.  

3.10.3 The planning system is a rapidly changing area of responsibility for Councillors 
and is a significant issue for all Borough Councillors, partly because of the 
division of responsibility between the Development Control Board which is 
principally involved with development control and related issues and Cabinet, 
who have a role to play in the development of planning policy and partly because, 
on rare occasions, the GAC does have a role in planning related matters.  The 
Localism Act 2011 has resulted in wide ranging changes to housing and planning, 
which represent a fundamental shift in policy to a more localised system.  

3.10.4 Members will inevitably encounter planning issues through their ward work, or 
through schemes for regeneration.  Consideration is therefore given to training 
which not only covers the procedure and principles for determining planning 
applications but also, understanding planning policy development.  



 15 

3.10.5 The Council is the sole trustee of a number of charitable land holdings (Kidd 
Legacy at Central Park, Hesketh Park and Children’s Playing Field and 
Recreation Ground Savoy Road Dartford).  The charitable functions fall to the 
Cabinet, which has established and appointed the Deed, Trust and Obligations 
Committee to manage these land holdings.  The Member Code of Conduct and a 
Conflicts Policy (approved by the Charity Commission) applies to the governance 
of the Committee.  Membership of the Committee comprises elected Councillors 
and voting co-opted independent persons. 

3.11 Membership of committees 

(a) CIPFA recommends that audit committees should ideally be separate from 
scrutiny arrangements and be chaired independently of both functions11.  The 
Council’s Constitution maintains this separation of functions between the Audit 
Board and the executive and scrutiny functions.

(b) On 1 July 2012, the requirement on local authorities to appoint independent 
members of standards committees was abolished by the Localism Act 2011 and 
replaced with the requirement to appoint at least one independent person, who 
acts in an advisory capacity and is non-voting (if appointed to an ordinary 
committee of the Council) on matters related to alleged Member misconduct.  
Mr Peter Collins (former member and chairman of the now abolished Standards 
Committee) was appointed as the Council’s Independent Person [GAC 16.07.12 
Min.No.35.11].

4. LAWFULNESS AND ADMINISTRATION

4.1 The Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Head of Legal Services (the 
Deputy Monitoring Officer), is the Council’s lead adviser on issues of lawfulness 
and the Council’s legal powers.  Part of this role involves monitoring committee 
reports, agendas and decisions, to ensure compliance with legislation and the 
Constitution.

4.2 Decisions of the Cabinet and other Council Committees are accessible through 
the Council’s website www.dartford.gov.uk

4.3 If the Monitoring Officer considers that any proposal, decision or omission would 
give rise to unlawfulness, or, if any decision or omission has given rise to 
maladministration, she must report to the GAC or where appropriate, the Cabinet, 
after first consulting with the Head of Paid Service and the Section 151 Officer.  
Any proposal or decision that is subject to such a report cannot be implemented, 
until the report has been considered by the Council.

11 Audit Committees: Practical Guidance for Local Authorities and Police (2013 Edition)

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/


 16 

4.4 The sound governance arrangements operated by the Council ensure that the 
power to report potentially unlawful decision making, is rarely used.  No such 
report was issued in 2016/17.

5. CORPORATE COMPLIANCE WITH LEGISLATION

5.1 All Committee reports have a compulsory heading in which the author has to 
consider legal implications, under advice from the Head of Legal Services.  
Financial and staffing implications are similarly dealt with, except that they are 
referred respectively to the Section 151 Officer, Financial Services Manager and 
if applicable, the HR Business Advisor.

5.2 Training sessions, letter/email and/or reports to relevant Committees and 
Officers, provide updates on new legislation.

Equality Act 2010

5.3 The general public sector equality duty is set out in section 149(1) of the Equality 
Act 2010.  The broad purpose of this duty is to integrate consideration of equality 
and good relations into the day-to-day business of public authorities and requires 
the Council to consider how it could positively contribute to the advancement of 
equality and good relations.  It requires equality considerations to be reflected 
into the design of policies and the delivery of services, including internal policies, 
and for these issues to be kept under review. 

In summary, the Council, must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to 
the need to: 

(a) eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Act; 

(b) advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic (as defined in the Act) and those who do not; 

(c) foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic 
and those who do not. 

5.4 The Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) Regulations 2011 requires the Council 
to publish at intervals of not greater than one year beginning with the date of last 
publication, sufficient information to demonstrate its compliance with the public 
sector equality duty.  The Council’s Comprehensive Equality Policy 2015-2017 
reflects the public sector equality duty and published accordingly. 

The Corporate Governance Action Plan [June Audit Board Min.No.6] requires a 
review of the Procurement Guide, to ensure the promotion of equality in the 
Council’s procurement practice. 



 17 

Bribery Act 2010

5.5 Ministry of Justice12 guidance sets out the following six principles the Council 
should consider when seeking to prevent bribery:

(a) risk assessments - keeping up to date with the bribery risks;

(b) top level commitment – establishing a culture across the organisation in which 
bribery is unacceptable;

(c) due diligence – knowing who the Council does business with, knowing why, 
when and to whom funds should be released and seeking reciprocal anti-
bribery agreements and being able to feel confident that business 
relationships are transparent and ethical;

(d) clear, practical and accessible policies and procedures – applied to all 
employees and business partners;

(e) effective implementation – going beyond ‘paper compliance’ to embedding 
anti-bribery in the organisation’s internal controls, recruitment, remuneration 
policies, operations, communications and training on practical business 
issues;

(f) monitoring and review – auditing and financial controls that are sensitive to 
bribery and are transparent, with regular reviews of policies and procedures 
with possible external verification.

5.6 The Council’s Anti-fraud and Corruption Strategy is regularly reviewed by the 
Audit Manager to ensure that the Strategy remains fit for purpose in meeting the 
Bribery Act 2010 requirements.  

Information Governance Assurance 

5.7 The Information Commissioner (ICO) emphasises the importance of good 
information governance in ensuring transparency, providing people with 
confidence that their personal information is being handled properly and in 
protecting the vulnerable. The ICO is able to fine organisations up to £500,000 as 
a penalty for serious breaches of the data protection principles.  

5.8 Staff are required to undertake the online data protection training and disciplinary 
procedures refer to sanctions which may apply for breaches of data protection 
principles.  

5.9 The I.C.T. Manager has been appointed the Senior Information Risk Officer 
(SIRO).  The SIRO is responsible for managing information risk within the Council 

12 March 2011



 18 

and for providing assurance to the Accountable Officer (the Managing Director) 
on the content of the Annual Governance Statement in regards to information 
governance assurances.

Data Protection

5.10 The Data Protection Act 1998 controls how personal information is used by the 
Council.

The Council must comply with the ‘data protection principles’ and make sure that 
information is:

 used fairly and lawfully
 used for limited, specifically stated purposes
 used in a way that is adequate, relevant and not excessive
 accurate
 kept for no longer than is absolutely necessary
 handled according to people’s data protection rights
 kept safe and secure
 not transferred outside the European Economic Area without adequate 

protection

There is stronger legal protection for more sensitive information, such as:

 ethnic background
 political opinions
 religious beliefs
 health
 sexual health
 criminal records

5.11 In March 2016, the Upper Tribunal (UT) ruled that, following an FOI request from 
a journalist, the identity of a Bolton Council councillor who had failed to pay 
council tax on time, should be revealed.  The UT held that releasing the name 
would not contravene the data protection principles, because processing was 
necessary for the purposes of legitimate interests pursued by the journalist, and 
was not unwarranted because of prejudice to the councillor’s rights/legitimate 
interests.

In substance, this involved carrying out an Article 8/Article 10 ECHR balancing 
exercise. It is apparent from the UT’s decision that the critical element in that 
balancing exercise was the councillor’s status as an elected official with public 
responsibilities, to which non-payment of council tax was directly and significantly 
relevant.  In particular, a councillor is barred from voting on the council’s budget if 
he/she has an outstanding council tax debt of over two months.



 19 

The judge said that there might be exceptional cases in which the personal 
circumstances of a councillor were “so compelling” that their name should be 
protected; but these were not such circumstances – even though disclosure might 
cause some distress to the councillor, and damage to his reputation. 

In short, elected officials are not in the same position as other members of the 
public when it comes to disclosure of their names. They can expect their names 
to be disclosed in circumstances where ordinary members of the public might 
expect the opposite.

On 9 January 2017, the First-tier Tribunal (Information Rights)(the FTT) held that 
North Norfolk District Council could not rely on the personal information 
exemption in section 40 of the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and was required 
to disclose a draft investigation report concerning a councillor's alleged breach of 
its code of conduct (Janet Dedman v Information Commissioner (EA/2016/0142).)

The FTT concluded that the public (including the requester) had a powerful and 
legitimate interest in disclosure of the requested information for the purposes of 
condition 6 of Schedule to the DPA 1998, and that the [former] councillor could 
have no reasonable expectation that it would not be disclosed. If there was any 
prejudice to her, it was justified in this case, given her public role.

This case provides valuable insights for monitoring officers having to wrestle with 
difficult and sensitive councillor conduct issues, particularly those involving 
personal data.

5.12 The General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) (the new EU legal framework) 
comes into force and will have direct effect in the UK on 25 May 2018, although 
some of the detail requires the enactment of domestic legislation. 

The changes will come into force before the UK leaves the EU. After the UK has 
left the EU, there are strong indications that there will be a very similar legal 
framework in place, in the UK.

Under the Data Protection Act 1998, there is currently no legal obligation to report 
breaches to the Information Commissioner (ICO). However, the ICO’s guidance 
recommends that serious breaches should be brought to its attention.  The GDPR 
contains an obligation on data controllers to notify supervisory authorities of 
personal data breaches. In some cases, this extends to the data subjects as well.

The Head of Legal Services as Data Protection Officer is providing guidance and 
training, as the detail of these changes emerges.

5.13 The Home Office has introduced a revised code of practice for public authorities   
disclosing information to specified anti-fraud organisations13.  The Council must 

13 Data Sharing for the Prevention of Fraud – March 2015



 20 

have regard to the Code and the Data Protection Act 1998 when disclosing 
information for the purposes of fraud prevention e.g. when in the course of 
investigating fraud or as a matter of routine, when processing applications for 
housing benefit or employment.

Compliance with transparency code

5.14 The Local Government Transparency Code 2015 imposes a legally binding 
requirement on local authorities to be held fully accountable to the local people 
they serve.   The Government believes that in principle, all data held and 
managed by local authorities should be made available to local people unless 
there are specific sensitivities (e.g. protecting vulnerable people or commercial 
and operational considerations) to doing so.  The Transparency Code 
encourages local authorities to see data as a valuable resource not only to 
themselves, but also their partners and local people. 

The Transparency Code sets out in detail the type of information held by local 
authorities which must be published and ought to be published e.g. expenditure 
over £500 (including costs, supplier and transaction information), senior 
employees’ salaries, councillor allowances and expenses, copies of contracts and 
tenders, grants to the voluntary community, key indicators, land and property 
assets  etc.  

The Council is required to publish on an annual basis, the most recent valuation 
of its social housing stock, to ensure it is being put to best use. 

The Localism Act 2011 requires local authorities to be open about their approach 
to pay, by preparing approving and publishing a ‘pay policy statement’.  The 
Council first adopted its pay Policy Statement on 27 February 2012 [Min.No.5]. 
The Policy Statement is approved annually at the Budget Meeting.  Any decisions 
taken by the Council in relation to pay and reward of staff must reflect its current 
Pay Policy.  

If the Council fails to comply with the mandatory requirements of the 
Transparency Code, DCLG may withhold the new burdens funding which is paid 
to eligible authorities by grant, under section 31 of the Local Government Act 
2003 (as amended).

The Government has consulted on its proposals to update the Transparency 
Code, in particular:

 to change the way that local authorities record details of their land and property 
assets, and publish information about their procurement, their contracts and 
the delivery of some of their services;

 to include new requirements about information on parking charges and 
enforcement and about the way transparency data is published and presented; 
and



 21 

 to require that local authorities publish information about their dealings with 
small and medium-sized enterprises.

The outcome of the consultation is awaited. 

Compliance with publicity code

5.15 The Code of Recommended Practice on Local Authority Publicity14 provides 
recommended practice on a number of aspects of publicity, covering subject 
matter, costs, content, dissemination, advertising, recruitment advertising, 
publicity about individual members of an authority, timing of publicity, elections, 
referendums and petitions, and assistance to others for publicity.  The Secretary 
of State has powers in the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, to direct 
compliance with the Publicity Code.

Disclosure of datasets – Code of Practice (datasets)15

5.16 If an applicant requests information that is or forms part of a dataset and 
expresses a preference to receive it in electronic form, the Council is required to 
release the dataset in a way that enables it to be used and re-used. This means 
that the Council must, firstly, provide the dataset in a re-usable format, where 
reasonably practicable; and, secondly, grant a licence (in accordance with one of 
the specified licences referred to in the Code of Practice) under which its datasets 
may be re-used. 

A dataset is a collection of information held in electronic form where all or most of 
the information meets the following criteria (section 11(5) of FOIA):

1. it has to have been obtained or recorded for the purpose of providing a 
public authority with information in connection with the provision of a 
service by the authority or the carrying out of any other function of the 
authority;

2. it is factual information which:
(a) is not the product of interpretation or analysis other than calculation 

(in other words that it is the “raw” or “source” data); and
(b) is not an official statistic the meaning given by the Statistics and 

Registration Service Act 2007 (the production and publication of 
official statistics is provided for separately in the 2007 Act);

3. it remains presented in a way that (except for the purpose of forming part 
of the collection), has not been organised, adapted or otherwise materially 
altered since it was obtained or recorded.

14 March 2011
15 Issued by the Secretary of State in July 2013 and in force 1 September 2013



 22 

Datasets which have had ‘value’ added to them or which have been materially 
altered, for example in the form of analysis, representation or application of other 
expertise, would not fall within the definition.  So a set of financial accounts would 
not be a dataset, but income and expenditure records would be.  Other examples 
of datasets which meet the definition, include spend data, lists of assets, 
organisation structure charts, contacts and FOI request lists and employee 
statistics.

All datasets must, where reasonably practicable, be in an electronic form which is 
capable of re-use and any relevant copyright16 work within it has to be made 
available for re-use in accordance with the terms of a specified licence e.g. Non-
Commercial Government Licence.

The provisions relating to datasets are obligatory and are enforced by the 
Information Commissioner.

Compliance with Modern Slavery Act 2015

5.17 The Modern Slavery Act 2015 provides a modern definition of slavery and human 
trafficking, establishing them as serious criminal offences meriting punishment up 
to and including life imprisonment. It allows the courts to impose orders aimed at 
preventing the commission of these offences and creates a new independent 
anti-slavery commissioner.

Local authorities are under a new duty,17 shared with police bodies and the 
Gangmasters Licensing Authority, to notify the Secretary of State upon 
developing reasonable grounds to believe that a person may be a victim of 
slavery or human trafficking.  Referrals are made to the Home Office and the 
Strategic Director (External Services), the Council’s Safeguarding Lead, is 
informed.

Although the Council engages in commercial activities by providing services 
(statutory and discretionary), because its annual turn-over is less than £36milion 
it is not duty bound to issue an anti-slavery and human trafficking statement, but 
has chosen to do so.

The Public Contracts Regulations 2015 require the exclusion of any supplier 
which has itself committed a modern slavery offence.  The Council’s Modern Anti-
slavery and Human Trafficking Statement sets out inter alia, the steps it has 
taken to ensure there is no slavery or human trafficking in its business or supply 
chains and the standards expected of those with whom it does business.  
Standard terms and conditions have been reviewed and child exploitation (levels 
1 and 2) incorporated in the Council’s safeguarding training.

16 Copyright Designs and Patents Act 1998  &e Copyright and Rights in Databases Regulations 1997
17 Section 52 of the Modern Slavery Act 2015 and Modern Slavery Act 2015 (Duty to Notify) Regulations 2015



 23 

5.18 Compliance with Fluency Duty - Part 7 of the Immigration Act 2016

Part 7 of the Immigration Act 2016 came into force on 22 December 2016. The 
Council is now under a duty to ensure that employees in customer-facing roles 
(i.e. whose main duties require regular interaction with members of the public) 
speak fluent English and so provide higher quality services to the public.

The Council must have to have regard to the Government’s statutory Code of 
Practice18. The Code aims to provide assistance to public authorities to determine 
the necessary standard of spoken English to be met by their customer-facing 
staff, the appropriate complaints procedure to follow should a member of the 
public consider that the required standard has not been met and the appropriate 
forms of remedial action which may be taken if a member of staff falls below the 
standard required.

The Code is not intended to prescribe the process for every type of customer-
facing role and it is not a definitive statement of the law.  However, it provides 
principles and examples which public authorities can consider when fulfilling their 
legal duties and obligations.

The Council’s Corporate Complaints Procedure has been updated to reflect the 
requirements of the Code and HR policies are under review.  

6. THE ETHICAL GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK REVIEW

Member Code of Conduct

6.1 Following the implementation of the new standards regime under the Localism 
Act 2011, the Member Code of Conduct was adopted by the GAC on 16 July 
2012 [Min.No.35.4].  The Code was reviewed by the GAC on 16.12.2013 
[Min.No:72].

6.2 The Code regulates the conduct of all elected Members and voting Co-optees 
and defines the standards of conduct required of Members and voting Co-optees 
in carrying out their duties and in their relationships with the Council and its 
Officers.  

6.3 Borough Councillors are fully supportive of the principles underlying the ethical 
framework.   

6.4 As lead Officer for the Audit Board on matters related to the ethical governance 
framework, the Monitoring Officer has a key role in facilitating, promoting and 
maintaining high standards of conduct within the Council.  As well as procedure 
development and implementation, this also involves advising Borough and 
Parish/Town Councillors, Officers and Parish/Town Clerks on propriety issues, 

18 Code of practice on the English language requirement for public sector workers



 24 

advising the Audit Board on applications for dispensations and on matters related 
to allegations of misconduct on the part of Borough or Parish/Town Councillors.  

6.5 The Monitoring Officer is responsible for:

1. Overseeing the day to day implementation and monitoring of the operation 
of the Member Code of Conduct;

2. Reviewing the operation of the Member Code of Conduct;
3. Reporting annually to the Audit Board, on compliance with the Member 

Code of Conduct and any changes necessary to maintain and ensure its 
effectiveness in practice.

6.6 The Monitoring Officer and Deputy Monitoring Officer have an open door policy of 
proactively helping Members with any ethical problems.  Members, Town/Parish 
Councillors, Clerks and Officers are encouraged to make contact earlier, rather 
than later, if they are anticipating or experiencing a problem.

6.7 Following the implementation of the Council’s ethical governance framework 
under the Localism Act 2011, the following protocols etc. were reviewed and 
referred to the Audit Board, as the committee which oversees the Council’s 
ethical governance arrangements.

6.8. Protocol on Member/Officer Relations

The Member/Officer Relations’ Protocol provides a guide to good working 
relationships between elected Members (including co-optees) and Officers.  It 
does not aim to be comprehensive, but is intended to offer guidance on issues 
which often arise.  No complaints relating to alleged breaches of the 
Member/Officer Relations’ Protocol were received by the Monitoring Officer, in the 
year 2016/17.

The revised Member/Officer Relations’ Protocol was adopted by the Audit Board 
on 13 May 2013 [Min.No. 5] and remains fit for purpose.

6.9 Probity in Planning Protocol and Probity in Licensing Protocol

The Probity in Planning Protocol was adopted by the Development Control Board 
on 20 December 2012 [Min. No.96] and referred to the Audit Board on 9 January 
2013 [Min.No.43] for endorsement.

The Probity in Licensing Protocol was adopted by the Licensing Committee on 19 
December 2012 [Min. No.11] and referred to the Audit Board on 9 January 2013 
[Min.No.44] for endorsement.

The Protocols provide guidance to the Council respectively as local planning 
authority and licensing authority, on practices and procedures designed to avoid 
grounds for allegations and malpractice.  Both Protocols remain fit for purpose.



 25 

A recent report issued on 4 April 2017 by the House of Lords Select Committee 
on the post-legislative scrutiny of the Licensing Act 2003 recommends inter alia, 
that there should be a trial merger of licensing committees and planning 
committees.  This is not a merger of licensing and planning law that is 
recommended, but rather, councillors who sit on planning committees consider 
licensing applications using the procedures and practices, and with the same 
support that they already have to deal with planning applications.   The 
recommendation is that this proposal should be trialled in a few pilot areas.

According to the information on the Select Committee website ‘The Government 
will normally make a response to a select committee report, either publishing it 
itself (as a Command Paper) or sending a memorandum to the committee, which 
can be published as a special report (simply saying, in effect, “we have received 
the following reply …”), although the committee can publish the response with 
further comments or take further evidence.

The Government has undertaken to reply within two months of the publication of 
the report, when possible, but may seek the committee’s agreement to allow a 
longer period. 

6.10 Members’ Gifts, Benefits and Hospitality

(i) The Member Code of Conduct states ‘You must not place yourself under a 
financial or other obligation to outside individuals or organisations that 
might seek to influence you in the performance of your official duties.  You 
should have regard to the guidance in the Council’s Protocol on Gifts, 
Benefits and Hospitality.’

(ii) Within 28 days of offer and acceptance, Members must register with the 
Monitoring Officer any gift, benefit and/or hospitality within the terms of the 
Protocol, with an estimated/guide value of £100 or more offered to and 
accepted by them, in the conduct of the business of the Council, the 
business of the office to which they have been elected or appointed or 
when they are acting as representative of the Council.  The source of the 
gift, benefit and/or hospitality must also be registered.  

(iii) Members do not need to register gifts, benefits and/or hospitality offered 
and accepted that are not related to their role as a Member - for example, 
Christmas gifts from family and friends. However, Members should always 
consider whether any gifts, benefits and/or hospitality received could be 
seen as being connected to their role as a Member.  

(iv) No requests were received during 2016/17 to view the Register and no 
requests were received under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 for 
information relating to Members’ gifts, benefits and/or hospitality and 
expenses.



 26 

(v) No complaints were referred to the Monitoring Officer in 2016/17, relating 
to alleged failure to register the receipt of gifts, benefits and/or hospitality. 

The revised Gifts, Benefits and Hospitality Protocol was adopted by the Audit 
Board on 13 May 2013 [Min.No. 5] and remains fit for purpose.

6.11 Protocol on the Release of Confidential information 

(a) The Member Code of Conduct states ‘……….  You should have regard to 
the guidance in the Council’s Protocol on the release of confidential 
information.’  

(b) The Council is committed to the principles of openness and transparency.  
However, in the practical application of these principles, Members need to 
have regard to legal obligations which, in some cases, may require 
information to be kept confidential.

(c) Members will have access to a great deal of information which is 
confidential, either because it is personal information or because it is 
commercially sensitive or it is information which would not otherwise be 
placed in the public arena/domain.  The handling of confidential 
information is an essential element in the relationships of trust that should 
exist between Members, Officers and the public and a mishandling of such 
information and/or its accidental or deliberate disclosure is likely to 
damage trust as well as lead to formal proceedings being taken against 
the Council, individual Members or Officers. 

(d) No complaints were referred to the Monitoring Officer in 2016/17, alleging 
disclosure of confidential information. 

The revised Protocol on the Release of Confidential Information was adopted by 
the Audit Board on 13 May 2013 [Min.No. 5] and remains fit for purpose.

6.12 Protocol on the use of Council Facilities and Resources by Councillors

(a) The Member Code of Conduct states ‘You must, when using or authorising 
the use by others of the resources of the Council, ensure that such 
resources are not used improperly for political purposes (including party 
political purposes) and you must have regard to any applicable Local 
Authority Code of Publicity made under the Local Government Act 198619 
and guidance on the Use of Resources by Councillors within the Council’s 
Protocol.’

(b) The Council provides a range of facilities to support Councillors, such as IT 
equipment, to enable Councillors to carry out their duties as a councillor.  

19 Superseded by the Code on Recommended Practice for Local Government Publicity (31 March 2011).



 27 

Members must make sure that they use the Council’s resources for proper 
purposes only.  The onus is placed on individual Members to be aware of 
and ensure the Council complies with the rules governing local authority 
publicity.

(c) No complaints were referred to the Monitoring Officer in 2016/17, alleging 
misuse of Council resources. 

The revised Protocol on the use of Council Facilities and Resources was adopted 
by the Audit Board on 13 May 2013 [Min.No. 5] and remains fit for purpose.

6.13 Outside Bodies

(a) The Standards Committee adopted the Guidance for Members on Outside 
Bodies [4 July 2007 Min.No. 9]. 

(b) The Council is now increasingly working in partnership with external 
organisations and greater clarity is needed as to the role of Members 
appointed to these bodies.  Funding streams may benefit outside bodies 
and channelled through the Council as the accountable body and 
questions of accountability and governance will arise. 

(c) Service on outside bodies has always been an established part of a 
Member’s role.  An appointed Member on an external body will be able to 
use their knowledge and skills as a Councillor to assist the organisation to 
which they are appointed.

(d) Membership of an outside body brings into play different considerations to 
those which relate to Council membership.  Members will have different 
duties, obligations and liabilities depending upon the type of organisation 
involved.

(e) Councillors who serve in a decision-making capacity as members of 
outside bodies, whether companies, trusts or other associations, owe 
duties and responsibilities to those bodies which are separate and distinct 
from their duties owed to the Council.  On occasion, it is likely that duties 
owed to the outside body and to the Council, will conflict. 

(f) The majority of outside bodies on which Councillors serve are, at present, 
either charitable organisations or companies.  Nominations to outside 
bodies are made at the Annual Meeting or in year appointments are made, 
as and when the need arises. 

The guidance remains fit for purpose.



 28 

6.14 Maintaining Registers of Members’ Interests 

The Monitoring Officer is responsible for establishing and maintaining a Register 
of Members’ [Disclosable Pecuniary] Interests for Borough Councillors.  This duty 
extends to the Registers for Parish/Town Councillors.  Section 29(5) of the 
Localism Act 2011, requires that all Registers be accessible to the public, via 
councils’ websites.  Whilst Parish/Town Council Registers have to be published 
on their websites, there is also the requirement that they be published on the 
Borough Council’s website.  

(a) Register of Members’ Interests- Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

(i) A Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI) is specific to a Member’s business 
interests (for example their employment, trade, profession, contracts, or 
any company with which they are associated and wider financial interests 
they might have (for example trust funds, investments, and assets 
including land and property).  The nature of the interest is listed in national 
rules.

(ii) The Member Code of Conduct requires Members to register their DPIs 
(including those of their husband/wife/civil partner, or a person with whom 
they are living as husband/wife or as if they are civil partners, where they 
are aware that the other person has the interest) within 28 days of their 
election or appointment, or 28 days of the interest arising if subsequent to 
election or appointment.  It is a criminal offence under the Localism Act 
2011, if without reasonable excuse, Members fail to notify the Monitoring 
Officer of their DPIs or any changes thereto.

(iii) In addition to the above, Members are required to notify the Monitoring 
Officer of any DPIs before the end of 28 days beginning with the day on 
which the Member Code of Conduct takes effect.  Failure to comply with 
this requirement would not of itself be a criminal offence, but could render 
Members liable to action being taken against them under the Code.

(iv) Members need to register their interests so the public, Council staff and 
fellow Members know which of their interests might give rise to a conflict of 
interest.  The Register is a document which can be consulted when (or 
before) an issue arises and lets others consider whether or not the 
Member may have a conflict of interest.

(v) Members have an ongoing obligation to keep their Register of Interests up 
to date.  Failure to do so is a criminal offence under the Localism Act 2011.  

(vi) Where a Member is re-elected, written confirmation that their DPIs have 
not changed is acceptable.  If their interests change, then the changes will 
have to be recorded on the Register of Interests.  



 29 

(vii) There is no public right of access to the Register of Interests of former 
Members. Information about Members who have ceased to hold office is 
removed from the public copy of the Register immediately. 

All Borough Councillors and Parish/Town Councillors have notified the Monitoring 
Officer of their DPIs.   

Parish/Town Clerks are responsible for ensuring that outdated information in their 
published Registers e.g. the removal of entries related to persons who are no 
longer councillors are removed from their Parish/Town Council’s website. 

Kent local authorities have a protocol with Kent Police for the handling and 
investigation of alleged criminal offences created by Section 34 of the Localism 
Act 2011 and specifically related to DPIs.

(b) Conflicts of interest

Conflicts of interest can bring decision-making into disrepute, if not well-managed.  
Often the perception of conflict is alone enough to cause concern. This can lead 
to reputational damage and undermine public confidence in the integrity of the 
Council. 

A conflict of interest is a set of circumstances that creates a risk that an 
individual’s ability to apply judgement or act in one role is, or could be, impaired 
or influenced by a secondary interest. It can occur in any situation where an 
individual or organisation can exploit a professional or official role for personal or 
other benefit. This definition is based on generally accepted standards. 

Conflicts can exist if the circumstances create a risk that decisions may be 
influenced, regardless of whether the individual actually benefits. The perception 
of competing interests, impaired judgement or undue influence can also be a 
conflict of interest. 

Conflicts might occur if individuals have, for example: 

• a direct or indirect financial interest; 
• non-financial or personal interests; or 
• conflicts of loyalty where decision-makers have competing loyalties between an 

organisation they owe a primary duty to and some other person or entity. 

The Council has a system to identify and manage conflicts of interest, rather than 
to eliminate them. The effect is to make Members aware of what to do if they 
suspect a conflict and ensure decision-making is efficient, transparent and fair. 
Rules are clear and robust but not overly prescriptive or complex.  

Where the circumstances create a risk that decisions may be influenced,  
Members are required to declare any known interests at the beginning of a 



 30 

meeting or as soon as they become aware of the interest and  withdraw from the 
meeting room during the debate on the item. 

In a recent review of the types of interest declared by Members, it was noted that 
Members will on occasion declare non- financial interests e.g. an association with 
an individual as ‘prejudicial’.  Some Members also appear confused as to whether 
or not they have an interest to declare and whether those interests are DPIs or 
prejudicial interests.

As discussed in para.(a) above, DPIs are a very specific form of financial interests 
regulated by law and applying nationally.

The Council has determined that other financial interests should also be 
declared.  These interests are referred to in the Constitution as ‘Prejudicial 
Interests’. 

Simply put, if an item under discussion at a meeting affects a Member’s financial 
position or the financial position of a person or body associated with that Member 
‘to a greater extent than other council tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the 
Council’s area’, then it is a Prejudicial Interest.

Prejudicial interests are not registrable in the same way as DPIs, but do need to 
be declared when relevant to a matter under consideration by the committee.

If in doubt, Members are asked to contact the Member Services Manager for 
guidance.

(c) Disqualification - UK Parliament - Hansard Written Answers – 3 March 2016

In a response to a question on the implications of the Localism Act 2011 on the 
discretion of parish councils and local authorities in disqualifying councillors 
convicted of child sex offences whose punishment is lower than the three month 
suspended or custodial sentence threshold for disqualification, the Government 
responded ‘our review of the legislation on the disqualification of local authority 
members …. will consider whether the provisions of the Localism Act 2011 have 
any implications for any new legislative rules on disqualification’ and ‘During the 
passage of the then Cities and Devolution Bill we undertook to review the 
legislation on the disqualification of local authority members and to consult on 
proposals for change to bring the legislative rules into line with modern 
sentencing guidelines. Our intention is to launch the consultation as soon as 
practicable this year.’

DCLG has yet to confirm when the review will take place.



 31 

6.15 Dispensations

(a) Section 33 of the Localism Act 2011 sets out the rules for the granting of 
dispensations by the Audit Board or under delegated authority, by the 
Managing Director in consultation with the Monitoring Officer.  

(b) During 2016/17, Members were each granted a dispensation by the 
Managing Director, in consultation with the Monitoring Officer, to speak and 
vote on Members’ Allowances and financial contributions to Parish/Town 
Councils [as reported to the GAC - 27.02.17: Min. No.75].

6.16 Related Party Transactions

(a) The requirement for Members and senior Officers to declare Related Party 
Transactions has been considered by the Accounting Standards Board as 
fundamental to the presentation of the Council’s published accounts.  
External auditors require the completion of a signed declaration on an 
annual basis.  The objective is to identify any transactions which may have 
taken place as a result of the control or influence exercised by one party 
over another.  The concern is that such transactions may not be, or may 
not be perceived to be, in the best interests of the Council.  Each year, 
Members and senior Officers are asked by the Managing Director to 
provide brief details of any related party transaction.  If any disclosure 
becomes likely, a draft of the proposed disclosure note will be provided to 
the individual for comments prior to publication. 

(b) On 12 April 2007 [Min No.32(3)], the Standards Committee agreed that a 
refusal by a Member to make the appropriate declaration, be treated as a 
breach of a local protocol and that the matter be investigated and 
determined locally. 

Six Member disclosure notes were produced for the year 2016/17.

6.17 Partnership Working

(a) Partnership working is playing an increasingly important role in public 
sector service delivery.  The Council is fully committed to partnership 
working because it recognises the strength and value of effective 
partnerships in contributing to the improvement of the well-being of the 
Borough’s communities.  The Council encourages partnership working 
wherever benefits can be demonstrated.  

(b) Partnership working includes ‘joined up’ or collaborative working between 
the Council and other public sector bodies, the private sector and the third 
sector (non-governmental organisations that are value driven and which 
principally reinvest their surpluses to further social, environmental or 



 32 

cultural objectives - includes voluntary and community organisations, 
charities, social enterprises, co-operatives and housing associations).

(c) Poor ethical standards in partnership arrangements may adversely affect 
the Council’s community leadership role, reputation etc.  The Audit Board 
encourages high standards of behaviour in the Council and amongst 
partners.  The Seven General Principles of Public Life (referred to below), 
guide the conduct of Councillors and also underpin the Code of Conduct 
which all Councillors, including Parish and Town Councillors, are bound:

 Selflessness 
 Integrity
 Honesty 
 Objectivity 
 Accountability
 Openness 
 Leadership

(d) Maintaining high standards is crucial to maintaining effective partnerships, 
but if problems are to occur, they are likely to be exacerbated by the 
adverse impact on partnership working, which may follow.  The General 
Principles are simple, and coherent, which means they can also be 
followed by partners, who are not obliged to formally adhere to the Code of 
Conduct.  The Code of Practice for Effective Joint Working Arrangements 
recommends that the General Principles should, as a minimum, be 
incorporated in all partnership arrangements. 

The Code of Practice for effective Joint Working Arrangements has been 
reviewed by the Strategic Director (Internal Services), to ensure fitness for 
purpose.

6.18 Politically Restricted Posts

(a) There is long established tradition that local government employees 
involved in advising elected members of their authority, should be seen to 
observe a policy of political neutrality.  This policy is important for two main 
reasons: it is essential to the functioning of the democratic system that 
members of a local authority should be able to receive impartial advice 
from its officers and that its officers should not be influenced by any 
political bias in the implementation of the authority’s policies.  It is also vital 
that members and those who have elected them, should have complete 
confidence that their officers will give impartial advice and will act 
impartially in implementing the authority’s policies.  

(b) To ensure that local authority employees who hold posts involving duties 
of a politically sensitive nature cannot, at the same time, become or remain 



 33 

a member of a local authority (other than parish/town councils), Part 1 of 
the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 (as amended) imposes 
restrictions on political activities by local government employees.  

(c) The Council provides standard information to all applicants who are 
seeking appointment to a politically restricted post and these restrictions 
are also incorporated into the contract of employment.  The Council is 
required to maintain an up to date list of its politically restricted posts.  The 
list is open to public inspection.

(d) The Localism Act 2011 gives the responsibility to the Head of Paid Service 
to determine applications for exemption from political restriction by holders 
of such posts.  

(e) No applications for exemption or directions were made to or by the Head 
of Paid Service, during the year 2016/17.

6.19 Misconduct in public office is a common law offence: it is not defined in any 
statute. It carries a maximum sentence of life imprisonment. The offence requires 
that: a public officer acting as such; wilfully neglects to perform his/her duty 
and/or wilfully misconducts him/herself; to such a degree as to amount to an 
abuse of the public’s trust in the office holder; without reasonable excuse or 
justification.

The offence is widely considered to be ill-defined and has been subject to recent 
criticism by the Government, the Court of Appeal, the press and legal academics.

The law is in need of reform, in order to ensure that public officials are 
appropriately held to account for misconduct committed in connection with their 
official duties. 

The Law Commission’s second phase  consultation on the following options to 
replace the current offence of misconduct in public office and legal reforms has 
closed. Responses are being analysed:

 Option 1 involves a new offence addressing breaches of duty that risk causing 
serious harm, when committed by particular public office holders (those with 
duties concerned with the prevention of harm);

 Option 2 involves a new offence addressing corrupt behaviour on the part of all 
public office holders;

 Option 3 involves abolition of the current law without replacement (the Law 
Commission considers that reform of this nature would be likely to leave 
unacceptable gaps in the law);

 Legal Reform 1 involves reform of the sexual offences regime;
 Legal Reform 2 involves treating the fact that a defendant is a public official as 

an aggravating factor for the purposes of sentencing his/her criminal conduct.



 34 

7. MEMBER CODE OF CONDUCT COMPLAINTS STATISTICAL ANALYSIS 
2016/17

7.1 Complaints to the Monitoring Officer 2016/17

A successful ethical standards regime is one where there are no complaints 
because Councillors are seen to be complying with the Code of Conduct.  If a 
complaint is received, a measure of the regime can be assessed firstly by 
whether the complaint was justified, then secondly, by the seriousness of the 
breach of the Code of Conduct and the action required. The number of 
complaints processed by the Monitoring Officer in consultation with the 
Independent Person in the year 2016/17 is as follows:

Borough Councillors 2
Parish/Town Councillors 0

The complaints were dealt with as follows:

DPI Offence referred to the Police – 0

Dismissed at Preliminary Stage (Legal & Local Criteria Tests not met) – 2

Formal Investigation Undertaken – 0

Upheld - 0

Referred to Hearing Panel - 0

Dealt with by Informal Resolution - 0

Dealt with by Mediation (Political Group Leader) - 0

Dealt with by Mediation (Political Group Panel) -0

Not Upheld (No Further Action) - 0

8. TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT OF COUNCILLORS 2016/17

8.1 Induction - The Committee on Standards in Public Life (CSPL) has issued 
guidance on how best to embed high ethical standards in public sector 
organisations through induction, education and training.  The CSPL’s aim is not to 
impose a one-size-fits-all model of induction, but that every organisation should 
take the lead in designing and delivering an induction programme that responds 
to the challenges and circumstances of their particular area of public life. 
However, as a basic minimum, the CSPL expects to see induction cover the 
relevant code of conduct and the principles on which it is based, with an 



 35 

explanation of any compliance requirements that derive from that code and 
reference to the channels for raising and dealing with ethical issues.  

Following a Borough Council local or by-election or appointment to the Council, 
Councillors and Co-optees are provided with a Member Handbook which details 
the background into the Council’s corporate governance arrangements.  This is 
an invaluable guide for first-time Councillors and Co-optees, who may be 
unfamiliar with the work of the Council or with local government in general.

The Council has a Members’ induction process for newly elected councillors. This 
covers the Member Code of Conduct and its principles and the particular role and 
responsibilities of Members, particularly when participating in quasi - judicial 
decision making committees e.g. Development Control Board and Licensing Sub-
committee.  The induction covers the practical as well as theoretical relevance 
and involves active rather than passive learning.  

Following local elections, Parish/Town Councillors are invited to participate in the 
[Borough Council’s] induction process.  Attendance at induction is compulsory for 
newly elected Borough Councillors. 

8.2 Training

(a) In recognition of the changing responsibilities and demands on Councillors 
(principally through legislation), the Council provides training and 
development, facilities, access to information and guidance to help them carry 
out their roles.  There are no set guidelines on training and development.  The 
Council offers induction courses to introduce newly elected Councillors to the 
workings and responsibilities of the Council and to familiarise them with 
systems, facilities and the decision making process.

(b) Members are aware of training opportunities available to them, but do on 
occasions, feel overloaded with meetings, making the logistics difficult.  
Nevertheless, Members are prepared to attend training as long as it is of the 
right quality and pitched at the right level.  The levels of awareness present an 
opportunity to raise the profile of Member development within the Council.  

(c) Training records for Borough Councillors are maintained by Member Services 
and by the Parish/Town Council Clerks for Parish/Town Councillors.  Training 
records form part of the evidence during any investigation into complaints of 
breaches of the Code.   

(d) First Tier Tribunal decisions were critical of councillors who failed to attend 
training put on by their local authorities and non-attendance was not accepted 
as a justification for a breach of the Code of Conduct occurring.   Further 
criticism was levied at councillors who failed to read the Code.



 36 

(e) Prior to a Borough Council local or by-election, candidates are advised that 
they will be required to attend training on the Member Code of Conduct, if 
elected a councillor.  Arrangements are made to train new Councillors and 
Co-optees on the Code of Conduct, as soon as possible, following their 
election/confirmation of appointment. 

(f) In organising training/development sessions, Officers are mindful of the 
pressures on Councillors’ time and will endeavour to make the sessions as 
flexible as possible, to accommodate these time pressures.

8.3 Training - Member Code of Conduct, Development Control, Licensing and 
Treasury Management Panel

The training provided by the Council reflects the changing roles of Councillors, 
and ensures that Councillors understand the implications of new legislation. 
However, Councillors themselves are ultimately responsible for ensuring they 
have the skills they need to carry out their duties.  

The previous Standards Committee recommended that training on standards be 
mandatory for Borough Councillors. 

All members (and nominated substitutes) of the Development Control Board, 
Licensing Committee and Treasury Management Panel are required to participate 
in training relevant to their respective areas of decision making before they can 
take part in the decision-making process.  

The House of Lords Select Committee report on the post-legislative scrutiny of 
the Licensing Act 2003 (referred to above), recommends inter alia, that all 
councillors sitting on licensing committees should undertake compulsory training, 
and that the statutory Section 182 Guidance be amended to introduce a 
requirement to undertake training to a standard set out in the Guidance.

8.4 One to one training

During 2016/17, the newly appointed Independent Member of the Deed, Trust 
and Obligations Committee received one to one training from the Head of Legal 
Services on the requirements of the Charities Act 2011 and the Conflicts Policy 
applying to members of the Committee.

9. MEMBER TRAINING DEVELOPMENT 2016/2017 

Providing effective training and development opportunities for Members is integral 
to the achievement of the Council’s corporate priorities.  The Head of Legal 
Services is not aware of any legislative amendments likely to impact on the 
standards regime in the next year.  If and to the extent that any new legislation or 
changes to current legislation are enacted in 2016/17, a training programme will 
be developed for Members.



 37 

10. PARISH/TOWN COUNCILS

(a) There are eight Parish/Town Councils in the Borough of Dartford.  Seven 
Councils adopted a [Member] Code of Conduct based upon the Borough 
Council’s Code and one adopted the NALC Code.

(b) The Monitoring Officer and Head of Legal Services periodically issue guidance 
notes to the Parish/Town Council Clerks on the Code of Conduct and 
declarations of interest.  

(c) Audit Board agendas and minutes are copied to Parish/Town Clerks.

(d) Parish/Town Clerks assist the Monitoring Officer in compiling the Parish/Town 
Councillor DPI Registers and keeping them under review.  The Registers are 
open to inspection by members of the public at the Parish/Town Council offices 
and on their websites.

(e) The National Association of Local Councils (NALC) publication ‘Standing Orders 
for Local Councils’ provides guidance, the most up to date legislation and model 
standing orders for parish/town councils. 

11. JOINT COLLABORATION/WORKING

(a) The ‘Kent Recommitment’20 signed by the Leaders of Kent’s County, District, 
Borough and Unitary Council envisages a range of positive opportunities for the 
Districts and the County to work together on shared services and that all councils 
should explore the potential to share services.  The Council recognises the 
benefits, economies of scale and wealth of advice and experience that suitable 
collaboration can bring and encourages collaborative arrangements where it is in 
the best interests of the Council.

(b) The Council’s formal partnership arrangements with Sevenoaks District Council 
cover Audit and Fraud, Environmental Health and Revenues and Benefits. 

(c) Working collaboratively on an informal basis with other local authorities, Kent 
Secretaries (heads of legal and monitoring officers) etc. has had significant 
benefits for the Council as follows:

i. flexibility on training dates and times, thereby accommodating time pressures 
on Councillors;

ii. competitive deals secured with training providers;
iii. reduced training costs;
iv. free attendance at training sessions;
v. networking opportunities for Members and Officers. 

20 Signed May 2011



 38 

(d) Working collaboratively with Kent Secretaries has achieved 35% savings on on-
line law library subscriptions.  

(e) The Council is a member of the London Solicitors’ Consortium and as such can 
benefit from free training on legislative topics, saving approximately 75% on the 
training budget. 

12. STAFF

12.1 Code of Conduct for Employees

(a) The Council‘s employees are bound by the Employee Code of Conduct.  The 
Code is incorporated in contracts of employment and referred to in the induction 
process.  The Code is well publicised on the Council’s Intranet.  

(b) The Managing Director as Head of Paid Service, deals with all matters related to 
appointment, dismissal etc. of staff below Officer reporting to Council level.  
Appointment, dismissal etc. Officers reporting to Council are dealt with as 
appropriate at Member level, through the Appointments Panel, Remuneration and 
Performance Management Panel and the Appeals Panel. 

(c) The Government has not introduced a statutory code of conduct for employees 
and it now seems unlikely that this will be introduced.    

The Employee Code of Conduct is under review.  No allegations of breaches of 
the Code were reported to the Managing Director in 2016/17.

12.2 Registration of Officer Interests

A Register of Employees’ Interests is maintained by the Managing Director and is 
currently under review.  The Register is open to inspection by Borough 
Councillors, not the public.  

No complaints of alleged failure to declare interests were received by the 
Managing Director in the year 2016/17.

12.3 Whistleblowing 

(a) The Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 (as amended) contains measures which 
help to promote greater openness between employers and employees in the 
workplace and supports a structure for whistleblowing.  

In order to benefit from whistleblower protection, a disclosure must ‘in the 
reasonable belief of the worker making the disclosure’ be ‘made in the public 
interest’. The ‘good faith’ requirement for whistleblowing no longer applies, 
although compensation can be reduced where good faith is lacking.



 39 

(b) The Audit Board considers reports on whistleblowing, where fraud, corruption 
(including alleged breaches of the Bribery Act 2010) or other malpractice has 
served to undermine the Council’s internal controls and lines of reporting.  

(c) The Whistleblowing Policy ensures that robust arrangements are in place for 
confidential reporting of concerns and the proportionate and independent 
investigation of whistleblowing matters and for appropriate follow up action.  The 
Audit Manager maintains a record of concerns raised and the outcomes (but in a 
form which does not endanger confidentiality).

(d) No whistleblowing allegations were received in the year 2016/2017.

13. CORPORATE COMPLAINTS PROCEDURE

(a) The Corporate Complaints Procedure is designed and intended to give all staff, 
Councillors and the Council’s contractors/partners, guidance on how to handle 
complaints effectively.  Complaints monitoring is seen as a stimulus to system 
improvement. Statistical/analytical reports are submitted quarterly to Management 
Team and Policy Overview Committee.  

(b) The annual report to the Audit Board on the Corporate Complaints Procedure, is 
reported elsewhere on the agenda.  This also updates Members on the roles 
respectively, of the Local Government Ombudsman, Housing Ombudsman and 
Members as ‘designated persons’.

(c) The Regulators’ Code21 provides a clear, flexible and principles-based framework 
for how regulators should engage with those they regulate.  Local authorities 
must have regard to the Regulators’ Code when formulating complaints’ and 
appeals’ processes and when developing standards, policies or procedures that 
guide their regulatory activities. The Council’s activities should be carried out in a 
way which is transparent, accountable, proportionate and consistent.

14. LOCAL GOVERNMENT OMBUDSMAN

(a) The Local Government Ombudsman issues an Annual Review of Complaints 
setting out the number of complaints against the Council during a specified 
period.  

(b) An analysis of Ombudsman related complaints for the year 2016/17 is provided 
elsewhere on the agenda.

(c) The Ombudsman cannot determine whether a Member has breached the Code of 
Conduct.  However, committees are within the jurisdiction of the Ombudsman.  It 
is possible to make a complaint of maladministration causing injustice as a result 
of some action or inaction by a committee or monitoring officer about the handling 
of a complaint (e.g. delay or bias).  

21 6 April 2014



 40 

(d) A complaint to the Ombudsman may only be made by, or on behalf of, a member 
of the public or a body of persons other than a local authority or other public 
service body.  A complainant must be able to claim a personal injustice.  An 
elected Member may only complain to the Ombudsman about something which 
affects them personally as a member of the public.  This includes actions of an 
authority’s committee and officers carrying out functions in relation to the 
committee.

15. IN SUMMARY

This Annual Report summarises the key work carried out in 2016/2017 and 
provides assurance that the Council’s control environment, in the areas which are 
the responsibility of the Monitoring Officer, is adequate and effective.  This 
Annual Report supports the assurance statements included in the Annual 
Governance Statement referred to elsewhere on the agenda for the Audit Board 
meeting of 28 June 2017.



 41 

ANNEX 1

1. THE ROLE OF THE HEAD OF PAID SERVICE

The responsibilities of the Head of Paid Service rest with the Managing Director, who 
undertakes to discharge these statutory responsibilities in a positive way and in a 
manner that enhances the overall reputation of the Council.

In general, the Head of Paid Service has overall corporate management and operational 
responsibility for the way in which the Council delivers its services and in particular, he 
co-ordinates the staffing needs of the Council, including the organisation, appointment 
and proper management of staff, reporting to the GAC or Cabinet as appropriate.

Having excellent working relations with Members and Officers assists in the discharge of 
the statutory responsibilities of the Head of Paid Service.  Equally, a speedy flow of 
relevant information and access to debate (particularly at the early stages of any 
decision making by the Council) will assist in fulfilling those responsibilities.

The Head of Paid Service meets regularly with Directors to consider and recommend 
action in connection with corporate governance issues and other matters.  

The Head of Paid Service has a special relationship of respect and trust with the Leader 
of the Council, Deputy Leader and Committee chairmen, with a view to ensuring the 
effective and efficient discharge of Council business.

The Head of Paid Service’s functions are summarised as follows:
Description Source

Report on decisions incurring unlawful expenditure, 
unlawful loss or deficiency or unlawful item of account

Section 4 Local Government and Housing Act 1989 

Report on resources Section 4 Local Government and Housing Act 1989

All staff to be appointed on merit Section 7 Local Government and Housing Act 1989

Duty to adopt Standing Orders with respect to staff Section 8 Local Government and Housing Act 1989

Confidentiality of staff records Section 11 Local Government and Housing Act 1989

Conflicts of interest in staff negotiations Section 12 Local Government and Housing Act 1989

Appointment of staff Section 112 Local Government Act 1972

Dispensations (see Delegations) Section 33 Localism Act 2011

Exemptions from political restrictions Section 3A Local Government & Housing Act 1989 (as 
amended)



 42 

2. THE ROLE OF THE MONITORING OFFICER

The current responsibilities of the Monitoring Officer role rest with the Strategic Director 
(External Services). The Monitoring Officer has a broad role in ensuring the lawfulness 
and fairness of Council decision making, ensuring compliance with codes and protocols 
and promoting good governance and high ethical standards.  

The Monitoring Officer’s functions are summarised as follows:

Description Source

Report on any maladministration or injustice where 
the Ombudsman has carried out an investigation

Section 5 Local Government and Housing Act 
1989 (as amended)

Appoint a Deputy Section 5 Local Government and Housing Act 
1989 (as amended)

Report on sufficiency of resources for carrying out 
the Monitoring Officer functions

Section 5 Local Government and Housing Act 
1989 (as amended)

Establish and maintain the Register of Members’ 
Interests for Borough and Parish/Town Councils

Section 81 Local Government Act 2000 (as 
amended) and Member Code of Conduct

Maintain and update the Constitution The Constitution

Key role in promoting and maintaining high 
standards of conduct in the Council

The Constitution

Advise Councillors on interpretation of the Code of 
Conduct

The Constitution  

Support the Audit Board (on ethical governance 
issues)

Local Government Act 2000 (as amended) and 
Statutory Guidance para.8.20

Receive alleged breach of Code of Conduct 
complaints and consult Independent Person

Localism Act 2011 – Adopted Arrangements for 
dealing with Code of Conduct breaches

Investigate Member misconduct (Borough and 
Parish Councils)

Localism Act 2011 –  Adopted Arrangements  for 
dealing with Code of Conduct breaches 

Overview of ethical framework in relation to 
Parish/Town Councils

Section 83(12) Local Government Act 2000 (as 
amended) 

Consult with, support and advise the Head of Paid 
Service and Section 151 Officer on issues of 
lawfulness and probity

The Constitution

Provide advice on vires issues and 
maladministration 

The Constitution

In consultation with the Section 151 Officer, advise 
on whether executive decisions are within the 

The Constitution



 43 

budget and policy framework

Consider whether certain information is exempt 
from disclosure under the Freedom of Information 
Act

Section 36 Freedom of Information Act 2000

Receive copies of whistleblowing allegations of 
misconduct

Whistleblowing Policy

3. THE ROLE OF THE SECTION 151 OFFICER

The current responsibilities of the Chief Finance Officer role rest with the Strategic 
Director (Internal Services). 

There are five areas that are critical to the achievement of the Section 151 Officer’s 
statutory responsibilities:

• maintaining strong financial management underpinned by effective financial controls;
• contributing to corporate management and leadership;
• supporting and advising democratically elected representatives;
• supporting and advising officers in their operational roles;
• leading and managing an effective and responsive financial service.

The Section 151 Officer’s functions are summarised as follows:
Description Source

Report on decisions incurring unlawful expenditure, 
unlawful loss or deficiency or unlawful item of account

Sections 114, 114a, 115, 116 Local Government and 
Finance Act 1988 

Appointment of Deputy Section 114 Local Government and Finance Act 1988

Report on resources Section 114 Local Government and Finance Act 1988

Responsibility for the administration of financial affairs Section 151 Local Government Act 1972

Borrowing, investment accounts and financial 
administration

Sections 1 – 92 Local Government Act 2003

Responsibility to determine the form of the Council’s 
accounts and records, provide internal audit and 
statement of accounts

The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2011

Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 
(England) Regulations 2003





AUDIT BOARD 
28 JUNE 2017

PMKS/Committee Reports/ Complaints Procedure 2016 and 2017

COMPLAINTS MONITORING AND PROCEDURE REVIEW – 
2016/2017

1. Summary

1.1 To provide Members with information on the Council’s Corporate 
Complaints Procedure, including the number and nature of complaints 
received in respect of the services provided by the Council, during the 
period 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the Board receives the report and comments accordingly.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 The Council is committed through its Corporate Plan objectives, to the 
highest possible standards of openness, probity and accountability both 
as an employer and as a provider of services.  In line with this 
commitment, the complaints system is seen as important to improve the 
quality and responsiveness of services and as a stimulus to system 
improvement.  The ideal is for staff to welcome feedback and customers 
to feel free to complain or comment based on a clear understanding of the 
quality of service they should expect.  Staff should feel free to apologise, 
resolve issues quickly at a local level, restore relationships and pass on 
lessons so that systems are improved. 

3.2 Although the Corporate Complaints Procedure Code of Practice for Staff 
(the CCP) is very detailed and comprehensive, Officers need only refer to 
specific elements of the CCP at any one time.  The CCP refers to an 
informal resolution process which is intended to encourage 
communication between the parties involved, either directly or through an 
intermediary, in order to facilitate a mutual understanding of what may be 
different perspectives regarding the complaint.  The CCP reminds staff 
that informal resolution and apology should be immediate where possible 
and that customers most often want an explanation, an apology and 
reassurance that the same thing will not happen to others.

3.3 This annual report provides a mechanism by which the Council can be 
kept informed about the operation of the CCP and provides information 
about the level of activity and an assessment of how well the Council is 
doing in relation to the standard which it expects to achieve, including the 
meeting of timescales. 

3.4 The principal aims of the CCP are as follows:

 to ensure that customers receive social justice regardless of age, 
sexual orientation, religion or belief, gender reassignment and 



AUDIT BOARD 
28 JUNE 2017

PMKS/Committee Reports/ Complaints Procedure 2016 and 2017

pregnancy and maternity, as well as on grounds of race, sex and 
disability;

 to raise the standards of complaints’ management across the   
Council;

 to ensure the quality of complaints’ investigations are consistently high;
 to encourage and support satisfactory resolution to customer 

complaints;
 to learn from complaints and use the information to improve service 

provision;
 to place a positive focus on complaints’ management.

3.5 The Head of Legal Services is the Council’s Corporate Complaints 
Officer.  She remains independent of any decisions, but may give 
guidance and advice on procedure.  She also acts as the Council’s link to 
the Local Government Ombudsman and Housing Ombudsman.

3.6 The CCP is managed by the Corporate Complaints Officer.  The 
Management Team have overall responsibility for the CCP. 

3.7 Complaints about the Council can be broadly categorised as follows:

(a) failure to provide a service at the level or standard expected of the 
Council;

(b) the unhelpful attitude of an employee or contractor of the Council;
(c) neglect or delay in answering a query or responding to a request for 

service;
(d) failure to follow the Council's agreed policies, rules or procedures;
(e) failure to take proper account of relevant matters in coming to a 

decision;
(f) failure to tell people of their rights;
(g) malice, bias or unfair discrimination.

3.8 The following complaints are not covered by the CCP:

(a) requests for a service, e.g., the initial reporting of a fault;
(b) one - off service related complaints e.g. bins not emptied, are handled 

by the Contact Centre;
(c) complaints about court proceedings;
(d) complaints about personnel matters concerning employees of the 

Council;
(e) complaints about something which affects all or most of the 

inhabitants of the Borough, for instance the amount of Council Tax 
being levied;

(f) complaints about matters for which there is a right of appeal to a 
Tribunal or to a Government Minister, e.g., the refusal of planning 
permission;

(g) complaints for which there is a legal remedy, e.g., an injury claim;
(h) complaints already being dealt with by the Local Government 

Ombudsman or Housing Ombudsman;



AUDIT BOARD 
28 JUNE 2017

PMKS/Committee Reports/ Complaints Procedure 2016 and 2017

(i) complaints from employees of the Council (except as external users 
of services);

(j) matters which have arisen more than three months before the 
complaint is made, unless there are very special circumstances;

(k) matters connected with ‘internal malpractice’ and the employment 
protection for individuals disclosing certain information in relation to 
the workplace (refer through the Whistleblowing Policy);

(l) matters connected with the level of Housing Benefit/Council Tax 
Support awarded;

(m) policy issues, e.g., the allocation of resources or prioritisation of 
works;

(n) complaints which fall to be dealt with under the Member Code of 
Conduct.

3.9 The Regulators’ Code (April 2014) requires the Council to have a clear 
and accessible complaints process.  The Council is under a statutory duty 
to have regard to the Code. 

3.10 The means for making a complaint are actively promoted and information 
about the complaints’ process is available via various leaflets, on-line 
(website and intranet), the Civic Centre reception points and public 
outlets, such as the Museum and Library.  Customer Services has direct 
contact with the majority of complainants and provide more detailed 
advice and support to service users who may require assistance in 
expressing their concerns or defining their complaints.

3.11 Complaints can be made in person, over the telephone, in writing by 
letter, fax or email or through the Council’s website. 

3.12 Although the CCP has a three stage process, Officers are encouraged to 
resolve issues informally in the first instance.  

 Informal process
 Stage One investigation by the service manager; 
 Stage Two investigation undertaken by an Officer independent of 

the Stage One decision or the investigation may be outsourced 
when a complaint is complex or contentious or when the Council’s 
independence is likely to be questioned; 

 Stage Three – referral to the Ombudsman or if related to a freedom 
of information/environmental information regulations issue, to the 
Information Commissioner by the complainant.

3.13 Response times are as follows:

 Stage 1 -  15 working days
 Stage 2 – 21 working days

3.14 Complaints are managed entirely through Covalent (a performance 
management system).  The system provides for logging, tracking, 
monitoring and reporting on complaints.  Having instant access to 



AUDIT BOARD 
28 JUNE 2017

PMKS/Committee Reports/ Complaints Procedure 2016 and 2017

complaints’ information enables the Corporate Complaints Officer/relevant 
Director to quickly identify issues of concern and pass them immediately 
to the relevant service area for resolution. Management Team receive 
quarterly updates.

3.15 Complaints’ data is analysed and grouped by departments, stages and 
nature of complaints, response time and decisions.  Equalities information 
is recorded separately. 

Training and development

3.16 Training of new front line staff, service managers and Departmental 
Complaints Officers is designed to help staff in developing their skills in:

 defining and analysing complaints;
 planning investigations and making the best use of sources of 

information;
 evaluating information and making sound decisions;
 communicating those decisions effectively;
 resolving and learning from complaints; 
 overcoming common problems.

3.17 Training for Stage Two investigators develops staff skills in:

 defining and analysing complaints; 
 planning investigations and making the best use of sources of 

information; 
 evaluating information and making sound decisions;
 communicating those decisions effectively; 
 resolving and learning from complaints; 
 overcoming common problems. 

Officers undertook training provided by the Ombudsman’s office on 28 
March 2017. 

3.18 Shared [front line] services with Sevenoaks District Council currently 
comprise Internal Audit Revenues and Benefits (Revs & Bens) and 
Environmental Health.  Complaints against the Dartford element of the 
joint service are dealt with and monitored in accordance with Dartford 
Council’s complaints’ procedure.  

Complaints’ analysis

3.19 Management Team receives reports on a quarterly basis.  Directors 
discuss with their managers, patterns of complaints and possible service 
improvements etc. with a view to remedying any acknowledged 
deficiencies as quickly as possible.



AUDIT BOARD 
28 JUNE 2017

PMKS/Committee Reports/ Complaints Procedure 2016 and 2017

3.20 The information contained within Appendix A shows those complaints 
which have been escalated through the various stages of the complaints 
process.  This Appendix details:

 the number of complaints received;
 at which stage complaints were handled;
 the date of response together with the target date (15 working 

days for Stage One: 21 working days for Stage Two);
 nature of complaints received and the categories used for 

recording;
 the actual outcomes (upheld, dismissed, partially upheld);
 explanatory information.

The following provides a commentary on significant points:

(a) Response times

2015/2016 2016/2017

Number 
investigated at 

this stage

Percentage 
completed within 

timescale

Number 
investigated 
at this stage

Percentage 
completed within 

timescale

Stage 1 60 88.3% (53) 113 86.7% (98)

Stage 2 12 100% (12) 18 72.2% (13)

Local Government Ombudsman 6 - 7 -

Housing Ombudsman 2 - 2 -

Information Commissioner 0 - 0 -

Across the two internal stages, there has been a decrease in the number 
of complaints that were responded to within the specified response time, 
with an average of 84.7% being completed within the relevant timescales 
as opposed to 90.3% in 2015/2016.  The reasons for not responding to 
some complaints within the required timescale are set out at Appendix A.

(b) Outcome analysis

Outcome 2015/2016 2016/2017

Number Percentage Number Percentage

Complaints upheld 13 18% 36 28%

Complaints partially upheld 16 22% 16 12%

Complaints dismissed 43 60% 79 60%

Complaints referred to Ombudsman/ 
Information Commissioner 8 - 9 -

With 28% of complaints being upheld and 12% being partially upheld, the 
indication is that the Council’s customers were reasonably justified in 



AUDIT BOARD 
28 JUNE 2017

PMKS/Committee Reports/ Complaints Procedure 2016 and 2017

complaining and by doing so, assisted the Council in improving its 
services.

(c) Trends - Breakdown by service area

Service Area Number of complaints Ombudsman/Information 
Commissioner Complaints

2015/2016 2016/2017 2015/2016 2016/2017

Benefits 4 7 1 0

Council Tax 16 27 0 1

Customer Services 0 3 0 0

Development Control 1 1 1 0

Environmental Health 3 3 0 1

Housing 33 50
2 to the LGO

2 to the Housing 
Ombudsman

3 to the LGO
2 to the Housing 

Ombudsman

Licensing 2 0 0 0

Parking 1 5 1 1

Waste and Recycling 2 23 0 0

Enforcement 2 6 0 0

Parks 0 1 0 0

Bereavement Services 0 0 1 0

Electoral Registration 1 0 0 0

Building Control 0 1 0 1

Various 0 1 0 0

Legal Services 1 1 0 0

Leisure 5 1 0 0

Finance 1 1 0 0

(d) Breakdown by complaint type

Type Number of complaints

2015/2016 2016/2017

DBC Staff 14 21

Contractor Staff 3 5

Services provided by DBC 57 82

Services provided by Contractor 6 32

(e) Compensation

Management Team have delegated authority to consider and agree 
monetary compensation in exceptional circumstances.  Compensation may 
be appropriate where the Council has failed to perform a statutory obligation 



AUDIT BOARD 
28 JUNE 2017

PMKS/Committee Reports/ Complaints Procedure 2016 and 2017

or its actions could amount to maladministration, particularly where financial 
loss has occurred.  

2015/2016 2016/2017

Number of complaints where 
compensation was paid

Percentage of total 
number of complaints

Number of complaints where 
compensation was paid

Percentage of total 
number of complaints

1 1.3% 2 1.4%

(f) Lessons learned from complaints’ handling

 local front line responsibility for complaint handling is the most crucial 
aspect of the system;

 informal resolution and apology should be immediate where possible;
 useful to record complainants’ objectives such as: explanation, 

apology, improvement or redress and the extent to which 
complainants and those complained against, are satisfied with the 
process;

 the definition of a complaint needs to be broad but measurable;
 understanding the seriousness of complaints is essential to the 

efficient management of complaints - serious complaints or clusters 
of common complaints can raise issues of principle that require policy 
review and action;

 in most cases, local resolution (informal and formal) supported by 
independent review processes (assessment, review, investigation, 
decision and report) is appropriate;

 timescales should be short but related to the complexity of the issue - 
however, an over emphasis on timescales can detract from outcomes 
such as satisfaction with resolution and the improvement actions 
taken;

 stage two investigators need skills in investigation and access to 
expertise about service standards to reinforce their objectivity and 
authority;

 customers most often want an explanation, an apology and 
reassurance that the same thing will not happen to others;

 monitoring should involve real examples rather than just statistics  
and focus on timescales, to the exclusion of other outcomes; 

 encourage feedback from staff and customers to improve the 
complaints’ process.

3.21 How the information from complaints is used to improve working 
practices and/or policy

The emphasis of effective complaints handling is on early and local 
resolution of complaints and ensuring that learning is shared and 
improvements acted upon as soon as possible after the issue that gave 
rise to the complaint. Senior management take an active interest in 
complaints and review the information gathered on a regular basis.



AUDIT BOARD 
28 JUNE 2017

PMKS/Committee Reports/ Complaints Procedure 2016 and 2017

An analysis of complaints’ outcomes (Appendix A) provides a detailed 
record of services that are not being provided to service users’ 
satisfaction.  For example, most of the complaints in Revs & Bens 
relate to concerns over awards of housing benefit and council tax 
support or delays in processing claims.  As part of the ongoing review 
of the service to improve efficiency and customer service, every effort 
is being made to improve the accuracy and time taken to process 
claims.  A team of quality checkers take a sample of claims from each 
assessor to check that they have been processed accurately and then 
additional training will be provided where it is clear that an assessor is 
making numerous mistakes.  The service manager is also rolling out a 
training package (on the need for accuracy and taking more care) to all 
his staff.  Risk based verification has also been introduced, which 
means that those low risk claims have far fewer checks undertaken on 
them. This helps to speed up how quickly claims are processed.

On occasion, complaints refer to a member of staff not being as helpful 
or polite as they should be. Where this happens, service managers will 
speak to the member of staff and remind them of the need for good 
customer service. Very occasionally, staff may be put forward for 
additional training in good customer care.

Satisfaction surveys

3.22 Complainants are routinely surveyed at the close of the complaint. There 
are no national indicators which assess the satisfaction with complaints 
handling.

From an analysis of responses received, it would appear that some 
customers view the satisfaction survey process as a further opportunity 
to prolong their complaint.  This is unfortunate and calls into question the 
merits of continuing with the satisfaction surveys.  Management Team 
considered whether it was appropriate to use a different method of 
surveying complaints e.g. telephone rather than written, as any attempt 
to continue the complaint could be closed down immediately and 
whether a replacement indicator such as the number of complaints that 
are escalated through the various stages of the CCP could be 
considered.  It was agreed, that for the time being, the satisfaction 
surveys be continued.  

Equalities and Diversity

3.23 Local authorities are subject to the public sector equality duty (PSED) in 
the Equality Act 2010. The PSED is the reformulated and broadened 
version of the ‘due regard’ duties on public authorities, which apply to 
discrimination on grounds of age, sexual orientation, religion or belief, 
gender reassignment and pregnancy and maternity, as well as on 
grounds of race, sex and disability. 



AUDIT BOARD 
28 JUNE 2017

PMKS/Committee Reports/ Complaints Procedure 2016 and 2017

3.24 The Council has explicit objectives of improving equality of access to 
complaints for vulnerable people, those with language barriers or speech 
problems etc.  The complaint’s form and leaflets are written in plain 
English.  Braille, large print, audio and language line (interpretation) 
facilities are available on request.  The Council also welcomes calls via 
NGT Relay.

3.25 Customers are asked to complete equalities monitoring data when they 
submit a complaint form.  The completion of the equalities data is 
discretionary.  This data is collected to ensure that the Council is treating 
all members of its community fairly and making its CCP accessible to all 
individuals.  The results of equalities monitoring is set out at Appendix B 
to the report.  

Local Government Ombudsman

3.26 The Ombudsman is responsible for deciding whether maladministration, 
service failure or both have occurred in relation to the service provided.  
The Ombudsman’s view is final, subject only to judicial review by the 
courts.

3.27 One of the key proprieties for the Ombudsman is to continue to ensure 
that complaints are resolved at a local level. The Ombudsman will only 
investigate if the local complaints’ procedure has been exhausted.  In the 
year 2016/2017, the Ombudsman considered seven new complaints 
against the Council which were categorised as follows:

(a) some aspects of one complaint were upheld because the 
Ombudsman felt that there had been a fault leading to injustice 
but agreed with the Council’s proposed response;

(b) another complaint was upheld due to maladministration, but no 
injustice had been caused; and

(c) for the five remaining complaints, the Ombudsman found no 
evidence of administrative fault after initial enquiries and so 
decided not to initiate an investigation.

Of the seven complaints that were considered by the Ombudsman, the 
Council had already considered and dismissed five of them. The other 
two complaints were only considered by the Ombudsman.

The Ombudsman’s Annual Review of Complaints 2016 - 2017 will be 
reported to Cabinet in October 2017.

Contractors

3.28 The Ombudsman has issued principles for authorities to consider when 
setting up arrangements for third parties to deliver services on its behalf 
and will treat any complaint about a service provided by a third party on 
behalf of the Council, as being against the Council.  This means that the 



AUDIT BOARD 
28 JUNE 2017

PMKS/Committee Reports/ Complaints Procedure 2016 and 2017

Council maintains responsibility for third party actions, including 
complaint handling, no matter what the arrangements are with that party.

Where complaints involve contractors, the Ombudsman provides 
contractors with the opportunity to comment as part of the investigation 
and decision-making process.

Information Commissioner

3.29 In the year 2016/2017 no complaints were referred to the Information 
Commissioner.

Housing Ombudsman

3.30 All social housing (landlord related functions) complaints are dealt with 
by the Housing Ombudsman. 

3.31 Under section 180 of the Localism Act 2011, local authority tenants can 
ask for their complaints to be considered by a ‘designated person’ when 
their landlord’s internal complaints’ procedure has been exhausted.  The 
introduction of a ‘designated person’ is intended to involve local 
politicians and local people in resolving housing issues.  

3.32 A ‘designated person’ has no legal authority over Council housing 
policies or procedures.  The ‘designated person’ can either try to resolve 
the complaint themselves or they can, with the consent of the 
complainant, refer the complaint to the Housing Ombudsman.  If the 
‘designated person’ refuses to do either, the complainant can contact the 
Ombudsman directly, subject to waiting 8 weeks from the date of the 
Stage Two decision.

3.33 A ‘designated person’ can be any Member of Parliament, a local 
councillor or a designated tenant panel.  MPs and local councillors (not 
County or Parish/Town Councillors) automatically become ‘designated 
persons’ at the commencement of and throughout their term of office.

Cabinet agreed that there would be advantages in designating a specific 
Member to fulfil the role, as that Member could be trained and supported 
by the Housing team to fully understand the operations and obligations 
of the Housing service, prior to dealing with any complaints.  Appointing 
a Member specifically to this role also provides a single point of contact 
for consistency of approach and leaves Tenant Groups, the local MP 
and Housing Portfolio member free to continue in their current roles, 
without conflict of interest issues arising.  Councillor D Hammock was 
appointed the ‘designated person’ [Cabinet 25.04.13: Min.No.185] and 
has received training from the Head of Legal Services and Head of 
Housing.

3.34 In the year 2016/2017 two complaints were referred to the ‘designated 
person’. In both cases the ‘designated person’ agreed with the action 



AUDIT BOARD 
28 JUNE 2017

PMKS/Committee Reports/ Complaints Procedure 2016 and 2017

that had been taken by the Council and was therefore unable to offer 
any further assistance.

3.35 Two complaints were also referred to the Housing Ombudsman and 
remain under investigation.

Conclusion

3.36 Quarterly reports to Management Team identify any apparent trends 
which are then taken up by the relevant Director with the service 
department concerned, with a view to recommending and/or agreeing on 
action to minimise or avoid similar complaints in future.  

3.37 The Council will continue to monitor the effectiveness of its CCP 
including the Covalent system, to ensure consistency of data and fitness 
for purpose.  

Ombudsman sector reform proposals

3.38 The Cabinet Office is currently consulting on proposals to reform the 
current Ombudsman sector by creating a new Public Services 
Ombudsman, bringing together the existing jurisdictions of the Housing 
Ombudsman, Local Government Ombudsman and Parliamentary and 
Health Ombudsman.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

The Council is committed to the highest possible standards of openness, 
probity and accountability both as an employer and as a provider of services.  
In line with this commitment, the Council encourages its customers to voice 
their concerns (through the Corporate Complaints Procedure), as an 
opportunity to put things right for the customer and to improve services.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment Failing to follow the Corporate Complaints 
Procedure could result in a 
maladministration decision by the 
Ombudsman against the Council

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable



AUDIT BOARD 
28 JUNE 2017

PMKS/Committee Reports/ Complaints Procedure 2016 and 2017

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Corporate Complaints Analysis 2016/2017
Appendix B – Equalities Analysis 2016/2017

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information Category

Marie Kelly-Stone
(01322) 343634

Legal Services/
Managing Director

N/A



APPENDIX A

Corporate Complaints 2016/2017
Generated on: 19 May 2017

Stage 1

Reference 
ID Service Description Opened Date Due Date Completed 

Date

Response 
Time 

(working 
days)

Actual 
Outcome Stage History Action Taken

836 - 04/16 Parking

Civil Enforcement 
Officer (CEO) unwilling 
to accept that a vehicle 
had been parked 
legally 

08-Apr-2016 03-May-2016 12-Apr-2016 2 days Upheld  

An apology was made to 
the complainant, the PCN 
was cancelled and 
additional training will be 
provided to the CEO 
concerned 

838 - 04/16 Housing
Alleged failure to 
address water leak in 
timely fashion 

13-Apr-2016 06-May-2016 18-Apr-2016 3 days Dismissed   

839 - 04/16 Development 
Control

Alleged failure to 
adequately advertise a 
planning application 

14-Apr-2016 09-May-2016 19-Apr-2016 3 days Dismissed   

841 - 04/16 Customer 
Services

Alleged issues with the 
automated payments 
service 

25-Apr-2016 18-May-2016 26-Apr-2016 1 day Dismissed   

842 - 04/16 Housing Alleged officer 
harassment 14-Apr-2016 09-May-2016 26-Apr-2016 8 days Dismissed   

843 - 05/16 Council Tax Alleged unfair business 
rate charge 03-May-2016 25-May-2016 10-May-2016 5 days Dismissed   

844 - 04/16 Environmental 
Health

Alleged failure to 
adequately respond to 
a noise related 
complaint 

28-Apr-2016 23-May-2016 17-May-2016 12 days Dismissed   

845 - 05/16 Housing

Alleged unhelpful 
involvement of the 
Supported Housing 
Officer 

04-May-2016 26-May-2016 16-May-2016 8 days Dismissed   



APPENDIX A

Reference 
ID Service Description Opened Date Due Date Completed 

Date

Response 
Time 

(working 
days)

Actual 
Outcome Stage History Action Taken

846 - 05/16 Council Tax
Alleged harassment 
and failure to address 
an emailed complaint 

10-May-2016 02-Jun-2016 18-May-2016 6 days Dismissed  

Although the complaint was 
dismissed adjustments 
were made to the 
complainant's repayment 
of arrears 

847 - 04/16 Housing

Alleged 
mismanagement of 
temporary housing 
situation 

18-Apr-2016 11-May-2016 11-May-2016 16 days Partially 
Upheld  

Officers have been briefed 
on the issues raised to 
avoid any future 
misunderstandings 

850 - 04/16 Council Tax Alleged confusion over 
Council Tax payment 27-Apr-2016 20-May-2016 12-May-2016 10 days Dismissed  

Although the Council Tax 
that had been paid was 
refunded, the decisions 
that had been made, which 
were based on the 
information available at the 
time, were found to be 
correct. 

Reference 
ID Service Description Opened Date Due Date Completed 

Date

Response 
Time 

(working 
days)

Actual 
Outcome Stage History Action Taken

851 - 05/16 Housing
Alleged failure to 
provide suitable 
housing for family 

16-May-2016 08-Jun-2016 25-May-2016 7 days Dismissed   

855 - 05/16 Enforcement
Alleged harassment by 
littering Enforcement 
Officer 

28-May-2016 16-Jun-2016 01-Jun-2016 1 day Dismissed   

856 - 05/16 Parking
Alleged rudeness of 
parking enforcement 
officer 

12-May-2016 06-Jun-2016 10-Jun-2016 20 days Upheld  

The Penalty Charge Notice 
was cancelled and 
additional training was 
given to the officer 

858 - 06/16 Council Tax
Alleged 
mismanagement of 
business rate account 

13-Jun-2016 05-Jul-2016 28-Jun-2016 11 days Dismissed   

859 - 05/16 Housing Alleged misuse of 26-May-2016 20-Jun-2016 09-Jun-2016 9 days Dismissed  



APPENDIX A

Reference 
ID Service Description Opened Date Due Date Completed 

Date

Response 
Time 

(working 
days)

Actual 
Outcome Stage History Action Taken

master key 

860 - 05/16 Environmental 
Health

Noise related complaint 
letter sent to wrong 
address 

27-May-2016 21-Jun-2016 15-Jun-2016 12 days Upheld  Apologies were offered for 
any distress caused. 

861 - 06/16 Building Control

Alleged misuse of client 
data to advertise 
Building Control 
services 

15-Jun-2016 07-Jul-2016 14-Jul-2016 21 days Dismissed   

862 - 06/16 Finance
Alleged failure to 
process insurance 
claim efficiently 

01-Jun-2016 23-Jun-2016 21-Jun-2016 14 days Upheld  

This claim has been 
escalated with the Council's 
insurers. 
Insurance staff have been 
trained on the handling of 
complaints. 
Internal processes have 
been improved to ensure 
that future claims are 
chased at regular intervals. 

865 - 06/16 Housing Alleged failure to 
return telephone calls 13-Jun-2016 05-Jul-2016 01-Jul-2016 14 days Upheld  

Contact was made with the 
complainant to discuss 
their concerns 

Reference 
ID Service Description Opened Date Due Date Completed 

Date

Response 
Time 

(working 
days)

Actual 
Outcome Stage History Action Taken

866 - 06/16 Housing

Alleged incorrect 
advice provided by the 
Council's 'out of hours' 
service 

30-Jun-2016 22-Jul-2016 14-Jul-2016 10 days Upheld  

Apologies were offered for 
the inefficient way that the 
calls were handled and the 
incorrect advice provided. 
Additional training was 
provided to the call 
handling staff concerned. 

867 - 07/16 Housing
Alleged problems when 
booking a Community 
Centre 

01-Jul-2016 25-Jul-2016 06-Jul-2016 3 days Dismissed   



APPENDIX A

Reference 
ID Service Description Opened Date Due Date Completed 

Date

Response 
Time 

(working 
days)

Actual 
Outcome Stage History Action Taken

869 - 07/16 Housing Alleged failure to 
address mould growth 19-Jul-2016 10-Aug-2016 19-Jul-2016 1 day Dismissed   

870 - 07/16 Enforcement Alleged harassment 
relating to tree works 06-Jul-2016 28-Jul-2016 26-Jul-2016 14 days Dismissed   

872 - 07/16 Housing Disputed tenancy 
breaches 07-Jul-2016 29-Jul-2016 22-Jul-2016 11 days Dismissed   

874 - 07/16 Waste and 
Recycling

Alleged failure to 
collect garden waste 14-Jul-2016 05-Aug-2016 25-Jul-2016 7 days Upheld  

Apologies were offered and 
reassurance given that 
efforts to improve the 
service were being 
progressed. 

875 - 07/16 Waste and 
Recycling

Alleged failure to 
collect garden waste 18-Jul-2016 09-Aug-2016 25-Jul-2016 5 days Upheld  

Apologies were offered and 
reassurance given that 
efforts to improve the 
service were being 
progressed. 

876 - 07/16 Waste and 
Recycling

Alleged repeated 
failure to collect waste 18-Jul-2016 09-Aug-2016 25-Jul-2016 5 days Upheld  

Apologies were offered and 
reassurance given that 
efforts to improve the 
service were being 
progressed. 

877 - 07/16 Benefits
Alleged 
mismanagement of 
benefits claim 

05-Jul-2016 27-Jul-2016 26-Jul-2016 15 days Partially 
Upheld  

Apologies were offered for 
the claim reassessment 
delay 



APPENDIX A

Reference 
ID Service Description Opened Date Due Date Completed 

Date

Response 
Time 

(working 
days)

Actual 
Outcome Stage History Action Taken

878 - 07/16 Waste and 
Recycling

Alleged failure to 
collect garden waste 19-Jul-2016 10-Aug-2016 25-Jul-2016 4 days Upheld  

Apologies were offered and 
reassurance given that 
efforts to improve the 
service were being 
progressed. 

879 - 07/16 Waste and 
Recycling

Alleged failure to 
collect recycling waste 18-Jul-2016 09-Aug-2016 25-Jul-2016 5 days Upheld  

Apologies were offered and 
reassurance given that 
efforts to improve the 
service were being 
progressed. 

880 - 07/16 Waste and 
Recycling

Alleged failure to 
collect garden waste 19-Jul-2016 10-Aug-2016 25-Jul-2016 4 days Upheld  

Apologies were offered and 
reassurance given that 
efforts to improve the 
service were being 
progressed. A quarter of 
the annual fee for garden 
waste collection was also 
refunded to compensate for 
the missed collections 

881 - 07/16 Waste and 
Recycling

Alleged repeated 
failure to collect 
recycling on scheduled 
date 

25-Jul-2016 16-Aug-2016 25-Jul-2016 1 day Upheld  

Apologies were offered and 
reassurance given that 
efforts to improve the 
service were being 
progressed. 

882 - 07/16 Waste and 
Recycling

Alleged repeated 
failure to collect 
recycling 

26-Jul-2016 17-Aug-2016 29-Jul-2016 3 days Upheld  

Apologies were offered and 
reassurance given that 
efforts to improve the 
service were being 
progressed. 

883 - 07/16 Benefits
Alleged 
mismanagement of 
benefit entitlements 

11-Jul-2016 02-Aug-2016 02-Aug-2016 16 days Partially 
Upheld  

Although the benefit 
related decisions were 
correct it was felt that 
there were some areas 
where the claim had not 
been dealt with in the 
manner expected 



APPENDIX A

Reference 
ID Service Description Opened Date Due Date Completed 

Date

Response 
Time 

(working 
days)

Actual 
Outcome Stage History Action Taken

884 - 08/16 Council Tax
Alleged 
mismanagement of 
Council Tax account 

09-Aug-2016 01-Sep-2016 09-Aug-2016 1 day Dismissed   

885 - 07/16 Council Tax
Alleged 
mismanagement of 
Council Tax account 

27-Jul-2016 18-Aug-2016 10-Aug-2016 10 days Dismissed   

886 - 08/16 Waste and 
Recycling

Alleged repeated 
failure to collect waste 
and recycling 

01-Aug-2016 23-Aug-2016 02-Aug-2016 1 day Upheld  

Apologies were offered and 
reassurance given that 
efforts to improve the 
service were being 
progressed. 

887 - 08/16 Waste and 
Recycling

Alleged failure to 
collect rubbish on time 10-Aug-2016 02-Sep-2016 11-Aug-2016 1 day Upheld  

Apologies were offered and 
reassurance given that 
efforts to improve the 
service were being 
progressed. 

888 - 07/16 Housing Alleged rude conduct of 
Housing Officer 28-Jul-2016 19-Aug-2016 11-Aug-2016 10 days Dismissed  

Although the complaint was 
dismissed apologies were 
offered for any unintended 
distress caused 

889 - 06/16 Housing Alleged racial 
discrimination 30-Jun-2016 22-Jul-2016 29-Jul-2016 21 days Dismissed Related to complaint 805  

890 - 08/16 Housing

Alleged failure to 
investigate concerns 
raised relating to the 
installation of external 
wall insulation 

04-Aug-2016 26-Aug-2016 20-Sep-2016 32 days Dismissed   

891 - 08/16 Housing
Alleged failure to 
address a neighbour's 
anti-social behaviour 

09-Aug-2016 01-Sep-2016 12-Aug-2016 3 days Dismissed   

892 - 08/16 Housing

Alleged failure to 
investigate concerns 
raised relating to the 
installation of external 
wall insulation 

04-Aug-2016 26-Aug-2016 04-Aug-2016 1 day Dismissed

This complaint relates to 
the same property as 
complaint number 781, 
which was investigated at 
Stages 1 and 2 and by 
the Ombudsman and was 
dismissed. 

 



APPENDIX A

Reference 
ID Service Description Opened Date Due Date Completed 

Date

Response 
Time 

(working 
days)

Actual 
Outcome Stage History Action Taken

893 - 08/16 Housing Alleged officer 
harassment 11-Aug-2016 05-Sep-2016 22-Aug-2016 7 days Dismissed   

894 - 08/16 Housing
Alleged delay to 
planned maintenance 
work 

19-Aug-2016 13-Sep-2016 19-Aug-2016 1 day Dismissed   

896 - 08/16 Waste and 
Recycling

Alleged repeated 
failure to collect waste 26-Aug-2016 20-Sep-2016 30-Aug-2016 1 day Upheld  

Apologies were offered and 
reassurance given that 
efforts to improve the 
service were being 
progressed. 

897 - 08/16 Parking Alleged breach of 
confidentiality 31-Aug-2016 22-Sep-2016 09-Sep-2016 7 days Dismissed   

898 - 08/16 Housing
Alleged failure to 
provide correct Hall 
booking cost 

31-Aug-2016 22-Sep-2016 09-Sep-2016 7 days Dismissed   

899 - 09/16 Leisure

Alleged excessive noise 
and inappropriate 
language heard from 
event held in Central 
Park 

01-Sep-2016 23-Sep-2016 27-Sep-2016 18 days Upheld  

Apologies were offered for 
any disturbance caused. 
The content of future films 
will also be reviewed, and 
sound levels monitored and 
controlled, to avoid causing 
any future offence. 

900 - 09/16 Benefits
Alleged 
mismanagement of 
benefit payments 

19-Sep-2016 11-Oct-2016 11-Oct-2016 16 days Partially 
Upheld  

Apologies were offered for 
the fact that some aspects 
of the claim had not been 
dealt with in the manner 
expected. 

901 - 09/16 Waste and 
Recycling

Alleged failure to 
collect garden waste 19-Sep-2016 11-Oct-2016 19-Sep-2016 1 day Upheld  

Apologies were offered and 
reassurance given that 
efforts to improve the 
service were being 
progressed. A 
proportionate refund of the 
garden waste collection fee 
has also been made. 



APPENDIX A

Reference 
ID Service Description Opened Date Due Date Completed 

Date

Response 
Time 

(working 
days)

Actual 
Outcome Stage History Action Taken

902 - 09/16 Council Tax
Alleged aggressive 
attitude of 
Enforcement Agent 

21-Sep-2016 13-Oct-2016 29-Sep-2016 6 days Dismissed   

904 - 10/16 Council Tax Alleged unhelpful 
attitude of officer 04-Oct-2016 26-Oct-2016 06-Oct-2016 2 days Dismissed   

905 - 09/16 Council Tax Alleged incorrect use of 
enforcement agents 23-Sep-2016 17-Oct-2016 14-Oct-2016 15 days Dismissed   

906 - 10/16 Housing
Service charges for 
building are allegedly 
incorrect 

05-Oct-2016 27-Oct-2016 07-Oct-2016 2 days Dismissed   

907 - 10/16 Council Tax
Alleged failure to 
provide Council Tax 
account assistance 

07-Oct-2016 31-Oct-2016 11-Oct-2016 2 days Dismissed   

909 - 10/16 Council Tax
Alleged 
mismanagement of 
Council Tax account 

12-Oct-2016 03-Nov-2016 27-Oct-2016 11 days Dismissed   

911 - 10/16 Parking

Alleged failure to 
respond to a resident's 
parking restriction 
related query 

13-Oct-2016 04-Nov-2016 14-Oct-2016 1 day Dismissed   

912 - 10/16 Benefits
Alleged 
mismanagement of 
benefit payments 

18-Oct-2016 14-Nov-2016 10-Nov-2016 17 days Upheld  
Apologies were offered and 
the complainant's accounts 
were reassessed. 

913 - 09/16 Parks
Unable to summon 
help when trapped in 
car park 

09-Sep-2016 03-Oct-2016 21-Sep-2016 8 days Upheld  

The recorded message on 
the Council's out-of-hours 
service was changed. 
The security contractor's 
out-of-hours system was 
repaired as it was not 
working. 
The car park's signage has 
been updated with closing 
times and an additional 
telephone contact number. 



APPENDIX A

Reference 
ID Service Description Opened Date Due Date Completed 

Date

Response 
Time 

(working 
days)

Actual 
Outcome Stage History Action Taken

914 - 10/16 Council Tax
Alleged incorrect 
amount of Council Tax 
taken by Direct Debit 

10-Oct-2016 01-Nov-2016 20-Oct-2016 8 days Dismissed   

916 - 10/16 Council Tax
Alleged 
mismanagement of 
Council Tax account 

19-Oct-2016 10-Nov-2016 11-Nov-2016 17 days Dismissed   

917 - 09/16 Waste and 
Recycling

Alleged verbal abuse 
from a refuse crew 
member 

27-Sep-2016 19-Oct-2016 18-Oct-2016 15 days Dismissed  

Although the complaint was 
dismissed the crews that 
service this road were 
reminded of the Council's 
expected acceptable 
standards of behaviour 

918 - 10/16 Housing
Alleged problems when 
using the Temple Hill 
Community Centre 

14-Oct-2016 07-Nov-2016 26-Oct-2016 8 days Partially 
Upheld  

Issues raised in relation to 
cleanliness and booking 
arrangements have been 
addressed. 

919 - 10/16 Waste and 
Recycling

Alleged failure to 
collect rubbish 27-Oct-2016 18-Nov-2016 28-Oct-2016 1 day Upheld  

Apologies were offered and 
arrangements made to 
collect the rubbish 

920 - 10/16 Waste and 
Recycling

Alleged failure to 
collect recycling 31-Oct-2016 22-Nov-2016 31-Oct-2016 1 day Upheld  

Apologies were offered and 
the contactor asked not to 
miss emptying the bin 
again 

922 - 11/16 Housing
Alleged 
mismanagement of 
housing situation 

02-Nov-2016 24-Nov-2016 23-Nov-2016 15 days Dismissed   

924 - 11/16 Housing

Alleged unsatisfactory 
behaviour of 
Community Centre 
steward 

01-Nov-2016 18-Nov-2016 10-Nov-2016 7 days Dismissed  

925 - 11/16 Housing
Alleged unacceptable 
response to an 'out of 
hours' call 

03-Nov-2016 25-Nov-2016 11-Nov-2016 6 days Dismissed  

Although the complaint was 
dismissed the agent who 
took the call was reminded 
of the rules which related 
to response times. 



APPENDIX A

Reference 
ID Service Description Opened Date Due Date Completed 

Date

Response 
Time 

(working 
days)

Actual 
Outcome Stage History Action Taken

926 - 11/16 Housing
Supported Housing 
Officer's alleged 
unacceptable attitude 

14-Nov-2016 06-Dec-2016 25-Nov-2016 9 days Dismissed   

927 - 11/16 Customer 
Services

Alleged use of 
inappropriate language 
and unhelpful attitude 
of receptionist 

16-Nov-2016 08-Dec-2016 17-Nov-2016 1 day Upheld  

The member of staff was 
reminded of the 
importance of remaining 
professional at all times 
and the need to treat each 
customer with dignity and 
respect 

928 - 11/16 Housing
Alleged 
mismanagement of 
garage rent account 

10-Nov-2016 02-Dec-2016 24-Nov-2016 10 days Partially 
Upheld  

Apologies were offered for 
the incorrect verbal advice 
that was given and the 
officer concerned has 
received further training 

929 - 11/16 Waste and 
Recycling

Alleged action by 
contractor causes 
damage to bin store 
gate and bin lids 

15-Nov-2016 07-Dec-2016 16-Nov-2016 1 day Upheld  

The contractor was asked 
to ensure that the gates 
are secured following 
refuse collection and to 
replace any damaged bins 

930 - 11/16 Waste and 
Recycling

Alleged repeated 
failure to collect 
garden rubbish 

17-Nov-2016 09-Dec-2016 18-Nov-2016 1 day Upheld  Contractor asked to collect 
the waste urgently. 

931 - 11/16 Enforcement Alleged false 
accusation of littering 24-Nov-2016 16-Dec-2016 25-Nov-2016 1 day Upheld  

Apologies were offered to 
the complainant and the 
PCN was cancelled. Further 
training was given to the 
enforcement officer 
concerned 

933 - 11/16 Benefits

Alleged 
mismanagement of 
housing benefit 
payments 

11-Nov-2016 05-Dec-2016 30-Nov-2016 13 days Upheld  

Apologies were offered for 
not dealing with the claim 
in the expected manner 
and the claim was 
reassessed. 



APPENDIX A

Reference 
ID Service Description Opened Date Due Date Completed 

Date

Response 
Time 

(working 
days)

Actual 
Outcome Stage History Action Taken

934 - 12/16 Housing

Alleged 
mismanagement of 
'right to buy' 
application and 
unprofessional officer 
conduct 

01-Dec-2016 23-Dec-2016 05-Dec-2016 2 days Dismissed  

Although the complaint was 
dismissed apologies were 
offered for the delays 
caused whilst the Council 
carried out investigations 

935 - 11/16 Council Tax
Alleged 
mismanagement of 
Council Tax account 

16-Nov-2016 08-Dec-2016 06-Dec-2016 14 days Dismissed

Although the complaint 
was dismissed the 
underlying liability order 
was withdrawn and 
associated costs were 
removed 

 

940 - 12/16 Housing
Alleged failure to 
provide adequate 
housing 

21-Dec-2016 17-Jan-2017 23-Dec-2016 2 days Dismissed   

941 - 12/16 Waste and 
Recycling

Alleged repeated 
failure to collect waste 28-Dec-2016 20-Jan-2017 03-Jan-2017 3 days Upheld  

A formal notice has been 
issued to the collection 
contractors. 

944 - 01/17 Housing
Alleged failure to 
address damage 
caused by leaks 

16-Jan-2017 07-Feb-2017 17-Jan-2017 1 day Partially 
Upheld  

Ventilation improvements 
have been scheduled and 
decorating vouchers have 
been provided 

945 - 01/17 Housing Alleged failure to carry 
out requested repairs 16-Jan-2017 07-Feb-2017 19-Jan-2017 3 days Dismissed   

946 - 01/17 Housing

Alleged failure to make 
appropriate advocate 
bids for supported 
housing 

03-Jan-2017 25-Jan-2017 05-Jan-2017 2 days Dismissed   



APPENDIX A

Reference 
ID Service Description Opened Date Due Date Completed 

Date

Response 
Time 

(working 
days)

Actual 
Outcome Stage History Action Taken

947 - 01/17 Housing
Alleged failure to 
provide help for a 
homeless person 

03-Jan-2017 25-Jan-2017 27-Jan-2017 18 days Partially 
Upheld  

Although the Council 
provided the correct 
response to the request for 
help it was agreed that the 
out of hours staff member 
had shown insensitivity 
during the telephone 
conversations. Further 
training has been given to 
the staff member 
concerned. 

949 - 01/17 Benefits
Alleged incorrect 
request for repayment 
of benefits 

12-Jan-2017 03-Feb-2017 31-Jan-2017 13 days Dismissed   

950 - 01/17 Housing Alleged unfair refusal 
of mutual exchange 24-Jan-2017 15-Feb-2017 03-Feb-2017 8 days Dismissed   

951 - 02/17 Council Tax

Alleged inappropriate 
approach taken when 
arranging a Council 
Tax Discount Review 

08-Feb-2017 02-Mar-2017 20-Feb-2017 8 days Upheld  

The procedure to be used 
when contacting a resident 
to arrange a Council Tax 
Disabled Reduction Review 
have been revised. The 
new procedure is also to be 
used in other situations 
where it is appropriate to 
give advanced warning of a 
visit. 

952 - 02/17 Housing
Alleged failure to 
address parking 
related issues 

01-Feb-2017 23-Feb-2017 08-Feb-2017 5 days Dismissed   

953 - 02/17 Housing
Alleged damage caused 
during replacement of 
heating system 

13-Feb-2017 07-Mar-2017 14-Feb-2017 1 day Upheld  

The engineer was removed 
from the contract and the 
damage was repaired. The 
contractor also apologised 
to the complainant. 



APPENDIX A

Reference 
ID Service Description Opened Date Due Date Completed 

Date

Response 
Time 

(working 
days)

Actual 
Outcome Stage History Action Taken

954 - 02/17 Housing
Alleged damage caused 
by leaking Council 
installed plumbing 

10-Feb-2017 06-Mar-2017 14-Feb-2017 2 days Dismissed   

955 - 02/17 Environmental 
Health

Alleged failure to 
ensure that unsightly 
garden is completely 
cleared 

03-Feb-2017 27-Feb-2017 20-Feb-2017 11 days Dismissed   

956 - 02/17 Waste and 
Recycling

Alleged repeated 
failure to carry out an 
assisted waste 
collection 

20-Feb-2017 14-Mar-2017 21-Feb-2017 1 day Upheld  

Apologies were offered to 
the complainant and the 
contractor was asked to 
ensure that the waste is 
collected on time in future 

957 - 02/17 Housing

Alleged late 
cancellation of 
appointments made to 
investigate a boiler 
fault 

15-Feb-2017 09-Mar-2017 23-Feb-2017 6 days Partially 
Upheld  

The second appointment 
should not have been 
cancelled and apologies 
were offered for any 
inconvenience caused. The 
contractor's procedures 
have been changed to 
ensure that this does not 
occur again. 

958 - 02/17 Housing
Boiler allegedly failed 
following its annual 
service 

27-Feb-2017 21-Mar-2017 28-Mar-2017 1 day Dismissed   

959 - 02/17 Housing
Alleged unfair 
treatment by the 
Council 

27-Feb-2017 21-Mar-2017 01-Mar-2017 2 days Dismissed   

960 - 02/17 Housing
Alleged damage and 
inconvenience caused 
by Contractor 

24-Feb-2017 20-Mar-2017 23-Mar-2017 19 days Dismissed

Although the complaint 
was dismissed work was 
arranged to address the 
alleged damage. 

 

961 - 02/17 Waste and 
Recycling

Alleged failure to 
address contractor 
access to bin store 

08-Feb-2017 01-Mar-2017 13-Mar-2017 23 days Dismissed   



APPENDIX A

Reference 
ID Service Description Opened Date Due Date Completed 

Date

Response 
Time 

(working 
days)

Actual 
Outcome Stage History Action Taken

962 - 03/17 Housing Alleged housing band 
discrimination 09-Mar-2017 31-Mar-2017 21-Mar-2017 6 days Dismissed   

963 - 03/17 Council Tax
Alleged 
mismanagement of 
Council Tax account 

06-Mar-2017 28-Mar-2017 03-Apr-2017 20 days Dismissed  

Although the complaint was 
dismissed actions were 
proposed which would 
assist the complainant with 
their finances 

964 - 02/17 Benefits
Action to reclaim 
overpaid benefits is 
allegedly unfair 

23-Feb-2017 17-Mar-2017 14-Mar-2017 13 days Partially 
Upheld  

Apologies were offered for 
failing to treat an email 
that had been received as 
an appeal request 

965 - 03/17 Council Tax

Allegation that court 
costs have unfairly 
been applied to Council 
Tax account 

06-Mar-2017 28-Mar-2017 16-Mar-2017 8 days Dismissed  

Although the complaint was 
dismissed the court costs 
were removed as a gesture 
of goodwill on the 
understanding that the 
outstanding balance would 
be paid. 

966 - 03/17 Council Tax
Allegation that court 
summons was issued 
too quickly 

10-Mar-2017 03-Apr-2017 16-Mar-2017 4 days Dismissed  

Although the correct 
procedures had been 
followed it was decided to 
withdraw the summons and 
associated costs as the 
account was now clear. 

967 - 02/17 Housing
Alleged failure to 
address neighbour's 
anti-social behaviour 

28-Feb-2017 22-Mar-2017 21-Mar-2017 15 days Dismissed   

968 - 03/17 Customer 
Services

Alleged failure to 
respond to 
correspondence 

17-Mar-2017 10-Apr-2017 20-Mar-2017 1 day Upheld  

Apologies were offered for 
Customer Services' lack of 
response to one email. 
Advisors have been 
reminded of the need to 
respond to all emails. New 
email allocation software is 
currently being installed to 
enable better tracking to 
take place. 



APPENDIX A

Reference 
ID Service Description Opened Date Due Date Completed 

Date

Response 
Time 

(working 
days)

Actual 
Outcome Stage History Action Taken

969 - 03/17 Waste and 
Recycling

Alleged repeated 
failure to collect waste 24-Mar-2017 17-Apr-2017 27-Mar-2017 1 day Upheld  

Apologies were offered and 
action instigated to have 
the bins emptied. 
Contractor has been 
reminded of the need to 
check all bins in the road. 

970 - 03/17 Waste and 
Recycling

Alleged repeated 
failure to collect 
garden rubbish 

22-Mar-2017 13-Apr-2017 23-Mar-2017 1 day Dismissed   

971 - 03/17 Council Tax
Alleged failure to pay 
refund to correct bank 
account 

11-Mar-2017 03-Apr-2017 03-Apr-2017 16 days Dismissed   

973 - 03/17 Council Tax
Alleged 
mismanagement of 
Council Tax account 

23-Mar-2017 18-Apr-2017 10-Apr-2017 12 days Partially 
Upheld  

Apologies were offered for 
incorrectly sending a 
liability order and failing to 
establish whether an empty 
property exemption was 
appropriate at an earlier 
stage. A recording of an 
associated telephone 
conversation was also 
provided to the 
complainant. 

976 - 03/17 Housing
Alleged 
mismanagement of 
garage rent account 

31-Mar-2017 24-Apr-2017 12-Apr-2017 8 days Dismissed   

977 - 03/17 Council Tax
Alleged failure to 
process Council Tax 
payment 

29-Mar-2017 20-Apr-2017 19-Apr-2017 13 days Dismissed

Although the complaint 
was dismissed the 
associated costs were 
removed as regular 
payments were now being 
received 

 

979 - 03/17 Housing
Alleged housing 
register banding 
assessment error 

02-Mar-2017 24-Mar-2017 09-Mar-2017 5 days Dismissed   

980 - 03/17 Housing Alleged officer 
harassment 17-Mar-2017 10-Apr-2017 24-Mar-2017 5 days Dismissed   



APPENDIX A

Stage 2

Reference 
ID Service Description Opened Date Due Date Completed 

Date

Response 
Time 

(working 
days)

Actual 
Outcome Stage History Action Taken

852 - 05/16 Housing

Alleged failure to 
provide sufficient 
house moving 
resources 

06-May-2016 23-Jun-2016 08-Jun-2016

Stage 1 - 1 
day 

Stage 2 - 11 
days 

Dismissed

Stage 1 investigation - 6 
to 9 May 16 - complaint 
dismissed 
Stage 2 investigation 
started 23 May 16 

 

853 - 05/16 Council Tax
Alleged failure to 
provide supporting 
legal paperwork 

23-May-2016 12-Aug-2016 29-Jul-2016

Stage 1 - 2 
days 

Stage 2 - 11 
days 

Dismissed

Stage 1 investigation 23 
to 25 May 16 - Complaint 
dismissed 
Stage 2 investigation 
started 14 Jul 16 

 

857 - 06/16 Council Tax
Alleged 
mismanagement of 
Council Tax debt 

02-Jun-2016 14-Jul-2016 27-Jun-2016

Stage 1 - 7 
days 

Stage 2 - 9 
days 

Dismissed

Stage 1 investigation 2 to 
13 Jun 16 - complaint 
dismissed. 
Stage 2 investigation 
started 14 Jun 16 

Although dismissed at 
Stage 2 payment 
arrangements were 
reviewed and agreed to 
address all outstanding 
debts. 

863 - 06/16 Enforcement Alleged misconduct 
during job interview 02-Jun-2016 04-Jul-2016 06-Jul-2016 Stage 2 - 24 

days Dismissed Only considered at Stage 
2  

868 - 07/16 Housing

Alleged failure to 
address issues with the 
installation of external 
wall insulation 

12-Jul-2016 30-Sep-2016 09-Sep-2016

Stage 1 - 15 
days 

Stage 2 - 7 
days 

Dismissed

Stage 1 investigation 12 
Jul to 2 Aug 16 - 
complaint dismissed 
Stage 2 investigation 
started 31 Aug 16 - 
complainant declines offer 
of Stage 2 external 
investigation 

 

871 - 06/16 Council Tax
Alleged failure to 
effectively respond to 
an FOI request 

15-Jun-2016 15-Jul-2016 12-Jul-2016 Stage 2 - 19 
days 

Partially 
Upheld

Only considered at Stage 
2 

Following review the 
Council confirmed that it 
held some of the 
information required but, 
as it was still in draft form, 
confirmed its decision to 
withhold it. 



APPENDIX A

Reference 
ID Service Description Opened Date Due Date Completed 

Date

Response 
Time 

(working 
days)

Actual 
Outcome Stage History Action Taken

903 - 09/16 Housing Alleged failure to 
complete repairs 05-Oct-2016 28-Nov-2016 24-Nov-2016

Stage 1 - 9 
days 

Stage 2 - 36 
days 

Dismissed

Stage 1 investigation 16 
to 29 Sep 16 - complaint 
dismissed 
Stage 2 investigation 
started 5 Oct 16 
Also considered by the 
designated person who 
was unable to resolve the 
issue.

 

908 - 10/16 Housing
Alleged failure to 
provide suitable 
accommodation 

10-Oct-2016 19-Jan-2017 13-Jan-2017

Stage 1 - 2 
days 

Stage 2 - 18 
days 

Dismissed

Stage 1 investigation 10 
to 12 Oct 16 - complaint 
dismissed 
Stage 2 investigation 
started 15 Dec 16 

 

910 - 09/16 Legal Services

Alleged failure to 
provide information in 
response to an FOI 
request 

28-Sep-2016 28-Oct-2016 14-Oct-2016 Stage 2 - 12 
days 

Partially 
Upheld

Only investigated at 
Stage 2 

A response to one of the 
five questions that had not 
previously been answered 
was provided following 
review 

915 - 10/16 Council Tax
Alleged aggressive 
response to telephone 
call 

10-Oct-2016 01-Dec-2016 11-Nov-2016

Stage 1 - 8 
days 

Stage 2 - 8 
days 

Partially 
Upheld

Stage 1 investigation 10 
Oct to 20 Oct 16 - 
complaint partially upheld 
Stage 2 investigation 
started 1 Nov 16 

Although the advice given 
by telephone was correct, 
apologies were offered for 
the fact that the customer's 
second account had not 
been linked to their first. 
No new were issues 
identified during the Stage 
2 investigation 

923 - 10/16 Council Tax
Alleged unfair removal 
of single person 
discount 

17-Oct-2016 07-Dec-2016 11-Nov-2016

Stage 1 - 10 
days 

Stage 2 - 4 
days 

Upheld

Stage 1 investigation 17 
to 31 Oct 16 - complaint 
dismissed 
Stage 2 investigation 
started 7 Nov 16 

The single person Council 
Tax discount was 
reinstated 

936 - 12/16 Enforcement Alleged disclosure of 
personal information 05-Dec-2016 09-Jan-2017 05-Jan-2017 Stage 2 - 20 

days Dismissed Only considered at Stage 
2  



APPENDIX A

Reference 
ID Service Description Opened Date Due Date Completed 

Date

Response 
Time 

(working 
days)

Actual 
Outcome Stage History Action Taken

937 - 12/16 Enforcement
Alleged planning 
enforcement service 
failures 

05-Dec-2016 09-Jan-2017 16-Jan-2017 Stage 2 - 27 
days Dismissed Only considered at Stage 

2  

939 - 12/16 Council Tax
Alleged harassment 
and data protection 
breach by bailiffs 

22-Dec-2016 24-Feb-2017 07-Feb-2017

Stage 1 - 11 
days 

Stage 2 - 9 
days 

Partially 
Upheld

Stage 1 investigation 22 
Dec 16 to 11 Jan 17 - 
complaint partially upheld 
Stage 2 investigation 
started 25 Jan 17 - no 
additional issues 
identified 

Although no evidence was 
found of a breach of Data 
Protection apologies were 
offered for the abrupt 
conduct of the Enforcement 
Agent and the fee incurred 
for the visit was removed 
from the account. The 
account was also returned 
to the Council. 

942 - 11/16 Parking Alleged illegal action 
taken by bailiff 30-Nov-2016 04-Jan-2017 04-Jan-2017 Stage 2 - 22 

days Dismissed   

943 - 01/17 Housing

Alleged poor response 
from the out of hours 
service and failure to 
repair reported 
maintenance issues 

03-Jan-2017 07-Feb-2017 01-Feb-2017

Stage 1 - 3 
days 

Stage 2 - 18 
days 

Partially 
Upheld

Stage 1 investigation 3 to 
5 Jan 17 - complaint 
partially upheld 
Stage 2 investigation 
started 6 Jan 17 

The 'out of hours' service 
response was considered 
unacceptable and action 
was taken to address the 
issues that had been 
raised. 
No additional issues were 
identified during the Stage 
2 investigation. 

948 - 01/17 Waste and 
Recycling

Alleged officer 
harassment 25-Jan-2017 18-Apr-2017 07-Apr-2017 Stage 2 - 51 

days Dismissed
Only investigated at 
Stage 2 by an external 
barrister 

 

978 - 03/17 Various

Alleged failure to 
provide all information 
covered by a Data 
Subject Access 
Request 

21-Mar-2017 24-Apr-2017 19-Apr-2017 Stage 2 - 19 
days Upheld Only considered at Stage 

2 
Further identified data was 
sent to the complainant 



APPENDIX A

Stage 3

Reference 
ID Service Description Opened Date Due Date Completed 

Date

Response 
Time 

(working 
days)

Actual 
Outcome Stage History Action Taken

840 - 04/16 Housing

Alleged failure to take 
responsibility for a 
contractor's quality of 
work 

25-Apr-2016 30-Nov-2016 30-Nov-2016 Stage 2 - 6 
days Upheld

This complaint was only 
considered at Stage 2 
Stage 2 investigation - 25 
Apr to 4 May 16 - 
complaint dismissed 
Also considered by the 
Ombudsman who 
classified the decision as 
Upheld: 
maladministration, no 
injustice. 

 

848 - 04/16 Council Tax

Alleged failure to 
consider alternative 
debt repayment 
proposals 

28-Apr-2016 14-Sep-2016 13-Sep-2016 9 days Upheld

Stage 1 investigation 28 
Apr to 5 May 16 - 
Complaint dismissed 
Not considered at Stage 2 
Also considered by the 
Ombudsman who upheld 
some aspects of the 
complaint but considered 
that the Council had 
taken appropriate action 
to remedy any injustice 
caused. 

 

854 - 05/16 Environmental 
Health

Alleged failure to 
adequately address a 
noise related complaint 

26-May-2016 07-Sep-2016 14-Sep-2016

Stage 1 - 13 
days 

Stage 2 - 16 
days 

Dismissed

Stage 1 investigation 26 
May to 15 Jun 16 - 
complaint dismissed. 
Stage 2 investigation 22 
Jun to 14 Jul 16 - 
complaint dismissed. 
Also considered by the 
Ombudsman who closed 
the case after initial 
enquiries - no further 
action 

Although the complaint was 
dismissed an apology was 
offered for any distress 
caused by comments made 
during investigation of the 
noise related complaint 



APPENDIX A

Reference 
ID Service Description Opened Date Due Date Completed 

Date

Response 
Time 

(working 
days)

Actual 
Outcome Stage History Action Taken

864 - 06/16 Housing Disputed recharge 
payment 30-Jun-2016 01-Apr-2017  Stage 2 - 21 

days  

Only considered at Stage 
2 
Stage 2 investigation 30 
Jun to 1 Aug 16 - 
complaint dismissed 
Also considered by the 
designated person who 
was unable to resolve the 
issue.
Under investigation by 
the Housing Ombudsman 

Although the complaint was 
not upheld the recharge 
payment was waived and 
changes were made to the 
recharge disclaimer form 

873 - 07/16 Housing

Alleged failure to 
address reported 
harassment by 
neighbour 

07-Jul-2016 19-Jan-2017  

Stage 1 - 11 
days 

Stage 2 - 8 
days 

 

Stage 1 investigation 7 to 
22 Jul 16 - complaint 
dismissed 
Stage 2 investigation 
started 9 to 19 Aug 16 - 
complaint dismissed 
Now being considered by 
the Housing Ombudsman 

Although the complaint was 
dismissed mediation 
service intervention was 
arranged 

895 - 08/16 Building Control Alleged failure to 
monitor building work 02-Aug-2016 28-Feb-2017 06-Feb-2017

Stage 1 - 14 
days 

Stage 2 - 11 
days 

Dismissed

Stage 1 investigation - 2 
Aug to 22 Aug 16 - 
complaint dismissed 
Stage 2 investigation - 16 
Sep 16 to - 3 Oct 16 - 
complaint dismissed 
Also considered by the 
Ombudsman who closed 
the complaint after initial 
enquiries with no further 
action 

 

921 - 11/16 Parking Alleged unfair seizure 
of motor vehicle 01-Nov-2016 18-Nov-2016 06-Dec-2016  Dismissed

Only considered by the 
Ombudsman who classed 
it as 'Closed after initial 
enquiries - no further 
action' 

 



APPENDIX A

Reference 
ID Service Description Opened Date Due Date Completed 

Date

Response 
Time 

(working 
days)

Actual 
Outcome Stage History Action Taken

932 - 08/16 Housing
Downsizing has 
resulted in an increase 
in Council Tax 

22-Aug-2016 30-Apr-2017 20-Mar-2017

Stage 1 - 9 
days 

Stage 2 - 14 
days 

Dismissed

Stage 1 investigation - 22 
Aug to 5 Sep 2016 - 
complaint dismissed 
Stage 2 investigation - 29 
Nov to 19 Dec 16 - 
complaint dismissed 
Also considered by the 
Ombudsman who closed it 
with no further action 
after initial enquiries 

 

938 - 11/16 Housing
Alleged failure to 
address neighbours 
parking dispute 

21-Nov-2016 31-Jan-2017 21-Dec-2016  Dismissed

Only considered by the 
Ombudsman who classed 
it as: closed after initial 
enquiries - no further 
action 

 

 





APPENDIX B

Equality & Diversity
Generated on: 10 May 2017

Age

Quarterly Totals Annual Totals

Q1 
2014/15

Q2 
2014/15

Q3 
2014/15

Q4 
2014/15

Q1 
2015/16

Q2 
2015/16

Q3 
2015/16

Q4 
2015/16

Q1 
2016/17

Q2 
2016/17

Q3 
2016/17

Q4 
2016/17 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

PI Code & Short Name
Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value

Equalities H1 Age - Under 16 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Equalities H2 Age - 16 to 19 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 1 0

Equalities H3 Age - 20 to 24 0 1 0 2 2 1 1 0 1 2 1 3 3 4 7

Equalities H4 Age - 25 to 59 11 13 9 8 3 6 12 8 10 16 8 14 41 29 48

Equalities H5 Age - 60 to 64 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1 1 1 1 3

Equalities H6 Age - 65 and above 1 0 1 0 0 0 1 1 1 3 2 0 2 2 6

Disabilities

Quarterly Totals Annual Totals

Q1 
2014/15

Q2 
2014/15

Q3 
2014/15

Q4 
2014/15

Q1 
2015/16

Q2 
2015/16

Q3 
2015/16

Q4 
2015/16

Q1 
2016/17

Q2 
2016/17

Q3 
2016/17

Q4 
2016/17 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

PI Code & Short Name
Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value

Equalities J1 Nature of Disability 
- Difficulty getting around 1 0 3 1 0 0 1 1 0 2 1 1 5 2 4

Equalities J2 Nature of Disability 
- Hearing  Difficulty 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Equalities J3 Nature of Disability 
- Difficulty Seeing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Equalities J4 Nature of Disability 
- Learning Difficulty 1 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 2 1 0 2 1 3

Equalities J5 Nature of Disability 
- Mental Health Problems 0 1 3 0 0 0 1 1 2 1 2 2 4 2 7

Equalities J6 Nature of Disability 
- Other 1 1 0 0 0 1 1 2 2 4 0 1 2 4 7



APPENDIX B

Ethnic Group

Quarterly Totals Annual Totals

Q1 
2014/15

Q2 
2014/15

Q3 
2014/15

Q4 
2014/15

Q1 
2015/16

Q2 
2015/16

Q3 
2015/16

Q4 
2015/16

Q1 
2016/17

Q2 
2016/17

Q3 
2016/17

Q4 
2016/17 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

PI Code & Short Name
Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value

Equalities A1 Ethnic Group - 
White British 8 12 10 9 2 6 10 9 8 22 12 15 39 27 57

Equalities A2 Ethnic Group - 
White Irish 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0

Equalities A3 Ethnic Group - 
Any other white background 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 1 1 0 0 1 2 2

Equalities B1 Ethnic Group - 
Mixed/White & Black 
Caribbean

0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0

Equalities B2 Ethnic Group - 
Mixed/white & black African 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1

Equalities B3 Ethnic Group - 
Mixed/white & Asian 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Equalities B4 Ethnic Group - 
Mixed/any other mixed 
background

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Equalities C1 Ethnic Group - 
Asian or Asian British Indian 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 1 1

Equalities C2 Ethnic Group - 
Asian or British Pakistani 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Equalities C3 Ethnic Group - 
Asian or Asian British 
Bangladeshi

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Equalities C4 Ethnic Group - 
Asian or Asian British - Any 
other Asian background

1 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 1 0

Equalities D1 Ethnic Group - 
Black or Black British 
Caribbean

1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0

Equalities D2 Ethnic Group - 
Black or Black British African 1 1 2 0 1 0 3 0 1 1 1 2 4 4 5



APPENDIX B

Equalities D3 Ethnic Group - 
Black or Black British - Any 
other black background

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Equalities E1 Ethnic Group -  
Chinese 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Equalities F1 Ethnic Group - 
Any other Ethnic Group 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0

Sex

Quarterly Totals Annual Totals

Q1 
2014/15

Q2 
2014/15

Q3 
2014/15

Q4 
2014/15

Q1 
2015/16

Q2 
2015/16

Q3 
2015/16

Q4 
2015/16

Q1 
2016/17

Q2 
2016/17

Q3 
2016/17

Q4 
2016/17 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

PI Code & Short Name
Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value

Equalities G1 Sex - Male 9 3 4 1 4 3 4 7 5 10 6 8 17 18 29

Equalities G2 Sex - Female 5 13 10 9 2 3 10 4 6 14 6 11 37 19 37

 





              
AUDIT BOARD

28 JUNE 2017

PLANNED AUDIT FEE FOR 2017/18

1. Summary

To consider the correspondence received from the External Auditor. 

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Members note the External Auditor’s proposed audit fee for 2017/18.

3. Background and Discussion  

3.1 Grant Thornton, the Council’s External Auditor, have submitted one letter 
for consideration by the Board. The letter is the proposed audit fee for 
2017/18.

3.2 A representative of Grant Thornton will attend the meeting to present the 
letter and provide a verbal update on the audit of the draft statement of 
accounts which in in progress.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

External Audit and notification of the audit fee is a statutory requirement.  

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications The budget is sufficient to meet the 
proposed audit fee.

Legal Implications None
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment There is a potential risk on the 

estimated fee for grant claims if initial 
testing reveals error rates that require 
substantial additional testing. 

6. Appendices

Appendix A – Planned audit fee letter for 2017/18  



              
AUDIT BOARD

28 JUNE 2017

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File Ref Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Tim Sams
343148

Financial 
Services/ 
Internal 
Services

N/A



  
Sarah Martin Strategic Director (Internal Services) and Section 151 Officer Dartford Borough Council Civic Centre Home Garden Dartford Kent DA1 1DR   26 April 2017 
Dear Sarah  
Planned audit fee for 2017/18 
The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 provides the framework for local public audit. Under these provisions the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government delegated some statutory functions from the Audit Commission Act 1998 to Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited (PSAA) on a transitional basis. 
PSAA will oversee the Audit Commission's audit contracts for local government bodies until they end in 2018, following the announcement by the Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) that it will extend transitional arrangements until 2017/18. PSAA's responsibilities include setting fees, appointing auditors and monitoring the quality of auditors' work. Further information on PSAA and its responsibilities are available on the PSAA website. 
From 2018/19 PSAA has been specified by the Secretary of State as an appointing person for 
principal local government and police bodies, and will make auditor appointments and set 
fees for bodies that have opted into the national auditor appointment scheme it is developing.  Scale fee PSAA prescribes that 'scale fees are based on the expectation that audited bodies are able to provide the auditor with complete and materially accurate financial statements, with supporting working papers, within agreed timescales'.  
There are no changes to the overall work programme for local government audited bodies for 2017/18, following the recent CIPFA/LASAAC announcement that their planned  introduction of the Highways Network Asset Code into the financial reporting requirements for local authorities in 2017/18 will no longer proceed.  PSAA have therefore set the 2017/18 scale audit fees at the same level as the scale fees applicable for 2016/17. The Council's scale fee for 2017/18 has been set by PSAA at £46,405.    
The audit planning process for 2017/18, including the risk assessment, will continue as the year progresses and fees will be reviewed and updated as necessary as our work progresses.  
Scope of the audit fee 
Under the provisions of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, the National Audit 
Office (NAO) is responsible for publishing the statutory Code of Audit Practice and 

Grant Thornton UK LLP Grant Thornton House Melton Street London  NW1 2EP 
 T +44 (0)20 7383 5100  www.grant-thornton.co.uk 

 

 



 2

guidance for auditors from April 2015. Audits of the accounts for 2017/18 will be undertaken 
under this Code, on the basis of the 201718 work-programme and scales of fees set out on 
the PSAA website. Further information on the NAO Code and guidance is available on the 
NAO website.  The scale fee covers: 
 our audit of your financial statements; 
 our work to reach a conclusion on the economy, efficiency and effectiveness in your use of resources (the value for money conclusion); and 
 our work on your whole of government accounts return (if applicable).  PSAA will agree fees for considering objections from the point at which auditors accept an objection as valid, or any special investigations, as a variation to the scale fee.  Value for Money conclusion The Code requires us to consider whether the Council has put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. This is known as the Value for Money (VfM) conclusion.  The NAO issued its guidance for auditors on value for money work in November 2016. The guidance states that for local government bodies, auditors are required to give a conclusion on whether the Council has put proper arrangements in place.  The NAO guidance identifies one single criterion for auditors to evaluate: In all significant respects, the audited body had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people.   Certification of grant claims and returns At the request of the Department for Work and Pensions, auditors appointed by PSAA will continue to certify local authority claims for housing benefit subsidy for 2017/18.  The Council's indicative fee for this certification work has yet to be set by PSAA. We will write to you to confirm the fee when this has been confirmed. 
Assurance engagements for other schemes will be subject to separate arrangements and fees agreed between the grant-paying body, the Council and ourselves. 
Billing schedule Fees will be billed as follows:   

Main Audit fee £ 
September 2017 11,601 
December 2017          11,601 
March 2018 11,601 
June 2018 11,602 
Total 46,405 
  
Housing Benefit Certification  



 3

March 2018 TBC 
 
Outline audit timetable 
We will undertake our audit planning and interim audit procedures between November 2017 
to March 2018. Upon completion of this phase of our work we will issue a detailed audit plan 
setting out our findings and details of our audit approach. Our final accounts audit and work 
on the VfM conclusion will be completed in June 2018, along with our work on the Whole of 
Government Accounts return.   
 Phase of work Timing Outputs Comments 
Audit planning and interim audit November 2017 to March 2018 Audit plan The plan summarises the findings of our audit planning and our approach to the audit of the Council's accounts and VfM. 
Final accounts audit June 2018 Audit Findings Report (Report to those charged with governance) 

This report sets out the findings of our accounts audit and VfM work for the consideration of those charged with governance. 
VfM conclusion November 2017 to June 2018 Audit Findings Report (Report to those charged with governance) 

As above 

Whole of Government Accounts 
June 2018 Opinion on the WGA return This work will be completed alongside the accounts audit. 

Annual Audit Letter October 2018 Annual Audit Letter to the Council 
The letter will summarise the findings of all aspects of our work. 

Grant certification September to December 2018 Grant certification report A report summarising the findings of our housing benefit certification work 
  Our team The key members of the audit team for 2017/18 are:  
 Name Phone Number E-mail 
Engagement Lead Elizabeth Jackson 020 7728 3329 elizabeth.l.jackson@uk.gt.com 
Engagement Manager Matt Dean 020 7728 3181 matthew.dean@uk.gt.com 
In-Charge Auditor Sangeeta Kakati 020 7728 3421 sangeeta.kakati@uk.gt.com 



 4

 Additional work The scale fee excludes any work requested by the Council that we may agree to undertake outside of our Code audit.  Each additional piece of work will be separately agreed and a detailed project specification and fee agreed with the Council. 
Quality assurance We are committed to providing you with a high quality service.  If you are in any way dissatisfied, or would like to discuss how we can improve our service, please contact me in the first instance. Alternatively, you may wish to contact Paul Dossett, our Public Sector Assurance regional lead partner, via paul.dossett@uk.gt.com 
Yours sincerely 
 
 Elizabeth Jackson 
Engagement Lead 
For Grant Thornton UK LLP 
 

 



              
AUDIT BOARD

28 JUNE 2017

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

1. Summary

1.1 The need for a full review of Financial Regulations was identified in the 2016 
Annual Governance Review. Accordingly, a review has been carried out and 
a new set of Financial Regulations has been agreed by the Managing 
Director under his delegated powers.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Members note the new financial regulations as attached at Appendix A. 

3. Background and Discussion  

3.1. Each year a review of the governance arrangements takes place and is 
presented to the Audit Board. 

3.2. The 2016 review highlighted that the Council’s Financial Regulations should 
be reviewed both generally and to reflect the current management structure.

3.3. The review was led by Financial Services with input from the Head of Legal 
Services and the Strategic Director (Internal Services) in her role as Section 
151 Officer.

3.4. Apart from general updating, the new Regulations reflect the responsibilities 
of Service Managers as part of the Senior Management alongside the 
Strategic Directors more clearly.

3.5. A comparison with Regulations of similar councils for readability and content 
has been carried out as well as reference to CIPFA guidance.

3.6. Financial Services will provide further guidance where necessary on  behalf 
of the Strategic Director (Internal Services), either directly or through the 
updated Financial Guide.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

A Council Performing Strongly

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments*

Financial Implications Financial Regulations are important to govern the 
financial operations and activities of the Council. 
It is important that they are up to date and 
relevant to the staff involved in the operations.



              
AUDIT BOARD

28 JUNE 2017

Legal Implications Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 
requires the Council to make arrangements for 
the proper administration of the Council's 
financial affairs.

Staffing Implications Staff must follow the Financial Regulations. Not 
to do so could lead to disciplinary action.

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment The Financial Regulations set out a framework 
for risk management within the Council which is 
developed in more detail as part of the Risk 
Management Strategy 

6. Appendices

Appendix A – Financial Regulations

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File Ref Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Tim Sams
343148

Financial 
Services/ 
Internal 
Services

N/A



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

1

DARTFORD BOROUGH 

COUNCIL

FINANCIAL 

REGULATIONS

2017



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

2

A. CONTENTS

B. INTRODUCTION ..........................................................................................................3

C. FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT .........................................................................................4

C.1 ACCOUNTING....................................................................................................................................4

C.2 MANAGING EXPENDITURE – CASH LIMITING RULES..........................................................................5

C.3 TREATMENT OF YEAR END BALANCES...............................................................................................6

C.4 ACCOUNTING POLICIES .....................................................................................................................6

C.5 ACCOUNTING RECORDS AND RETURNS.............................................................................................7

D. FINANCIAL PLANNING.................................................................................................8

D.1 MEDIUM TERM PLANNING ...............................................................................................................8

D.2 BUDGETING ....................................................................................................................................10

D.3 CAPITAL PROGRAMME ...................................................................................................................12

D.4 MAINTENANCE OF RESERVES ..........................................................................................................14

E. RISK MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL OF RESOURCES .................................................15

E.1 RISK MANAGEMENT............................................................................................................................15

E.2 INTERNAL CONTROLS ..........................................................................................................................17

E.3 INTERNAL AUDIT .................................................................................................................................19

E.4 EXTERNAL AUDIT.................................................................................................................................20

E.5 PREVENTING FRAUD AND CORRUPTION..............................................................................................21

E.6 ASSETS - SECURITY ..............................................................................................................................22

E.7 INVENTORIES ......................................................................................................................................24

E.8 STOCKS AND STORES...........................................................................................................................25

E.9 ASSEST DISPOSAL ................................................................................................................................25

E.10 TREASURY MANAGEMENT AND BANKING ......................................................................................26

E.11 STAFFING........................................................................................................................................27

F. FINANCIAL SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES ...................................................................28

F.1 CONTROL OF SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES...........................................................................................28



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

3

F.2 INCOME ..............................................................................................................................................31

F.3 PROCURING AND PAYING FOR WORK, GOODS AND SERVICES.............................................................33

F.4 PAYMENTS TO EMPLOYEES AND MEMBERS ........................................................................................37

G. TAXATION.................................................................................................................39

H. EXTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS .....................................................................................40

H.1 PARTNERSHIPS ...............................................................................................................................40

H.2 EXTERNAL FUNDING .......................................................................................................................41

H.3 WORK FOR THIRD PARTIES..............................................................................................................42

B. INTRODUCTION

Financial Regulations:

 provide the framework for managing the Council’s financial affairs and seek to 
ensure that the Council conducts its affairs in a way that complies with 
specific statutory provisions, generally accepted accounting principles and 
professional good practice;

 are an integral part of the stewardship of Council funds and adherence 
ensures that all financial transactions of the Council are conducted in a 
manner which demonstrates openness, integrity and transparency;

 forms a significant part of the Corporate Governance of the Council.

B.1 Senior Managers are responsible for ensuring that all staff in their areas are 
aware of the existence and content of these Financial Regulations and 
other internal regulatory documents and that they comply with them. Non-
compliance with these Financial Regulations by any staff, and with any 
accounting instruction notes and other corporate guidance issued by the 
Strategic Director (Internal Services)), constitutes a disciplinary matter that 
will be pursued, as appropriate, in accordance with the Disciplinary and 
Dismissal Policy and Procedure.

B.2 The Managing Director and Strategic Director (Internal Services)) may 
agree to waive these Financial Regulations in order to proceed in a manner 
most expedient to the efficient management of the Council.  Reasons must 
be recorded in writing.

B.3 Where conflict exists between these Financial Regulations and Standing 
Orders (including Contract Standing Orders), the latter will take 
precedence.



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

4

C. FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

Why is this important?
All staff and Members have a duty to abide by the highest standards of probity in 
dealing with financial issues. This is facilitated by ensuring everyone is clear about 
the standards to which they are working and the controls that are in place to ensure 
that these standards are met.

 Senior managers shall consult the Strategic Director (Internal Services) with 
respect to any matter within his/her purview which is liable to affect the 
finances, other than provided in estimates, of the Council before any 
provisional or other commitment is incurred or before reporting thereon to the 
Cabinet.

 The Strategic Director (Internal Services) is responsible for ensuring the 
proper administration of the financial affairs of the Council and that financial 
management standards and controls are in place and are effectively 
monitored for compliance.

C.1 ACCOUNTING

Why is it important?
Maintaining proper accounting records is one of the ways in which the Council 
discharges its responsibilities for stewardship of public resources.  The Council has a 
statutory responsibility in preparing its annual accounts to present fairly its 
operations during the year.  These accounting records are subject to external audit.  
This audit provides assurance that the accounts are prepared properly, that 
approved accounting practices have been followed and that quality arrangements 
have been made for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the 
Council’s resources.

C.1.1 All accounting procedures, accounting policies, and financial records of the 
Council and its officers shall be as determined by the Strategic Director 
(Internal Services).  Any financial procedures and records maintained in 
other Service areas are the responsibility of senior management and shall 
be subject to the approval of the Strategic Director (Internal Services).

C.1.2 The Strategic Director (Internal Services) shall make proper arrangements 
for the preparation, publication and external audit of the Council’s accounts 
in accordance with the most recent Accounts and Audit Regulations. The 
Audit Board shall approve the final version of the accounts

C.1.3 Senior managers are required to maintain adequate records to provide an 
audit trail leading from the source of income/expenditure through to the 
accounting statements and to provide such information as required to 
enable the Statement of Accounts to be completed in accordance with the 
guidelines issued by the Strategic Director (Internal Services).



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

5

C.2 MANAGING EXPENDITURE – CASH LIMITING RULES

Why is this important?

The cash limiting rules are intended to enable the Cabinet, Senior Managers and 
their staff to manage budgets with a degree of flexibility within the overall policy 
framework determined by the General Assembly of the Council, and therefore to 
optimise the use of resources.

C.2.1 Key controls for the cash limiting rules are:

(a) the rules are administered by the Strategic Director (Internal Services) 
within the rules set by the Council as part of the annual budget 
process. 

(b) the overall budget is approved by the General Assembly of the Council.  
Directors and budget managers are authorised to incur revenue 
expenditure in accordance with the estimates that make up the budget. 

(c) For capital projects (not merely contracts) valued at over £100,000 
Cabinet approval is required before expenditure (other than preliminary 
work) is incurred. 

(d) virements should not create additional overall budget liability. Directors 
are expected to exercise their discretion in managing their budgets 
responsibly and prudently in line with the exceptions list.

C.2.2 The Strategic Director (Internal Services) is to prepare jointly with the 
Senior Manager a report to the Cabinet where a virement is over the limit 
whereby it is required that the Managing Director can exercise his/her 
authority. 

C.2.3 Directors are personally responsible for maintaining expenditure within the 
overall cash limit for their Directorate.

C.2.4 Spending Officers are responsible to the relevant Director and not directly 
to the Cabinet.  The Council requires Directors to ensure that all Spending 
Officers are aware of their responsibilities and are monitoring their budgets 
on a regular basis, so as to report to committee and highlight exception 
items, where appropriate.

C.2.5 An appropriate Director and Spending Officer will be identified for all 
budgets.  Any change of Spending Officer will require approval by the 
Managing Director or his/her nominee (Financial Services Manager)



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

6

C.2.6 Any proposals to raise income by increasing fees and charges, or by 
imposing a new charge where none existed before, must be approved by 
the Cabinet or appropriate delegated authority before implementation.  
Such a request for approval must comply with any information requirements 
needed to satisfy Members.

C.3 TREATMENT OF YEAR END BALANCES

Why is this important?

To ensure the integrity of the budget and the medium-term financial plan, it is 
important that year end balances are treated in accordance with agreed policies and 
guidelines.

C.3.1 The key control in this area is that the appropriate accounting procedures 
are in operation to ensure that balances and reserves carried forward are 
correct.

C.3.2 The Managing Director is to ensure that balances and reserves are carried 
forward in accordance with accounting standards and general reserve 
guidelines issued by the Strategic Director (Internal Services) and agreed 
by the General Assembly of the Council.

C.3.3 The Cabinet shall approve the process for setting up any reserves and 
funds.

C.3.4 The Managing Director will be responsible for the authorisation and 
expenditure from reserves in consultation with the senior management. 

C.3.5 The Chief Financial Officer is to report jointly with the relevant Director over 
and underspending of 5% or £20,000 (whichever is the greater) to the 
Cabinet on service budget.

C.3.6 Senior managers must adhere to the guidelines set by the Strategic 
Director (Internal Services) when providing information for the finalising of 
the end of year accounts and provide any information required by the 
Strategic Director (Internal Services) to report any budget variances to 
Cabinet.

C.4 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Why is this important?

The Strategic Director (Internal Services) is responsible for the preparation of the 
Council’s statement of accounts, in accordance with proper practices as set out in 
the format required by the Code of Practice on Local Council Accounting in the 



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

7

United Kingdom: A Statement of Recommended Practice (CIPFA/LASAAC), for each 
financial year ending 31 March.

C.4.1 The key controls for accounting policies are:

(a) systems of internal control are in place that ensure financial 
transactions are lawful.

(b) suitable accounting policies are selected and applied consistently
(c) proper accounting records are maintained
(d) financial statements are prepared which present fairly the financial 

position of the Council and its expenditure and income

C.4.2 The Strategic Director (Internal Services) is to select suitable accounting 
policies and to ensure that they are applied consistently.  The accounting 
policies are set out in the statement of accounts, which is prepared at 31 
March each year.

C.5 ACCOUNTING RECORDS AND RETURNS

Why is this important?

Maintaining proper accounting records is one of the ways in which the Council 
discharges its responsibility for stewardship of public resources.  The Council has a 
statutory responsibility to prepare its annual accounts to present fairly its operations 
during the year.  These are subject to external audit.  This audit provides assurance 
that the accounts are prepared properly, that proper accounting practices have been 
followed and that quality arrangements have been made for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the Council’s resources.

C.5.1 The key controls for accounting records and returns are:

(a) all finance staff and budget managers operate within the required 
accounting standards and timetables

(b) all the Council’s transactions, material commitments, contracts and 
other essential accounting information are recorded completely, 
accurately and on a timely basis

(c) procedures are in place to enable accounting records to be 
reconstituted in the event of systems failure

(d) reconciliation procedures are carried out to ensure transactions are 
correctly recorded

(e) prime documents are retained in accordance with legislative and other 
requirements



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

8

C.5.2 The Strategic Director (Internal Services) is to determine accounting 
procedures and records for the Council.  Where these are maintained 
outside Financial Services, the Strategic Director (Internal Services) should 
consult the Director concerned.

C.5.3 The Strategic Director (Internal Services) is to arrange for the compilation of 
all accounts and accounting records under his/her direction and to comply 
as far as is practical, with the following principles when allocating 
accounting duties:

(a) separating the duties of providing information about sums due to or 
from the Council and calculating, checking and recording these sums 
from the duty of collecting or disbursing them

(b) employees with the duty of examining or checking the accounts of cash 
transactions must not themselves be engaged in these transactions

C.5.4 Senior Managers must:

(a) ensure that all claims for funds including grants are made by the due 
date.

(b) ensure the proper retention of financial documents in accordance with 
the requirements set out in the Council’s document retention policy.

(c) consult and obtain the approval of the Strategic Director (Internal 
Services) before making any changes to accounting records and 
procedures.

(d) comply with the principles outlined above when allocating accounting 
duties and maintain adequate records to provide a managerial trail 
leading from the source of income/expenditure through to the 
accounting statements.

(e) Senior managers will supply information required to enable the 
statement of accounts to be completed in accordance with guidelines 
by the Strategic Director (Internal Services).

D. FINANCIAL PLANNING

D.1 MEDIUM TERM PLANNING 

Why is this important?

Medium term planning involves a planning cycle in which managers and Members 
develop plans over a period longer than one year. As each year passes, another 



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

9

future year will be added to the medium term plan.  This ensures that the Council is 
always preparing for events in advance. 

D.1.1 The key controls for medium term planning are:

(a) specific budget approval for all expenditure

(b) budget managers are consulted in the preparation of the budgets for 
which they will be held responsible and accept accountability within 
delegations set by the Cabinet for their budgets and the level of service 
to be delivered

(c) a monitoring process is in place to review regularly the effectiveness 
and operation of budget preparation and to ensure that any corrective 
action is taken.

D.1.2 The Strategic Director (Internal Services) will:

(a) advise members on budget prospects, including resource constraints 
set by the Government. Reports should take account of the budget 
assumptions.

(b) advise on the medium term implications of spending decisions and 
encourage the best use of resources and value for money by working 
with Senior Managers to identify opportunities to improve economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness, and by encouraging good practice on 
conducting financial appraisals of development or savings options, and 
in developing financial aspects of service planning.

(c) advise the General Assembly of the Council in accordance with his/her 
responsibilities under section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972.

D.1.3 Senior Managers will in consultation with the Strategic Director (Internal 
Services) and in accordance with the laid-down guidance and timetable 
prepare detailed draft revenue and capital budgets.

When drawing up draft budget requirements, to have regard to:

(a) spending patterns and pressures revealed through the budget 
monitoring process

(b) legal requirements

(c) policy requirements as defined by the General Assembly of the Council 
in the approved policy framework 

(d) initiatives already under way



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

10

(e)  working within budget limits and to utilise resources allocated, and 
further allocate resources, in the most efficient, effective and economic 
way.

(f) Identifying opportunities to minimise or eliminate resource 
requirements or consumption without having a detrimental effect on 
service delivery.

D.2 BUDGETING

Why is this important?

D.2.1 The format of the budget determines the level of detail to which financial 
control and management will be exercised. Budget management ensures 
that once the budget has been approved by the General Assembly of the 
Council, resources allocated are used for their intended purposes, in line 
with the Corporate Plan, and are properly accounted for. Budgetary control 
is a continuous process, enabling the Council to review and adjust its 
budget targets during the financial year.

D.2.2 The key controls for the budget format are:

(a) the format complies with all legal requirements
(b) the format complies with CIPFA’s Service Reporting Accounting – 

Code of Practice (SeRCOP)
(c) the format reflects the accountabilities of service delivery

D.2.3 The key controls for the budget management are:

(a) budget managers should be responsible only for income and 
expenditure that they can influence

(b) there is a nominated budget manager for each budget heading

(c) budget managers accept accountability for their budgets and the level 
of service to be delivered and understand their financial responsibilities

(d) budget managers follow an approved certification process for all 
expenditure

(e) income and expenditure are properly recorded and accounted for

(f) performance levels/levels of service are monitored in conjunction with 
the budget and necessary action is taken to align service outputs and 
budget



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

11

D.2.4 The Strategic Director (Internal Services) will ensure budget management is 
exercised within annual cash limits unless the General Assembly of the 
Council agrees otherwise.

D.2.5 The Strategic Director (Internal Services) will establish an appropriate 
framework of budgetary management and control that ensures that:

(a) each Senior Manager has available timely information on receipts and 
payments on each budget which is sufficiently detailed to enable 
managers to fulfil their budgetary responsibilities

(b) all officers responsible for committing expenditure will comply with 
relevant guidance, and the Financial Regulations

(c) each budget head will have a single named manager, determined by 
the relevant Director or Senior Manager. As a general principle, budget 
responsibility should be aligned as closely as possible to the decision-
making processes that commits expenditure

(d) significant variances from approved budgets are investigated and 
reported by budget managers regularly.

D.2.6 The Strategic Director (Internal Services) will:

(a) administer the Council’s cash limiting rules.

(b) submit reports to the Cabinet, in consultation with the relevant Senior 
Manager/s, where a Senior Manager is unable to balance expenditure 
and resources within existing approved budgets under his/her control.

(c) The Strategic Director (Internal Services) will prepare and submit 
reports on the Council’s projected income and expenditure compared 
with the budget on a regular basis.

(d) The Strategic Director (Internal Services) will ensure that a monitoring 
process is in place to review performance levels/levels of service in 
conjunction with the budget and is operating effectively.

D.2.7 Directors will ensure: 
(a) that an accountable budget manager is identified for each item of 

income and expenditure under the control of the Director (grouped 
together in a series of cost centres).  As a general principle, budget 
responsibility should be aligned as closely as possible to the decision-
making that commits expenditure.

(b) spending remains within the service’s overall cash limit, and that 
individual budget heads are not overspent, by monitoring the budget 
and taking appropriate corrective action where significant variations 
from the approved budget are forecast.



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

12

D.2.8 Senior Managers will ensure prior approval by the General Assembly of the 
Council or Cabinet (as appropriate) for new proposals of whatever amount, 
that:

(a) create financial commitments in future years
(b) change existing policies, initiate new policies or cease existing policies
(c) materially extend or reduce the Council’s services

D.2.9 Senior Managers will maintain budgetary control within their services to 
ensure that all income and expenditure are properly recorded and 
accounted for.

D.3 CAPITAL PROGRAMME

Why is this important?

Capital expenditure involves acquiring or enhancing fixed assets with a long term 
value to the Council, such as land, buildings, and major items of plant, equipment or 
vehicles.  Capital assets shape the way services are delivered in the long term and 
can create financial commitments for the future in the form of financing costs and 
revenue running costs.

The Council is restricted in its ability to fund capital expenditure. This means that 
capital expenditure should form part of an investment strategy and should be 
carefully prioritised in order to maximise the benefit of resources.



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

13

D.3.1 The key controls for capital programmes are:

(a) specific approval by the General Assembly of the Council for the capital 
expenditure budget

(b) expenditure on capital schemes is subject to the approval of the 
Strategic Director (Internal Services)

(c) a process for approving capital projects and monitoring their progress

(d) schedules of schemes within the overall budget approved by the 
General Assembly of the Council must be submitted to the Cabinet for 
approval.

(e) the development and implementation of an asset management plan

(f) accountability for each proposal is accepted by a named manager

(g) monitoring of progress in conjunction with expenditure and comparison 
with approved budget

D.3.2 The Strategic Director (Internal Services): 

(a) shall prepare capital estimates jointly with Senior Managers and to 
report them for recommendation with the associated financing 
requirements to the General Assembly of the Council.

(b) shall prepare and submit reports to the Cabinet on the projected 
income, expenditure and resources compared with the approved 
estimates.

(c) will issue guidance concerning capital schemes and controls, e.g. on 
project appraisal techniques.  The definition of ‘capital’ will be 
determined by the Strategic Director (Internal Services) having regard 
to government regulations and accounting requirements.



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

14

D.3.3 Senior Managers will:

(a) obtain, jointly with the relevant Director, authorisation from the Cabinet 
for individual schemes where the estimated expenditure exceeds the 
capital programme provision by more than £50,000 or 10% (whichever 
is the greater).

(b) ensure that all capital proposals, above a defined cost level, have 
undergone a project appraisal in accordance with any guidance issued 
by the Strategic Director (Internal Services).

(c) comply with guidance concerning capital schemes and controls issued 
by the Strategic Director (Internal Services).

(d) prepare regular reports reviewing the capital programme for their 
services. They should also prepare a monthly return of schemes in the 
approved capital programme for submission to the Strategic Director 
(Internal Services).

(e) ensure that adequate records are maintained for all capital contracts.

(f) proceed with projects only when there is adequate provision in the 
capital programme and with the agreement of the Strategic Director 
(Internal Services), where required.

(g) will prepare and submit reports, jointly with the Strategic Director 
(Internal Services), to the Cabinet, of any variation in contract costs 
greater than the approved limits.  The Cabinet has unlimited power of 
virement within the capital programme.

(h) prepare and submit reports, jointly with the Strategic Director (Internal 
Services), to the Cabinet, on completion of all contracts where the final 
expenditure exceeds the approved contract sum by more than the 
specified amount.

(i) ensure that credit arrangements, such as leasing agreements, are not 
entered into without the prior approval of the Strategic Director (Internal 
Services) and, if applicable, approval of the scheme through the capital 
programme.

D.4 MAINTENANCE OF RESERVES

Why is this important?

The Council must decide the level of general reserves it wishes to maintain before it 
can decide the level of council tax.  Reserves are maintained as a matter of 



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

15

prudence.  They enable the Council to provide for unexpected events and thereby 
protect it from overspending, should such events occur.  Reserves for specific 
purposes may also be maintained, such as the Identified Initiative Reserve.

D.4.1 The key controls for reserves are:

(a) To maintain reserves in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local 
Council Accounting in the United Kingdom: A Statement of 
Recommended Practice (CIPFA/LASAAC) and agreed accounting 
policies.

(b) For each reserve established, the purpose, usage and basis of 
transactions should be clearly identified.

(c) Authorisation of expenditure from reserves by the Managing Director.

D.4.2 The Strategic Director (Internal Services) will advise the Cabinet and/or the 
General Assembly of the Council on prudent levels of reserves for the 
Council, and to take account of the advice of the external auditor in this 
matter.

D.4.3 Senior Managers will ensure that resources are used only for the purposes 
for which they were intended.

E. RISK MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL OF RESOURCES

E.1 RISK MANAGEMENT

Why is this important?

All organisations, whether private or public sector, face risks to people, property and 
continued operations. Risk is the chance or possibility of loss, damage, injury or 
failure to achieve objectives caused by an unwanted or uncertain action or event.  
Risk management is the planned and systematic approach to the identification, 
evaluation and control of risk.  Its objectives are to manage the barriers that might 
prevent achievement of the key objectives and to secure the assets of the 
organisation. In essence it is, therefore, an integral part of good business practice.  
Risk management is concerned with evaluating the measures an organisation 
already has in place to manage identified risks and then recommending the action 
the organisation needs to take to control these risks effectively.

It is the overall responsibility of the Cabinet to approve the Council’s risk 
management strategy, and to promote a culture of risk management awareness 



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

16

throughout the Council. The Audit Board reviews and monitors the Council’s 
arrangements for risk management.

E.1.1 The key controls for risk management are:

(a) procedures are in place to identify, assess, prevent or contain material 
known risks, and these procedures are operating effectively 
throughout the Council

(b) a monitoring process is in place to review regularly the effectiveness of 
risk reduction strategies and the operation of these controls. The risk 
management process should be conducted on a continuous basis

(c) managers know that they are responsible for managing relevant risks 
and are provided with relevant information on risk management 
initiatives

(d) provision is made for losses that might result from the risks that remain

(e) acceptable levels of risk are determined and insured against where 
appropriate

(f) the Council has identified business continuity plans for implementation 
in the event of disaster that results in significant loss or damage to its 
resources.

E.1.2 The Strategic Director (Internal Services) is responsible for:
(a) preparing and promote the Council’s risk management strategy and to 

effect corporate insurance cover, through external insurance and 
internal funding, and to negotiate all claims in consultation with other 
officers, where necessary.

(b) The Strategic Director (Internal Services) is responsible for developing 
risk management controls in conjunction with other Senior managers 
who must also take responsibility for risk management, having regard 
to advice from the Strategic Director (Internal Services) and other 
specialist officers.



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

17

E.1.3 Directors must ensure there are regular reviews of risk within their 
directorates in accordance with the risk management strategy and they 
must notify the Strategic Director (Internal Services) promptly of all new 
risks, properties or vehicles that require insurance and of any alterations 
affecting existing insurances.

E.1.4 Senior Managers:
(a) will notify the Strategic Director (Internal Services) immediately of any 

loss, liability or damage that may lead to a claim against the Council, 
together with any information or explanation required by the Strategic 
Director (Internal Services) or the Council’s insurers.

(b) must notify the Strategic Director (Internal Services) and the Head of 
Legal Services on the terms of any indemnity that the Council is 
requested to give, and not to enter into such indemnity without specific 
approval.

(c) Senior Managers must ensure that employees, or anyone covered by 
the Council’s insurances, do not admit liability or make any offer to pay 
compensation that may prejudice the assessment of liability in respect 
of any insurance claim.

E.2 INTERNAL CONTROLS

Why is this important?

The Council is complex and beyond the direct control of individuals.  It therefore 
requires internal controls to manage and monitor progress towards strategic 
objectives and statutory obligations.

The Council faces a wide range of financial, administrative and commercial risks, 
both from internal and external factors, which threaten the achievement of its 
objectives.  Internal controls are necessary to manage the risks.

The system of internal controls is established in order to provide measurable 
achievement of:

(a) efficient and effective operations

(b) reliable financial information and reporting

(c) compliance with laws and regulations

(d) risk management



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

18

Key controls

The key controls and control objectives for internal control system are:

(a) key controls should be reviewed on a regular basis and the Council 
should make a formal statement annually to the effect that it is satisfied 
that the systems of internal control are operating effectively

(b) managerial control systems, including defining policies, setting 
objectives and plans, monitoring financial and other performance and 
taking appropriate anticipatory and remedial action.  The key objective 
of these systems is to promote ownership of the control environment by 
defining roles and responsibilities

(c) financial and operational control systems and procedures, which 
include physical safeguards for assets, segregation of duties, 
authorisation and approval procedures and information systems

(d) an effective internal audit function that is properly resourced. It should 
operate in accordance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards and 
the principles contained in the CIPFA’s Code of Practice for Internal 
Audit in Local Government in the United Kingdom and with any other 
statutory obligations and regulations.

E.2.1 The Strategic Director (Internal Services) will assist the Council to put in 
place an appropriate control environment and effective internal controls 
which provide reasonable assurance of effective and efficient operations, 
financial stewardship, probity and compliance with laws and regulations.

E.2.2 Directors will manage processes to check that established controls are 
being adhered to and to evaluate their effectiveness, in order to be 
confident in the proper use of resources, achievement of objectives and 
management of risks.

E.2.3 Senior Managers will:
(a) review existing controls in the light of changes affecting the Council 

and to establish and implement new ones in line with guidance from 
the Strategic Director (Internal Services).  Directors should also be 
responsible for removing controls that are unnecessary or not cost or 
risk effective – e.g. because of duplication.

(b) ensure staff have a clear understanding of the consequences of lack of 
control.



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

19

E.3 INTERNAL AUDIT

Why is this important?

The requirement for an internal audit function for local authorities is implied by 
section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, which requires that authorities “make 
arrangements for the proper administration of their financial affairs”.  The Accounts 
and Audit Regulations 2015, regulation 5, more specifically require that “a relevant 
authority must undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of 
its risk management, control and governance processes, taking into account public 
sector internal auditing standards or guidance.”

Accordingly, internal audit is an independent and objective appraisal function 
established by the Council for reviewing the system of internal control.  It examines, 
evaluates and reports on the adequacy of internal control as a contribution to the 
proper, economic, efficient and effective use of resources.

E.3.1 The key controls for internal audit are:

(a) that it is independent in its planning and operation

(b) the Chief Audit Executive has direct access to the Head of Paid 
Service, all levels of management and directly to elected Members

(c) internal auditors comply with the CIPFA’s Code of Practice for Internal 
Audit in Local Government in the United Kingdom.

E.3.2 The Strategic Director (Internal Services) will  ensure that internal auditors 
have the authority to:

(a) access Council premises at reasonable times

(b) access all assets, records, documents, correspondence and control 
systems.

(c) receive any information and explanation considered necessary 
concerning any matter under consideration

(d) require any employee of the Council to account for cash, stores or any 
other Council asset under his/her control.

(e) access records belonging to third parties, such as contractors, when 
required

(f) directly access the Head of Paid Service, the Cabinet and Audit Board



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

20

E.3.3 The Strategic Director (Internal Services) will also:
(a)  recommend the strategic and annual audits plans, prepared by the 

head of internal audit, take account of the characteristics and relative 
risks of the activities involved, for approval by the Audit Board as 
appropriate.

(b) ensure that effective procedures are in place to investigate promptly 
any fraud or irregularity.

E.3.4 Senior Managers will:

(a)  ensure that internal auditors are given access at all reasonable times 
to premises, personnel, documents and assets that the auditors 
consider necessary for the purposes of their work.

(b) ensure that auditors are provided with any information and 
explanations that they seek in the course of their work.

(c) consider and respond promptly to recommendations in audit reports in 
accordance with the audit protocol.

(d) ensure that any agreed actions arising from audit recommendations 
are carried out in a timely and efficient fashion.

(e) notify the Strategic Director (Internal Services) immediately of any 
suspected fraud, theft, irregularity, improper use or misappropriation of 
the Council’s property or resources.  Pending investigation and 
reporting, the Manager should take all necessary steps to prevent 
further loss and to secure records and documentation against removal 
or alteration.

(f) ensure that new systems for maintaining financial records, or records 
of assets, or changes to systems, are discussed with and agreed by 
the Strategic Director (Internal Services) prior to implementation.

E.4 EXTERNAL AUDIT

Why is this important?

The Council’s accounts are scrutinised by external auditors, who must be satisfied 
that the statement of accounts ‘presents fairly’ the financial position of the Council 
and its income and expenditure for the year in question and complies with the legal 
requirements.



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

21

E.4.1 Our current external auditors were appointed by the Audit Commission 
however future auditors will be appointed by the Council in line with the 
procedures specified in the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.  

E.4.2 The Strategic Director (Internal Services) will:
(a) Ensure that external auditors are given access at all reasonable times 

to premises, personnel, documents and assets that the external 
auditors consider necessary for the purposes of their work.

(b) To ensure there is effective liaison between external and internal audit.

(c) To work with the external auditor and advise the General Assembly of 
the Council, Audit Board, Cabinet and Directors on their responsibilities 
in relation to external audit.

E.4.3 Senior managers will ensure that external auditors are given access at all 
reasonable times to premises, personnel, documents and assets which the 
external auditors consider necessary for the purposes of their work.

E.4.4 Senior managers will ensure that all records and systems are up to date 
and available for inspection.

E.5 PREVENTING FRAUD AND CORRUPTION

Why is this important?

The Council will not tolerate fraud and corruption in the administration of its 
responsibilities whether from inside or outside the Council.

The Council’s expectation of propriety and accountability is that Members and staff 
at all levels will lead by example in ensuring adherence to legal requirements, rules, 
procedures and practices.

The Council also expects that individuals and organisations (e.g. suppliers, 
contractors, service providers) with whom it comes into contact will act towards the 
Council with integrity and without thought or actions involving fraud and corruption.

E.5.1 The key controls regarding the prevention of financial irregularities are that: 

(a) the Council has an effective anti-fraud and corruption policy and 
maintains a culture that will not tolerate fraud or corruption

(b) all Members and staff act with integrity and lead by example



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

22

(c) high standards of conduct are promoted amongst Members by the 
Audit Board

(d) the maintenance of registers of hospitality (Members and Officers) in 
which any hospitality or gifts accepted must be recorded

(e) the maintenance of registers of interest (Members and Officers)

(f) whistle-blowing procedures are in place and operate effectively 

E.5.2 The Strategic Director (Internal Services) will:

(a) develop and maintain an Anti-fraud and Corruption Policy and 
Whistleblowing Policy.

(b) Be responsible for anti-money laundering policies and practices as the 
anti-money laundering officer

(c)  maintain adequate and effective internal control arrangements.

(d)  ensure that all suspected irregularities are reported to the Audit 
Manager and the Head of Paid Service, as appropriate.

E.5.3 Senior Managers will:
(a) ensure that all suspected irregularities are reported to the Audit 

Manager and the Head of Paid Service, as appropriate.

(b)  instigate the Council’s disciplinary procedures or reference to the 
Strategic Director (Internal Services) and Monitoring Officer (for 
breaches of the Member Code of Conduct) where the outcome of an 
audit investigation indicates improper behaviour.

(c)  ensure that where financial impropriety is discovered, the Strategic 
Director (Internal Services) is informed, and where sufficient evidence 
exists to believe that a criminal offence may have been committed, the 
police are called in to determine with the Crown Prosecution Service 
whether any prosecution will take place.

(d)  maintain any specific registers of hospitality, where relevant.

E.6 ASSETS - SECURITY

Why is this important?

The Council holds assets in the form of property, vehicles, equipment, furniture and 
other items worth millions of pounds. It is important that assets are safeguarded and 
used efficiently in service delivery, and that there are arrangements for the security 
of both assets and information required for service operations. An up-to-date asset 



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

23

register is a prerequisite for proper fixed asset accounting and sound asset 
management.

E.6.1 The key controls for the security of resources such as land, buildings, fixed 
plant machinery, equipment, software and information are:

(a) resources are used only for the purposes of the Council and are 
properly accounted for

(b) resources are available for use when required

(c) resources no longer required are disposed of in accordance with the 
law and the regulations of the Council so as to maximise benefits

(d) an asset register is maintained for the Council and assets are recorded 
when they are acquired by the Council and this record is updated as 
changes occur with respect to the location and condition of the asset 

(e) all staff are aware of their responsibilities with regard to safeguarding 
the Council’s assets and information, including the requirements of the 
Data Protection Act 1998 and software copyright legislation.

(f) all staff are aware of their responsibilities with regard to safeguarding 
the security of the Council’s computer systems, including maintaining 
restricted access to the information held on them and compliance with 
the Council’s computer e-mail and internet security policies.

E.6.2 The Strategic Director (Internal Services) will ensure that an asset register 
is maintained in accordance with good practice for all fixed assets.  The 
function of the asset register is to provide the Council with information about 
fixed assets so that they are:

(a) Safeguarded

(b) used efficiently and effectively

(c) adequately maintained

E.6.3 The Strategic Director (Internal Services) will also receive the information 
for accounting, costing and financial records from each Director and ensure 
that assets are valued in accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice on 
Local Authority Accounting.

E.6.4 The responsible director shall maintain a property database in a form 
approved by the Strategic Director (Internal Services) for all land and 
property currently owned or used by the Council.



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

24

E.6.5 Where land or buildings are surplus to requirements, a recommendation for 
sale should be made to the Strategic Director (Internal Services).

E.6.6 Senior managers are responsible:  

a) To ensure that lessees and other prospective occupiers of Council land are 
not allowed to take possession or enter the land until a lease or agreement 
has been established.

b) To ensure the proper security of all buildings and other assets under their 
control.

c) To ensure that any health and safety issues arising from Council owned 
property are brought to the attention of the Health and Safety Officer and the 
Housing Maintenance Manager. 

d) To ensure that no Council asset is subject to a personal use by an employee 
without proper authority.

e) To ensure the safe custody of vehicles, equipment, furniture, stock stores and 
other property belonging to the Council.

f) To ensure that the section maintains a register (inventory) of moveable assets 
in accordance with arrangements defined by the Strategic Director (Internal 
Services).

g) To ensure that assets are identified, their location recorded and that they are 
appropriately marked and insured.

h) To ensure cash holdings on premises are kept to a minimum.

i) To ensure that keys to safes and similar receptacles are kept secure at all 
times; loss of any such keys must be reported to the Strategic Director 
(Internal Services) as soon as possible.

j) To record all disposal or part exchange of assets that should normally be by 
competitive tender or public auction, unless the Strategic Director (Internal 
Services) agrees otherwise.

k) To arrange for the valuation of assets for accounting purposes to meet 
requirements specified by the Strategic Director (Internal Services).

l) To ensure that all employees are aware that they have a personal 
responsibility with regard to the protection and confidentiality of information, 
whether held in manual or computerised records.  Information may be 
sensitive or privileged, or may possess some intrinsic value, and its disclosure 
or loss could result in a cost to the Council in some way.



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

25

E.7 INVENTORIES

E.7.1 Senior managers will:

a) Maintain inventories of moveable assets and record an adequate 
description of furniture, fittings, equipment, plant and machinery above 
the value of £1,000. See Financial Guidance for further details.

b) Carry out an annual check of all items on the inventory in order to verify 
location, review conditions and to take action in relation to surpluses or 
deficiencies, annotating the inventory accordingly.  Attractive and 
portable items such as computers, cameras and video recorders 
should be identified with security markings as belonging to the Council.

c) Make sure that property is only used in the course of the Council’s 
business, unless the Director concerned has given permission 
otherwise.

E.8 STOCKS AND STORES

E.8.1 Senior managers will:

a) Make arrangements for the care and custody of stocks and stores in 
the directorate.

b) Ensure stocks are maintained at reasonable levels and are subject to a 
regular independent physical check. All discrepancies should be 
investigated and pursued to a satisfactory conclusion.

c) Investigate and recommend removal from the Council’s records (i.e. 
write off) discrepancies as necessary, or to obtain Cabinet approval in 
line with delegation regarding the writing off of debt.

d) Seek Cabinet approval to the write-off of redundant stocks and 
equipment in excess of a predetermined sum.

E.9 ASSEST DISPOSAL

Why is this important?

It would be uneconomic and inefficient for the cost of assets to outweigh their 
benefits. Obsolete, non-repairable or unnecessary resources should be disposed of 
in accordance with the law and the regulations of the Council.



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

26

E.9.1 Assets for disposal are identified and are disposed of at the most 
appropriate time, and only when it is in the best interests of the Council, and 
best price is obtained, bearing in mind other factors, such as environmental 
issues.  For items of significant value, disposal should be by competitive 
tender or public auction.

E.9.2 These procedures protect staff involved in the disposal from accusations of 
personal gain.

E.9.3 The Strategic Director (Internal Services) will issue guidelines representing 
best practice for disposal of assets and ensure appropriate accounting 
entries are made to remove the value of disposed assets from the Council’s 
records and to include the sale proceeds, if appropriate.

E.9.4 Senior Managers will arrange for the disposal of surplus or obsolete 
materials, stores or equipment, in accordance with agreed procedures and 
will ensure that income received for the disposal of an asset is properly 
banked and coded.

E.10 TREASURY MANAGEMENT AND BANKING

Why is this important?

Many millions of pounds pass through the Council’s books each year. This led to the 
establishment of codes of practice.  These aim to provide assurances that the 
Council’s money is properly managed in a way that balances risk with return, but 
with the overriding consideration being given to the security of the Council’s capital 
sum.

Key controls

E.10.1 The key controls for Treasury Management are that the Council’s 
borrowings and investments comply with the Treasury Management in the 
Public Services: Code of Practice and with the Council’s Treasury 
Management Strategy as approved by the Council.

E.10.2 The Council’s Treasury Management Panel must oversee the Treasury 
Management Function in accordance with its terms of reference.

E.10.3 The Managing Director or his nominee (the Strategic Director (Internal 
Services)) will:

a) Arrange the borrowing and investments of the Council in such a 
manner as to comply with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management and the Council’s treasury management policy statement 
and strategy.

http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/t/treasury-management-in-the-public-services-code-of-practice-and-crosssectoral-guidance-notes-2011-edition-cdrom
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/t/treasury-management-in-the-public-services-code-of-practice-and-crosssectoral-guidance-notes-2011-edition-cdrom


DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

27

b) Report (at least) two times a year on treasury management activities to 
the Cabinet including a year-end report. 

c) Operate bank accounts as are considered necessary – opening or 
closing any bank account shall require the approval of the Strategic 
Director (Internal Services) and Managing Director.

d) Ensure that all investments of money are made in the name of the 
Council or in the name of approved nominees.

e) Ensure that all securities that are the property of the Council or its 
nominees and the title deeds of all property in the Council’s ownership, 
are held in the appropriate custody.

f) Effect all borrowings in the name of the Council.

g) Act as the Council’s registrar of stocks, bonds and mortgages and to 
maintain records of all borrowing of money by the Council. 

E.10.4 Maximum limits for cash holdings and guidance around record keeping 
shall be agreed with the Managing Director. Limits shall not be exceeded 
without his/her express permission.

E.10.5 Senior Managers will:

a) ensure that loans are not made to third parties and that interests are 
not acquired in companies, joint ventures or other enterprises without 
the approval of the Managing Director.

b) Only use cash for transactions when approved by the Strategic Director 
(Internal Services).

E.11 STAFFING

Why is this important?

In order to provide the highest level of service, it is crucial that the Council recruits 
and retains high calibre, knowledgeable staff, qualified to an appropriate level.

E.11.1 The key controls for staffing are:

a) an appropriate workforce strategy 

b) procedures are in place for forecasting staffing requirements and cost

c) controls are implemented that ensure that staff time is used efficiently 
and to the benefit of the Council



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

28

d) checks are undertaken prior to employing new staff to ensure that they 
are appropriately qualified, experienced and trustworthy.

e) Controls are in place to ensure that only properly authorised 
appointments are made

E.11.2 The Strategic Director (Internal Services) will:

a) Ensure that budget provision exists for approved staffing levels.

b) Act as an advisor to Senior Managers on areas such as national 
insurance and pension contributions, as appropriate.

E.11.3 Senior Managers will:

a) ensure that the staffing budget is an accurate forecast of staffing levels 
and is equated to an appropriate revenue budget provision (including 
on-costs and overheads).

b) monitor staff activity to ensure adequate control over such costs as 
sickness, overtime, training and temporary staff.

c) ensure that the staffing budget is not exceeded and that it is managed 
to enable the agreed level of service to be provided.

d) ensure that the Financial Services Manager and the Strategic Director 
(Internal Services) are immediately informed if the staffing budget is 
likely to be materially overspent.

F. FINANCIAL SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES

F.1 CONTROL OF SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES

Why is this important?

Directorates have many systems and procedures relating to the control of the 
Council’s assets, including procurement, costing and management systems.  
Directorates are predominantly reliant on computers for their financial management 
information.  The information must therefore be accurate and the systems and 
procedures sound and well administered.  They should contain controls to ensure 
that transactions are properly processed and errors detected promptly.

The Strategic Director (Internal Services) has a professional responsibility to ensure 
that the Council’s financial systems are sound and should therefore be notified of 
any new developments or changes.



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

29

F.1.1 The key controls for systems and procedures are:

a) basic data exists to enable the Council’s objectives, targets, budgets 
and plans to be formulated

b) performance is communicated to the appropriate managers on an 
accurate, complete and timely basis

c) early warning is provided of deviations from target, plans and budgets 
that require management attention

d) operating systems and procedures are secure

F.1.2 The Strategic Director (Internal Services) will: 

a) issue advice, guidance and procedures for officers and others acting on 
the Council’s behalf

b) determine the accounting systems, form of accounts and supporting 
financial records 

c) establish arrangements for audit of the Council’s financial affairs

d) approve any new financial systems to be introduced

e) approve any changes to be made to existing financial systems.

F.1.3 Directors will: 

a) establish a scheme of delegation identifying officers authorised to act 
upon the Director’s behalf in respect of payments, income collection and 
procurement, including variations, and showing the limits of their  
authorisation.

b) supply lists of authorised officers, with specimen signatures and 
delegated limits, to the Strategic Director (Internal Services), together 
with any subsequent variations.

c) ensure that effective contingency arrangements, including back-up 
procedures, exist for computer systems.  Wherever possible, back-up 
information should be securely retained in a fire proof location, 
preferably off site or at an alternative location within the building.



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

30

d) To ensure there is a documented and tested disaster recovery plan to 
allow information system processing to resume quickly in the event of 
an interruption.

F.1.4 Senior Managers will:

a) ensure that accounting records are properly maintained and held 
securely.

b) ensure that vouchers and documents with financial implications are not 
destroyed, except in accordance with arrangements approved by the 
Strategic Director (Internal Services).

c) ensure that a complete management trail, allowing financial transactions 
to be traced from the accounting records to the original document, and 
vice versa, is maintained. 

d) To incorporate appropriate controls to ensure that, where relevant:

 all input is genuine, complete, accurate, timely and not previously 
processed

 all processing is carried out in an accurate, complete and timely 
manner

 output from the system is complete, accurate and timely.

e) To ensure that, where practical, the organisational structure provides an 
appropriate segregation of duties to provide adequate internal controls 
and to minimise the risk of fraud or other malpractice.

f) To ensure that systems are documented and staff trained in operations.

g) To consult with the Strategic Director (Internal Services) before 
changing any existing system or introducing new systems.

h) To ensure that, where appropriate, computer systems are registered in 
accordance with data protection legislation and that staff are aware of 
their responsibilities under the legislation.

i) To ensure that relevant standards and guidelines for computer systems 
issued by the relevant Director are observed.

j) To ensure that computer equipment and software are protected from 
loss and damage through theft, vandalism, etc.

k) To comply with the copyright designs and patents legislation and, in 
particular, to ensure that:



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

31

 only software legally acquired and installed by the Council is 
used on its computers

 staff are aware of legislative provisions

F.2 INCOME

Why is this important?

Income can be a vulnerable asset and effective income collection systems are 
necessary to ensure that all income due is identified, collected, receipted and 
banked properly.  It is preferable to obtain income in advance of supplying goods or 
services as this improves the Council’s cashflow and also avoids the time and cost of 
administering debts.

F.2.1 The key controls for income are:

a) all income due to the Council is identified and charged correctly

b) all income is collected from the correct person, at the right time, using 
the correct procedures and the appropriate recording equipment.

c) all money received by an employee on behalf of the Council is paid 
without delay to the Strategic Director (Internal Services) or, as he/she 
directs, to the Council’s bank account, and properly recorded.  The 
responsibility for cash collection should be separated from that:

 for identifying the amount due

 for reconciling the amount due to the amount received

d) effective action is taken to pursue non-payment within defined 
timescales

e) formal approval for debt write-off is obtained

f) appropriate write-off action is taken within defined timescales

g) appropriate accounting adjustments are made following write-off action

h) all appropriate income documents are retained and stored for the 
defined period in accordance with the document retention schedule

i) money not allocated and deposited is reconciled to the bank account by 
a person who is not involved in the collection or banking process.



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

32

F.2.2 The Strategic Director (Internal Services) will:

a) agree arrangements for the collection of all income due to the Council 
and to approve the procedures, systems and documentation for its 
collection.

b) ensure that appropriate accounting adjustments are made following 
write-off action.

F.2.3 The Managing Director or Strategic Director (Internal Services) will:

a) agree the write-off of bad debts up to £5,000 in each case and to refer 
larger sums to the Cabinet. 

b) obtain the approval of the Cabinet in consultation with the relevant 
Director for writing off debts in excess of £5,000.

F.2.4 Senior managers will:

a) establish charges for the supply of goods or services, including the 
appropriate charging of VAT.

b) separate the responsibility for identifying amounts due and the 
responsibility for collection, as far as is practicable.

c) establish and initiate appropriate recovery procedures, including legal 
action where necessary, for debts that are not paid promptly.

d) issue official receipts or to maintain other documentation for income 
collection.

e) hold securely receipts, tickets and other records of income for the 
appropriate period.

f) lock away all income to safeguard against loss or theft, and to ensure 
the security of cash handling.  Cash handling should be minimised and 
the Strategic Director (Internal Services) must approve any new 
arrangements.

g) ensure that income is paid fully and promptly into the appropriate 
Council bank account in the form in which it is received. Appropriate 
details should be recorded on to paying-in slips to provide an audit trail. 

h) raise accounts promptly for work done, goods supplied, services 
rendered or other amounts due. 

i) ensure that sums due to the Council are recorded correctly, monitor 
recovery of income and flag up areas of concern to the Strategic 



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

33

Director (Internal Services).  Directors have a responsibility to assist the 
Strategic Director (Internal Services) in collecting debts that they have 
originated, by providing any further information requested by the debtor, 
and in pursuing the matter on the Council’s behalf.

j) recommend to the Strategic Director (Internal Services)/ Managing 
Director all debts to be written off up to £5,000 and to keep a record of 
all sums written off.  Once raised, no bona fide debt may be cancelled, 
except by full payment or by its formal writing off.  A credit note to 
replace a debt can only be issued to correct a factual inaccuracy or 
administrative error in the calculation and/or billing of the original debt.

k) obtain the approval of the Strategic Director (Internal Services) 
/Managing Director and where appropriate Cabinet, when writing off 
debts in excess of £5,000.

l) notify the Strategic Director (Internal Services) of outstanding income 
relating to the previous financial year as soon as possible after 31 
March in line with the timetable determined by the Strategic Director 
(Internal Services).

F.3 PROCURING AND PAYING FOR WORK, GOODS AND SERVICES

Why is this important?

Public money should be spent with demonstrable probity and in accordance with the 
Council’s policies.  Authorities have a statutory duty to achieve best value in part 
through economy and efficiency.  The Council’s procedures should help to ensure 
that services obtain value for money from their purchasing arrangements.

F.3.1 Every officer and Member of the Council has a responsibility to declare any 
links or personal interests that they may have with purchasers, suppliers 
and/or contractors if they are engaged in contractual or purchasing 
decisions on behalf of the Council, in accordance with appropriate codes of 
conduct.

F.3.2 Official orders must be in a form approved by the Strategic Director (Internal 
Services).  Official orders must be issued for all work, goods or services to 
be supplied to the Council, except for supplies of utilities, periodic payments 
such as rent or rates, petty cash purchases or other exceptions specified by 
the Strategic Director (Internal Services).



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

34

F.3.3 The normal method of payment to suppliers will be by BACS transfer. 
Payment by cheque will only be agreed in exceptional circumstances.  The 
use of direct debit requires the prior agreement of the Strategic Director 
(Internal Services).

F.3.4 The key controls for ordering and paying for work, goods and services are:

a) all goods and services are ordered only by appropriate persons and are 
correctly recorded

b) all goods and services shall be ordered in accordance with the Council’s 
standing orders and contract procedures

c) goods and services received are checked to ensure they are in 
accordance with the order

d) payments are not made unless goods have been received by the 
Council to the correct price, quantity and quality standards

e) all payments are made to the correct person, for the correct amount and 
are properly recorded, regardless of the payment method

f) all appropriate evidence of the transaction and payment documents are 
retained and stored for the defined period, in accordance with the 
document retention schedule

g) all expenditure, including VAT, is accurately recorded against the right 
budget and any exceptions are corrected

h) in addition, processes must be in place to ensure the security and 
integrity of data transferred in e-business/e-commerce and electronic 
purchasing transactions

F.3.5 The Strategic Director (Internal Services) will:

a) ensure that all the Council’s financial systems and procedures are 
sound and properly administered.

b) approve any changes to existing financial systems and to approve any 
new systems before they are introduced.

c) approve the form of official orders and associated terms and conditions.

d) To make payments from the Council’s funds on the budget holder’s 
authorisation that the expenditure had been duly incurred in accordance 
with Financial Regulations and Standing Orders.



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

35

e) To make payments, whether or not provision exists within the estimates, 
where the payment is specifically required by statute or is made under a 
court order.

f) To make payments to contractors on authorisation of a contract 
certificate, which must include details of the value of work, retention 
money, amounts previously certified and amounts now certified.

g) To provide advice and guidance on making payments by the most 
economical means.

h) To ensure that a budgetary control system is established that enables 
commitments incurred by placing orders to be shown against the 
appropriate budget allocation so that they can be taken into account in 
budget monitoring reports.

F.3.6 Senior Managers will:

a) ensure that goods and services are procured in accordance with 
Financial Regulations and Standing Orders using systems and 
procedures approved by the Strategic Director (Internal Services).

b) ensure that orders are only used for goods and services for the Council.  
Individuals must not use official orders to obtain goods or services for 
their private use.

c) ensure that only those staff authorised by him/her  originate orders and 
to maintain an up-to-date list of such authorised staff, including 
specimen signatures identifying in each case their authorised limits.  
The authoriser of the order should be satisfied that the goods and 
services ordered are appropriate and needed, that there is adequate 
budgetary provision and that quotations or tenders have been obtained 
if necessary. Best value principles should underpin the Council’s 
approach to procurement.  Value for money should always be achieved.

d) ensure that goods and services are checked on receipt to verify that 
they are in accordance with the order.  This check should, where 
possible, be carried out by a different officer from the person who 
authorised the order.  Appropriate entries should then be made in 
inventories or stores records.

e) ensure that all appropriate payment records are retained and stored for 
the defined period, in accordance with the document retention schedule.

f) ensure that a two stage process as below is adopted to authorise any 
invoice for payment and that the two stages are authorised by separate 
officers.

Stage 1 



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

36

The first stage of the authorisation process, either online or by signing the “Goods 
received” or “checked and coded” boxes on the relevant form, means confirmation 
that:

 the goods works or services have been received and are of the required 
quantity and quality and fit for the purpose intended

 that the invoice has not previously been paid

 that expenditure has been charged against the correct budget

 that prices are arithmetically correct and accord with quotations, 
tenders, contracts or catalogue prices, or are otherwise reasonable

 where VAT is included, it is correct and in the required format 

 that discounts have been taken where available

 that if the invoice is in payment for non-consumable moveable assets 
valued at over £500, an entry has been made on the relevant inventory

Stage 2 

The second stage of the authorisation process, either online or by signing the 
“certified by” box on the relevant form, means confirmation that:

 The invoice has passed through the stage 1 process

 That any Standing Order or Financial Regulation relevant to the 
purchase of the goods or services has been complied with e.g. rules for 
quotations and/or tenders

 The expenditure has been correctly authorised and budget provision 
exits.

 ensure that payments are only made following receipt of a formal 
invoice, and that no payment is made on a photocopy or statement. 

 ensure that the directorate obtains best value from purchases by taking 
appropriate steps to obtain competitive prices for goods and services of 
the appropriate quality, having regard to the Procurement Guide. The 
financial thresholds for procurement are specified in Contract Standing 
Order 7.



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

37

F.3.7 Whilst there is a general presumption in favour of open competition, there 
will be some circumstances where it may not be appropriate. In such 
circumstances the requirements of Contract Standing Order 13 should be 
followed

F.3.8 If a contractor or consultant is responsible for procuring goods or services 
on behalf of the Council then they must abide by the Council’s Contracts 
Standing Orders and Procurement Guide. Directors and Spending Officers 
responsible for the appointment of contractors or consultants are required 
to bring this to their attention where relevant.

F.3.9 Directors will:

a) Provide lists to the Strategic Director (Internal Services) in order for the 
organisation to retain a list of staff approved to authorise invoices.  This 
will include names of authorising officers together with specimen 
signatures and details of expenditure limits.

F.4 PAYMENTS TO EMPLOYEES AND MEMBERS

Why is this important?

Staff costs are the largest item of expenditure for most Council services.  It is 
therefore important that payments are accurate, timely, made only where they are 
due for services to the Council and that payments accord with individuals’ conditions 
of employment.  It is important that all payments are accurately recorded and 
accounted for, and that Members’ allowances are authorised in accordance with the 
Members’ Allowances Scheme adopted by the General Assembly of the Council.

F.4.1 The key controls for payments to employees and Members are:

a) proper authorisation procedures are in place and that there is 
adherence to corporate timetables for:

 starters
 leavers
 variations
 additional payments

b) frequent reconciliation of payroll expenditure against approved budget 
and bank account

c) all appropriate payroll documents are retained and stored for the 
defined period in accordance with the document retention schedule

d) Inland Revenue regulations are complied with.



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

38

F.4.2 The Strategic Director (Internal Services) will:

a) Arrange for the secure and reliable payment of salaries wages, or other 
emoluments to employees, in accordance with procedures prescribed 
by him/her, on the due date.

b) record and make arrangements for the accurate and timely payment of 
tax, pension and other deductions.

c) make arrangements for payment of all travel and subsistence and other 
claims.

d) make arrangements for paying Members’ allowances in accordance 
with the scheme approved by the Council.

e) ensure that there are adequate arrangements to meet any pension 
administration timescales set by Kent County Council. 

f) ensure appointments are made in accordance with the regulations of 
the Council and approved establishments, grades and scale of pay and 
that adequate budget provision is available.

g) To ensure that adequate and effective systems and procedures are 
operated, so that:

 payments are only authorised to bona fide employees
 payments are only made where there is a valid entitlement
 conditions and contracts of employment are correctly applied
 employees’ names on the payroll are checked at regular intervals 

to verify accuracy and completeness

F.4.3 Senior Manager will:

a) send an up-to-date list of names and officers authorised to sign payroll 
records to the Financial Services Manager, together with specimen 
signatures.  

b) ensure that payroll transactions are processed only through the payroll 
system.  Directors should give careful consideration to the employment 
status of individuals employed on a self-employed consultant or 
subcontract basis.  The Inland Revenue applies a tight definition for 
employee status, and in cases of doubt, advice should be sought from 
Financial Services (payroll).

c) certify travel and subsistence claims, overtime and other allowances.  
Certification is taken to mean that journeys were authorised and 
expenses properly and necessarily incurred, and that allowances are 



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

39

properly payable by the Council, ensuring that cost-effective use of 
travel arrangements is achieved.  Due consideration should be given to 
tax implications and that the Strategic Director (Internal Services) is 
informed, where appropriate.

F.4.4 Members should:

a) submit claims for any allowances, that require the completion of a claim 
form e.g. travel and subsistence allowances, on a monthly basis and, in 
any event, within one month of the year end.

G. TAXATION

Why is this important?

Like all organisations the Council is responsible for ensuring its tax affairs are in 
order. Tax issues are often very complex and the penalties for incorrectly accounting 
for tax are severe. It is therefore very important for all officers to be aware of their 
role. 

G.1 Key controls for taxation are:

a) budget managers are provided with relevant information and kept up to 
date on tax issues

b) budget managers are instructed on required record keeping

c) all taxable transactions are identified, properly carried out and 
accounted for within stipulated timescales

d) records are maintained in accordance with instructions

e) returns are made to the appropriate authorities within the stipulated 
timescale.

G.2 The Strategic Director (Internal Services) will:

a) Complete all HMRC returns regarding PAYE.

b) Complete a monthly return of VAT inputs and outputs to HMRC.

c) Provide details to the HMRC regarding the construction industry tax 
deduction scheme.

d) Maintain up-to-date information for Council employees on taxation 
issues in the Financial Guidance Manual



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

40

G.3 Senior Managers will:

a) ensure that the correct VAT liability is attached to all income due and 
that all VAT recoverable on purchases complies with HMRC regulations, 
seeking advice when necessary.

b) ensure that, where construction and maintenance works are 
undertaken, the contractor fulfils the necessary construction industry tax 
deduction requirements.

c) ensure that all employment appointments are carried out using the 
approved procedures. 

d) follow the guidance on taxation issued in the Financial Guidance 
Manual.

e) Obtain the approval of the Managing Director before the appointment of 
anyone classed as self-employed or someone from an agency.

H. EXTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS

H.1 PARTNERSHIPS

Why is this important?

Increasingly local authorities are working in partnership to deliver services.  With the 
Localism Act this will extend further with many voluntary and other organisations 
taking over assets and services previously run by the Council.  It is important that the 
financial arrangements around partnerships are clearly defined and liabilities and 
risks are made explicit.

H.1.1 Financial matters relating to arrangements whereby one Council 
administers funds jointly on behalf of itself and others shall be subject to the 
Financial Standing Orders and Regulations of the administering council, 
subject to the Strategic Director (Internal Services) considering the rules to 
be satisfactory.

H.1.2 The Strategic Director (Internal Services) will ensure that the accounting 
arrangements are satisfactory.

H.1.3 Senior Managers will ensure that they follow the guidance within the 
Council’s Code of Practice for Effective Partnership Working when entering 
into any partnership arrangement.



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

41

H.1.4 Senior managers will maintain a record of all contracts entered into with 
external bodies in accordance with procedures specified by the Strategic 
Director (Internal Services).

H.1.5 Senior managers will ensure that, before entering into agreements with 
external bodies, a risk management appraisal has been prepared for the 
Management Team and Cabinet as appropriate. 

H.1.6 Senior managers will ensure that such agreements and arrangements do 
not impact adversely upon the services provided by the Council.

H.1.7 Senior managers will ensure that all agreements and arrangements are 
properly documented and that the appropriate governance arrangements 
have been approved by the relevant Director.

H.1.8 Senior managers will provide appropriate information to the Financial 
Services Manager to enable a note to be entered into the Council’s 
Statement of Accounts concerning material items.

H.1.9 Senior Managers are responsible for ensuring that appropriate approvals 
are obtained from a Director before any negotiations are concluded in 
relation to partnership arrangements with external bodies.

H.2 EXTERNAL FUNDING

Why is this important?

Funding from external agencies will remain an important potential source of funding 
for the Council.  Such opportunities need to be maximised whilst ensuring that the 
Council can meet any financial obligations which may be placed on it.
H.2.1 The Key controls for external funding are:

a) to ensure that key conditions of funding and any statutory requirements 
are complied with and that the responsibilities of the accountable body 
are clearly understood.

b) to ensure that funds are acquired only to meet the priorities approved in 
the policy framework by the General Assembly of the Council and the 
Corporate Plan.

c) to ensure that any match-funding requirements are given due 
consideration prior to entering into long-term agreements and that future 
revenue budgets reflect these requirements.



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

42

d) to ensure that when external funding is provided for a limited period 
only, that the implications of losing the funding is disclosed to Members.

H.2.2 The appropriate senior manager will ensure that any decisions are made by 
Strategic Management Team and Cabinet within the appropriate 
governance framework.

H.2.3 The Strategic Director (Internal Services) will ensure that all funding notified 
by external bodies is received and properly recorded in the Council’s 
accounts.

H.2.4 The Strategic Director (Internal Services) will ensure that the match-funding 
requirements are considered prior to entering into the agreements and that 
future revenue budgets reflect these requirements.

H.2.5 The Strategic Director (Internal Services) will ensure that all specified audit 
requirements are met.

H.2.6 The appropriate senior manager will ensure that all claims for funds are 
made by the due date.

H.2.7 The appropriate senior manager will ensure that the project progresses in 
accordance with the agreed project timetable and that all expenditure is 
properly incurred and recorded.

H.2.8 Terms and conditions for external funding must be agreed by the relevant 
Director, in consultation with the Head of Legal Services and the Strategic 
Director (Internal Services).

H.3 WORK FOR THIRD PARTIES

Why is this important?

Current legislation enables the Council to provide a range of services to other 
bodies. Such work may enable a unit to maintain economies of scale and existing 
expertise.  Arrangements should be in place to ensure that any risks associated with 
this work is minimised and that such work is intra vires.

Key controls

The key controls for working with third parties are:

(a) To ensure that proposals are costed properly in accordance with guidance 
provided by the Strategic Director (Internal Services)

(b) To ensure that contracts are drawn up using guidance provided by the Strategic 
Director (Internal Services) and Head of Legal Services and that the formal 
approvals processes are adhered to



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

43

(c) To ensure guidance is issued for the financial aspects of third party contracts

H.3.1 The Strategic Director (Internal Services) will issue guidance with regard to 
the financial aspects of third party contracts.

H.3.2 Senior managers will:

a) ensure that the approval of the Cabinet or Officers under 
delegated authority is obtained before any negotiations are 
concluded to work for third parties.

b) maintain a register of all contracts entered into with third parties 
in accordance with procedures specified by the Strategic 
Director (Internal Services).

c) ensure that appropriate insurance arrangements are made.

d) ensure that the Council is not put at risk from bad debts arising 
from the arrangements.

e) ensure that no contract is subsidised by the Council.

f) ensure that, wherever possible, payment is received in advance 
of the delivery of the service.

g) ensure that the unit has the appropriate expertise to undertake 
the contract.

h) ensure that such contracts do not impact adversely upon the 
services provided for the Council.

i) ensure that all contracts are properly documented and 
monitored.

j) provide appropriate information to the Strategic Director (Internal 
Services) to enable a note to be entered into the statement of 
accounts.





            
AUDIT BOARD

28 JUNE 2017

COUNTER FRAUD & COMPLIANCE TEAM ANNUAL REPORT 
2016/17

1. Summary

This report is to update the Audit Board on work undertaken by the Counter 
Fraud & Compliance Team during the year ended 31 March 2017.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Members note the work undertaken by the Counter Fraud & 
Compliance Team in 2016/17.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 Local authority fraud investigation has seen radical changes over the last 
few years. Under the Welfare Reform Act 2012 the Government proposed 
the creation of a new single integrated fraud investigation service with 
statutory powers to investigate all welfare benefit related offences, 
including Housing Benefit.  

3.2 The Department for Work and Pensions’ Single Fraud Investigation 
Service (S-FIS) commenced in October 2014 followed by a national roll-
out. The Council’s jurisdiction over the investigation of Housing Benefit 
fraud passed to the Department for Work and Pensions in February 2016. 
S-FIS did not take up responsibility for the investigation of Council Tax 
fraud, Council Tax Reduction fraud or local housing related fraud issues. 
The Council has therefore seized this opportunity to re-model its fraud 
investigation resources to protect funds which go to support vital local 
services.

3.3 On 1st February 2016 a new local authority fraud team was created, The 
Counter Fraud & Compliance Team, based within the Revenues & 
Benefits Service at Argyle Road, Sevenoaks. This report details the work 
of the new team during its first full year of operation, including the new 
policies/strategies created to protect the public purse.

Summary of Issues in the Report

4 The update as shown at Appendix A summarises the following aspects:

 An introduction to the new counter fraud & compliance procedures 
which have been introduced to protect both the Council Tax and 



AUDIT BOARD
28 June 2017

Business Rates income bases within the Revenues & Benefits 
Service. 

 A breakdown of the successes achieved by the new Counter Fraud & 
Compliance Team during the period April 2016 to March 2017.

 An explanation of how the authority continues to fulfil its duties in 
relation to highlighting Housing Benefit fraud and supporting the 
Single Fraud Investigation Service in the investigation and 
prosecution of benefit fraud offences. 

 A summary of plans for 2017-18.

5 The Council is determined that the culture and ethos of the organisation is 
one of honesty and opposition to fraud and corruption. The work of the 
Counter Fraud & Compliance Team reinforces the Council’s zero tolerance 
approach to fraud and corruption.  

6 Members are requested to note the contents of the report and endorse the 
work of the team.

7. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications The cost of the service for 2016/17 has 
been mostly met from funding from the 
major preceptors and from the income 
recovered via identified fraud.

Legal Implications None
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints.

Appendices

Appendix A – 2016/17 Counter Fraud & Compliance Team End of Year Report

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File Ref Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

N/A N/A Glen Moore
01732 227471

 

Revenues  
& Benefits

N/A



AUDIT BOARD
28 June 2017



AUDIT BOARD
28 June 2017

Appendix A

Counter Fraud & Compliance Team

Year End Report 2016/17

1. Introduction

This report is to update the Audit Board on the work undertaken by the Counter 
Fraud & Compliance Team for the year ending 31 March 2017. 

2. Background

Local authorities administer the Council Tax and Business Rates local taxation 
schemes which part fund the services provided by local government. Local 
authorities also administer the Housing Benefit and Council Tax Reduction 
schemes which support and protect the most vulnerable groups in our society. It 
is imperative that these schemes are fair and transparent and appropriate action 
is taken against participants who do not abide by the rules and obtain reliefs and 
allowances which they are not entitled to.

Last year the Council awarded a total of £4,857,338 in Council Tax Single 
Person discounts and processed Council Tax Reduction claims amounting to 
£4,944,637. 

The Council has a zero tolerance to all forms of fraud and corruption. The 
creation of the new Counter Fraud & Compliance Team and re-locating it to the 
Revenues & Benefits Service has been seen as a huge success as strategies 
and procedures which protect the public purse have been thoroughly reviewed 
and assurance in the validity of claims and allowances much improved.

The next section outlines some of the changes employed in the last financial 
year which go to protect valuable public funds.  

 3. Assurance

A new risk-based verification (RBV) process has been implemented within the 
Benefits Service, with new claims and reported changes which have been 
deemed of a higher risk of containing irregularities, being vetted by specialist 
investigation staff to highlight discrepancies and potential fraud.

Counter Fraud & Compliance staff are on hand to offer face-to-face support and 
advice to all Revenues & Benefit staff in relation to suspicious new benefit and 
Council Tax discounts and exemption claims. 

The Council has taken advantage of financial support from the Council Tax 
major preceptors by investing in the latest credit reference technology which 
allows the Counter Fraud & Compliance Team to vet all of the discounts, 
exemptions and allowances data on a regular basis for fraud and irregularities. 
In addition to this the Council has signed up to a Kent-wide data matching 



AUDIT BOARD
28 June 2017

initiative which allows for data-matching across districts to highlight cross-
borough fraud and irregularities.

Review strategies have been tightened and amended to identify a higher level of 
incorrect claim or allowance both in the Benefits and Revenues Teams.

A penalty and sanction regime has been developed and introduced which 
penalises claimants and tax payers who have been proven to have abused the 
schemes which are there to protect the vulnerable groups within the Borough. 

The Council can elect to impose a £70 penalty on taxpayers who do not 
promptly report that they are no longer entitled to a single person discount or 
£50 penalty on benefit claimants who fail to promptly report changes which 
would lower their entitlement to benefit. 

4. Successes 

Pro-active work conducted by the Fraud & Compliance Team and a robust 
review strategy have successfully adjusted 222 Council Tax Single Person 
discounts, 42 Council Tax Reduction claims and 27 Council Tax exemptions. 
The table below shows both the actual loss (which has to be repaid by 
taxpayers) as well as a projection of future losses (which would have been 
incurred if the irregularity was not discovered): 

Projected Additional Loss (if the irregularity had not been discovered)Actual 
Loss 

(being 
repaid by 

taxpayers)
1 Month 2 months 3 months 6 months 12 months 24 

months

Council Tax
Single
Person

Discounts/
Council Tax
Reduction

Claims

£96,888 £7,465 £14,930 £22,395 £44,790 £89,580 £179,160

Council Tax
Exemptions

£37,259 £712 £1424 £2,136 £4,272 £8,544 £17,088

Totals £134,147 £8,177 £16,354 £24,531 £49,062 £98,124 £196,248

For example, if it were not for the pro-active action by the Fraud & Compliance 
Team and the effects of the review strategy the £134,147 loss would have 
escalated to a total loss of £183,209 after 6 months.

The review strategy has a knock-on effect to related Housing Benefit claims, the 
value of Housing Benefit payments reduced is outlined below:



AUDIT BOARD
28 June 2017

Value of Adjustment

£ of HB claims
Removed after review

£46,606

5. Housing Benefit Fraud

The jurisdiction for the investigation and prosecution of Housing Benefit fraud 
cases passed from Dartford Borough Council to the Department for Work & 
Pensions in February 2016.

Dartford Borough Council still administers Housing Benefit claims on behalf of 
the Department for Work & Pensions and as such has an important role in 
keeping fraud & error losses within Housing Benefit cases to a minimum and 
supporting the Single Fraud Investigation Service by providing documentation 
and information held on Housing Benefit claims.

During 2016/17 the Fraud and Compliance Team dealt with 143 requests from 
local DWP investigators well within the specified timeframes set by the service 
level agreement and successfully answered all follow-up enquiries.

6. Future Developments

The Counter Fraud & Compliance Team’s first year based within the Revenues 
& Benefits Service has been very successful. In the coming years the Team will 
continue to forge an even closer relationship with Revenues & Benefit 
colleagues and to evolve the anti-fraud strategies first established in February 
2016. The team is constantly reviewing and developing the information it 
receives from the credit reference technology purchased in October 2016.



AUDIT BOARD
28 JUNE 2017

ANNUAL REVIEW OF THE EFFECTIVENESS OF THE SYSTEM OF INTERNAL 
AUDIT 2016/17

1. Summary

1.1      This report provides Members with a summary of the findings from the 
review of effectiveness of the system of Internal Audit for 2016/17. 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

That Members:

2.1 consider the findings of the self-assessment review of the effectiveness of 
the Internal Audit Service 2016/17 against the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards; and

2.2 note the outcome of the review of the self-assessment of Internal Audit 
effectiveness.  

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 In compliance with Regulation 6.1 of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 
2015 and the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, an annual review of 
the effectiveness of the Internal Audit function is carried out, using 
standard guidance and templates to facilitate the process, in accordance 
with proper practice for Internal Audit. This report sets out the outcome of 
the process and the conclusions drawn from it. The results from this 
process also feed into the Principal Auditor’s Annual Report and the 
Council’s Annual Governance Statement.   

3.2 Appendix A sets out the details of the self-assessment. The process 
involved the completion of the self-assessment checklist by the Principal 
Auditor, in order to assess compliance with the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards. 

3.3 Following the assessment, the Principal Auditor’s opinion is that the 
Council’s arrangements in place for Internal Audit in 2016/17 were 
substantially compliant with the PSIAS. However, there is one material 
aspect of the standards  which is not currently being complied with. This 
is in regard to the position of the designated Chief Audit Executive (CAE), 
who is currently also the section 151 Officer for the Council. By having 
the S151 as the CAE, there may be a potential conflict of interest, 
resulting in possible threats to the independence and objectivity of the 
Internal Audit Service. Appropriate steps have been taken to mitigate the 
threat to independence. These include the Principal Auditor (during the 
Audit, Risk and Anti-Fraud Manager’s absence) having direct access to 
the Managing Director and Audit Board Chair and all internal audit reports 
carried out by Internal Audit during the year being summarised for the 
Audit Board within the Internal Audit Progress Report.  



AUDIT BOARD
28 JUNE 2017

3.4 This matter has been highlighted within the Annual Governance 
Statement for 2016/17.   Notwithstanding this limitation, the Internal Audit 
Service is substantially compliant with the standards.

3.5 The Audit Board is requested to consider the report and note the opinion 
regarding the effectiveness of the Council’s Internal Audit Service.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

4.1 An independent and objective Internal Audit function contributes towards 
the effective management of the Council and facilitates the achievement 
of good value for money in service provision. 

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None
Legal Implications None
Staffing Implications It is the view of the Managing Director 

that consideration will need to be given 
to other functions such as risk and fraud 
to ensure that Audit is completely 
independent from other functions.  
Recognising the size of the Council, 
complete separation may not be 
possible.

Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment The review of the effectiveness of the 

Internal Audit function is a regulatory   
requirement designed to ensure that the 
service is effective in carrying out its 
statutory duties aimed at strengthening 
internal control, risk management and 
governance processes within the 
Council, including the minimisation of 
fraud risks. The outcome of the self-
assessment indicates that although the 
audit function is substantially compliant 
with professional standards, there are 
limitations imposed by the duality of the 
designated CAE, being the Section 151 
officer, which poses risks to the 
independence and objectivity of the 
service.

6. Appendices

Appendix A Completed self-assessment checklist 



AUDIT BOARD
28 JUNE 2017

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File Ref Report 
Author

Section 
and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

1. Accounts and 
Audit 
Regulations 
2015 

N/A N/A Prepared on behalf 
of the Audit Manager
01322 343004

Internal 
Audit

N/A

2. Public Sector 
Internal Audit 
Standards 2016





May 2017 Appendix A
PUBLIC SECTOR INTERNAL AUDIT STANDARDS: Applying the IIA International Standards to the UK Public Sector

Page 1 of 36

APPENDIX A - CHECKLIST - COMPLIANCE WITH THE PSIAS
Please tick to indicate Y = YES, P = PARTIAL, N = NO.

Where ‘partial’ or ‘no’, you should give reasons for any non-compliance, and

any compensating measures in place or actions in progress to address this.

             

Sectn.
/Std.

Adherence to the Standard Y P N Evidence

3 Definition of Internal Auditing

Internal Auditing is an independent, objective 
assurance and consulting activity designed to add 
value and improve an organisation’s operations.  It 
helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by 
bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to 
evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk 
management, control and governance processes

P There is an Internal Audit 
Charter which has been 
approved by the Audit 
Board. During the year, the 
S151 Officer has been 
acting as the CAE which is 
not  in compliance with the 
PSIAS. This is a temporary 
arrangement as the ARAFM 
has been absent for a 
significant part of the year. 
However, the Principal 
Auditor has had direct 
access to the Management 
Team and the Audit Chair, 
and a summary of the 
internal audit reviews 
carried out have been 
included within the Internal 
Audit Progress Report 
submitted to the Audit 
Board. 

4 Code of Ethics

Public sector requirement:
Internal Auditors in UK public sector 
organisations must conform to the Code of 
Ethics.  If individual Internal Auditors have 
membership of another professional body then 
he or she must also comply with the relevant 
requirements of that organisation.

The purpose of The Institute’s Code of Ethics is to 
promote an ethical culture in the profession of 
Internal Auditing.  A code of ethics is necessary 

Y Evidenced in the Internal 
Audit Charter.

All staff are required to 
comply with the PSAIS 
Code of Ethics as part of 
their appraisal objectives.  
Staff understand their 
responsibilities in ensuring 
that the function maintains 
its independence and 



May 2017 Appendix A
PUBLIC SECTOR INTERNAL AUDIT STANDARDS: Applying the IIA International Standards to the UK Public Sector

Page 2 of 36

Sectn.
/Std.

Adherence to the Standard Y P N Evidence

and appropriate for the profession of Internal 
Auditing, founded as it is on the trust placed in its 
objective assurance regarding risk management, 
control and governance.

The Institute’s Code of Ethics extends beyond the 
definition of Internal Auditing to include two 
essential components:
1. Principles that are relevant to the profession 

and practice of Internal Auditing; and
2. Rules of Conduct that describe behaviour 

norms expected of Internal Auditors.  These 
rules are an aid to interpreting the Principles 
into practical applications and are intended to 
guide the ethical conduct of Internal Auditors.

The Code of Ethics provides guidance to Internal 
Auditors serving others.  ‘Internal Auditors’ refers 
to Institute members and those who provide 
Internal Auditing services within the definition of 
Internal Auditing.

Public sector interpretation:
The ‘Institute’ here refers to the IIA.  Disciplinary 
procedures of other professional bodies and 
employing organisations may apply to breaches of 
this Code of Ethics.

1 Integrity
2 Objectivity
3 Confidentiality
4 Competency

Public sector requirement:
Internal Auditors who work in the public sector 
must also have regard to the Committee on 
Standards of Public Life’s Seven Principles of 
Public Life, information on which can be found 
at www.public-standards.gov.uk

ethical behaviour. This has 
been discussed at audit 
team meetings.

All Internal Audit staff 
complete an annual interest 
declaration form.

5 Standards

Attribute Standards

http://www.public-standards.gov.uk/


May 2017 Appendix A
PUBLIC SECTOR INTERNAL AUDIT STANDARDS: Applying the IIA International Standards to the UK Public Sector

Page 3 of 36

Sectn.
/Std.

Adherence to the Standard Y P N Evidence

1000 Purpose, Authority and Responsibility

The purpose, authority and responsibility of the 
Internal Audit activity must be formally defined in 
an Internal Audit Charter, consistent with the 
Definition of Internal Auditing, the Code of Ethics 
and the Standards.  The Chief Audit Executive 
must periodically review the Internal Audit Charter 
and present it to senior management and the 
Board for approval.

P See above sect 3. The 
Terms of Reference are 
detailed in the Internal Audit  
Charter. The Charter was 
reviewed and approved by 
the Audit Board in 2016.

IA does have unrestricted 
access to records and audit 
briefs are drafted 
independent of 
management.

Interpretation:
The Internal Audit Charter is a formal document 
that defines the Internal Audit activity’s purpose, 
authority and responsibility.  The Internal Audit 
Charter establishes the Internal Audit activity’s 
position within the organisation, including the 
nature of the Chief Audit Executive’s functional 
reporting relationship with the Board; authorises 
access to records, personnel and physical 
properties relevant to the performance of 
engagements; and defines the scope of Internal 
Audit activities.  Final approval of the Internal Audit 
Charter resides with the Board.

Public sector requirement:
The Internal Audit Charter must also:
 Define the terms ‘Board’ and ‘senior 

management’ for the purposes of Internal 
Audit activity;

 Cover the arrangements for appropriate 
resourcing;

 Define the role of Internal Audit in any 
fraud-related work; and

 Include arrangements for avoiding conflicts 
of interest if Internal Audit undertakes non-
audit activities.

This is linked to the above  

1000.A1
The nature of assurance services provided to the 

This is included in the   
Internal Audit Charter 



May 2017 Appendix A
PUBLIC SECTOR INTERNAL AUDIT STANDARDS: Applying the IIA International Standards to the UK Public Sector

Page 4 of 36

Sectn.
/Std.

Adherence to the Standard Y P N Evidence

organisation must be defined in the Internal Audit 
Charter.  If assurances are to be provided to 
parties outside the organisation, the nature of 
these assurances must also be defined in the 
Internal Audit Charter.

1000.C1
The nature of consulting services must be defined 
in the Internal Audit Charter.

This is included in the 
Internal Audit Charter

1010 Recognition of the Definition of Internal Auditing, 
the Code of Ethics and the Standards in the 
Internal Audit Charter

The mandatory nature of the Definition of Internal 
Auditing, the Code of Ethics and the Standards 
must be recognised in the Internal Audit Charter.  
The Chief Audit Executive should discuss the 
Definition of Internal Auditing, the Code of Ethics 
and the Standards with senior management and 
the Board.

Y This is included in the 
Internal Audit Charter

1100 Independence and Objectivity

The Internal Audit activity must be independent 
and Internal Auditors must be objective in 
performing their work.

Y See Charter, internal audit 
plan and quarterly Audit 
Board reporting.

The internal audit plan is 
compiled by the Principal 
Auditor independent of 
management using a risk 
based audit needs analysis 
approach.

All audit plans / changes to 
plans are approved by the 
Audit Board.

Interpretation:
Independence is the freedom from conditions that 
threaten the ability of the Internal Audit activity to 
carry out Internal Audit responsibilities in an 
unbiased manner.  To achieve the degree of 

See above



May 2017 Appendix A
PUBLIC SECTOR INTERNAL AUDIT STANDARDS: Applying the IIA International Standards to the UK Public Sector

Page 5 of 36

Sectn.
/Std.

Adherence to the Standard Y P N Evidence

independence necessary to effectively carry out 
the responsibilities of the Internal Audit activity, the 
Chief Audit Executive has direct and unrestricted 
access to senior management and the Board.  
This can be achieved through a dual-reporting 
relationship.  Threats to independence must be 
managed at the individual auditor, engagement, 
functional and organisational levels.

Objectivity is an unbiased mental attitude that 
allows Internal Auditors to perform engagements 
in such a manner that they believe in their work 
product and that no quality compromises are 
made. Objectivity requires that Internal Auditors do 
not subordinate their judgment on audit matters to 
others. Threats to objectivity must be managed at 
the individual auditor, engagement, functional and 
organisational levels.

1110 Organisational Independence

The Chief Audit Executive must report to a level 
within the organisation that allows the Internal 
Audit activity to fulfil its responsibilities.  The Chief 
Audit Executive must confirm to the Board, at least 
annually, the organisational independence of the 
Internal Audit activity.

P As indicated above in sect 
3, page 1. The CAE is also 
the Sec 151 officer.  



May 2017 Appendix A
PUBLIC SECTOR INTERNAL AUDIT STANDARDS: Applying the IIA International Standards to the UK Public Sector

Page 6 of 36

Sectn.
/Std.

Adherence to the Standard Y P N Evidence

A Interpretation:
Organisational independence is effectively 
achieved when the Chief Audit Executive reports 
functionally to the Board. Examples of functional 
reporting to the Board involve the Board:
 Approving the Internal Audit Charter;
 Approving the risk based Internal Audit Plan;
 Approving the Internal Audit budget and 

resource plan;
 Receiving communications from the Chief Audit 

Executive on the Internal Audit activity’s 
performance relative to its plan and other 
matters;

 Approving decisions regarding the appointment 
and removal of the Chief Audit Executive;

 Approving the remuneration of the Chief Audit 
Executive; and

 Making appropriate enquiries of management 
and the Chief Audit Executive to determine 
whether there are inappropriate scope or 
resource limitations.

Public sector requirement:
The Chief Audit Executive must report 
functionally to the Board.  The Chief Audit 
Executive must also establish effective 
communication with, and have free and 
unfettered access to, the chief executive (or 
equivalent) and the chair of the audit 
committee.

Public sector interpretation:
Governance requirements in the UK public sector 
would not generally involve the Board approving 
the CAE’s remuneration specifically.  The 
underlying principle is that the independence of 
the CAE is safeguarded by ensuring that his or her 
remuneration or performance assessment is not 
inappropriately influenced by those subject to 
audit.  In the UK public sector this can be achieved 
by ensuring that the chief executive (or equivalent) 
undertakes, countersigns, contributes feedback to 
or reviews the performance appraisal of the CAE 
and that feedback is also obtained from the chair 
of the Audit Committee/Board.



May 2017 Appendix A
PUBLIC SECTOR INTERNAL AUDIT STANDARDS: Applying the IIA International Standards to the UK Public Sector

Page 7 of 36

Sectn.
/Std.

Adherence to the Standard Y P N Evidence

1110.A1
The Internal Audit activity must be free from 
interference in determining the scope of Internal 
Auditing, performing work and communicating 
results.

See Sect 3 above page 1 
above. However, there is a 
degree of independence in 
conducting audit field work. 

1111 Direct Interaction with the Board

The Chief Audit Executive must communicate and 
interact directly with the Board.

Y The CAE communicates 
directly with the Audit Chair 
and attends Audit Board  
meetings. 

1120 Individual Objectivity

Internal Auditors must have an impartial, unbiased 
attitude and avoid any conflict of interest.

Y See Charter Paragraph 6.

Annual declaration of 
Interest forms are 
completed by all members 
of the Audit Team.

Interpretation:
Conflict of interest is a situation in which an 
Internal Auditor, who is in a position of trust, has a 
competing professional or personal interest.  Such 
competing interests can make it difficult to fulfil his 
or her duties impartially.  A conflict of interest 
exists even if no unethical or improper act results.  
A conflict of interest can create an appearance of 
impropriety that can undermine confidence in the 
Internal Auditor, the Internal Audit activity and the 
profession.  A conflict of interest could impair an 
individual’s ability to perform his or her duties and 
responsibilities objectively.

See above

1130 Impairment to Independence or Objectivity

If independence or objectivity is impaired in fact or 
appearance, the details of the impairment must be 
disclosed to appropriate parties.  The nature of the 
disclosure will depend upon the impairment.

Y All staff receive regular 1:1 
meetings where these 
issues can be discussed.

Staff are aware of the gifts 
and hospitality register and 



May 2017 Appendix A
PUBLIC SECTOR INTERNAL AUDIT STANDARDS: Applying the IIA International Standards to the UK Public Sector

Page 8 of 36

Sectn.
/Std.

Adherence to the Standard Y P N Evidence

the policy on this.

Consideration is given 
during the audit allocation 
process so that the same 
auditor is not given a review 
that they have previously 
acted on in a consultancy 
capacity. 

Audit assignments are 
rotated so that activities are 
not audited by the same 
team member year after 
year.

Interpretation:
Impairment to organisational independence and 
individual objectivity may include, but is not limited 
to, personal conflict of interest, scope limitations, 
restrictions on access to records, personnel and 
properties and resource limitations, such as 
funding.

The determination of appropriate parties to which 
the details of an impairment to independence or 
objectivity must be disclosed is dependent upon 
the expectations of the Internal Audit activities and 
the Chief Audit Executive’s responsibilities to 
senior management and the Board as described in 
the Internal Audit Charter, as well as the nature of 
the impairment.

Please see comment 
above.

1130.A1
Internal Auditors must refrain from assessing 
specific operations for which they were previously 
responsible.  Objectivity is presumed to be 
impaired if an Internal Auditor provides assurance 
services for an activity for which the Internal 
Auditor had responsibility within the previous year.

Included under the 
‘Independence’ section of 
the Internal Audit Charter . - 

1130.A2
Assurance engagements for functions over which 
the Chief Audit Executive has responsibility must 
be overseen by a party outside the Internal Audit 

Lead co-ordination for risk 
management is undertaken 
by the ARAFM, but is 
overseen by senior 



May 2017 Appendix A
PUBLIC SECTOR INTERNAL AUDIT STANDARDS: Applying the IIA International Standards to the UK Public Sector

Page 9 of 36

Sectn.
/Std.

Adherence to the Standard Y P N Evidence

activity. management. There has 
not been a review of Risk 
Management conducted by 
the audit team during the 
last year.

1130.C1
Internal Auditors may provide consulting services 
relating to operations for which they had previous 
responsibilities.

N/A
During the year the Internal 
Audit Team have not 
provided any consultancy 
services outside the audit 
plan.

1130.C2
If Internal Auditors have potential impairments to 
independence or objectivity relating to proposed 
consulting services, disclosure must be made to 
the engagement client prior to accepting the 
engagement.

Public sector requirement:
Approval must be sought from the Board for 
any significant additional consulting services 
not already included in the Audit Plan, prior to 
accepting the engagement.

As above

1200 Proficiency and Due Professional Care

Engagements must be performed with proficiency 
and due professional care.

P Training needs are 
identified during the Annual 
Appraisal Process.
All internal audit work is 
reviewed by the Principal 
Auditor and draft reports are 
reviewed by the CAE to 
ensure compliance with 
professional standards.

1210 Proficiency

Internal Auditors must possess the knowledge, 
skills and other competencies needed to perform 
their individual responsibilities.  The Internal Audit 
activity collectively must possess or obtain the 
knowledge, skills and other competencies needed 

P See above. 



May 2017 Appendix A
PUBLIC SECTOR INTERNAL AUDIT STANDARDS: Applying the IIA International Standards to the UK Public Sector

Page 10 of 36

Sectn.
/Std.

Adherence to the Standard Y P N Evidence

to perform its responsibilities.

Interpretation:
Knowledge, skills and other competencies is a 
collective term that refers to the professional 
proficiency required of Internal Auditors to 
effectively carry out their professional 
responsibilities.  Internal Auditors are encouraged 
to demonstrate their proficiency by obtaining 
appropriate professional certifications and 
qualifications, such as the Certified Internal Auditor 
designation and other designations offered by The 
Institute of Internal Auditors and other appropriate 
professional organisations.

Public sector requirement:
The Chief Audit Executive must hold a 
professional qualification (CMIIA, CCAB or 
equivalent) and be suitably experienced.

See above

The designated CAE, who 
is also the Section 151 
officer, is professionally 
qualified and has previous 
audit experience 

As stated above the 
ARAFM has been absent 
for a significant part of the 
year. In his absence the 
Principal Auditor who is a 
Chartered Management 
Accountant has had 
responsibility for the day to 
day running of the audit 
service.

The team is made up of 
generic auditors working at 
a Senior Level.

All auditors are part 
qualified accountants or 
auditors with several years 
of auditing experience 
between them.

1210.A1
The Chief Audit Executive must obtain competent 
advice and assistance if the Internal Auditors lack 
the knowledge, skills, or other competencies 
needed to perform all, or part of the engagement.

Where necessary this is 
addressed by use of agency 
staff, but is subjected to 
budget constraints.

1210.A2
Internal Auditors must have sufficient knowledge 
to evaluate the risk of fraud and the manner in 
which it is managed by the organisation, but are 
not expected to have the expertise of a person 
whose primary responsibility is detecting and 
investigating fraud.

The risk of fraud is a key 
consideration as part of the 
audit process. The Principal 
Auditor has experience in 
conducting fraud 
investigations. There is also 
an in house counter fraud 



May 2017 Appendix A
PUBLIC SECTOR INTERNAL AUDIT STANDARDS: Applying the IIA International Standards to the UK Public Sector

Page 11 of 36

Sectn.
/Std.

Adherence to the Standard Y P N Evidence

team where advice can be 
sought

1210.A3
Internal Auditors must have sufficient knowledge 
of key information technology risks and controls 
and available technology-based audit techniques 
to perform their assigned work.  However, not all 
Internal Auditors are expected to have the 
expertise of an Internal Auditor whose primary 
responsibility is information technology auditing.

Where necessary, 
temporary technical support 
is obtained from recruitment 
agencies. 

1210.C1
The Chief Audit Executive must decline the 
consulting engagement or obtain competent 
advice and assistance if the Internal Auditors lack 
the knowledge, skills, or other competencies 
needed to perform all or part of the engagement.

There have been no 
consulting engagements 
during the year.

1220 Due Professional Care

Internal Auditors must apply the care and skill 
expected of a reasonably prudent and competent 
Internal Auditor.  Due professional care does not 
imply infallibility.

P The current Internal Manual 
is not up to date. New audit 
software ‘TeamMate’ is 
being introduced this year. 
Once this is embedded the 
manual will be updated to 
reflect the new working 
practices.

All auditors have several 
years’ experience and 
expertise in internal audit.

The audit brief document 
has a section for limitations 
of scope which sets out 
what the audit review will 
not cover.

All audit briefs are 
discussed with Service 
Managers. Audit briefs are 
copied to the relevant 
Strategic Director prior to 



May 2017 Appendix A
PUBLIC SECTOR INTERNAL AUDIT STANDARDS: Applying the IIA International Standards to the UK Public Sector

Page 12 of 36

Sectn.
/Std.

Adherence to the Standard Y P N Evidence

the commencement of audit 
work.

1220.A1
Internal Auditors must exercise due professional 
care by considering the:
 Extent of work needed to achieve the 

engagement’s objectives;
 Relative complexity, materiality or significance 

of matters to which assurance procedures are 
applied;

 Adequacy and effectiveness of governance, 
risk management and control processes;

 Probability of significant errors, fraud, or non-
compliance; and

 Cost of assurance in relation to potential 
benefits.

See comments above

1220.A2
In exercising due professional care Internal 
Auditors must consider the use of technology-
based audit and other data analysis techniques.

During the last year the 
Internal Audit Team have 
held training sessions on 
‘Teammate’ a new audit 
software. This will be 
introduced for all audits 
commencing during the 
2017/18 year

1220.A3
Internal Auditors must be alert to the significant 
risks that might affect objectives, operations or 
resources.  However, assurance procedures 
alone, even when performed with due professional 
care, do not guarantee that all significant risks will 
be identified.

The Internal Audit team co-
ordinate the Operational 
Risk function so are aware 
of identified  risks to 
services achieving their 
objectives.

1220.C1
Internal Auditors must exercise due professional 
care during a consulting engagement by 
considering the:
 Needs and expectations of clients, including 

the nature, timing and communication of 
engagement results;

 Relative complexity and extent of work needed 
to achieve the engagement’s objectives; and

 Cost of the consulting engagement in relation 

There has been no 
consulting activity during 
the year.



May 2017 Appendix A
PUBLIC SECTOR INTERNAL AUDIT STANDARDS: Applying the IIA International Standards to the UK Public Sector

Page 13 of 36

Sectn.
/Std.

Adherence to the Standard Y P N Evidence

to potential benefits.

1230 Continuing Professional Development

Internal Auditors must enhance their knowledge, 
skills and other competencies through continuing 
professional development.

Y Auditors attend the Kent 
Audit Group (KAG) 
conference which covers 
current key audit issues, 
and also relevant training is 
identified during appraisal 
and a training and 
development plan agreed 
with staff.

1300 Quality Assurance and Improvement 
Programme

The Chief Audit Executive must develop and 
maintain a quality assurance and improvement 
programme that covers all aspects of the Internal 
Audit activity.

Y There is an annual self 
assessment of the audit 
service. An external review 
was undertaken in 2014. An 
action plan was developed 
following this review. Good 
progress has been made 
against this plan. A follow-
up review will be carried out 
shortly to see where further 
improvements should be 
made.

Interpretation:
A quality assurance and improvement programme 
is designed to enable an evaluation of the Internal 
Audit activity’s conformance with the Definition of 
Internal Auditing and the Standards and an 
evaluation of whether Internal Auditors apply the 
Code of Ethics.  The programme also assesses 
the efficiency and effectiveness of the Internal 
Audit activity and identifies opportunities for 
improvement.

This is set out in the Internal 
Audit Charter. 

1310 Requirements of the Quality Assurance and 
Improvement Programme

The quality assurance and improvement Y The agreed action plan 



May 2017 Appendix A
PUBLIC SECTOR INTERNAL AUDIT STANDARDS: Applying the IIA International Standards to the UK Public Sector

Page 14 of 36

Sectn.
/Std.

Adherence to the Standard Y P N Evidence

programme must include both internal and 
external assessments.

includes both IQA and EQA 
outcomes.

1311 Internal Assessments

Internal assessments must include:
 On-going monitoring of the performance of the 

Internal Audit activity; and
 Periodic self-assessments or assessments by 

other persons within the organisation with 
sufficient knowledge of Internal Audit practices.

Y The self-assessment 
process is detailed and 
comprehensive. The results 
are considered by the Audit 
Board

Interpretation:
On-going monitoring is an integral part of the day-
to-day supervision, review and measurement of 
the Internal Audit activity.  On-going monitoring is 
incorporated into the routine policies and practices 
used to manage the Internal Audit activity and 
uses processes, tools and information considered 
necessary to evaluate conformance with the 
Definition of Internal Auditing, the Code of Ethics 
and the Standards.

Periodic assessments are conducted to evaluate 
conformance with the Definition of Internal 
Auditing, the Code of Ethics and the Standards.

Sufficient knowledge of Internal Audit practices 
requires at least an understanding of all elements 
of the International Professional Practices 
Framework.

1312 External Assessments

External assessments must be conducted at least 
once every five years by a qualified, independent 
assessor or assessment team from outside the 
organisation.  The Chief Audit Executive must 
discuss with the Board:
 The form of external assessments;
 The qualifications and independence of the 

external assessor or assessment team, 
including any potential conflict of interest; and

 The need for more frequent external 
assessments.

Y As above. Last external 
assessment carried out by 
PWC in 2014. Relevant 
proposals and action plan 
have been agreed by senior 
management, however 
updates on progress have 
not been reported to the 
Audit Board or Senior 
Management.



May 2017 Appendix A
PUBLIC SECTOR INTERNAL AUDIT STANDARDS: Applying the IIA International Standards to the UK Public Sector

Page 15 of 36

Sectn.
/Std.

Adherence to the Standard Y P N Evidence

Interpretation:
External assessments can be in the form of a full 
external assessment, or a self-assessment with 
independent validation.
A qualified assessor or assessment team 
demonstrates competence in two areas: the 
professional practice of Internal Auditing and the 
external assessment process.  Competence can 
be demonstrated through a mixture of experience 
and theoretical learning.  Experience gained in 
organisations of similar size, complexity, sector or 
industry and technical issues is more valuable 
than less relevant experience.  In the case of an 
assessment team, not all members of the team 
need to have all the competencies; it is the team 
as a whole that is qualified.  The Chief Audit 
Executive uses professional judgment when 
assessing whether an assessor or assessment 
team demonstrates sufficient competence to be 
qualified.

An independent assessor or assessment team 
means not having either a real or an apparent 
conflict of interest and not being a part of, or under 
the control of, the organisation to which the 
Internal Audit activity belongs.

Public sector requirement:
The Chief Audit Executive must agree the 
scope of external assessments with an 
appropriate sponsor (e.g. the 
Accounting/Accountable Officer or chair of the 
audit committee) as well as with the external 
assessor or assessment team.

Process was carried out by 
an independent assessor.

1320 Reporting on the Quality Assurance and 
Improvement Programme

The Chief Audit Executive must communicate the 
results of the quality assurance and improvement 
programme to senior management and the Board.

P This has not been done 
over the past year. See 
above

Interpretation:



May 2017 Appendix A
PUBLIC SECTOR INTERNAL AUDIT STANDARDS: Applying the IIA International Standards to the UK Public Sector

Page 16 of 36

Sectn.
/Std.

Adherence to the Standard Y P N Evidence

The form, content and frequency of 
communicating the results of the quality assurance 
and improvement programme is established 
through discussions with senior management and 
the Board and considers the responsibilities of the 
Internal Audit activity and Chief Audit Executive as 
contained in the Internal Audit Charter.  To 
demonstrate conformance with the Definition of 
Internal Auditing, the Code of Ethics and the 
Standards, the results of external and periodic 
internal assessments are communicated upon 
completion of such assessments and the results of 
on-going monitoring are communicated at least 
annually.  The results include the assessor’s or 
assessment team’s evaluation with respect to the 
degree of conformance.

Public sector requirement:
Progress against any improvement plans, 
agreed following external assessment, must be 
reported in the annual report.

1321 Conforms with the International Standards for the 
Professional Practice of Internal Auditing

The Chief Audit Executive may state that the 
Internal Audit activity conforms with the 
International Standards for the Professional 
Practice of Internal Auditing only if the results of 
the quality assurance and improvement 
programme support this statement.

P As above sect 3 page 1. 
The other results of the 
assessment indicate that 
the service is substantially 
compliant. Areas for further 
improvements were 
identified and an action plan 
agreed with senior 
management.



May 2017 Appendix A
PUBLIC SECTOR INTERNAL AUDIT STANDARDS: Applying the IIA International Standards to the UK Public Sector

Page 17 of 36

Sectn.
/Std.

Adherence to the Standard Y P N Evidence

Interpretation:
The Internal Audit activity conforms with the 
International Standards when it achieves the 
outcomes described in the Definition of Internal 
Auditing, Code of Ethics and International 
Standards.

The results of the quality assurance and 
improvement programme include the results of 
both internal and external assessments.  All 
Internal Audit activities will have the results of 
internal assessments.  Internal Audit activities in 
existence for at least five years will also have the 
results of external assessments.

1322 Disclosure of Non-Conformance

When non-conformance with the Definition of 
Internal Auditing, the Code of Ethics or the 
Standards impacts the overall scope or operation 
of the Internal Audit activity, the Chief Audit 
Executive must disclose the non-conformance and 
the impact to senior management and the Board.

Y The designated CAE will be 
advised by the ARAFM of 
the issues which are 
required to be raised with 
the Board, both separately 
and as part of the AGS 
process.

Public sector requirement:
Instances of non-conformance must be 
reported to the Board.  More significant 
deviations must be considered for inclusion in 
the governance statement.

See above.



May 2017 Appendix A
PUBLIC SECTOR INTERNAL AUDIT STANDARDS: Applying the IIA International Standards to the UK Public Sector

Page 18 of 36

Sectn.
/Std.

Adherence to the Standard Y P N Evidence

Performance Standards

2000 Managing the Internal Audit Activity

The Chief Audit Executive must effectively 
manage the Internal Audit activity to ensure it adds 
value to the organisation.

P The current CAE 
arrangement poses 
potential conflicts of interest 
which may impact on the 
effectiveness with which the 
service could be managed. 
Appropriate steps have 
been taken during the year 
to mitigate this. 

Interpretation:
The Internal Audit activity is effectively managed 
when:
 The results of the Internal Audit activity’s work 

achieve the purpose and responsibility included 
in the Internal Audit Charter;

 The Internal Audit activity conforms with the 
Definition of Internal Auditing and the 
Standards; and

 The individuals who are part of the Internal 
Audit activity demonstrate conformance with 
the Code of Ethics and the Standards.

The Internal Audit activity adds value to the 
organisation (and its stakeholders) when it 
provides objective and relevant assurance, and 
contributes to the effectiveness and efficiency of 
governance, risk management and control 
processes.

See above

2010 Planning

The Chief Audit Executive must establish risk-
based plans to determine the priorities of the 
Internal Audit activity, consistent with the 
organisation’s goals.

Y The Principal Auditor used 
an audit needs analysis 
methodology which took 
into account the Audit 
Universe and Risks 
Corporate and Service 
Objectives when preparing 
the 2017/18 Audit Plan. The 
CAE was consulted during 



May 2017 Appendix A
PUBLIC SECTOR INTERNAL AUDIT STANDARDS: Applying the IIA International Standards to the UK Public Sector

Page 19 of 36

Sectn.
/Std.

Adherence to the Standard Y P N Evidence

the planning process and 
prior to the plan being 
presented to Audit Board for 
approval.

Interpretation:
The Chief Audit Executive is responsible for 
developing a risk-based plan.  The Chief Audit 
Executive takes into account the organisation’s 
risk management framework, including using risk 
appetite levels set by management for the different 
activities or parts of the organisation.  If a 
framework does not exist, the Chief Audit 
Executive uses his/her own judgment of risks after 
consideration of input from senior management 
and the Board.  The Chief Audit Executive must 
review and adjust the plan, as necessary, in 
response to changes in the organisation’s 
business, risks, operations, programs, systems, 
and controls.

Public sector requirement:
The risk-based plan must take into account the 
requirement to produce an annual Internal 
Audit opinion and the assurance framework.  It 
must incorporate or be linked to a strategic or 
high-level statement of how the Internal Audit 
service will be delivered and developed in 
accordance with the Internal Audit Charter and 
how it links to the organisational objectives 
and priorities.

See above. 

2010.A1
The Internal Audit activity’s plan of engagements 
must be based on a documented risk assessment, 
undertaken at least annually.  The input of senior 
management and the Board must be considered in 
this process.

The Audit Plan gives 
consideration to the 
Council’s strategic risk 
assessment process. All 
Senior Managers and the 
Directorate were consulted 
during the Audit Planning 
Process.



May 2017 Appendix A
PUBLIC SECTOR INTERNAL AUDIT STANDARDS: Applying the IIA International Standards to the UK Public Sector

Page 20 of 36

Sectn.
/Std.

Adherence to the Standard Y P N Evidence

2010.A2
The Chief Audit Executive must identify and 
consider the expectations of senior management, 
the Board and other stakeholders for Internal Audit 
opinions and other conclusions.

See above

2010.C1
The Chief Audit Executive should consider 
accepting proposed consulting engagements 
based on the engagement’s potential to improve 
management of risks, add value and improve the 
organisation’s operations.  Accepted engagements 
must be included in the plan.

There were no formal 
consultancy engagements 
during the year. However, 
there are arrangements in 
place to support the 
management of business 
risks and the risk 
management framework. 

2020 Communication and Approval

The Chief Audit Executive must communicate the 
Internal Audit activity’s plans and resource 
requirements, including significant interim 
changes, to senior management and the Board for 
review and approval.  The Chief Audit Executive 
must also communicate the impact of resource 
limitations.

Y This forms part of the 
quarterly and annual 
reporting to Audit Board.

2030 Resource Management

The Chief Audit Executive must ensure that 
Internal Audit resources are appropriate, sufficient 
and effectively deployed to achieve the approved 
plan.

Y The internal audit plan is 
put together using current 
audit resources and 
budgets. If this should 
change during the year, a 
revised plan is presented to 
the Audit Board for 
approval.

Interpretation:
Appropriate refers to the mix of knowledge, skills 
and other competencies needed to perform the 
plan.  Sufficient refers to the quantity of resources 
needed to accomplish the plan.  Resources are 
effectively deployed when they are used in a way 
that optimises the achievement of the approved 
plan.

See above.



May 2017 Appendix A
PUBLIC SECTOR INTERNAL AUDIT STANDARDS: Applying the IIA International Standards to the UK Public Sector

Page 21 of 36

Sectn.
/Std.

Adherence to the Standard Y P N Evidence

Public sector requirement:
The risk-based plan must explain how Internal 
Audit’s resource requirements have been 
assessed.

Where the Chief Audit Executive believes that 
the level of agreed resources will impact 
adversely on the provision of the annual 
Internal Audit opinion, the consequences must 
be brought to the attention of the Board.

2040 Policies and Procedures

The CAE must establish policies and procedures 
to guide the Internal Audit activity.

P Procedures are in place 
however, the Internal Audit 
Team have just moved to an 
electronic  audit software 
TeamMate, once this is fully 
operational – procedures will 
be revised. 

Interpretation:
The form and content of policies and procedures 
are dependent upon the size and structure of the 
Internal Audit activity and the complexity of its 
work.

2050 Coordination

The CAE should share information and coordinate 
activities with other internal and external providers 
of assurance and consulting services to ensure 
proper coverage and minimise duplication of 
efforts.

Y The CAE and Principal 
Auditor meet separately 
with the External Auditors. 

Public sector requirement:
The Chief Audit Executive must include in the 
risk-based plan the approach to using other 
sources of assurance and any work required to 
place reliance upon those other sources.

Part of standard assurance 
process

2060 Reporting to Senior Management and the Board

The CAE must report periodically to senior Y The CAE is part of the 



May 2017 Appendix A
PUBLIC SECTOR INTERNAL AUDIT STANDARDS: Applying the IIA International Standards to the UK Public Sector

Page 22 of 36

Sectn.
/Std.

Adherence to the Standard Y P N Evidence

management and the Board on the Internal Audit 
activity’s purpose, authority, responsibility and 
performance relative to its plan.  Reporting must 
also include significant risk exposures and control 
issues, including fraud risks, governance issues 
and other matters needed or requested by senior 
management and the Board.

Senior Management Team 
so it is expected that she 
will report any issues of 
significance to the board. 
This Principal Auditor will 
highlight to the CAE and 
Financial Services Manager 
(who has line management 
responsibility for Internal 
Audit) of any significant 
issues arising from Internal 
Audit work.

Interpretation:
The frequency and content of reporting are 
determined in discussion with senior management 
and the Board and depend on the importance of 
the information to be communicated and the 
urgency of the related actions to be taken by 
senior management or the Board.

2070 External Service Provider and Organisational 
Responsibility for Internal Audit

When an external service provider serves as the 
Internal Audit activity, the provider must make the 
organisation aware that the organisation has the 
responsibility for maintaining an effective Internal 
Audit activity.

N/A Not applicable as we are an 
in house team.

Interpretation:
This responsibility is demonstrated through the 
quality assurance and improvement programme 
which assesses conformance with the Definition of 
Internal Auditing, the Code of Ethics and the 
International Standards.

2100 Nature of Work

The Internal Audit activity must evaluate and 
contribute to the improvement of governance, risk 
management and control processes using a 
systematic and disciplined approach.

Y Part of standard audit 
process.

2110 Governance



May 2017 Appendix A
PUBLIC SECTOR INTERNAL AUDIT STANDARDS: Applying the IIA International Standards to the UK Public Sector

Page 23 of 36

Sectn.
/Std.

Adherence to the Standard Y P N Evidence

The Internal Audit activity must assess and make 
appropriate recommendations for improving the 
governance process in its accomplishment of the 
following objectives:
 Promoting appropriate ethics and values within 

the organisation;
 Ensuring effective organisational performance 

management and accountability;
 Communicating risk and control information to 

appropriate areas of the organisation; and
 Coordinating the activities of and 

communicating information among the Board, 
external and Internal Auditors and 
management.

Y Part of Audit process as set 
out in the Audit Charter.

2110.A1
The Internal Audit activity must evaluate the 
design, implementation and effectiveness of the 
organisation’s ethics-related objectives, 
programmes and activities.

2110.A2
The Internal Audit activity must assess whether 
the information technology governance of the 
organisation supports the organisation’s strategies 
and objectives.

2120 Risk Management

The Internal Audit activity must evaluate the 
effectiveness and contribute to the improvement of 
risk management processes.

Y See above.

Interpretation:
Determining whether risk management processes 
are effective is a judgment resulting from the 
Internal Auditor’s assessment that:
 Organisational objectives support and align 

with the organisation’s mission;
 Significant risks are identified and assessed;
 Appropriate risk responses are selected that 

align risks with the organisation’s risk appetite; 
and

 Relevant risk information is captured and 
communicated in a timely manner across the 

All Internal Audit briefs have 
risk management control as 
a standard control object

The risk management 
process is reviewed 
regularly

Internal Audit co-ordinates 
risk assessments and risk 
actions and reports to the 
Audit Board on progress of 



May 2017 Appendix A
PUBLIC SECTOR INTERNAL AUDIT STANDARDS: Applying the IIA International Standards to the UK Public Sector

Page 24 of 36

Sectn.
/Std.

Adherence to the Standard Y P N Evidence

organisation, enabling staff, management and 
the Board to carry out their responsibilities.

The Internal Audit activity may gather the 
information to support this assessment during 
multiple engagements.  The results of these 
engagements, when viewed together, provide an 
understanding of the organisation’s risk 
management processes and their effectiveness.

Risk management processes are monitored 
through on-going management activities, separate 
evaluations, or both.

risk management. 

Internal Audit can offer 
advice and guidance on 
control and control 
requirements.

2120.A1
The Internal Audit activity must evaluate risk 
exposures relating to the organisation’s 
governance, operations and information systems 
regarding the:
 Achievement of the organisation’s strategic 

objectives;
 Reliability and integrity of financial and 

operational information;
 Effectiveness and efficiency of operations and 

programmes;
 Safeguarding of assets; and
 Compliance with laws, regulations, policies, 

procedures and contracts.

See above.

2120.A2
The Internal Audit activity must evaluate the 
potential for the occurrence of fraud and how the 
organisation manages fraud risk.

Part of standard audit 
process.

2120.C1
During consulting engagements, Internal Auditors 
must address risk consistent with the 
engagement’s objectives and be alert to the 
existence of other significant risks.

Part of standard audit 
process

2120.C2
Internal Auditors must incorporate knowledge of 
risks gained from consulting engagements into 
their evaluation of the organisation’s risk 
management processes.

Part of standard audit 
process



May 2017 Appendix A
PUBLIC SECTOR INTERNAL AUDIT STANDARDS: Applying the IIA International Standards to the UK Public Sector

Page 25 of 36

Sectn.
/Std.

Adherence to the Standard Y P N Evidence

2120.C3
When assisting management in establishing or 
improving risk management processes, Internal 
Auditors must refrain from assuming any 
management responsibility by actually managing 
risks.

Part of standard audit 
process

2130 Control

The Internal Audit activity must assist the 
organisation in maintaining effective controls by 
evaluating their effectiveness and efficiency and 
by promoting continuous improvement.

Y This is part of the audit 
process and included in the 
scope of audit briefs. This is 
reported Annually to the 
Audit Board as part of the 
Annual report.

2130.A1
The Internal Audit activity must evaluate the 
adequacy and effectiveness of controls in 
responding to risks within the organisation’s 
governance, operations and information systems 
regarding the:
 Achievement of the organisation’s strategic 

objectives;
 Reliability and integrity of financial and 

operational information;
 Effectiveness and efficiency of operations and 

programmes;
 Safeguarding of assets; and
 Compliance with laws, regulations, policies, 

procedures and contracts.

See above and Internal 
Audit files.

2130.C1
Internal Auditors must incorporate knowledge of 
controls gained from consulting engagements into 
the evaluation of the organisation’s control 
processes.

This is discussed during 
Team Meetings where the 
team are encouraged and 
share points of good 
practise and information 
regarding service areas.

2200 Engagement Planning

Internal Auditors must develop and document a 
plan for each engagement, including the 
engagement’s objectives, scope, timing and 
resource allocations.

Y Part of standard audit 
process. Evidenced within 
audit files.



May 2017 Appendix A
PUBLIC SECTOR INTERNAL AUDIT STANDARDS: Applying the IIA International Standards to the UK Public Sector

Page 26 of 36

Sectn.
/Std.

Adherence to the Standard Y P N Evidence

2201 Planning Considerations

In planning the engagement, Internal Auditors 
must consider:
 The objectives of the activity being reviewed 

and the means by which the activity controls its 
performance;

 The significant risks to the activity, its 
objectives, resources and operations and the 
means by which the potential impact of risk is 
kept to an acceptable level;

 The adequacy and effectiveness of the 
activity’s governance, risk management and 
control processes compared to a relevant 
framework or model; and

 The opportunities for making significant 
improvements to the activity’s governance, risk 
management and control processes.

Y See above.

2201.A1
When planning an engagement for parties outside 
the organisation, Internal Auditors must establish a 
written understanding with them about objectives, 
scope, respective responsibilities and other 
expectations, including restrictions on distribution 
of the results of the engagement and access to 
engagement records.

We have not audited any 
activity outside the 
partnership.

2201.C1
Internal Auditors must establish an understanding 
with consulting engagement clients about 
objectives, scope, respective responsibilities and 
other client expectations.  For significant 
engagements, this understanding must be 
documented.

All standard Internal Audit 
engagements follow this 
process. 

2210 Engagement Objectives

Objectives must be established for each 
engagement.

Y These are detailed in the 
Internal Audit brief.

2210.A1
Internal Auditors must conduct a preliminary 
assessment of the risks relevant to the activity 
under review.  Engagement objectives must reflect 

Internal Audit Planning and 
Audit Brief



May 2017 Appendix A
PUBLIC SECTOR INTERNAL AUDIT STANDARDS: Applying the IIA International Standards to the UK Public Sector

Page 27 of 36

Sectn.
/Std.

Adherence to the Standard Y P N Evidence

the results of this assessment.

2210.A2
Internal Auditors must consider the probability of 
significant errors, fraud, non-compliance and other 
exposures when developing the engagement 
objectives.

Internal Audit Brief and 
engagement planning 
meetings.

2210.A3
Adequate criteria are needed to evaluate 
governance, risk management and controls.  
Internal Auditors must ascertain the extent to 
which management and/or the Board has 
established adequate criteria to determine whether 
objectives and goals have been accomplished.  If 
adequate, Internal Auditors must use such criteria 
in their evaluation.  If inadequate, Internal Auditors 
must work with management and/or the Board to 
develop appropriate evaluation criteria.

Public sector interpretation:
In the public sector, criteria are likely to include 
value for money.

Internal Audit Brief and 
engagement planning 
meetings

2210.C1
Consulting engagement objectives must address 
governance, risk management and control 
processes to the extent agreed upon with the 
client.

All standard Internal Audit 
engagements follow this 
procedure. 

2210.C2
Consulting engagement objectives must be 
consistent with the organisation’s values, 
strategies and objectives.

See above

2220 Engagement Scope

The established scope must be sufficient to satisfy 
the objectives of the engagement.

Y Part of standard audit 
process. Also evidenced 
within audit files.

2220.A1
The scope of the engagement must include 
consideration of relevant systems, records, 
personnel and physical properties, including those 

Part of standard audit 
process. Also evidenced 
within audit files



May 2017 Appendix A
PUBLIC SECTOR INTERNAL AUDIT STANDARDS: Applying the IIA International Standards to the UK Public Sector

Page 28 of 36

Sectn.
/Std.

Adherence to the Standard Y P N Evidence

under the control of third parties.

2220.A2
If significant consulting opportunities arise during 
an assurance engagement, a specific written 
understanding as to the objectives, scope, 
respective responsibilities and other expectations 
should be reached and the results of the 
consulting engagement communicated in 
accordance with consulting standards.

Part of standard audit 
process. See section 9 
Quality Manual. Also 
evidenced within audit files

2220.C1
In performing consulting engagements, Internal 
Auditors must ensure that the scope of the 
engagement is sufficient to address the agreed-
upon objectives.  If Internal Auditors develop 
reservations about the scope during the 
engagement, these reservations must be 
discussed with the client to determine whether to 
continue with the engagement.

There was no consultancy 
activity carried out during 
the past year.

2220.C2
During consulting engagements, Internal Auditors 
must address controls consistent with the 
engagement’s objectives and be alert to significant 
control issues.

Part of standard audit 
process. Also evidenced 
within audit files

2230 Engagement Resource Allocation

Internal Auditors must determine appropriate and 
sufficient resources to achieve engagement 
objectives based on an evaluation of the nature 
and complexity of each engagement, time 
constraints and available resources.

Y Part of standard audit 
process. Evidenced in audit 
files

2240 Engagement Work Programme

Internal Auditors must develop and document work 
programmes that achieve the engagement 
objectives.

Y Part of standard audit 
process. Evidenced within 
audit files

2240.A1
Work programmes must include the procedures for 
identifying, analysing, evaluating and documenting 

Part of standard audit 
process. Evidenced within 
audit files



May 2017 Appendix A
PUBLIC SECTOR INTERNAL AUDIT STANDARDS: Applying the IIA International Standards to the UK Public Sector

Page 29 of 36

Sectn.
/Std.

Adherence to the Standard Y P N Evidence

information during the engagement.  The work 
programme must be approved prior to its 
implementation and any adjustments approved 
promptly.

2240.C1
Work programmes for consulting engagements 
may vary in form and content depending upon the 
nature of the engagement.

Part of standard audit 
process. Evidenced within 
audit files

2300 Performing the Engagement

Internal Auditors must identify, analyse, evaluate 
and document sufficient information to achieve the 
engagement’s objectives.

Y Part of standard audit 
process. Evidenced within 
audit files

2310 Identifying Information

Internal Auditors must identify sufficient, reliable, 
relevant and useful information to achieve the 
engagement’s objectives.

Y Part of standard audit 
process. Evidenced within 
audit files.

Interpretation:
Sufficient information is factual, adequate and 
convincing so that a prudent, informed person 
would reach the same conclusions as the auditor.  
Reliable information is the best attainable 
information through the use of appropriate 
engagement techniques.  Relevant information 
supports engagement observations and 
recommendations and is consistent with the 
objectives for the engagement.  Useful information 
helps the organisation meet its goals.

2320 Analysis and Evaluation

Internal Auditors must base conclusions and 
engagement results on appropriate analyses and 
evaluations.

Y Evidenced within audit files

2330 Documenting Information

Internal Auditors must document relevant 
information to support the conclusions and 
engagement results.

Y Part of standard audit 
process. Evidenced within 
audit files



May 2017 Appendix A
PUBLIC SECTOR INTERNAL AUDIT STANDARDS: Applying the IIA International Standards to the UK Public Sector

Page 30 of 36

Sectn.
/Std.

Adherence to the Standard Y P N Evidence

2330.A1
The Chief Audit Executive must control access to 
engagement records.  The Chief Audit Executive 
must obtain the approval of senior management 
and/or legal counsel prior to releasing such 
records to external parties, as appropriate.

These records are not 
released without authority 
except to the External 
Auditors

2330.A2
The Chief Audit Executive must develop retention 
requirements for engagement records, regardless 
of the medium in which each record is stored.  
These retention requirements must be consistent 
with the organisation’s guidelines and any 
pertinent regulatory or other requirements.

Retention of engagement 
records is consistent with 
Council policy

2330.C1
The Chief Audit Executive must develop policies 
governing the custody and retention of consulting 
engagement records, as well as their release to 
internal and external parties.  These policies must 
be consistent with the organisation’s guidelines 
and any pertinent regulatory or other 
requirements.

This will be done when all 
processes and procedures 
have been revised.

2340 Engagement Supervision

Engagements must be properly supervised to 
ensure objectives are achieved, quality is assured 
and staff are developed.

Y The Principal Auditor has 
supervised all audit 
assignments.

Interpretation:
The extent of supervision required will depend on 
the proficiency and experience of Internal Auditors 
and the complexity of the engagement.  The Chief 
Audit Executive has overall responsibility for 
supervising the engagement, whether performed 
by or for the Internal Audit activity, but may 
designate appropriately experienced members of 
the Internal Audit activity to perform the review.  
Appropriate evidence of supervision is 
documented and retained.

2400 Communicating Results

Internal Auditors must communicate the results of Y Part of standard audit 



May 2017 Appendix A
PUBLIC SECTOR INTERNAL AUDIT STANDARDS: Applying the IIA International Standards to the UK Public Sector

Page 31 of 36

Sectn.
/Std.

Adherence to the Standard Y P N Evidence

engagements. process. 

2410 Criteria for Communicating

Communications must include the engagement’s 
objectives and scope as well as applicable 
conclusions, recommendations and action plans.

Y Part of standard audit 
process. 

2410.A1
Final communication of engagement results must, 
where appropriate, contain Internal Auditors’ 
opinion and/or conclusions.  When issued, an 
opinion or conclusion must take account of the 
expectations of senior management, the Board 
and other stakeholders and must be supported by 
sufficient, reliable, relevant and useful information.

Interpretation:
Opinions at the engagement level may be ratings, 
conclusions or other descriptions of the results.  
Such an engagement may be in relation to 
controls around a specific process, risk or 
business unit.  The formulation of such opinions 
requires consideration of the engagement results 
and their significance.

See above

2410.A2
Internal Auditors are encouraged to acknowledge 
satisfactory performance in engagement 
communications.

This is part of the process

2410.A3
When releasing engagement results to parties 
outside the organisation, the communication must 
include limitations on distribution and use of the 
results.

Results are not 
communicated to outside 
organisations, except the 
External Auditors

2410.C1
Communication of the progress and results of 
consulting engagements will vary in form and 
content depending upon the nature of the 
engagement and the needs of the client.

2420 Quality of Communications



May 2017 Appendix A
PUBLIC SECTOR INTERNAL AUDIT STANDARDS: Applying the IIA International Standards to the UK Public Sector

Page 32 of 36

Sectn.
/Std.

Adherence to the Standard Y P N Evidence

Communications must be accurate, objective, 
clear, concise, constructive, complete and timely.

Y Part of standard audit 
process and quality review 
system.

Interpretation:
Accurate communications are free from errors and 
distortions and are faithful to the underlying facts.  
Objective communications are fair, impartial and 
unbiased and are the result of a fair-minded and 
balanced assessment of all relevant facts and 
circumstances.  Clear communications are easily 
understood and logical, avoiding unnecessary 
technical language and providing all significant 
and relevant information.  Concise 
communications are to the point and avoid 
unnecessary elaboration, superfluous detail, 
redundancy and wordiness.  Constructive 
communications are helpful to the engagement 
client and the organisation and lead to 
improvements where needed.  Complete 
communications lack nothing that is essential to 
the target audience and include all significant and 
relevant information and observations to support 
recommendations and conclusions.  Timely 
communications are opportune and expedient, 
depending on the significance of the issue, 
allowing management to take appropriate 
corrective action.

2421 Errors and Omissions

If a final communication contains a significant error 
or omission, the Chief Audit Executive must 
communicate corrected information to all parties 
who received the original communication.

Y See above.

2430 Use of Conducted in Conformance with the 
International Standards for the Professional 
Practice of Internal Auditing

Internal Auditors may report that their 
engagements are conducted in conformance with 
the International Standards for the Professional 
Practice of Internal Auditing, only if the results of 
the quality assurance and improvement 

Y Part of standard quality 
process.  



May 2017 Appendix A
PUBLIC SECTOR INTERNAL AUDIT STANDARDS: Applying the IIA International Standards to the UK Public Sector

Page 33 of 36

Sectn.
/Std.

Adherence to the Standard Y P N Evidence

programme support the statement.

2431 Engagement Disclosure of Non-conformance

When non-conformance with the Definition of 
Internal Auditing, the Code of Ethics or the 
Standards impacts a specific engagement, 
communication of the engagement results must 
disclose the:
 Principle or rule of conduct of the Code of 

Ethics or Standard(s) with which full 
conformance was not achieved;

 Reason(s) for non-conformance; and
 Impact of non-conformance on the 

engagement and the communicated 
engagement results.

Y On the assumption that 
there is no evidence to the 
contrary.

2440 Disseminating Results

The Chief Audit Executive must communicate 
results to the appropriate parties.

Y Standard audit process.

Interpretation:
The Chief Audit Executive is responsible for 
reviewing and approving the final engagement 
communication before issuance and deciding to 
whom and how it will be disseminated.

Part of standard audit 
process.

2440.A1
The Chief Audit Executive is responsible for 
communicating the final results to parties who can 
ensure that the results are given due 
consideration.

See above.

2440.A2
If not otherwise mandated by legal, statutory, or 
regulatory requirements, prior to releasing results 
to parties outside the organisation the Chief Audit 
Executive must:
 Assess the potential risk to the organisation;
 Consult with senior management and/ or legal 

counsel as appropriate; and
 Control dissemination by restricting the use of 

the results.



May 2017 Appendix A
PUBLIC SECTOR INTERNAL AUDIT STANDARDS: Applying the IIA International Standards to the UK Public Sector

Page 34 of 36

Sectn.
/Std.

Adherence to the Standard Y P N Evidence

2440.C1
The Chief Audit Executive is responsible for 
communicating the final results of consulting 
engagements to clients.

2440.C2
During consulting engagements, governance, risk 
management and control issues may be identified.  
Whenever these issues are significant to the 
organisation, they must be communicated to 
senior management and the Board.

2450 Overall Opinions

When an overall opinion is issued, it must take into 
account the expectations of senior management, 
the Board and other stakeholders and must be 
supported by sufficient, reliable, relevant and 
useful information.

Y Part of standard audit 
process.

Interpretation:
The communication will identify:
 The scope including the time period to which 

the opinion pertains.
 Scope limitations.
 Consideration of all related projects including 

the reliance on other assurance providers.
 The risk or control framework or other criteria 

used as a basis for the overall opinion.
 The overall opinion, judgment or conclusion 

reached.

The reasons for an unfavourable overall opinion 
must be stated.

Public sector requirement:
The Chief Audit Executive must deliver an 
annual Internal Audit opinion and report that 
can be used by the organisation to inform its 
governance statement.

The annual Internal Audit opinion must 
conclude on the overall adequacy and 
effectiveness of the organisation’s framework 
of governance, risk management and control.

Annual Audit Report 
produced by the Principal 
Auditor.



May 2017 Appendix A
PUBLIC SECTOR INTERNAL AUDIT STANDARDS: Applying the IIA International Standards to the UK Public Sector

Page 35 of 36

Sectn.
/Std.

Adherence to the Standard Y P N Evidence

The annual report must incorporate:
 The opinion;
 A summary of the work that supports the 

opinion; and
 A statement on conformance with the 

Public Sector Internal Audit Standards and 
the results of the quality assurance and 
improvement programme.

2500 Monitoring Progress

The Chief Audit Executive must establish and 
maintain a system to monitor the disposition of 
results communicated to management.

Y Part of standard audit 
process.

2500.A1
The Chief Audit Executive must establish a follow-
up process to monitor and ensure that 
management actions have been effectively 
implemented or that senior management has 
accepted the risk of not taking action.

See above 

2500.C1
The Internal Audit activity must monitor the 
disposition of results of consulting engagements to 
the extent agreed upon with the client.

See above

2600 Communicating the Acceptance of Risks

When the Chief Audit Executive concludes that 
management has accepted a level of risk that may 
be unacceptable to the organisation, the Chief 
Audit Executive must discuss the matter with 
senior management.  If the Chief Audit Executive 
determines that the matter has not been resolved, 
the Chief Audit Executive must communicate the 
matter to the Board.

Y Standard audit practice 

Interpretation:
The identification of risk accepted by management 
may be observed through an assurance or 
consulting engagement, monitoring progress on 
actions taken by management as a result of prior 
engagements, or other means. It is not the 



May 2017 Appendix A
PUBLIC SECTOR INTERNAL AUDIT STANDARDS: Applying the IIA International Standards to the UK Public Sector

Page 36 of 36

Sectn.
/Std.

Adherence to the Standard Y P N Evidence

responsibility of the Chief Audit Executive to 
resolve the risk.



AUDIT BOARD
28 JUNE 2017

REVIEW OF INTERNAL AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS – 
PROGRESS REPORT 

1. Summary

1.1 This report is to update Members on progress of the implementation of 
recommendations agreed with Management, and to report on outstanding 
recommendations due for implementation by 30 April 2017.

1.2 The process enables Members to review implementation of Internal Audit 
recommendations.  When recommendations have not been implemented, it 
enables Members to seek explanations or agree revised dates.  If Management 
propose not to action recommendations and accept the risk, Members can 
review this decision to determine if it meets the objectives of the Board and 
whether it represents an acceptable level of risk for the Council.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That Members review the information in Appendix A to the report and request 
further information or explanation as appropriate.

2.2 That Members note the reasons for delayed implementation of the actions 
and endorse the revised dates for implementation provided by Management, 
as noted in Appendix B.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The Audit Recommendation Progress report is presented to each 
meeting of the Board to inform Members of the progress made by 
Management to implement the recommendations agreed with Internal 
Audit.  The report also informs the Board where implementation dates 
have been revised, or where agreed recommendations have not been 
implemented.                           

3.2. Appendix A provides a summary of the reports for which Management 
had agreed recommendation implementation dates for the period to 30 
April 2017. Internal Audit has obtained the current status from the 
responsible managers, but it should be noted that where 
implementation has been confirmed, Internal Audit has not yet 
undertaken any additional testing to verify this.  Implementation checks 
will be carried out in due course, usually between 3 to 6 months of the 
agreed implementation date.

3.3. Appendix B provides details of agreed recommendations where 
Management have advised Internal Audit that implementation of  
agreed actions has initially been delayed from the originally planned 
date (for ease of reference, the numbering under the recommendation 
column, refers to the numbers on the original audit report). Enquiries 
with Management indicates that satisfactory progress is being made, or 



AUDIT BOARD
28 JUNE 2017

proposed, to implement the agreed recommendations. Management 
also advised that there are no material impacts to the Council, as a 
result of the change in implementation date. However, Internal Audit 
will continue to monitor progress where appropriate and report back to 
the Board as necessary.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

4.1 Not applicable.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None

Staffing Implications Implications may arise from implementation of 
some audit recommendations, but only in 
agreement with Management responsible for the 
areas audited.

Administrative Implications None

Risk Assessment The purpose of audit recommendations is to 
address and manage identified risks. 
Consequently risk profiles may increase in areas 
where the implementation of recommendations is 
delayed, if there are no compensating mitigating 
controls in place.

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A - Summary of recommendations followed-up.
Appendix B - ‘Overdue’ recommendations where implementation 

delayed.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

None N/A Prepared on behalf of 
the Audit Manager
01322 343023

Internal 
Audit/ 
Strategic 
(Internal 
Services)

None



SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS FOLLOWED UP          APPENDIX A

Audit 

(Number of Recommendations 
Originally Accepted)

Date final 
report 
issued

Number of 
recommendations 

where 
implementation 

now confirmed by 
management

Number of 
recommendations 

where management 
advise that 

implementation 
delayed 

(Appendix B)

Number of 
recommendations 

where management 
advise that 

implementation is no 
longer intended 

(Appendix C)

Number of 
recommendations 

where 
implementation not 

confirmed or 
alternative date not 

provided
IT Security 2013/14 (5) 22/7/14 4 1 0 0
Council Tax/NDR 2014/15 (2) 5/2/15 2 0 0 0
HR Contracting Including Payroll 
2014/15 (4)

29/6/15 4 0 0 0

Valuation & Property Services 2015/16 
(2)

16/9/15 1 1 0 0

Parking Services 2015/16 (4) 27/4/16 3 1 0 0
Safeguarding 2015/16 (2) 13/5/16 1 1 0 0
Council Tax Support 2015/16 (1) 14/6/16 1 0 0 0
Payroll 2015/16 (3)* 16/6/16 1 2* 0 0
Corporate Fraud Post DWP 2015/16 (4) 16/6/16 4 0 0 0
Channel Shift 2016/17 (4) 13/9/16 4 0 0 0
Significant Contracts 2015/16 (9) 14/9/16 9 0 0 0
Business Continuity & Emergency 
Planning 2016/17 (3)

5/10/16 2 1 0 0

Use of Consultants & Agency Staff 
2016/17 (4)

2/11/16 3 1 0 0

Planning Applications 2016/17 (1) 11/11/16 0 1 0 0
Capital Building Programme 2016/17 (1) 1/2/17 1 0 0 0

*One recommendation not yet due.





Appendix B

‘OVERDUE’ RECOMMENDATIONS WHERE IMPLEMENTATION HAS BEEN DELAYED

Audit: IT Security 2013/14

Recommendation Priority/ 
ranking

Original response Latest Position Revised Implementation Date

1. The ICT Manager reviews 
the ICT Security policy to 
ensure that it is:

 Up to date
 Conforms to industry 

standards
 Consistent and free 

from ambiguity
 Reviewed on a regular 

basis
 Underpinned by 

effective procedures
 Monitored for 

compliance

High Agreed Action:  The 
next review of the 
Information Security 
Policy will take into 
account the points made 
in this recommendation.  
As part of that process, 
the value and 
practicality of 
developing the various 
procedures and 
processes discussed in 
the course of the audit 
will be considered and if 
judged worthwhile 
progressed further. 

Responsible Officer:  
ICT Manager

Recommendation 
Implementation Date:  
December 2014

Further progress has been 
made and while most underlying 
and supporting policies have 
been reviewed further work is 
required to pull them together -
now expected Spring 2017. 

ICT Manager -15/11/16

Work continuing. Now expected 
Autumn 2017

ICT Manager - 6/6/17

Internal Audit Comment: 
In view of the latest update from 
the ICT Manager, Internal Audit 
will continue to liaise with the 
ICT Manager and advise the 
Board further at the next Board 
meeting in January 2018.



APPENDIX B

Page 2 of 7

Audit: Valuation & Property Services 2015/16

Recommendation Priority/ 
ranking

Original response Latest position + (source) Revised Implementation Date

1. Management should 
investigate why the 
valuation section of the 
Estates module of Uniform 
appears not to have been 
appropriately updated and 
rectify the situation. This 
needs to be done to provide 
a full and up to date record 
of property valuation for 
management and financial 
reasons.  

Medium Agreed Action:  The 
Property Information 
Manager will liaise with 
Financial Services to 
obtain a copy of their 
property valuation 
records, which they hold 
for accounting 
purposes, to enable the 
valuation section of the 
Estates module in 
Uniform to be updated.

Responsible Officer:  
Property Information 
Manager

Recommendation 
Implementation Date: 
31/12/15

Progress has been made with 
this recommendation and 
procedural documentation has 
been written. The Head of Legal 
Services will further progress this 
recommendation during the asset 
management review in 
consultation with the Property 
Information Manager and the 
I.C.T. Manager.  The asset 
management review is proposed 
for December 2016 with a report 
to Cabinet in or around March 
2017.

Head of Legal Services/Property 
Information Manager/I.C.T. 
Manager – 26/8/16

An external consultant will shortly 
be engaged to deal with this 
matter. A suggested revised 
implementation date would be the 
end of September 2017.  This 
process will also require input 
from the I.C.T. Manager and 
Property Information Manager.

Head of Legal Services – 9/5/17

Internal Audit Comment:
In view of the latest comment 
from management, Internal Audit 
will continue to liaise with the 
Head of Legal Services regarding 
progress of this matter and will 
advise the Audit Board further, at 
the January 2018 meeting of the 
Board.



APPENDIX B

Page 3 of 7

Audit: Parking Services 2015/16

Recommendation Priority/ 
ranking

Original response Latest position + (source)

4. As noted in previous 
reviews the purchase of new 
machines which have 
advanced self-diagnostic 
facilities (which allows 
remote ticket and coinage 
monitoring together with 
malfunction warnings) and 
reduce the risk of:

 The malfunction of 
old machines

 Officer access to 
machines

 Obsolete and 
unsupported 
machines

Usage of revised 
performance data should 
identify the areas where 
these new machines would 
be best placed and utilised. 
Futureproofing should also 
be considered with the need 
to reduce the number of 
cash machines.

Medium Agreed Action:  Agreed

Responsible Officer:  
Transport Services 
Manager 

Recommendation 
Implementation Date: 
31/10/16

The purchase of 
replacement machines is in 
excess of £100k with ongoing 
revenue commitments. There 
has been a change in the way 
people use our parking places 
and therefore we are taking the 
opportunity to review the way in 
which we manage our facilities 
to encourage the right type of 
user to use the most appropriate 
facilities. The P&D machine 
replacement project is more 
complicated than simply 
replacing the machines; parking 
management for a regenerating 
town centre surrounded and 
engulfed by significant 
residential and 
commercial developments requir
es proper thought and planning.

Transport Services Manager – 
18/11/16

Funding allocation was denied 
and this will be revisited in the 
forthcoming audit for 2017/18

Principal Transport Planner – 
15/5/17

Internal Audit Comment:
The Strategic Director (External 
Services) had also informed 
Internal Audit that Metric Ltd 
would not be able to support the 
old machines in 4 years’ time.

In view of the latest comment, 
Internal Audit will progress this 
matter further in the Car Parking 
Income Audit 2017/18.



APPENDIX B

Page 4 of 7

A revised plan regarding the 
upgrade of identified 
machines must be 
formulated and approved to 
ensure implementation as 
soon as possible to address 
the above risks.

Audit: Safeguarding 2015/16

Recommendation Priority/ 
ranking

Original response Latest position + (source) Revised Implementation Date

1.That a full review of all 
posts in the Council that 
require a DBS (Disclosure 
and Barring Service) check 
is undertaken and to ensure 
that all members of staff in 
these posts have an up-to-
date DBS check.

Medium Agreed Action:  Yes

Responsible Officer:  HR 
Business Advisor

Recommendation 
Implementation Date: 
September 2016

The full review of all posts in 
the Council, that require a DBS 
check, is now complete and BT 
is progressing DBS checks for 
those post-holders that require 
one.  These should be 
completed within the next six 
weeks.  Revised 
implementation date is the end 
of April 2017.

HR Business Advisor – 14/3/17

There has been a delay in 
progressing the DBS checks 
for those post-holders that 
require one due to a contract 
change notice that has had to 
be put in place with BT to

Internal Audit Comment:
In view of the latest comment, 
Internal Audit will continue to 
liaise with the HR Business 
Advisor regarding progress of 
this matter and will advise the 
Audit Board further, at the 
September 2017 meeting of the 
Board.



APPENDIX B

Page 5 of 7

accommodate these.  These 
should now be completed by 
end July 2017.

HR Business Advisor – 5/6/17

Audit: Payroll 2015/16

Recommendation Priority/ 
ranking

Original response Latest position + (source) Revised Implementation Date

3. Compilation of payroll 
procedures together with 
checklists should be 
undertaken. Showing clear 
guidance and include step 
by step instruction in all 
aspects of running the 
payroll process.

Medium Agreed Action:  
Agreed

Responsible Officer:  
Insurance and Payroll 
Assistant

Recommendation 
Implementation Date: 
31/7/16

This work is in progress and a 
revised implementation date of 
the end of Feb 2017 has been 
agreed.

Insurance and Payroll Assistant 
– 15/11/16

Unfortunately due to increased 
workload it has not been 
possible to progress this 
recommendation further.  In 
agreement with the Principal 
Finance and Procurement 
Officer it is suggested that a 
revised implementation date 
should be the end of August 
2017. 

Insurance and Payroll Assistant 
– 15/5/17
Internal Audit Comment:
In view of the latest comment, 
Internal Audit will continue to 
liaise with the Insurance and 
Payroll Assistant regarding 
progress of this matter and will 
advise the Audit Board further, 
at the January 2018 meeting of 
the Board.



APPENDIX B

Page 6 of 7

Audit: Business Continuity & Emergency Planning 2016/17

Recommendation Priority/ 
ranking

Original response Latest position + (source)

1. Complete the establishment of ICT Disaster 
Recovery (DR) site and develop documented 
procedures to invoke DR and test the ICT DR 
process.

2. Review the overall arrangements for Business 
continuity in the event that the Civic Centre was 
damaged such that its offices, IT systems and 
links were not usable

3. Review the individual services Business 
Continuity Plans as a whole in the light of the 
improved ICT DR facilities and recognize the 
limitations as there will not be capacity for 300 
people to connect remotely from wherever to 
work as normal. This raises the need to include 
questions about how would it be decided who 
be granted that access, bearing in mind the 
interdependencies between services.

4. The individual service business continuity plans 
already refer to the loss of ICT and the backing 
up of data and they should also consider what 
equipment and/or facilities are required and 
after what period of time they will be able to 
remotely connect to some or all of their 
systems to get back to normal.

5. Implement current plans about changes to the 
provision of the Council’s Telephony that would 
greatly improve the speed with which it could 
be recovered quickly.

High Agreed Action: Agreed.

Responsible Officer: 
Strategic Director (Internal 
Services)

Recommendation 
Implementation Dates for 
items 1 to 5 - Between 30th 
September 2016 and 
November 2017.

Progress Update
2.4 The business continuity exercise carried 
out in May highlighted the need for these 
aspects to be addressed within the 
individual service business continuity plans 
which are the responsibility of the individual 
service managers.  However, identification 
and provision of equipment and/or facilities 
cannot be done in isolation and will need the 
assistance of ICT. The exercise recognised 
the need to look at the position across the 
board and prioritise limited available 
resources. Thereafter senior managers can 
update their individual service business 
continuity plans to include the steps required 
and after what period of time they will be 
able to remotely connect to some or all of 
their systems and ultimately to get back to 
normal.
2.5 Little progress has been made. This has 
been delayed by external contractual and 
procurement matters affecting the basis of 
our own procurement. The current 
expectation is to switch in early 2018.

Strategic Director (Internal Services) – 
10/5/17



APPENDIX B

Page 7 of 7

Audit: Use of Consultants & Agency Staff 2016/17

Recommendation Priority/ 
ranking

Original response Latest position + (source)

1.1 The Recruitment and 
Selection Toolkit Part 5 
should be reviewed and 
updated annually to ensure 
current and accurate 
information. This should be 
communicated to relevant 
officers via the intranet and 
senior management.

Medium Agreed Action: Yes, there is 
currently work being undertaken by 
the HR Business Advisor on new 
policy/guidance in this area. This will 
replace the Toolkit Part 5.

Responsible Officer: HR Business 
Advisor

Recommendation Implementation 
Date: 31st March 2017

This is in progress and is being dealt with as part of the 
HR Policy and Procedure update project - expected to be 
completed July 2017.

HR Business Advisor – 8/5/17

Internal Audit Comment:
In view of the latest comment, Internal Audit will continue 
to liaise with the HR Business Advisor regarding progress 
of this matter and will advise the Audit Board further, at 
the September 2017 meeting of the Board.

Audit: Planning Applications 2016/17
Recommendation Priority/ 

ranking
Original response Latest position + (source)

Consideration should be 
given to whether it would be 
financially viable for 
planning application fees to 
be made on line via the 
planning portal so that more 
applicants make payments 
on line rather than making 
payments manually. 

Medium Agreed Action: Agreed

Responsible Officer: Strategic 
Director (Internal Services)

Recommendation Implementation 
Date: 28 February 2017

No further progress has been made with this 
recommendation as it is not currently considered to be 
financially viable.
I suggest this is revisited in a year to see if the position 
may have changed.

Strategic Director (Internal Services) 11/5/17

Internal Audit Comment:
In view of the latest comment, Internal Audit will continue 
to liaise with the Strategic Director (Internal Services) 
regarding progress of this matter and will advise the Audit 
Board further, at the June 2018 meeting of the Board.





AUDIT BOARD
28 JUNE 2017

AUDIT REPORTS ISSUED SINCE LAST MEETING OF THE 
BOARD

1. Summary

1.1 This report is to inform Audit Board Members of the outcomes of the audits 
completed since the previous report to the Board on 12 April 2017 and to 
provide Members with the opportunity to request clarification or further 
information, if considered necessary.  

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That Members review the summary details of audits completed.

2.2 That Members consider whether they require clarification or further information 
at the next meeting of the Board.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. In addition to the approval of the Annual Internal Audit Plan and 
consideration of progress of the Audit Plan, the terms of reference of 
the Audit Board also requires the Board to consider the outcome of 
Internal Audit Report findings.

3.2. To this effect, the Board receives reports on the outcomes of 
completed  audit reviews at each meeting and is able to seek further 
details and/or explanations from managers, where required.

3.3. Appendix A of this report sets out details of the six audit reports, which 
have been finalised since the last meeting of the Board and the opinion 
for each review. 

3.4. Brief summaries are customarily provided in this report for each final 
audit report with an audit opinion of Limited Assurance or below. On this 
occasion there is one final audit report with an opinion of Limited 
Assurance, details of which can be found in Appendix B. One final audit 
report issued has an opinion of Full Assurance and the other four have 
an opinion of Substantial Assurance.

3.5. In addition to the above, ten recommendations were agreed with 
management regarding the six reports, of which one was high risk, five 
were medium risks and four were low risk.

3.6. The definition of the standard Internal Audit opinions are detailed in 
Appendix C, where a single opinion will be given, which will either be: 
Full Assurance; Substantial Assurance; Limited Assurance or No 
Assurance. 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan
4.1 Not applicable.



AUDIT BOARD
28 JUNE 2017

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None

Risk Assessment The Board is required to receive and consider 
reports from the Audit Manager on progress of 
the Internal Audit Plan. This report addresses the 
risk of non-compliance with the Board’s terms of 
reference; and demonstrates that the Council’s 
Internal Audit Function is fulfilling its role as a 
provider of independent assurance to the Board 
and the Council, regarding the Council’s 
arrangements to manage identifiable risks in 
delivering Council objectives.

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A - Final audit reports issued since the last meeting of the       
Board.

 DBC31-16/17 Members Allowances 2016/17
 DBC20-16/17 Markets Income 2016/17
 DBC32-16/17 Contracts Register 2016/17
 DBC22-16/17 Performance Management 2016/17
 DBC13/SDC12-16/17 New Anti-Fraud Arrangements 

2016/17
 DBC10-16/17 Payroll 2016/17

Appendix B - Summary of audit findings where final reports issued 
have an opinion of Limited Assurance or below.

Appendix C – Definition of Audit Opinions

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date /
File 
Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Internal Audit Plan 
2016/17

Prepared on behalf of 
the Audit Manager
(01322) 343023

Internal Audit/ Strategic 
(Internal Services)

N/A



APPENDIX A

FINAL AUDIT REPORTS ISSUED SINCE THE LAST MEETING OF THE BOARD

Recommendation Risks

Audit title Final 
Report 
Issued

Opinion
Framework/Compliance

Comments where the opinion is 
Limited Assurance or below

High Medium Low

1 Members’ 
Allowances 
2016/17

29/3/17 Audit Opinion: Full 
Assurance 0 0 1

2 Markets’ Income 
2016/17 3/4/17 Audit Opinion: Substantial 

Assurance 0 1 0

3 Contracts’ 
Register 2016/17 18/4/17 Audit Opinion: Substantial 

Assurance 0 0 2

4 Performance 
Management 
2016/17

16/5/17 Audit Opinion: Substantial 
Assurance 0 0 0

5 New Anti-Fraud 
Arrangements 
2016/17

18/5/17 Audit Opinion: Substantial 
Assurance 0 1 0

6 Payroll 2016/17 7/6/17 Audit Opinion: Limited 
Assurance See Appendix B 1 3 1





APPENDIX B

Review of Payroll 2016/17      Issued 7 June 2016 

Opinion: Limited assurance

Previous review: Good (Framework) Good (Implementation)

The purpose of this audit review was to provide an assurance regarding the 
accuracy, authenticity, and completeness of the payroll system, in particular, to the 
starter and leaver processes and to provide assurance regarding compliance with 
relevant income tax regulations. 

The HR and Payroll service at the Council has been outsourced for a number of 
years. It is currently outsourced to British Telecommunications PLC (BT). However, 
the Council retains two in house staff that provide a front facing service to 
employees, and Management in respect of strategic HR and any HR or Payroll 
issues that require liaison with BT. Payroll staff report to the Financial Services 
Manager. The HR Business Advisor, who is the client officer for the contract, reports 
to the Strategic Director (Internal Services).

To this effect, the following key risks and controls were examined:

1. Risk that the Council may not comply with relevant legislation, policies or good 
practice, such as the proper PAYE collection of tax and national insurance.

2. Risk that Payroll payments are not made on a due and timely basis.

3. Risk that starters and leavers may not be correctly set up or removed.

4. Risk that overtime, expenses and mileage payments may not be appropriate, 
correctly applied, authorised and processed in a timely manner.

5. Risk that opportunities to achieve or demonstrate efficiency or value for 
money may not be maximised.

6. Risk that fraud and corruption may be undetected, for example inaccurate, 
unauthorised or fraudulent payroll payments being made.

7. Risk that operational and strategic risk assessments are not undertaken in 
accordance with Council policy and risks may not be adequately managed.    

Audit testing results indicated that controls were substantially met in the following 
areas:-

 Payroll payments are made on a timely basis
 Prevention and detection of fraud and corruption regarding the main payroll 

system
 Operational and strategic risk assessments completed

However, there were some areas that Internal Audit felt could benefit from further 
improvement, these are:- 



APPENDIX B

 Compliance with payroll procedures regarding employees authorising 
deductions from their salary

 Ensuring that Partnership Councils are made aware when shared services 
staff who are employed by DBC leave

 Access to the supporting documentation for expense claims

The following recommendations have been agreed with Management to address the 
above:

 A review should take place of Council Tax deductions from employee’s 
salaries to ensure that they are supported by documentary evidence.

 Financial Services should ensure that Partnership Councils are notified when 
shared service staff leave the employment of DBC.

 The HR Business Advisor and the Financial Services Manager should ensure 
that there are no other critical areas that are unavailable at this time.

 Members of staff should be reminded that receipts should be scanned onto 
Agresso to support expense claims. 

 All members of staff concerned should be reminded that they should complete 
their mileage returns with the information required by the Expenses Policy and 
Procedure

These recommendations have been agreed with management and Members will be 
advised of the progress in implementing these recommendations in due course.

  



APPENDIX C

DEFINITIONS OF AUDIT OPINIONS 

OPINION DEFINITIONS
Full Assurance
(Implies no High or 
Medium Risk 
Recommendations)

A sound framework of control is in place that meets the 
Council’s or service objectives. All expected controls 
tested are in place and are operating effectively.

No specific follow-up review will be undertaken; follow-
up will be undertaken as part of the next planned review 
of the system.

Substantial Assurance 
(Implies no High Risk 
Recommendations) 

There is generally a sound framework of control in place 
designed to meet the Council’s or service objectives. 
However, there are isolated weaknesses in design of 
controls, or inconsistent application of controls, which 
puts the achievement of a limited number of objectives 
at risk.

Follow up of medium priority recommendations only will 
be undertaken within 3 to 6 months; follow up of low 
priority recommendation will be undertaken as part of 
the next planned review of the system.

Limited Assurance Weaknesses identified within the framework and there 
exist evidence of non-compliance with Council 
procedures or good practice, which puts the 
achievement of the Council’s or service objectives in 
many of the areas reviewed at risk.

Follow-up of high and medium priority recommendations 
only will take place within 3 to 6 months; follow-up of low 
priority recommendations will be undertaken as part of 
the next planned review of the system.

No Assurance Absent or non-existent evidence of framework; 
fundamental weaknesses identified within design; 
operation of key controls has resulted in failure, or could 
result in failure to achieve the Council’s or service 
objectives in the areas reviewed.

Follow-up of high and medium priority recommendations 
only will take place within 3 to 6 months; follow-up of low 
priority recommendations will be undertaken as part of 
the next planned review of the system.





AUDIT BOARD
28 JUNE 2017

SELECTIVE INVOICE CHECKS

1. Summary

1.1 During the April 2017 meeting of the Board, Members selected five creditor 
payments for checking. This report summarises the findings of this exercise 
and provides the opportunity for Members to select further payments for audit 
checking. 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That Members note the content of this report and request any further 
explanations required.

2.2 That Members select further payments for checking by Internal Audit.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. It is a regular feature of the Audit Board’s work for Members to select a 
sample of payments made by the Council for review by Internal Audit, 
and to receive a report on the findings of these checks at the next 
meeting of the Board.  This is intended to provide Members with 
reasonable assurance that goods and services commissioned or 
procured, for which payments have been made, are in compliance with 
Council procedures. In particular, that they have been properly 
authorised, requisitioned, ordered and received, prior to making the 
appropriate payments.

3.2. During the meeting of the Board on 12 April 2017, Members selected 
the following five payments for checking:

 Kent County Council £476.36 (Gross)
 KM Media Group Ltd £170.40 (Gross)
 Kinetika People £1200.00 (Gross)
 Kingdom Services Group Ltd £12600.00 (Gross)
 KIRNO002  £170.00 (Gross)

4. Summary of Findings

4.1 The results of the Internal Audit review, confirmed that all the spend 
decisions made were appropriate and in compliance with Council 
procedures. Detailed summaries of the outcome of each payment are 
set out below.

5. Detailed Findings

5.1 Kent County Council (£476.36) – The payment to Kent County Council 
(KCC) (Commercial Services) was for the colour and mono copy 
charges (sometimes known as click charges) for one of the Council’s 
printer/photocopiers, during the period 1st June 2016 to 30th September 



AUDIT BOARD
28 JUNE 2017

2016. The IT department submit quarterly meter readings directly to 
KCC online and invoices are subsequently received. A pricing 
agreement is in place for the life of the printer, or until the agreement is 
terminated by the Council.  The Internal Audit review confirmed that the 
invoice was paid promptly and that the payment was justified and in 
compliance with Council procedures.

5.2 KM Media Group Ltd (£170.40) – This payment was for an advert in the 
Gravesend and Dartford Messenger on 22nd December 2016, 
advertising the Christmas recycling timetable.  A purchase order was 
not raised in this instance and Internal Audit has provided advice 
regarding future purchases and the requirement to raise purchase 
orders in compliance with Financial Regulations. The Internal Audit 
review confirmed that the payment was justified, made promptly and 
was in accordance with payment procedures. 

5.3 Kinetika People (£1200.00) – This payment was for a contribution 
towards an arts project, called the Silk River. The Silk River Project is a 
series of artistic workshops, textile residencies and animated walks that 
are taking place in 2016 and 2017, along both the Thames and the 
Hooghly River (Kolkata). The project finale will be a procession of the 
silk screens, made at various workshops, and will proceed from Kew 
Gardens to Southend from 15th – 24th September 2017. Kinetika was 
granted a contribution of £1,000 by the Council, subject to Art’s Council 
funding and agreement that the project would proceed through 
Dartford. Internal Audit checks confirmed that Art’s Council funding of 
£97,430 had been secured and references to the Council’s support 
were detailed on the Art’s Council and Kinetika websites. The Internal 
Audit review confirmed that the payment was justified and in 
compliance with Council procedures. 

5.4 Kingdom Services Group Ltd (£12600.00) – This payment was for the 
issue of litter and dog control fixed penalty notices (FPN) for the period 
1 January 2017 to 31 January 2017. The Litter Enforcement contract 
had been awarded to the Kingdom Services Group on 25 January 
2017, but they had been employed on a 12 month trial basis since 25 
January 2016. The Enforcement Manager has access to the Kingdom 
Services software, and conducts accuracy checks against the number 
of FPNs invoice and issued. A representative from Kingdom Services is 
also based at the Civic Centre and communicates regularly with the 
Enforcement Manager.  For this period, 250 FPNs were invoiced at 
£42.00 each (£10500.00 +VAT).  The Internal Audit review confirmed 
that the payment was justified, made promptly and in compliance with 
Council procedures. 

5.5 KIRNO002 (£170.00) – This payment was an instalment towards the 
cost of a certified Management Skills course for a member of staff. A 
purchase order could not be raised, due to the payment requirements 
set out in the payment schedule, which required a deposit on booking 
and monthly standing orders of a fixed amount.  The total cost of the 



AUDIT BOARD
28 JUNE 2017

course was £1300.00 and the deposit was £450.00, this was followed 
by 5 monthly payments of £170.00. The member of staff had paid the 
fees with their own money and requested reimbursement using a TAB1 
form, which was signed by their Line Manager. The member of staff 
had also agreed to provide bite sized training to management once 
they were qualified. The Internal Audit review confirmed that the 
payment was justified and in compliance with Council procedures.   

6. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable

7. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None

Risk Assessment Obtaining goods and services on behalf of the 
Council carries potential inherent risks of fraud, 
or misappropriation. The Selective Invoice 
Checks process is one of many steps employed 
by the Council to manage fraud risks and to 
ensure value for money.

8. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

9. Appendices

None
BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

N/A Prepared on behalf of 
the Audit Manager
01322 343023

Internal Audit / 
Strategic (Internal 
Services)

N/A





              
AUDIT BOARD

28 JUNE 2017

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

1. Summary

The Council is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted in 
accordance with the law and proper standards and that public money is 
safeguarded and properly accounted for. In discharging this overall 
responsibility, the Council has to ensure that it has good governance 
arrangements and that it operates a sound system of internal control and 
that it reviews them annually. This report considers the governance 
arrangements and the system of internal control which operated during 
2016/17 and the review that has taken place. 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1That the review of the Council’s Corporate Governance arrangements be 
noted.

2.2That the Annual Governance Statement, at Appendix A to the report, be 
approved for inclusion in the Annual Statement of Accounts. 

2.3 That the 2017/18 Corporate Governance Action Plan at Appendix D to the 
report be approved.

3. Background and Discussion  

3.1 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require that the Council 
prepares an annual governance statement;

3.2 The Council is also obliged to conduct a review at least once in a year, of 
the effectiveness of its system of internal control and to include a 
statement in the annual accounts. When preparing the annual statement of 
accounts, the Council has to follow the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting. 

3.3 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 place a duty on the Council to 
ensure that the findings of the review are considered by Members who 
must approve the annual governance statement that has been prepared in 
accordance with proper practices.

3.4 Senior Officers (the Monitoring Officer, Section 151 Officer, Head of Legal 
Services and the Financial Services Manager) have reviewed the Council’s 
arrangements against the Local Code of Governance which incorporates 
the CIPFA/SOLACE Principles as set out in the publication Delivering 
Good Governance in Local Government (2016). Management Team have 



               
AUDIT BOARD

28 JUNE 2016

also approved the review and the draft Annual Governance Statement and 
have agreed that the Statement should be referred to the Board for 
approval. The Annual Governance Statement for the year ended 31 March 
2017 is attached at Appendix A. 

3.5 Appendix B, details the review process. The first page of the Appendix lists 
the objectives and key areas to be considered during the review.  The 
remainder of this Appendix details the elements of good governance, gives 
examples of the principal sources of assurance, notes the current 
arrangements that the Council has in place and finally, identifies gaps and 
areas for development. 

3.6 Appendix C gives an update on the 2016/17 Action Plan. Appendix D is the 
recommended Action Plan for 2017/18. It is in two parts. The first part, 
action 1, is the action required to improve the principles of the Council’s 
governance arrangements as noted in the final section of the Annual 
Governance Statement. The second part, actions A to J, are process 
improvements that will improve the arrangements and are generally 
matters that the Council is actioning already but which require a review or 
update. 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

The production of the Annual Governance Statement is a statutory requirement 
and supports the Council’s Performing Strongly theme.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None
Legal Implications See paragraphs 3.1 to 3.3
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment If the Council does not approve an 

Annual Governance Statement, for 
inclusion in the annual Statement of 
Accounts, the external auditor will give a 
qualified opinion on the accounts. If the 
Statement does not accord with “proper 
practice” the auditor may make 
comment on it in his report to the 
Council on the audit of the accounts. 

Appendices

Appendix A - Annual Governance Statement – 2016/17
Appendix B - Review of the Council’s Governance Arrangements – 2016/17
Appendix C – 2016/17 Governance Action Plan – Progress Review



               
AUDIT BOARD

28 JUNE 2016

Appendix D – 2017/18 Governance Action Plan

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File Ref Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

June 
2017  

Tim Sams
343148

Financial 
Services/ 
Internal 
Services

N/A





APPENDIX A

Page 1 of 12

 
Annual Governance Statement



APPENDIX A

Page 2 of 12

FOR THE PERIOD 1 APRIL 2016 TO 31 MARCH 2017

1.1 SCOPE OF RESPONSIBILITY

1.1.1 Dartford Borough Council (the Council) is responsible for ensuring that its 
business is conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards, and 
that public money is safeguarded and properly accounted for. The Council 
also has a duty under the Local Government Act 1999 (as amended) to make 
arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in which its 
functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness. 

1.1.2 In discharging this overall responsibility, the Council is responsible for 
implementing proper arrangements for the governance of its affairs, the 
stewardship of the resources at its disposal and facilitating the effective 
exercise of its functions, which includes arrangements for the management of 
risk.

1.1.3 The Council has approved and adopted a Local Code of Corporate 
Governance (the Local Code), which is consistent with the principles and 
reflects the requirements of the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework Delivering Good 
Governance in Local Government (2016).  The Local Code is published on 
the Council’s website at www.dartford.gov.uk. 

1.1.4 This statement explains how the Council has complied with the Local Code 
and with meeting the requirements of regulation 6 of the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations 2015 to review and report on the effectiveness of its system of 
internal control and to prepare an Annual Governance Statement.

1.1.5 The Council has in place appropriate management and reporting 
arrangements to enable it to satisfy that its approach to corporate governance 
is adequate and effective in practice.  

1.1.6 In discharging this overall responsibility, the Council is also responsible for 
ensuring that there is a sound system of internal control which facilitates the 
effective exercise of the Council's functions, and which includes 
arrangements for the management of risk.

1.2 THE PURPOSE OF THE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK 

1.2.1 The governance framework comprises the systems and processes, culture 
and values by which the Council is directed and controlled, and by which it, 
through its activities, can account to, engage with and lead the community.  
The governance framework enables the Council to monitor the achievement 
of its strategic objectives and to consider whether those objectives have led to 
the delivery of appropriate, cost-effective services. 

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/


APPENDIX A

Page 3 of 12

1.2.2 The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is 
designed to manage risk to a reasonable level.  It cannot eliminate all risk of 
failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives and can therefore only provide 
reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness.  The system of 
internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify and 
prioritise the risks to the achievement of the Council's policies, aims and 
objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the 
impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively 
and economically. 

1.2.3 This Annual Governance Statement is produced for the year 1 April 2016 to 
31 March 2017 and includes the period up to the date of approval of the 
statement of accounts. 

1.3 THE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

1.3.1 The key elements of the systems and processes that comprise the Council’s 
governance arrangements are summarised below:

Identifying and communicating our vision and outcomes for citizens and 
service users 

The Corporate Plan 2014-2017 has been approved by the General Assembly 
of the Council [22 January 2015 Min 104]. The Corporate Plan is published 
on the Council’s website.  

Reviewing our vision and its implications for our governance arrangements 

Progress towards the achievement of the objectives is monitored through the 
Performance Management Framework, with performance reports to 
Management Team, Cabinet and Policy Overview Committee, and through 
other internal review mechanisms.

                        Measuring the quality of services for users, to ensure that they are delivered 
in accordance with the Council’s objectives and for ensuring that they 
represent the best use of resources

                        The Council measures the quality of service to users through a number of 
mechanisms including:

                        
                        Customer surveys
                        Comments, compliments and complaints
                        Monitoring against targets and indicators
                        Reviews by the Scrutiny Committee and the Policy Overview Committee
                        Comparison with similar authorities



APPENDIX A

Page 4 of 12

Establishing clear channels of communication with all sections of our 
community and other stakeholders, ensuring accountability and encouraging 
open consultation

The Council has developed a Consultation and Engagement Strategy to 
meet its duty to inform, consult and involve people in the delivery of Council 
services. An Equalities Scheme has been developed to meet the Council’s 
obligations under the Equality Act 2010. The Statement of Community 
Involvement sets out how the community will be involved in decisions about 
the Council’s Local Plan.

Defining and documenting the roles and responsibilities of the executive, 
non-executive, scrutiny and officer functions, with clear delegation 
arrangements and protocols for effective communication 

The Council has an adopted Constitution which details how the Council 
operates, how decisions are made and the procedures which are to be 
followed to ensure that these are efficient, transparent and accountable to 
local people.  The Constitution defines the terms of reference for all Council 
committees. The Cabinet (exercising the executive functions of the Council) 
is responsible for most decisions.  The Cabinet is made up of the Leader and 
Six Councillors. The Council elects the Leader and the Leader appoints the 
Cabinet. Major decisions are published in advance, in the Regulation 9 
Notice, and will generally be discussed in a meeting open to the public.  All 
decisions must be in line with the Council's overall policies and budget.  Any 
decisions the Cabinet wishes to take outside the budget or policy framework 
must be referred to the General Assembly of the Council to decide.  There is 
a Scrutiny Committee that scrutinises the work of the Cabinet, presenting 
challenge and the opportunity for a decision to be reconsidered. Most 
scrutiny is undertaken post-decision but a "call-in" procedure allows Scrutiny 
Committee to also review Cabinet decisions before they are implemented.

                        The Policy Overview Committee reviews general policies and makes 
recommendations on future policy options to Cabinet. 

                        A Scheme of Delegation to Officers is approved respectively by the General 
Assembly of the Council (for matters reserved to the GAC by law) and 
Cabinet (for Cabinet related functions). This defines the framework and limits 
within which officers can take decisions.



APPENDIX A

Page 5 of 12

Developing, communicating and embedding codes of conduct, defining the 
standards of behaviour for members and staff 

The standards of conduct and personal behaviour expected of Council 
Members and Officers, its partners and the community are defined and 
communicated through codes of conduct and protocols.  These include:

 Member Code of Conduct 
 Employee Code of Conduct
 Regular performance appraisals for staff linked to corporate and 

service objectives
 An Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy
 Member/Officer Protocol
 Whistleblowing Policy
 Annual Monitoring Officer report
 An Audit Board to oversee and monitor the Council’s ethical 

governance
                        

Whistleblowing and receiving and investigating complaints from the public

The Council’s Whistleblowing Policy is reviewed each year and provides for 
confidential reporting on matters of concern. Informants are requested to be 
open in their disclosure, but it is recognised that on occasions, informants will 
wish to remain anonymous.

The Council has an effective Corporate Complaints Procedure. A report is 
submitted annually to the Audit Board on corporate complaints.  

Reviewing and updating standing orders, financial instructions, scheme of 
delegations and supporting procedure notes/manuals, which clearly define 
how decisions are taken and the processes and controls required to manage 
risks

Standing Orders, Contract Standing Orders, Financial Regulations and the 
Scheme of Delegations to Officers are regularly reviewed as are supporting 
procedures and manuals. 

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations, internal policies and 
procedures, and that expenditure is lawful 

The Council has a duty to ensure that it acts in accordance with the law and 
various regulations in the performance of its functions.  It has developed 
policies and procedures for its Officers and Members to ensure that, as far 
as possible, they understand their responsibilities both to the Council and to 
the public. Key documents and procedures include:

 Standing Orders



APPENDIX A

Page 6 of 12

 Contract Standing Orders
 Procurement Guide
 Finance Guidance incorporating Financial Regulations
 Money Laundering procedures
 Committee reporting procedure including requirements for the 

monitoring of legal and financial implications
 Regular training on new legal requirements
 Regular updates from the Head of Legal Services for Members and 

Officers on key changes to the local authority legal framework
                     

Other key corporate policies on a range of topics such as Equalities, 
Customer Care, Data Protection, Freedom of Information and Fraud have 
been adopted.  All policies are subject to internal review, to ensure they are 
adequately maintained and fit for purpose. 

Measuring the quality of services for users, for ensuring they are delivered in 
accordance with our objectives and for ensuring that they represent the best 
use of resources

The Council, through its budgetary monitoring and control processes, 
ensures that financial resources are being used in accordance with the 
budget and corporate policy via regular management reporting to Directors, 
the Finance Portfolio Member and Cabinet.

Financial planning is underpinned by service planning and annual budget 
reviews to ensure that individual service plans and service improvements are 
in line with corporate objectives. 

Through performance reports, corporate and key service objectives are 
monitored to ensure that performance targets and indicators are being 
achieved. 

Economic, effective and efficient use of resources is subject to review 
through the work of the Scrutiny and Policy Overview Committees, Internal 
and External Audit and annual budget reviews.

Financial Management

Responsibility for ensuring that an effective system of internal financial control 
is maintained and operated rests with the S151 Officer.  The systems of 
internal financial control provide reasonable and not absolute assurance that 
assets are safeguarded, that transactions are authorised and properly 
recorded, and that material errors or irregularities are either prevented or 
would be detected within a timely period.

                        The CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Chief Financial Officer is reported to 
the General Assembly as part of the annual budget report. The Council meets 
all the governance requirements contained in the statement.

Internal financial control is based on a framework of management information, 



APPENDIX A

Page 7 of 12

financial regulations and administrative procedures, which include the 
segregation of duties where practical, management supervision and a system 
of delegation and accountability. 

In particular, the process in 2016/17 included: 
 The setting of a one year detailed budget and Medium Term Financial 

Plan;
 Monitoring of actual income and expenditure against the annual 

budget;
 A detailed budget review by officers and Members
 Setting of financial and performance targets;
 Regular reporting of the Council's financial position to Members;
 Clearly defined capital expenditure guidelines;
 Managing risk in key financial service areas.
 Review of Financial Regulations

Effectiveness of Internal Audit

The Internal Audit Team reports to the Managing Director and Management 
Team, operating under a Charter, which defines its relationship with Council 
Officers and the Audit Board.  The main responsibility of the Internal Audit 
Team is to provide assurance and advice on the internal control system of the 
Council to the Management Team and Members.  Internal Audit reviews, 
appraises the adequacy, reliability and effectiveness of internal control within 
systems and recommends improvement.  It also supports management in 
developing systems, providing advice on risk and control.  The controls 
created by management are evaluated to ensure:

 Council objectives are being achieved;
 Economic and efficient use of resources;
 Compliance with policies, procedures, laws and regulations;
 The safeguarding of Council assets; and
 The integrity and reliability of information and data.

As part of the wider annual review of the governance arrangements and in 
particular, the system of internal control, the Council is required to undertake 
an annual review of the effectiveness of the system of internal audit.  This 
review is undertaken annually and considered by the Managing Director. The 
review has highlighted an area where the Council has not fully complied with 
the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS). The PSIAS require the 
Internal Audit activity to be independent and objective, however, during the 
year the Chief Audit Executive for the Council has been the S151 Officer who 
was not entirely independent due to her operational responsibilities. 

This arrangement was of a temporary nature due to the absence of the Audit, 
Risk and Anti-Fraud Manager. Appropriate mitigating actions were put in 
place to ensure there was no threat to independence from this arrangement. 
These included ensuring that the Audit, Risk and Anti-Fraud Manager 
/Principal Auditor  had access to both the Managing Director and the Audit 
Chair and ensuring that all internal audit reviews carried out during the year 
were summarised for the Audit Board within the Internal Audit progress 



APPENDIX A

Page 8 of 12

report. A number of audits were undertaken within the area of responsibility of 
the S151 Officer, however, she had no direct involvement in these audits 
other than reviewing the final reports. 

Moving forward, the Chief Audit Executive role will pass to the Audit, Risk and 
Anti-Fraud Manager, which will ensure the independence and objectivity of 
the role. Based on the internal reviews the Managing Director has assessed 
the effectiveness of the system of internal control as “satisfactory” – indicating 
that there are proper arrangements in place.  The full details of the  internal  
review has been reported to the Audit Board, alongside this Annual 
Assurance Statement, as it is a key element of the review of the system of 
internal control and governance framework.

It is a responsibility of the Audit Board (as detailed in the Constitution) to 
monitor the work of Internal Audit and to ensure that any actions agreed are 
implemented. Its Terms of Reference are outlined in the Council's 
Constitution and are reviewed annually.

Performance and Risk Management

                       The following is the normal procedure for the review of risk:

 Reports on performance, which include performance indicators and 
monitoring of key objectives and targets, are regularly provided to 
management.

 The Council’s risk management processes are regularly reviewed and 
reported to the Audit Board and Cabinet, as appropriate. 

 Strategic risk is aligned to corporate priorities and reports are 
produced for Management Team and Members.

                       A revised risk management process was implemented in 2013/14 and was 
reviewed by senior managers in 2015/16.

The development needs of Members and senior officers in relation to their 
strategic roles, supported by appropriate training 

Members receive training on key topics or where significant changes have 
occurred or new legislation introduced. Training for officers is considered at 
the annual appraisal meeting and also during the year, if required. 

1.4 REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS

1.4.1 Dartford Borough Council has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, 
a review of the effectiveness of its governance framework including the 
system of internal control.  This review is informed by:

 The work of Internal Audit and the Audit, Risk and Anti-Fraud 
Manager's Annual Report.



APPENDIX A

Page 9 of 12

 The work of senior managers within the Council who have 
responsibility for the development and maintenance of the governance 
environment.

 The work of the Senior Information Risk Officer

 The opinion of the external auditors as expressed in their annual 
report to the Audit Board.

 The detailed review which is undertaken on behalf of the Management 
Team.

 The overview provided by the Management Team.

 The Monitoring Officer’s Annual Report to the Audit Board.

1.4.2 The following processes have been applied in maintaining and reviewing the 
effectiveness of the governance framework: 

Council

The Corporate Plan, Constitution, budget and other strategies and polices 
are approved and reviewed by the General Assembly of the Council.  

Cabinet 

The Cabinet receives reports on financial performance.

                        Scrutiny Committee and Policy Overview Committee 

These Committees have respectively a role in (a) reviewing/scrutinising 
action and decisions taken and (b) advising on policy.

Audit Board

The Audit Board receives quarterly updates on the assurance which can be 
placed on various systems and processes during the year, along with an 
annual assessment at the year end. 

The Audit Board reviews reports presented to it by the Audit, Risk and Anti-
Fraud Manager on the review of internal control.  The Board receives a 
summary of all internal audit reports and keeps a check on those areas that 
were assessed as unsatisfactory.  Additionally, it reviews the effectiveness of 
the Council’s risk management arrangements.

The Audit Board receives an annual report from the Monitoring Officer on 
ethical governance arrangements and on the effectiveness of the Corporate 
Complaints Procedure. 

Ethics is a key element of governance and the purpose of the Monitoring 
Officer’s annual review of the Council’s ethical governance is to ensure that 



APPENDIX A

Page 10 of 12

robust arrangements are in place and that the Council continues to develop 
and improve management and reporting arrangements so as to satisfy itself 
that its approach to ethical governance is both adequate and effective in 
practice.  

Senior Information Risk Officer

The ICT Manager has been designated as the Senior Information Risk 
Officer (SIRO), a role as recommended by the LGA and Information 
Commissioner with responsibility for ensuring that information governance is 
embedded into the organisation. The SIRO should also ensure that 
management of personal data related risks are weighed alongside the 
management of other risks facing the Council, such as financial, legal and 
operational risk.

Internal Audit

Based on the work completed in 2016-17 and other sources of assurance 
available to the function, the Audit, Risk and Anti-Fraud Manager’s overall 
annual assurance opinion is that the Council’s arrangements for internal 
control, risk management, governance and anti-fraud during the period is 
“effective”.

                       

1.5 SIGNIFICANT GOVERNANCE ISSUES  

1.5.1 As highlighted earlier within this report, the Chief Audit Executive role should 
be independent and objective, however, due to the absence of the Audit, Risk 
and Anti-Fraud Manager, this role has sat with the S151 Officer who is not 
independent due to her operational responsibilities. Appropriate steps have 
been taken to mitigate this potential threat to independence and, 
consequently, this has not prevented the Council’s corporate governance 
arrangements from operating effectively during the year. 

1.5.2 On the basis of the detailed review undertaken and consideration of that 
review by the Managing Director, the Council is satisfied that there are no 
other significant governance matters that need to be brought to the immediate 
attention of Members and that the Council’s corporate governance 
arrangements are adequate and operating effectively.

1.5.3 However, the following areas have been highlighted as requiring improvement 
and/or further development:

 Workforce Strategy

An action plan has been developed to deliver this and other less significant 
improvements.

1.5.4 Over the ensuing year, the Council will take steps to address the above 
matters to further enhance its governance arrangements.  We are satisfied 
that these steps will address the need for improvements that were identified in 
our review of effectiveness and will monitor their implementation and 



APPENDIX A

Page 11 of 12

operation as part of our next annual review. 

Signatures: Date:
Leader of the Council

Date:
Managing Director



APPENDIX A

Page 12 of 12



APPENDIX B

Page 1 of 65

 Review of Annual Governance Statement and the Assurance Gathering Process

 

Establish principal statutory 
obligations and organisational 

objectives
Objective 1

Identify principal risks to achievement of objectives

Identify and evaluate key controls to manage principal risks

Obtain assurances on effectiveness of key controls

Evaluate assurances and identify gaps in control/assurances

Action plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous 
improvement of the system of Corporate Governance

Annual Governance Statement

Report to Cabinet/Executive Committee

Objective 2

Objective 3

Objective 4

Objective 5

Objective 6

Objective 7

Objective 8

Apply the Seven Core 
Principles from International 

Framework



APPENDIX B

Page 2 of 65

OBJECTIVE 1: Establishing principal statutory obligations and organisational objectives

STEP 1: Mechanism established to identify principal statutory obligations and organisational objectives  

Possible sources of 
assurance:

Evidenced by: What do DBC have in place? Gaps and areas to 
develop

1. Responsibilities for 
statutory obligations are 
formally established

 Documents (e.g. 
constitution) recording 
individual officer and 
member responsibilities 

 Minutes of delegations to 
officers and committees

 Committee terms of 
reference

 Job descriptions of key 
officers 

 Structure charts
 Policies and procedures

Committee framework including the Policy 
Overview Committee and the Scrutiny Committee
Constitution (recording of responsibilities)
Financial Regulations
Gifts and Hospitality Registers (Members and 
Officers respectively)
Human Resources Policies and Procedures
Scheme of Delegations to Officers
Standing Orders 
Statutory Officers’ roles and responsibilities 
documented
Structure/Organisational Charts
Terms of Reference of Committees
Contracts Standing Orders
Procurement Guide
Committee reports and minutes
Monitoring Officer Annual report 
Legal implications in committee reports
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Policy - 
regular review 
Partnerships’ Code of Practice Review
Data Protection Policy
Guidance on how to deal with and avoid Data 
Security Breaches
Information Sharing Arrangements
Equalities Monitoring 
Treasury Management Panel 
Contract conditions 
Transparency agenda compliance

The review of HR 
policies including 
codes of conduct is 
continuing.

2. Record held of statutory 
obligations

 Accessible record of 
statutory obligations (e.g. 
central registry or legal 
library, intranet)

Law library
Intranet
Web based subscription services e.g. Westlaw,  
etc. 



APPENDIX B

Page 3 of 65

Possible sources of 
assurance:

Evidenced by: What do DBC have in place? Gaps and areas to 
develop

3. Effective procedures to 
identify, evaluate, 
communicate, implement, 
comply with and monitor 
legislative change exist 
and are used

 Review of established 
processes in place

 Appointment of suitably 
qualified and experienced 
employees, selected 
against accurate and 
specific job descriptions 
and person specifications

 Evidence of effective 
arrangements for internal 
and external 
communication (e.g. by 
review of communication 
of recent legislation to 
relevant officers and 
members)

 Appropriate induction 
training has been given to 
specific post holders

 Awareness training 
tailored to job profiles has 
been provided

 Inspection of reports to 
members on implications 
of new legislation

 Evidence that assurance 
has been given to Chief 
Executive (or equivalent) 

Internal Audit reports
External Audit reports
Monitoring Officer Annual Report
Corporate Complaints Annual Report
Ombudsman Annual Letter
Appropriately qualified heads of 
departments/teams with relevant 
professional/educational qualifications and career 
history and appropriate experience
Job Profiles and Competencies
Continuing Professional Development support

Induction
Management Team Minutes
Members’ Information Bulletin
Minutes of Committees
Monitoring Officer Annual Report to the Audit 
Board
Publication of minutes on the Council’s website
Regular training on DPA and FOI/EIR
Regular review of procurement procedures etc.
Quarterly procurement debriefs
Reports to Council, committees etc. on 
implications of new legislation
Section 151 Officer Statement of Assurance 
Audit Board Statement of Assurance (ethical 
governance related matters) through Monitoring 
Officer’s Report

Induction procedures
Statutory Officer appointments

Reports to Council, committees etc. on 
implications of new legislation
Reports and minutes publicised on the Council’s 
website and the intranet

Induction process to 
be updated



APPENDIX B

Page 4 of 65

Possible sources of 
assurance:

Evidenced by: What do DBC have in place? Gaps and areas to 
develop

that all relevant legislative 
changes have been 
reported and addressed

Assurance Statement
Audit Board Statement of Assurance (ethical 
governance related matters) 
Monitoring Officer Annual Report to the Audit 
Board

4. Effective action is taken 
where areas of non-
compliance are found in 
either mechanism or 
legislation

 Review of evidence to 
demonstrate that action 
has been taken to 
overcome identified areas 
of non-compliance, for 
example:
o Internal /external audit 

reports to audit 
committee or 
equivalent;

o Monitoring reports on 
progress on delivering 
action plans in 
response to identified 
legal/statutory risks in 
risk register (e.g. on 
implementation of 
Freedom of 
Information Act 2000)

o Evidence of corrective 
action being taken in 
response to upheld 
complaints against 
the authority

Corporate Complaints Procedure
Covalent logging of complaints and responses 
and analysis of complaints and corrective action 
taken
Quarterly reports to Management Team and 
Policy Overview Committee on complaints
FOI procedures
Data Protection procedures
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 
procedures
Internal Audit/External Auditor reports
Ombudsman decisions
Monitoring Officer Section 5 reports
Risk Management Procedures
Section 151 Officer reports
Capability Procedure
Disciplinary Policy and Procedure
Code of Conduct respectively for Members and 
Officers
Contract Standing Orders
HR policies

Voluntary reporting to the Information 
Commissioner of data security breaches  



APPENDIX B

Page 5 of 65

OBJECTIVE 1: Establishing principal statutory obligations and organisational objectives 

STEP 2: Mechanism in place to establish organisational objectives

Possible sources of assurance: Evidenced by: What do DBC have in place? Gaps and areas to 
develop

1. Consultation with 
stakeholders on priorities and 
objectives

 Results from internal 
and/or external 
consultation exercises 
have been analysed 
and published

Consultation Strategy agreed 11 June 2015.
Annual Budget Consultation

2. The authority’s priorities and 
organisational objectives have 
been agreed (taking into 
account feedback from 
consultation)

 Authority’s approved 
and published 
strategic plan takes 
account of all 
consultation and local 
and national priorities

 Priorities and 
objectives in strategic 
partnerships are 
aligned with corporate 
priorities and 
objectives  

Consultation responses on priorities are reported 
to Cabinet

The Corporate Plan 2014-2017 was approved by 
Cabinet in January 2015

3. Priorities and objectives are 
aligned to principal statutory 
obligations and relate to 
available funding

 Corporate priorities 
and objectives are 
clearly set out in the 
strategic plan

 Strategic plan takes 
account of annual 
budget and medium 
term financial plan

 Financial plans take 
account of strategic 
partnership 
contributions and 
income streams

Corporate Plan
Medium Term Financial Strategy
Annual budget review
Service Plans

These are linked to the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy and the budget reflects the priorities as 
set out in the Plan

The budget reflects partner contributions to 
projects and services

4. Objectives are reflected in 
departmental plans and are 

 Clear terms of 
reference are set for 

Service Plans flow from the Corporate Plan, with 
defined linkages



APPENDIX B

Page 6 of 65

Possible sources of assurance: Evidenced by: What do DBC have in place? Gaps and areas to 
develop

clearly matched with 
associated budgets

the preparation of 
departmental and/or 
service plans

 Departmental and/or 
service plans clearly 
reflect corporate 
objectives and match 
approved funding  

 Annual reports are 
produced on the 
outcome of 
departmental and/or 
service plans

Covalent reporting on status of PIs
Budget process takes account of service issues

The Council has Service Plans which
link to the Corporate Plan and individual 
performance assessments.
Service Plans are monitored through the 
Council’s performance management system - 
Directors, Management Team and Cabinet/Policy 
Overview reports 

5. The authority’s objectives are 
clearly communicated to staff 
and to all stakeholders, 
including partners.

 A communication 
strategy in respect of 
the corporate 
objectives has been 
developed, approved 
and implemented

 Documented meetings 
across departments to 
discuss key objectives 
in corporate and 
departmental and/or 
service plans 

 Corporate objectives 
and aims are set out in 
key documents on the 
authority’s website and 
intranet site

Consultation and Engagement Strategy 2015-
2018

Corporate Plan 

Service Plans
Senior Manager meetings
Staff Appraisals
Partnerships’ Code of Practice
Information Sharing arrangements
Data Handling Guidelines
MoU between Crime and Disorder (Overview and 
Scrutiny) Committee and Community Safety 
Partnership 

Community Right to Challenge procedures 
implemented and publicised on the Internet

OBJECTIVE 1: Establishing principal statutory obligations and organisational objectives



APPENDIX B

Page 7 of 65

STEP 3: Effective corporate governance arrangements are embedded within authority 

Possible sources of assurance: Evidenced by: What do DBC have in place? Gaps and areas to 
develop

1. Code of corporate 
governance established

 A Code of Corporate 
Governance in line 
with the 
CIPFA/SOLACE 
guidance relevant to 
the type of authority 
has been adopted by 
the authority

 A communication 
strategy in relation to 
the Code has been 
developed, approved 
and implemented 

Approved by Cabinet in Jan 2017

2. Review and monitoring 
arrangements in place

 The Code itself 
incorporates a review 
date and/or a system 
for continuous update 
in response to 
changed requirements

 There are clear 
arrangements for 
continuously 
monitoring compliance 
with the Code e.g. 
reports on compliance 
are regularly submitted 
to the committee 
charged with corporate 
governance 
responsibility

 An annual report on 
compliance with the 
Code of Corporate 
Governance is 

Ethical Governance Framework Internal/External 
audit reports on adequacy of corporate 
governance arrangements
Monitoring Officer Annual Report to Audit Board
Annual Corporate Complaints Report to Audit 
Board
Annual Review of Whistleblowing Policy by Audit 
Board
Scrutiny Committee draw downs
Audit Board functions on ethical governance 
framework
Partnerships’ Code of Practice

Annual review of governance arrangements 
reported to MT for approval before submitting to 
Audit Board

Corporate Governance Action Plan agreed by 
Audit Board



APPENDIX B

Page 8 of 65

Possible sources of assurance: Evidenced by: What do DBC have in place? Gaps and areas to 
develop

prepared and 
submitted to members

 Internal/external audit 
reports on adequacy of 
corporate governance 
arrangements

 An action plan is 
prepared to address 
any significant 
identified weaknesses 
in complying with the 
Code and is 
continuously 
monitored by the 
authority or committee 
charged with corporate 
governance 
responsibility

As part of standard audit reviews

Submitted to Audit Board

3. Committee charged with 
governance responsibilities

 Responsibility for 
overseeing corporate 
governance has been 
formally delegated to 
an appropriate 
committee

 Committee terms of 
reference clearly 
demonstrating 
responsibility for 
corporate governance 
issues have been 
approved by the 
authority 

 Terms of reference are 
sufficiently 
comprehensive to 
ensure that all 

Audit Board Terms of Reference incorporating 
corporate governance framework responsibilities 
approved at Annual Meeting

Reports and Minutes



APPENDIX B

Page 9 of 65

Possible sources of assurance: Evidenced by: What do DBC have in place? Gaps and areas to 
develop

appropriate aspects of 
corporate governance 
are covered

 Agendas and minutes 
from the committee 
charged with corporate 
governance 
responsibility indicate 
that the responsibility 
is being discharged 
adequately in 
accordance with terms 
of reference

4. Governance training provided 
to key officers and all 
members

 Induction training for 
key new officers and 
all new members 
incorporate suitable 
coverage on corporate 
governance issues 
according to 
responsibilities

 Ongoing awareness 
training is provided as 
appropriate to key staff 
and all members to 
ensure that changes in 
the Code are made 
known within the 
authority

Governance training for new members

Agreed that key staff are: - Management Team, 
Statutory Officers, Financial Services Manager, 
Head of Legal Services and Policy and 
Corporate Support Manager. Not necessary for 
other senior managers to receive full training 
Awareness provided as part of general MT 
debrief and Senior Managers’ MT meetings

Update training on 
ethical governance

5. Staff, public and other 
stakeholder awareness of 
corporate governance

 There is a general staff 
awareness training 
programme

 The Code has been 
published and is 

Audit Board training on ethical governance 
framework
Scrutiny and Policy Overview Committees’ 
minutes published on the Council’s website



APPENDIX B

Page 10 of 65

Possible sources of assurance: Evidenced by: What do DBC have in place? Gaps and areas to 
develop

accessible to all staff, 
the public and other 
stakeholders

Staff considered above
Governance briefing for staff published on 
intranet 

Key partners aware of Council’s governance 
arrangements and in the main have similar 
arrangements



APPENDIX B

Page 11 of 65

OBJECTIVE 1: Establishing principal statutory obligations and organisational objectives

STEP 4: Performance management arrangements are in place 

Possible sources of assurance: Evidenced by: What do DBC have in place? Gaps and areas to 
develop

1. Comprehensive and effective 
performance management 
systems operate routinely

 There is a clearly 
defined performance 
management 
framework that 
identifies:
o all sources of 

performance 
measures;

o who is responsible 
for achieving each 
performance 
measure;

o who is responsible 
for collating the 
data for each one;

o who determines 
and approves the 
performance 
measures;

o who receives 
reports on 
performance and 
how often;

o how data quality is 
assured;

o how performance 
data is captured 
and its integrity 
maintained;

o how poor 
performance is 
addressed;

o how performance 

Integrated Performance Management system, 
with Actions and Targets in Corporate Plan, 
flowing down to Service Plans with Actions, 
Risks and Targets
Relevant Actions flow through Staff Performance 
Appraisal process

Report made quarterly to Cabinet and Policy 
Overview

Information is held on Corporate Covalent IT 
Performance System, with nominated staff for 
data entry and data authorisation – data has to 
be added monthly and escalation triggers if not 
entered
Covalent provides access to latest information 
for Managers at any time
At least quarterly reports to Management Team
Data Quality Strategy, with supporting base 
data/documentation held in note form on 
Covalent
Service targets agreed by Management Team to 
reflect aspirations and resource allocations

Benchmarking included in service reviews where 
appropriate.

Internal audit reviews include benchmarks 
where appropriate

Corporate Plan to be 
refreshed and key PIs to 
be reconsidered

Data Quality due for 
review



APPENDIX B

Page 12 of 65

Possible sources of assurance: Evidenced by: What do DBC have in place? Gaps and areas to 
develop

is driven upwards 
over time

 Reports resulting from 
internal or external 
reviews of 
performance 
management 

 Year-on-year 
comparison of 
achievement against 
performance targets 
(e.g. in annual reports)

 Best value reviews, 
including 
benchmarking results

 Departmental and/or 
service benchmarking 
results

 Annual reports issued 
by, or in relation to, 
strategic partnerships

2. Key performance indicators 
are established and 
monitored

 Appropriate key 
performance indicators 
(KPIs) have been 
established and 
approved for each 
service element and 
are included in 
departmental and 
service 
business/annual plans

 KPIs have been 
developed and are 
monitored in respect of 
key partnerships

Targets in Corporate Plan, flowing down to 
Service Plans – local or Service targets included 
with Actions, Risks and Targets

Key performance indicators reported to Senior 
Management Team on a monthly basis

Report made quarterly to Cabinet and Policy 
Overview

Covalent



APPENDIX B

Page 13 of 65

Possible sources of assurance: Evidenced by: What do DBC have in place? Gaps and areas to 
develop

 A robust monitoring 
system has been 
approved and 
implemented

 There are regular 
reports on progress on 
delivering approved 
KPIs

 There is an approved 
mechanism for 
reviewing the 
continuing suitability of 
KPIs and for securing 
continuous 
improvement  

Agreed actions from Service Plans geared to 
achieve key PIs are monitored and reported as 
are the key risks

3. The authority knows how well 
it is performing against its 
planned outcomes

 Regular reports are 
presented to members 
on the delivery of 
national, authority, 
departmental and 
partnership 
performance targets

 Internal and external 
auditor’s reports on 
key performance 
indicators 

 Key performance 
indicator risk 
scorecards

 Service reviews and 
progress reviews 
against the action 
plans.

 Monitoring reports on 
the achievement of 
local performance 

Budget monitoring reports
Monitoring of action plans
Covalent reports to Management Team
Annual Audit Letter
External Audit reports to Audit Board
Annual Ombudsman Letter
Performance management reports to MT 

Risk management system revised in 2013 and 
rolled out with training

PI report made quarterly to Cabinet and Policy 
Overview

Specific Action Plans produced and monitored



APPENDIX B

Page 14 of 65

Possible sources of assurance: Evidenced by: What do DBC have in place? Gaps and areas to 
develop

targets in the Local 
Policing Plan

 Internal performance 
indicators 

 Regular budget 
monitoring reports 
(capital and revenue, 
current year and 
medium-term)

 Voluntary 
benchmarking 
exercises with peer 
groups 

 National comparative 
performance 
measures against 
comparable authorities

Many services will benchmark against peers but 
most will rely on national data e.g. council tax, 
benefits

4. Knowledge of absolute and 
relative performances 
achieved is used to support 
decisions that drive 
improvements in outcomes

 Monitoring reports are 
regularly presented to 
the appropriate 
committee

 The reports include 
detailed performance 
results, both absolute 
and relative to peer 
authorities, a clear 
indication of below 
target, on target and 
at, or above, target 
results, highlighting 
areas where corrective 
action is necessary 

 Committee reports on 
below par performance 

Performance Management system
Service Plans
Annual budget review
Service Reviews
Feedback from customers
Monthly reports to Senior Management Team.
Target performance reviewed via appraisal and 
one to one process
Housing performance reviewed 6 monthly by the 
Resident Involvement Joint Liaison Group



APPENDIX B

Page 15 of 65

Possible sources of assurance: Evidenced by: What do DBC have in place? Gaps and areas to 
develop

include ‘SMART’ 
action plans to 
improve performance

 Performance targets in 
subsequent corporate 
and departmental 
and/or service 
business plans are 
revised in the light of 
actual performance

 Continuous 
improvement is strived 
for by increasing the 
difficulty of 
performance targets 
when they have been 
met over a period (e.g. 
movements on KPI 
results)

Continuous improvement sought in those 
services where considered appropriate by 
Management Team 

5. The authority continuously 
improves its performance 
management

 The performance 
management systems 
are regularly reviewed 
and updated to take 
account of changes in 
organisational 
structure, new 
performance 
measurement 
frameworks (i.e. new 
Government initiatives, 
new internal 
performance 
measures etc.) and 
other factors

 The performance 
management 

Data Quality Strategy
Internal/External audit recommendations 
implemented
Review of Performance Management system in 
2014

Reviewed annually for lessons learnt 

Covalent performance management software



APPENDIX B

Page 16 of 65

Possible sources of assurance: Evidenced by: What do DBC have in place? Gaps and areas to 
develop

arrangements are 
revised in line with 
external or internal 
review of the 
arrangements

 Performance 
management 
arrangements are 
reviewed to assimilate 
new techniques and/or 
technology e.g. 
developments in 
performance 
management 
information systems

 Performance 
management 
arrangements are 
developed and 
monitored in relation to 
key partnerships



APPENDIX B

Page 17 of 65

OBJECTIVE 1:    Apply the seven core principles of the international framework

CORE PRINCIPLE A: Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and respecting the rule of law

Sub-Principle Local Code Requirement Possible sources of 
assurance

What do DBC have in place? Gaps and 
areas to 
develop

Behaving with 
integrity 

Ensuring members and officers 
behave with integrity and lead 
a culture where acting in the 
public interest is visibly and 
consistently demonstrated 
thereby protecting the 
reputation of the organisation 

Ensuring members take the 
lead in establishing specific 
standard operating principles 
or values for the organisation 
and its staff and that they are 
communicated and 
understood. These should 
build on the Seven Principles 
of Public Life (the Nolan 
Principles) 

Leading by example and using 
these standard operating 
principles or values as a 
framework for decision making 
and other actions 

Codes of conduct:
Individual sign off with regard 
to compliance with code 

Induction for new members 
and staff on standard of 
behaviour expected 
Performance appraisals 

Communicating shared 
values with members, staff, 
the community and partners 

Decision making practices:
Declarations of interests 
made at meetings 
Conduct at meetings 
Shared values guide decision 
making 
Develop and maintain an 
effective standards 
committee 

Member/Officer Relations’ Protocol
Codes of Conduct. 
Employee Handbook
Appraisal process
Training for new members and 
Induction for Staff

Corporate Plan

Members Code of Conduct

Staff Code of Conduct

Staff Handbook

Formal declarations of interest.

Audit Board



APPENDIX B

Page 18 of 65

Sub-Principle Local Code Requirement Possible sources of 
assurance

What do DBC have in place? Gaps and 
areas to 
develop

Demonstrating, communicating 
and embedding the standard 
operating principles or values 
through appropriate policies 
and processes which are 
reviewed on a regular basis to 
ensure that they are operating 
effectively 

Anti-fraud and corruption 
policies are working 
effectively 

Up-to-date register of 
interests (members and staff) 

Up-to-date register of gifts 
and hospitality 

Whistleblowing policies are in 
place and protect individuals 
raising concerns 

Whistleblowing policy has 
been made available to 
members of the public, 
employees, partners and 
contractors

Complaints policy and 
examples of responding to 
complaints about behaviour 
Changes/improvements as a 
result of complaints received 
and acted upon 

Members and officers code of 
conduct refers to a 
requirement to declare 
interests 
Minutes show declarations of 
interest were sought and 
appropriate declarations 
made 

Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy

Registers of Interests (Members 
and Officers)

Gifts and hospitality Registers 
(Members and Officers)

Whistleblowing Policy
Whistleblowing investigations

Whistleblowing Policy published

Corporate Complaints Annual 
Report to the Audit Board

Officers and Members code makes 
requirement clear 

Minutes show declarations when 
made



APPENDIX B

Page 19 of 65

Sub-Principle Local Code Requirement Possible sources of 
assurance

What do DBC have in place? Gaps and 
areas to 
develop

Demonstrating 
strong commitment 
to ethical values

Respecting the rule 
of law

Seeking to establish, monitor 
and maintain the 
organisation’s ethical 
standards and performance 

Underpinning personal 
behaviour with ethical values 
and ensuring they permeate all 
aspects of the organisation’s 
culture and operation 

Developing and maintaining 
robust policies and procedures 
which place emphasis on 
agreed ethical values 

Ensuring that external 
providers of services on behalf 
of the organisation are 
required to act with integrity 
and in compliance with high 
ethical standards expected by 
the organisation 

Ensuring members and staff 
demonstrate a strong 
commitment to the rule of the 
law as well as adhering to 
relevant laws and regulations 

Scrutiny of ethical decision 
making 
Championing ethical 
compliance at governing 
body level 

Provision of ethical 
awareness training 

Appraisal processes take 
account of values and ethical 
behaviour 
Staff appointments policy 
Procurement policy 

Agreed values in partnership 
working: 
Statement of business ethics 
communicates commitment 
to ethical values to external 
suppliers 
Ethical values feature in 
contracts with external 
service providers 
Protocols for partnership 
working 

Statutory provisions 
Statutory guidance is 
followed 
Constitution

Audit Board Statement of 
Assurance (ethical governance 
related matters) through Monitoring 
Officer’s Report

Audit Board Training

Procurement Strategy includes 
ethics and probity Staff expected to 
act in line with the Council’s values.

Partnerships’ Code of Practice 
includes ethical standards

Constitution and see objective 1 for 
statutory element

Anti-slavery and 
Human 
Trafficking 
Statement

Anti-slavery to 
be incorporated 
in procurement 
procedures



APPENDIX B

Page 20 of 65

Sub-Principle Local Code Requirement Possible sources of 
assurance

What do DBC have in place? Gaps and 
areas to 
develop

Creating the conditions to 
ensure that the statutory 
officers, other key post holders 
and members are able to fulfil 
their responsibilities in 
accordance with legislative 
and regulatory requirements 

Striving to optimise the use of 
the full powers available for the 
benefit of citizens, 
communities and other 
stakeholders 

Dealing with breaches of legal 
and regulatory provisions 
effectively 

Ensuring corruption and 
misuse of power are dealt with 
effectively 

Job description/specifications 
Compliance with CIPFA’s 
Statement on the Role of the 
Chief Financial Officer in 
Local Government (CIPFA, 
2015) 
Terms of reference 
Committee support 

Record of legal advice 
provided by officers 

Monitoring officer provisions 
Record of legal advice 
provided by officers 
Statutory provisions 

Effective anti-fraud and 
corruption policies and 
procedures 
Local test of assurance 
(where appropriate) 

Job descriptions and terms of 
reference in place

Legal advice maintained by officers 
and legal comments on reports 
(where applicable)

Anti-fraud and Corruption Strategy 
Internal audit of Fraud Functions



APPENDIX B

Page 21 of 65

CORE PRINCIPLE B: Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement
 

Supporting 
Principle

Local Code Requirement Possible sources of 
assurance

What do DBC have in place? Gaps and 
areas to 
develop

Openness Ensuring an open culture 
through demonstrating, 
documenting and 
communicating the 
organisation’s commitment 
to openness 

Making decisions that are 
open about actions, plans, 
resource use, forecasts, 
outputs and outcomes. The 
presumption is for 
openness. If that is not the 
case, a justification for the 
reasoning for keeping a 
decision confidential should 
be provided 

Providing clear reasoning 
and evidence for decisions 
in both public records and 
explanations to 
stakeholders and being 
explicit about the criteria, 
rationale and considerations 
used. In due course, 
ensuring that the impact 
and consequences of those 
decisions are clear 

Annual report 
Freedom of Information Act 
publication scheme 
Online council tax information 
Authority’s goals and values 
Authority website 

Record of decision making and 
supporting materials 

Decision making protocols 
Report pro-formas 
Record of professional advice 
in reaching decisions 
Meeting reports show details 
of advice given 
Discussion between members 
and officers on the information 
needs of members to support 
decision making 
Agreement on the information 
that will be provided and 
timescales 
Calendar for submitting, 
publishing and distributing 

Statement of Accounts
Freedom of Information Act 
Publication Scheme 
Corporate Plan
Compliance with Transparency 
Code

Online publishing of decisions
Council meetings open and 
minutes published

Report pro-formas with mandatory 
finance and legal sections

Report submission timetable



APPENDIX B

Page 22 of 65

Supporting 
Principle

Local Code Requirement Possible sources of 
assurance

What do DBC have in place? Gaps and 
areas to 
develop

Engaging 
comprehensively with 
institutional 
stakeholders 

Using formal and informal 
consultation and 
engagement to determine 
the most appropriate and 
effective interventions/ 
courses of action 

Effectively engaging with 
institutional stakeholders to 
ensure that the purpose, 
objectives and intended 
outcomes for each 
stakeholder relationship are 
clear so that outcomes are 
achieved successfully and 
sustainably 

Developing formal and 
informal partnerships to 
allow for resources to be 
used more efficiently and 
outcomes achieved more 
effectively 

Ensuring that partnerships 
are based on: 

 trust 
 a shared commitment 

to change 
 a culture that promotes 

and accepts challenge 
among partners 

timely reports is adhered to 
Community strategy 
Use of consultation feedback 
Citizen survey

Communication strategy 

Database of stakeholders with 
whom the authority should 
engage and for what purpose 
and a record of an assessment 
of the effectiveness of any 
changes 

Partnership framework 
Partnership protocols 

Communications channels decided 
for specific activity in accordance 
with Consultation and Engagement 
Strategy 

Consultation and Engagement 
Strategy

Consultation log

Partnerships’ Code of Practice
Partnerships Register



APPENDIX B

Page 23 of 65

Supporting 
Principle

Local Code Requirement Possible sources of 
assurance

What do DBC have in place? Gaps and 
areas to 
develop

Engaging 
stakeholders 
effectively, including 
individual citizens 
and service users 

 and that the added 
value of partnership 
working is explicit 

Establishing a clear policy 
on the type of issues that 
the organisation will 
meaningfully consult with or 
involve individual citizens, 
service users and other 
stakeholders to ensure that 
service (or other) provision 
is contributing towards the 
achievement of intended 
outcomes 

Ensuring that 
communication methods 
are effective and that 
members and officers are 
clear about their roles with 
regard to community 
engagement 

Encouraging, collecting and 
evaluating the views and 
experiences of 
communities, citizens, 
service users and 
organisations of different 
backgrounds including 
reference to future needs 

Implementing effective 

Record of public consultations 
Partnership framework

Communications strategy 

Communications strategy 
Joint strategic needs 
assessment 

Processes for dealing with 

Consultation and Engagement 
Strategy

Consultation Database

Complying with statutory 
consultation requirements

Guidance for members on outside 
bodies 

Consultation and Engagement 
Strategy



APPENDIX B

Page 24 of 65

Supporting 
Principle

Local Code Requirement Possible sources of 
assurance

What do DBC have in place? Gaps and 
areas to 
develop

feedback mechanisms in 
order to demonstrate how 
their views have been taken 
into account 

Balancing feedback from 
more active stakeholder 
groups with other 
stakeholder groups to 
ensure inclusivity 

Taking account of the 
interests of future 
generations of tax payers 
and service users 

competing demands within the 
community, for example a 
consultation 

Processes for dealing with 
competing demands within the 
community, for example a 
consultation 

Reports 
Joint strategic needs 
assessment 

Consultation and Engagement 
Strategy

Joint Resident Involvement 
Liaison Group

Youth Forum
Equality duty consultations



APPENDIX B

Page 25 of 65

CORE PRINCIPLE C: Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and environmental benefits 

Supporting 
Principle

Local Code Requirement Possible sources of 
assurance

What do DBC have in place? Gaps and 
areas to 
develop

Defining 
outcomes.

Having a clear vision which is 
an agreed formal statement of 
the organisation’s purpose and 
intended outcomes containing 
appropriate performance 
indicators, which provides the 
basis for the organisation’s 
overall strategy, planning and 
other decisions 

Specifying the intended impact 
on, or changes for, 
stakeholders including citizens 
and service users. It could be 
immediately or over the course 
of a year or longer 

Delivering defined outcomes 
on a sustainable basis within 
the resources that will be 
available 

Vision used as a basis for 
corporate and service 
planning

Community engagement and 
involvement
Corporate and service plans
Community strategy

Regular reports on progress
 

Corporate Plan, Service Plans

Consultation and Engagement 
Strategy

Support of local groups through 
grant funding

Financial Reports

Sustainable 
economic, social 
and environmental 
benefits

Considering and balancing the 
combined economic, social 
and environmental impact of 
policies, plans and decisions 
when taking decisions about 
service provision 

Capital investment is 
structured to achieve 
appropriate life spans and 
adaptability for future use or 
that resources (eg land) are 
spend on optimising social, 
economic and environmental 
wellbeing:

 Capital programme
 Capital investment 

Capital Programme Review Capital 
Project 
Assessment 
Process 



APPENDIX B

Page 26 of 65

Supporting 
Principle

Local Code Requirement Possible sources of 
assurance

What do DBC have in place? Gaps and 
areas to 
develop

Taking a longer-term view with 
regard to decision making, 
taking account of risk and 
acting transparently where 
there are potential conflicts 
between the organisation’s 
intended outcomes and short-
term factors such as the 
political cycle or financial 
constraints 

Determining the wider public 
interest associated with 
balancing conflicting interests 
between achieving the various 
economic, social and 
environmental benefits, 
through consultation where 
possible, in order to ensure 
appropriate trade-offs 

Ensuring fair access to 
services 

strategy

Discussion between 
members and officers on the 
information needs of 
members to support decision 
making
Record of decision making 
and supporting materials

Record of decision making 
and supporting materials
Protocols for consultation

Protocols ensure fair access 
and statutory guidance is 
followed
Further guidance
Building Partnerships Insights 
from the Devolution Summit 
(CIPFA/Grant Thornton, 
2015)

Local plan and associated 
Development polices

Budget formulation and report

Consultation and Engagement 
Strategy

Equality and Diversity Document 
Framework
Procurement Equality Standard 



APPENDIX B

Page 27 of 65

CORE PRINCIPLE D: Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the intended outcomes

Supporting 
Principle

Local Code Requirement Possible sources of 
assurance

What do DBC have in place? Gaps and 
areas to 
develop

Determining 
interventions

Ensuring decision makers 
receive objective and rigorous 
analysis of a variety of options 
indicating how intended 
outcomes would be achieved 
and including the risks 
associated with those options. 
Therefore ensuring best value 
is achieved however services 
are provided 

Considering feedback from 
citizens and service users 
when making decisions about 
service improvements or 
where services are no longer 
required in order to prioritise 
competing demands within 
limited resources available 
including people, skills, land 
and assets and bearing in 
mind future impacts 

Discussion between 
members and officers on the 
information needs of 
members to support decision 
making
Decision making protocols
Option appraisals
Agreement of information that 
will be provided and 
timescales

Financial Strategy

Regular discussions between 
officers and members

Option appraisals provided 
when relevant

Budget feedback and spending 
choices survey

Planning 
interventions

Establishing and implementing 
robust planning and control 
cycles that cover strategic and 
operational plans, priorities 
and targets 

Engaging with internal and 
external stakeholders in 
determining how services and 
other courses of action should 
be planned and delivered 

Calendar of dates for 
developing and submitting 
plans and reports that are 
adhered to

Communication strategy

Statutory reporting requirements 
Crime and Disorder work plan 
Regulations 12 notices
GAC Work Plan
Scrutiny Work Plan
Policy and Overview Work Plan

Consultation and Engagement 
Strategy



APPENDIX B

Page 28 of 65

Supporting 
Principle

Local Code Requirement Possible sources of 
assurance

What do DBC have in place? Gaps and 
areas to 
develop

Considering and monitoring 
risks facing each partner when 
working collaboratively 
including shared risks 

Ensuring arrangements are 
flexible and agile so that the 
mechanisms for delivering 
outputs can be adapted to 
changing circumstances 

Establishing appropriate key 
performance indicators (KPIs) 
as part of the planning process 
in order to identify how the 
performance of services and 
projects is to be measured 

Ensuring capacity exists to 
generate the information 
required to review service 
quality regularly 

Preparing budgets in 
accordance with organisational 
objectives, strategies and the 
medium term financial plan 

Informing medium and long 
term resource planning by 
drawing up realistic estimates 
of revenue and capital 
expenditure aimed at 
developing a sustainable 
funding strategy 

Partnership framework
Risk management protocol

Planning protocols

KPIs have been established 
and approved for each 
service element and included 
in the service plan and are 
reported upon regularly

Reports include detailed 
performance results and 
highlight areas where 
corrective action is necessary

Evidence that budgets, plans 
and objectives are aligned

Budget guidance and 
protocols
Medium term financial plan
Corporate plans

Strategic Risk Register and Risk 
Management Framework

Standing order 38
Delegations to Officers
Ability to call additional meetings

Monthly Service reports to 
Management Team and Corporate 
Plan PIs. 

Monitoring on Covalent

Budgets and savings proposed 
assessed in the light of the 
Corporate Plan and organisational 
objectives

Medium Term Financial Plan



APPENDIX B

Page 29 of 65

Supporting 
Principle

Local Code Requirement Possible sources of 
assurance

What do DBC have in place? Gaps and 
areas to 
develop

Optimising 
achievement of 
intended 
outcomes

Ensuring the medium term 
financial strategy integrates 
and balances service priorities, 
affordability and other resource 
constraints 

Ensuring the budgeting 
process is all-inclusive, taking 
into account the full cost of 
operations over the medium 
and longer term 

Ensuring the medium term 
financial strategy sets the 
context for ongoing decisions 
on significant delivery issues or 
responses to changes in the 
external environment that may 
arise during the budgetary 
period in order for outcomes to 
be achieved while optimising 
resource usage 

Ensuring the achievement of 
‘social value’ through service 
planning and commissioning. 
The Public Services (Social 
Value) Act 2012 states that 
this is “the additional benefit to 
the community over and above 
the direct purchasing of goods, 
services and outcomes” 

Feedback surveys and 
exit/decommissioning 
strategies
Changes as a result

Budgeting guidance and 
protocols

Financial strategy

Service plans demonstrate 
consideration of “social 
value”
Achievement of “social value” 
is monitored and reported 
upon

Management Team feedback and 
input

Request to fill process require long 
term effects to be identified 
Procurement submission form

Budget Report & Medium Term 
Financial Plan

Included in Procurement Strategy
Example terms and conditions 
available. 
Larger contracts are particularly 
considered for Social Value. 
Examples of good practice in place



APPENDIX B

Page 30 of 65

CORE PRINCIPLE E: Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the individuals within it

Supporting 
Principle

Local Code Requirement Possible sources of 
assurance

What do DBC have in place? Gaps and 
areas to 
develop

Developing the 
entity’s capacity 

Reviewing operations, 
performance and use of assets 
on a regular basis to ensure 
their continuing effectiveness 

Improving resource use 
through appropriate application 
of techniques such as 
benchmarking and other 
options in order to determine 
how resources are allocated so 
that defined outcomes are 
achieved effectively and 
efficiently 

Recognising the benefits of 
partnerships and collaborative 
working where added value 
can be achieved 

Developing and maintaining an 
effective workforce plan to 
enhance the strategic 
allocation of resources 

Regular reviews of activities 
outputs and planned 
outcomes

Utilisation of research and 
benchmarking exercise

Effective operation of 
partnerships which deliver 
agreed outcomes

Workforce plan
Organisational developments 
plan

Budget Reviews and Management 
Team

Benchmarking e.g. Housemark and 
local comparators

Joint working

Service Level Agreements and 
monitoring thereof

Human Resources Function
Service Planning

Asset 
Management 
Review 

Workforce 
Strategy

Developing the 
capability of the 
entity’s leadership 
and other 
individuals 

Developing protocols to ensure 
that elected and appointed 
leaders negotiate with each 
other regarding their respective 
roles early on in the 

Job descriptions
Chief executive and leader 
pairings have considered 
how best to establish and 
maintain effective 

Well established relationship

Scheme of Delegations



APPENDIX B

Page 31 of 65

Supporting 
Principle

Local Code Requirement Possible sources of 
assurance

What do DBC have in place? Gaps and 
areas to 
develop

relationship and that a shared 
understanding of roles and 
objectives is maintained 

Publishing a statement that 
specifies the types of decisions 
that are delegated and those 
reserved for the collective 
decision making of the 
governing body 

Ensuring the leader and the 
chief executive have clearly 
defined and distinctive 
leadership roles within a 
structure whereby the chief 
executive leads in 
implementing strategy and 
managing the delivery of 
services and other outputs set 
by members and each 
provides a check and a 
balance for each other’s 
authority

Developing the capabilities of 
members and senior 
management to achieve 
effective leadership and to 
enable the organisation to 
respond successfully to 
changing legal and policy 
demands as well as economic, 
political and environmental 

communication.

Scheme of delegation 
reviewed at least annually in 
the light of legal and 
organisational changes.
Standing orders and financial 
regulations which are 
reviewed on a regular basis.

Clear statement of respective 
roles and responsibilities and 
how they will be put into 
practice.

Access to update 
courses/information briefings 
on new legislation

Annual review of Scheme of 
Delegations 

Well established relationship

Scheme of Delegations

Constitution

Member Training
Member Briefings



APPENDIX B

Page 32 of 65

Supporting 
Principle

Local Code Requirement Possible sources of 
assurance

What do DBC have in place? Gaps and 
areas to 
develop

changes and risks by: 

 ensuring members and staff 
have access to appropriate 
induction tailored to their role 
and that ongoing training and 
development matching 
individual and organisational 
requirements is available and 
encouraged

 ensuring members and 
officers have the appropriate 
skills, knowledge, resources 
and support to fulfil their 
roles and responsibilities and 
ensuring that they are able to 
update their knowledge on a 
continuing basis

 ensuring personal, 
organisational and system-
wide development through 
shared learning, including 
lessons learnt from 
governance weaknesses 
both internal and external 

Ensuring that there are 
structures in place to 
encourage public participation 

Induction programme
Personal development plans 
for members and officers

For example, for members 
this may include the ability to:

 Scrutinise and 
challenge

 Recognise when 
outside expert advice 
is required

 Promote trust
 Work in partnership
 Lead the organisation
 Act as community 

leader

Arrangements for succession 
planning

Residents panels
Stakeholders forum terms of 
reference

Induction for new Members
Induction checklist for staff

Training available for new 
Members

Induction training for new staff
Development training identified as 
part of appraisal process
Staff encouraged to attend 
professional seminars/conferences 
as appropriate

Resident Involvement Joint Liaison 
Group. Youth forum, Elders forum

Update 
induction 
process

Workforce 
strategy to be 
developed



APPENDIX B

Page 33 of 65

Supporting 
Principle

Local Code Requirement Possible sources of 
assurance

What do DBC have in place? Gaps and 
areas to 
develop

Taking steps to consider the 
leadership’s own effectiveness 
and ensuring leaders are open 
to constructive feedback from 
peer review and inspections 

Holding staff to account 
through regular performance 
reviews which take account of 
training or development needs 
Ensuring arrangements are in 
place to maintain the health 
and wellbeing of the workforce 
and support individuals in 
maintaining their own physical 
and mental wellbeing

Strategic partnership 
frameworks
Reviewing individual member 
performance on a regular 
basis taking account of their 
attendance and considering 
any training or development 
needs
Peer reviews

Training and development 
plan
Staff development plans 
linked to appraisals
Implementing appropriate 
human resource policies and 
ensuring that they are 
working effectively

Appraisals and Staff one to one’s

Training and Development plans



APPENDIX B

Page 34 of 65

CORE PRINCIPLE F:  Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public financial 
management

Supporting 
Principle

Local Code Requirement Possible sources of 
assurance

What do DBC have in place? Gaps and 
areas to 
develop

Managing risk Recognising that risk 
management is an integral part 
of all activities and must be 
considered in all aspects of 
decision making 

Implementing robust and 
integrated risk management 
arrangements and ensuring 
that they are working 
effectively 

Ensuring that responsibilities 
for managing individual risks 
are clearly allocated 

Risk management protocol

Risk management 
strategy/policy formally 
approved and adopted and 
reviewed and updated on a 
regular basis

Risk management protocol

Risk Management arrangements

Risk Management process updated 
in 2016 

Risk Strategy has been 
communicated to all managers

Further 
training to be 
provided to 
managers on 
risk 
management

Managing 
performance 

Monitoring service delivery 
effectively including planning, 
specification, execution and 
independent post 
implementation review

Making decisions based on 
relevant, clear objective 
analysis and advice pointing 
out the implications and risks 
inherent in the organisation’s 
financial, social and 
environmental position and 

Performance map showing all 
key activities have 
performance measures
Benchmarking information
Cost performance (using 
inputs and outputs)
Calendar of dates for 
submitting, publishing and 
distributing timely reports that 
are adhered to

Discussion between 
members and officers on the 
information needs of 
members to support decision 
making
Publication of agenda and 

Performance management system 
managed through Covalent system

Online publishing of decisions
Council meetings open and 
minutes published



APPENDIX B

Page 35 of 65

Supporting 
Principle

Local Code Requirement Possible sources of 
assurance

What do DBC have in place? Gaps and 
areas to 
develop

outlook 

Ensuring an effective scrutiny 
or oversight function is in place 
which provides constructive 
challenge and debate on 
policies and objectives before, 
during and after decisions are 
made thereby enhancing the 
organisation’s performance 
and that of any organisation for 
which it is responsible 

Providing members and senior 
management with regular 
reports on service delivery 
plans and on progress towards 
outcome achievement 

Ensuring there is consistency 
between specification stages 
(such as budgets) and post 
implementation reporting (e.g. 
financial statements) 

minutes of meetings
Agreement on the information 
that will be needed and 
timescales

The role and responsibility for 
scrutiny has been established 
and is clear
Agenda and minutes of 
scrutiny meetings
Evidence of improvements as 
a result of scrutiny
Terms of reference
Training for members
Membership

Calendar of dates for 
submitting, publishing and 
distributing timely reports that 
are adhered to

Financial standards, 
guidance
Financial regulations and 
standing order

Terms of Reference 
Training

Forward Plan, calendar of 
meetings and annual work plans 
e.g. scrutiny

Financial Regulations have been 
updated
Regular reports on finance, 
Budget, Monitoring and Outturn

?
Robust internal 
control

Aligning the risk management 
strategy and policies on 
internal control with achieving 
objectives 

Risk management strategy
Audit plan
Audit reports

All in place



APPENDIX B

Page 36 of 65

Supporting 
Principle

Local Code Requirement Possible sources of 
assurance

What do DBC have in place? Gaps and 
areas to 
develop

Evaluating and monitoring risk 
management and internal 
control on a regular basis 

Ensuring effective counter 
fraud and anti-corruption 
arrangements are in place 

Ensuring additional assurance 
on the overall adequacy and 
effectiveness of the framework 
of governance, risk 
management and control is 
provided by the internal 
auditor 

Ensuring an audit committee 
or equivalent group/ function, 
which is independent of the 
executive and accountable to 
the governing body: provides 
a further source of effective 
assurance regarding 
arrangements for managing 
risk and maintaining an 
effective control environment 
that its recommendations are 
listened to and acted upon

Risk management 
strategy/policy has been 
formally approved and 
adopted and is reviewed and 
updated on a regular basis

Compliance with the Code of 
Practice on Managing the 
Risk of Fraud and Corruption 
(CIPFA, 2014)

Annual governance 
statement
Effective internal audit 
service is resourced and 
maintained

Audit committee complies 
with best practice.  See Audit 
Committees: Practical 
Guidance for Local 
Authorities and Police 
(CIPFA, 2013)
Terms of reference
Membership
Training

Risk Strategy last approved by 
Cabinet on 22 October 2015

Anti-fraud and Corruption Strategy 

Annual Governance Statement
Annual Assessment of Internal 
Audit

Audit Board Chair and Member 
training. Clear Terms of Reference

Managing data Ensuring effective 
arrangements are in place for 

Data management framework 
and procedures

DPA procedures in place 
 accessible via the intranet

Update 
Policies and 



APPENDIX B

Page 37 of 65

Supporting 
Principle

Local Code Requirement Possible sources of 
assurance

What do DBC have in place? Gaps and 
areas to 
develop

the safe collection, storage, 
use and sharing of data, 
including processes to 
safeguard personal data

Ensuring effective 
arrangements are in place and 
operating effectively when 
sharing data with other bodies

Reviewing and auditing 
regularly the quality and 
accuracy of data used in 
decision making and 
performance monitoring

Designated data protection 
officer
Data protection policies and 
procedures

Data sharing agreement
Data sharing register
Data processing agreements

Data quality procedures and 
reports
Data validations procedures

HLS is DPO

Various data sharing agreements 
in place – accessible via the 
intranet

Subject Access Requests’ Register 
accessible via the intranet 

Services have procedures to 
ensure  the quality and accuracy of 
data as required, for example, for 
government returns, accounts and 
performance indicators. These 
processes and procedures are 
subject to audit reviews carried out 
by Internal Audit.
 

procedures for 
General Data 
Protection 
Regulation

Strong public 
financial 
management 

Ensuring financial 
management supports both 
long term achievement of 
outcomes and short-term 
financial and operational 
performance 

Ensuring well-developed 
financial management is 
integrated at all levels of 
planning and control, including 
management of financial risks 
and controls

Financial management 
supports the delivery of 
services and transformational 
change as well as securing 
good stewardship

Budget monitoring reports

Medium Term Financial Plan
Annual Budget Process
Internal Audit

Multi- level budget monitoring 
including reports to Management 
Team and Cabinet



APPENDIX B

Page 38 of 65

CORE PRINCIPLE G: Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to deliver effective accountability 

Supporting 
Principle

Local Code Requirement Possible sources of 
assurance

What do DBC have in place? Gaps and 
areas to 
develop

Implementing 
good practice in 
transparency

Writing and communicating 
reports for the public and other 
stakeholders in a fair, 
balanced and understandable 
style appropriate to the 
intended audience and 
ensuring that they are easy to 
access and interrogate 

Striking a balance between 
providing the right amount of 
information to satisfy 
transparency demands and 
enhance public scrutiny while 
not being too onerous to 
provide and for users to 
understand 

Website
Annual report

All Committee reports available on 
website
Statement of Accounts 

Data Transparency requirements   
-  published on website 

FOI Publication Scheme

Privacy Notices

Review of data 
protection 
practices  to 
comply with 
GDPR

Implementing 
good practices in 
reporting 

Reporting at least annually on 
performance, value for money 
and stewardship of resources 
to stakeholders in a timely and 
understandable way.

Ensuring members and senior 
management own the results 
reported 

Ensuring robust arrangements 
for assessing the extent to 
which the principles contained 
in this Framework have been 

Formal annual report which 
includes key points raised by 
external scrutineers and 
service users’ feedback on 
service delivery
Annual financial statements

Appropriate approvals

Annual Governance 
Statement

Performance indicators reviewed 
annually. Annual financial outturn 
report

Approvals process

Annual Governance Statement and 
process



APPENDIX B

Page 39 of 65

applied and publishing the 
results on this assessment, 
including an action plan for 
improvement and evidence to 
demonstrate good governance 
(the annual governance 
statement) 

Ensuring that this Framework 
is applied to jointly managed 
or shared service 
organisations as appropriate 

Ensuring the performance 
information that accompanies 
the financial statements is 
prepared on a consistent and 
timely basis and the 
statements allow for 
comparison with other, similar 
organisations 

Annual Governance 
Statement

Format follows best practice

Annual Governance Statement and 
process

Information reviewed each year in 
line with guidelines

Assurance and 
effective 
accountability 

Ensuring that 
recommendations for 
corrective action made by 
external audit are acted upon 

Ensuring an effective internal 
audit service with direct 
access to members is in 
place, providing assurance 
with regard to governance 
arrangements and that 
recommendations are acted 
upon 

Welcoming peer challenge, 
reviews and inspections from 
regulatory bodies and 

Recommendations have 
informed positive 
improvement

Compliance with CIPFA’s 
Statement on the Role if the 
Head of Internal Audit (2010)
Compliance with Public 
Sector Internal Audit 
Standards

Recommendations have 
informed positive 
improvement

External Audit Reports to Audit 
Board including Action Plan 
Updates

Audit Charter and Audit Self –
Assessment

Regular updates to Audit Board on 
progress against internal audit 
recommendations

PWC review carried out and action 
plan agreed and monitored



APPENDIX B

Page 40 of 65

implementing 
recommendations 

Gaining assurance on risks 
associated with delivering 
services through third parties 
and that this is evidenced in 
the annual governance 
statement 

Ensuring that when working in 
partnership, arrangements for 
accountability are clear and 
the need for wider public 
accountability has been 
recognised and met

Annual Governance 
Statement

Community Strategy

Partnerships’ Code of Practice
Partnerships Register
Risks Management

 Partnerships’ Code of Practice



APPENDIX B

Page 41 of 65

OBJECTIVE 2: Identifying principal risks to achievement of objectives

STEP 1: The authority has robust systems and processes in place for the identification and management of strategic and operational 
risk 
Possible sources of assurance: Evidenced by: What do DBC have in place? Gaps and areas to 

develop
1. There is a written strategy 

and policy in place for 
managing risk which:
 Has been formally 

approved at political and 
risk management board 
(or equivalent) level

 Is reviewed on a regular 
basis

 Has been 
communicated to all 
relevant staff

 Includes partnership 
risks

 Existence of approved 
strategy and policy 
document 

 Evidence of formal 
approval (e.g. 
management 
board/committee 
minutes)

 Evidence of formal 
review (e.g. 
management 
board/committee 
minutes, document 
version number and 
date)

 Evidence of 
communication 
strategy, possibly 
covered in strategy 
document

 Examples of 
dissemination e.g. 
induction, briefings, 
awareness sessions, 
policy and strategy 
published on intranet, 
strategic diagnostic 
questionnaire results

 Partnership risk 
registers

Risk Management process updated in 2016 
As above

Risk Strategy has been communicated to all 
managers

Strategic risk register updated at least annually 
and reported to Audit Board

2. The authority has  Management 



APPENDIX B

Page 42 of 65

Possible sources of assurance: Evidenced by: What do DBC have in place? Gaps and areas to 
develop

implemented clear structures 
and processes for risk 
management which are 
successfully implemented 
and:
 Management board and 

elected members see 
risk management as a 
priority and support it by 
personal interest and 
input

 Decision making 
considers risk

 A senior manager has 
been appointed to 
“champion” risk 
management

 Roles and 
responsibilities for risk 
management have been 
defined

 Risk management 
systems are subject to 
independent 
assessment

 Risk management is 
considered in the 
annual business 
planning process

 Risk management 
extends to partnership 
risks

board/committee 
minutes

 Job descriptions of 
senior and operational 
managers and 
corporate risk 
manager

 Internal audit reports 
and external audit 
comments on risk 
management system  

 PPAF review 
comments on risk 
management

 Annual business 
plans

 Link between 
internal audit and risk 
management 
functions is clearly 
defined in terms of 
reference of internal 
audit 

 Responsibility for 
risk management 
function, including 
partnership risk 
management, is set at 
appropriate senior 
level 

 Committee reports 
setting out options for 
change include an 
appropriate risk 
assessment, including 
the ‘no change’ option

Updated risk strategy was agreed by Cabinet in 
October 2015

Risk assessment referred to in committee reports

Roles and responsibilities defined in Risk 
Management Strategy

Risk management subject to regular review by 
internal audit 

Risk is key element in Service Plans and reports 
to committee

Budget report considers the key financial risks to 
the authority



APPENDIX B

Page 43 of 65

Possible sources of assurance: Evidenced by: What do DBC have in place? Gaps and areas to 
develop

 The corporate 
business plan and 
financial plan assess 
risks as appropriate 
and in particular take 
account of new and 
emerging risks facing 
the authority

 Partnership risks are 
assessed before 
agreements are 
signed

Strategic Risk Register linked to Corporate Plan

3. The authority has developed 
a corporate approach to the 
identification and evaluation 
of risk which is understood by 
all staff

 Systematic 
procedures for risk 
identification and 
evaluation have been 
agreed and are 
consistently applied 
across all business 
units and partnerships

 Examples of 
dissemination e.g. 
induction, briefings, 
awareness sessions, 
strategic diagnostic 
questionnaire results

Part of Risk Strategy and included in Service 
Plans
Partnerships’ Code of Practice
Contract Conditions

Briefings and discussions held with all senior 
managers 

Health & Safety risks 
associated with no 
inspections of 
commercial properties 
to be reviewed.

Review whether 
opportunity cost of 
financial resources tied 
up in land and buildings 
are minimised and that 
capital and revenue 
expenditure on the 
portfolio is directed 
efficiently and 
effectively to provide 
value for money



APPENDIX B

Page 44 of 65

Possible sources of assurance: Evidenced by: What do DBC have in place? Gaps and areas to 
develop

4. The authority has well defined 
procedures for recording and 
reporting risk

 Evidenced by review 
of risk management 
strategy and policy

 Examination of 
corporate and 
partnership risk 
registers 

 Key risk indicators 
have been determined 
and there is evidence 
of monitoring against 
these risks

 Evidence of regular 
and frequent reporting 
of risk to political and 
management board 
level

 Evidence of risk 
based auditing being 
carried out

 Evidence of risks not 
properly addressed 
identified in internal 
audit reports etc. 
being fed into the risk 
management process

Risk Strategy

Service Plans and Covalent

Audit Board, Management Team

Back up analysis to the Audit Plan

Internal Audit Reports

     

5. The authority has well-
established and clear 
arrangements for financing 
risk

 Evidence that the 
authority’s policy for 
risk financing is 
regularly reviewed in 
the light of costs and 
alternative risk 
mitigation strategies

 All legal requirements 
for insurance are met

Main financial risk is considered annually as part 
of the budget report.

Zurich Insurance policies



APPENDIX B

Page 45 of 65

Possible sources of assurance: Evidenced by: What do DBC have in place? Gaps and areas to 
develop

 Evidence that self-
insurance provisions 
are subject to annual 
independent actuarial 
valuation and that 
contributions to the 
fund are adjusted 
accordingly

 Insurance claims 
being managed in 
accordance with 
‘Woolf’ principles

 Evidence of 
monitoring the 
incidence of 
successful and 
unsuccessful claims 
and of feeding the 
results back into the 
policy for risk 
financing accordingly

Not applicable other than excess on policies

Insurance files

Yes, to monitoring but no to feeding back into 
financing risk policy – our claims are of low order



APPENDIX B

Page 46 of 65

Possible sources of assurance: Evidenced by: What do DBC have in place? Gaps and areas to 
develop

6. The authority has developed 
a programme of risk 
management training for 
relevant staff

 Training programme 
for risk management

 Training needs 
analysis (both 
specialist staff 
development and 
general awareness)

 Regular newsletter or 
other means of 
communicating risk 
management issues 
to staff 

 Induction programme 
includes risk 
management

 Appropriate 
responsibilities for risk 
management 
incorporated into job 
descriptions and 
appraisals

Training provided in 2013 alongside updated 
process and Management Team strategic risk 
work in 2016

A presentation on risk was also given to Audit 
Board

Zurich risk updates and anything from Kent Audit 
and Risk Managers (KARM) is communicated to 
relevant staff

Recent audit identified 
that further risk 
management training 
for managers is 
required

7. The corporate risk 
management board (or 
equivalent) adds value to the 
risk management process by: 
 Advising and supporting 

corporate management 
team on risk strategies 

 Identifying areas of 
overlapping risk

 Driving new risk 
management initiatives

 Communicating risk 
management and 
sharing good practice

 Corporate risk 
management board or 
equivalent terms of 
reference 

 Minutes of corporate 
risk management 
board 

 Reports to corporate 
management team

Management Team fulfils this role 

Audit Board have reviewed the strategic risk 
register and have received updates to the register



APPENDIX B

Page 47 of 65

Possible sources of assurance: Evidenced by: What do DBC have in place? Gaps and areas to 
develop

 Providing and reviewing 
risk management 
training

 Regularly reviewing the 
risk register(s)

 Coordinating the results 
for risk reporting

8. A corporate risk officer has 
been appointed with the 
necessary skills to analyse 
issues and offer options and 
advice and:
 Support decision 

making and policy 
formulation

 Provides support in the 
risk identification and 
analysis process

 Provides support in 
prioritising risk 
mitigation action

 Provides advice and 
support in determining 
risk treatments

 Inspires confidence in 
managers

 Job description of 
corporate risk officer

 Key task matrix of 
corporate risk officer

 Evidence of the 
corporate risk officer 
reporting to corporate 
management team on 
risk management 
issues

 Evidence of training 
on current risk 
management topics / 
membership of 
appropriate 
organisations (e.g. 
ALARM)

 Use of consultancy as 
appropriate

Audit, Risk and Anti-Fraud Manager 

Strategic risk register discussed at Management 
Team Operational risks reflected in service 
reports to Management Team

Officer attendance at KARM

Zurich for initial RM process

9. Managers are accountable for 
managing their risks

 Evidence of manager 
involvement in risk 
identification and 
analysis process

 Risk owners detailed 
in corporate 
/departmental risk 
register(s)

 Risk owners assigned 
in relation to key 

Senior managers responsible for service risk 
assessment

Each strategic risk within the strategic risk register 
has been allocated a risk owner

Risks identified and updated within Service 
Managers monthly reports to MT



APPENDIX B

Page 48 of 65

Possible sources of assurance: Evidenced by: What do DBC have in place? Gaps and areas to 
develop

partnerships
 Job descriptions of 

managers outline their 
risk management 
responsibilities

 Evidence of (at least) 
annual review of risk 
at service/operational 
levels and of 
partnership risks

 Analysis of completed 
control and risk self-
assessment 
questionnaires

Operational risk registers updated annually
Strategic risk register updated annually and taken 
to Audit Board

Risks identified and updated within Service 
Managers monthly reports to MT

10. Risk management is 
embedded throughout the 
organisation 

 Evidence of a general 
risk management 
culture at all levels

 Risk management 
training programme

 Evidence of 
manager’s 
involvement in risk 
management aspects 
of business planning

 Results of strategic 
diagnostic survey to 
ascertain the extent to 
which risk 
management is 
understood by each 
category of officer 
(senior management, 
operational managers 
etc.) and members

See 2 and 9 above

Risk identified in all reports to 
Cabinet/committees.

Risk embedded within procurement process

Yes, for major projects and all Committee reports 
include section for risk

Capital Projects Working Group

Part of Prince 2 arrangements for larger/complex 
projects – e.g. IT projects

11. Risks in partnership working 
are fully considered 

 Evidence of risk 
assessments being 

Key partnerships reviewed annually



APPENDIX B

Page 49 of 65

Possible sources of assurance: Evidenced by: What do DBC have in place? Gaps and areas to 
develop

undertaken before the 
commencement of 
major projects, 
preferably in the 
report on which the 
decision to proceed is 
based

 Evidence that risk 
assessment are 
regularly reviewed 
during the project 
period

 Evidence that 
potential partners are 
required to produce 
and submit risk 
assessments

 Evidence that 
partnership 
arrangements are 
reviewed in terms of 
risk before they are 
entered into and, 
subsequently, that the 
risks are reviewed

 Evidence that there 
are effective 
arrangements in place 
for risk sharing (e.g. in 
the partnering contract 
terms and conditions 
or agreement)

Partnerships’ Code of Practice

Risk embedded within procurement process

All Committee reports include section for risk

12. Where employed, risk 
management information 
systems meet users’ needs

 Evidence of risk 
information being 
updated promptly

 Review of accuracy 

Operational and 
Strategic Risks to be 
added and monitored 
through the Covalent 



APPENDIX B

Page 50 of 65

Possible sources of assurance: Evidenced by: What do DBC have in place? Gaps and areas to 
develop

and usefulness of 
output from 
information systems

 Evidence that users 
were/are consulted on 
initial implementation 
and further 
development

 Interviews with users 
to assess suitability of 
the system for their 
needs

system



APPENDIX B

Page 51 of 65

OBJECTIVE 3: Identify and evaluate key controls to manage principal risks

STEP 1: The authority has a robust system of internal control which includes systems and procedures to mitigate principal risks 

Possible sources of assurance: Evidenced by: What do DBC have in place? Gaps and areas to 
develop

1. There are written financial 
regulations in place which 
have been formally approved, 
regularly reviewed and widely 
communicated to all relevant 
staff:
 Authority has adopted 

CIPFA Code on 
Treasury Management 

 Compliance with the 
Prudential Code

 Financial regulations 
and instructions exist 
& are reviewed & 
updated regularly

 Evidence of formal 
approval

 Examples of 
dissemination e.g. 
induction, briefings, 
awareness sessions, 
accessible in finance 
manuals and/or on 
intranet site

 Reports to audit 
committee or 
equivalent confirming 
compliance or 
identifying extent of 
non-compliance with 
regulations and 
instructions

 Report approving 
annual treasury 
management and 
investment strategy

 Outturn report on 
treasury mgt.

 External audit 
assessment of 
compliance with 
Prudential Code

Financial Regulations Updated in 2017

Referred to in updates of Financial Guidance 

Included as part of each audit report 

Budget report

Annual auditors report

Treasury Management Panel 

June Cabinet

As part of annual audit

Financial Guidance to be 
updated

2. There are written contract  Standing orders exist, Contract Standing Orders Subject to annual 



APPENDIX B

Page 52 of 65

Possible sources of assurance: Evidenced by: What do DBC have in place? Gaps and areas to 
develop

standing orders in place 
which have been formally 
approved, regularly reviewed 
and widely communicated to 
all relevant staff

are reviewed and 
updated regularly to 
cover new procedures 
such as partnering 
arrangements and on-
line tendering

 Evidence of formal 
approval

 Examples of 
communication and 
dissemination e.g. 
induction, briefings, 
awareness sessions, 
accessible in finance 
manuals and/or on 
intranet site 

review under Managing Director delegated 
authority
Publicised on the Council’s website and intranet
Training attendance records 
Procurement Guide reviewed regularly

3. There is a whistle blowing 
policy in place which has 
been formally approved, 
regularly reviewed and widely 
communicated to all relevant 
staff

 Whistle blowing policy 
exists and has been 
reviewed and updated 
regularly

 Evidence of formal 
approval

 Examples of 
communication and 
dissemination e.g. 
induction, briefings, 
awareness sessions, 
accessible on website 
and intranet site 

 Evidence of 
effectiveness of policy 
(e.g. reports on 
incidence of usage, 
evidence on annual 
declarations on fraud 
to Audit Commission)

Audit Manager Report on fitness for purpose of 
Whistleblowing Policy

Whistleblowing Policy reviewed and adopted by 
the Audit Board January 2015 and updated 
annually

Publicised on the Council’s website and intranet

Referred to in Contract Standing Orders and 
Purchasing Terms and Conditions

Whistleblowing Policy referenced within 
Employee Handbook



APPENDIX B

Page 53 of 65

Possible sources of assurance: Evidenced by: What do DBC have in place? Gaps and areas to 
develop

4. There is a counter fraud and 
corruption policy in place 
which has been formally 
approved, regularly reviewed 
and widely communicated to 
all relevant staff

 Counter fraud and 
corruption policy exists 
and has been 
reviewed and updated 
regularly

 Evidence of formal 
approval

 Examples of 
dissemination 
(briefings, induction, 
awareness sessions, 
accessible on website 
and intranet site 

 Evidence of 
effectiveness of policy 
(e.g. reports on 
identified frauds; 
annual AF70 returns to 
Audit Commission, 
reports on results of 
National Fraud 
Initiatives)

 Review of register of 
gifts and hospitality

Anti-fraud and Corruption Strategy 
Register of Gifts and Hospitality (Members)
Register of Gifts and Hospitality (Officers)
Monitoring Officer review of Member Register of 
Gifts and Hospitality
Protocols/guides on Member Gifts, Benefits and 
Hospitality Register
Protocols/guides publicised on the Council’s 
website and the intranet
Member Code of Conduct training 
Member training attendance records
Monitoring Officer Annual Report to the Audit 
Board



APPENDIX B

Page 54 of 65

Possible sources of assurance: Evidenced by: What do DBC have in place? Gaps and areas to 
develop

5. There are codes of conduct in 
place which have been 
formally approved and widely 
communicated to all relevant 
staff

 Codes of conduct have 
been agreed, including 
national schemes (e.g. 
police officers)

 Evidence of formal 
approval

 Examples of 
dissemination e.g. 
induction, briefings, 
awareness sessions, 
accessible on intranet 
site 

Employee Code of Conduct updated in 2013
Member Code of Conduct approved by Council 
July 2012
Member Code of Conduct training
Member training attendance records
Member Code of Conduct publicised on 
Council’s website and intranet

Review of Employee 
Code of Conduct  to 
ensure consistency with 
Member Code where 
applicable

6. A register of interests is 
maintained, regularly updated 
and reviewed

 Inspection of register 
of interests (members 
and staff)

 Evidence of regular 
updating and review 
by senior officer(s) 

HR Policies and Procedures on declarations of 
Officer interests
Officer Register of Interests
Member Register of Interests
Member Code of Conduct training
Member training attendance records
Protocols/guidance on Member declarations of 
interests
Review of Member Register of Interests by 
Monitoring Officer

Compile declarations of 
Officer interest at 
appraisals into specific 
register

7. Where a scheme of 
delegation has been drawn 
up, it has been formally 
approved and communicated 
to all relevant staff

 Scheme of Delegation 
to Officers 
incorporates adequate 
controls and sanctions

 Evidence of formal 
approval

 Examples of 
communication and 
dissemination e.g. 
induction, briefings, 
awareness sessions, 
accessible on intranet 
site 

Constitution
Monitoring Officer Annual Report to Audit Board
Publicised on the Council’s website and intranet
Scheme of Delegations to Officers approved by 
Council 2011 and reviewed annually under 
Managing Director’s delegated authority



APPENDIX B

Page 55 of 65

Possible sources of assurance: Evidenced by: What do DBC have in place? Gaps and areas to 
develop

 Regular reports on the 
operation of the 
scheme (e.g. 
compliance, budget 
monitoring, year-end 
balances)

8. A corporate procurement 
policy has been drawn up, 
formally approved and 
communicated to all relevant 
staff

 Procurement policy 
exists and has been 
reviewed and updated 
regularly to take 
account of new 
initiatives e.g. drive 
towards wider 
consortia 
arrangements, shared 
services

 Evidence of formal 
approval

 Examples of 
dissemination e.g. 
induction, briefings, 
awareness sessions, 
accessible on intranet 
site 

 Evidence of 
effectiveness of policy 
(e.g. benchmarking 
results, best value 
review, internal/ 
external audit review)

Procurement Strategy approved 2015

Briefings on specifics that are relevant e.g. 
Bevan Brittan and Crown Commercial Services

Refresher training initiatives

Procurement Group meets regularly
Capital Projects Monitoring Group

More regular meetings of 
both groups

9. Business/service continuity 
plans have been drawn up for 
all critical service areas and 
the plans: 
 Are subject to regular 

testing

 Current 
business/service 
continuity plans exist 
covering all critical 
service areas and are 
readily accessible

Plans in place

Ongoing programme of training.



APPENDIX B

Page 56 of 65

Possible sources of assurance: Evidenced by: What do DBC have in place? Gaps and areas to 
develop

 Are subject to regular 
review

 Evidence of regular 
testing

 Evidence of regular 
review in the light of 
the results of testing 
and for changes in 
structures, 
procedures, 
information systems, 
responsibilities etc.

10. The corporate/departmental 
risk register(s) includes 
expected key controls to 
manage principal risks

 Risk register sets 
out principal risks and 
sets out appropriate 
key controls to 
manage them.

 Key controls are 
monitored, reviewed 
and updated regularly

 Use of risk 
management 
workshops to 
underpin the process 
and review of register 
and key controls

 Risk owners are 
assigned to manage 
principal risks

 Partnership risks are 
considered

This is incorporated in risk management process

11. Key risk indicators have been 
drawn up to track the 
movement of key risks and 
are regularly monitored and 
reviewed.

 Appropriate key risk 
indicators are 
documented

 Evidence of regular 
monitoring

 Evidence of changes 

Strategic risks last taken to Audit Board in Jan 
2017. Regular monitoring to continue.



APPENDIX B

Page 57 of 65

Possible sources of assurance: Evidenced by: What do DBC have in place? Gaps and areas to 
develop

in risk indicators (and 
reasons for change) 
emanating from 
appropriate 
information sources 
(e.g. where internal 
audit findings are 
used to change the 
perceived level of risk) 

12. The authority’s internal control 
framework is subject to 
regular independent 
assessment

 Internal audit plans 
and reports

 Annual report/opinion 
of Audit Manager

 External audit reports
 Use of 

Resources/PURE 
assessment reports

External Audit reports
Internal Audit reports
Reports and minutes of Audit Board
Internal audit plans and reports
Audit Plan is based on risk assessment, and 
discussed with Directors who consider corporate 
and service specific risks



APPENDIX B

Page 58 of 65

Possible sources of assurance: Evidenced by: What do DBC have in place? Gaps and areas to 
develop

13. A corporate health and safety 
policy has been drawn up, 
formally approved, is subject 
to regular review and has 
been communicated to all 
relevant staff

 Health & safety policy 
exists and has been 
reviewed and updated 
regularly

 Policy covers 
partnerships

 Evidence of formal 
approval

 Examples of 
dissemination e.g. 
induction, briefings, 
awareness sessions, 
inclusion of policy on 
website and intranet 
site

 Evidence of 
effectiveness of policy 
e.g. number of cases 
investigated by Health 
& Safety Executive – 
and the number of 
cases proven

 Review of number of 
reported incidences 
and ‘near misses’

Health and Safety Policy on intranet. Policy last 
reviewed August 2014

Included in Employee Handbook

Corporate Wellbeing Group meets quarterly to 
consider H&S issues, changes in legislation etc. 
and review accidents and near misses. Group 
reports to MT 

14. A corporate complaints 
policy/procedure has been 
drawn up, formally approved, 
communicated to all relevant 
staff, the public and other 
stakeholders is regularly 
reviewed

 Complaints 
policy/procedure 
exists and has been 
reviewed and updated 
regularly

 Procedure is 
compliant with all 
relevant statutory 
requirements

 Evidence of formal 
approval

Corporate Complaints Procedure publicised on 
the Council’s website, intranet, main service 
points and in other parts of the Borough such as 
at Parish/Town Council Offices, Museum and 
Library
Leaflets and guidance for public
Audit Board approval
Management of complaints on Covalent
Corporate Complaints Officer Annual Report to 
the Audit Board
Satisfaction surveys 



APPENDIX B

Page 59 of 65

Possible sources of assurance: Evidenced by: What do DBC have in place? Gaps and areas to 
develop

 Examples of 
dissemination e.g. 
induction, briefings, 
awareness sessions, 
inclusion of policy on 
website and intranet 
site

 Leaflets/posters 
highlighting 
complaints procedure

 Complaints files
 Committee reports 

summarising 
complaints dealt with 
analysed by outcome

Annual review to ensure fitness for purpose
Monitoring reports to MT and annual report to 
Cabinet
Ombudsman Annual Letter reported to Cabinet



APPENDIX B

Page 60 of 65

OBJECTIVE 4: Obtain assurance on the effectiveness of key controls 

STEP 1: Appropriate assurance statements are received from designated internal and external assurance providers 

Possible sources of assurance: Evidenced by: What do DBC have in place? Gaps and areas to 
develop

1. The authority has determined 
appropriate internal and 
external sources of assurance

 Minutes of committee 
at which report on 
assurances was 
considered

 Sources of assurance 
are appropriate to the 
authority

Annual Assurance report from Audit, Risk and 
Anti-Fraud Manager
External Auditor report
Monitoring Officer Annual Report to the Audit 
Board
Management Team consider the review of the 
governance arrangements and their acceptance 
of the review and the governance statement 
provides the necessary level of assurance 

2. Appropriate key controls on 
which assurance is to be 
given have been identified 
and agreed 

 Briefing notes, 
guidance, instructions 
etc. given to 
appropriate managers 
regarding what is 
expected of them

Annual External Audit Plan
Internal Audit Plan
Risk Register
Assurance Statements
Contract Standing Orders, Financial Regulations 
and Officer delegations
Regular Audit Board Invoice checks

3. Departmental assurances are 
provided

 Departmental heads 
sign off on adequacy 
of controls (i.e. 
provide annual 
governance 
assurance 
statements)

 Supporting 
documentation 
provided by 
departmental heads re 
review and monitoring 

An appropriate approach has been adopted with 
statements signed by Service Managers bi-
annually and more often if there are significant 
changes.

Monitoring Officer Annual Report to Audit Board



APPENDIX B

Page 61 of 65

Possible sources of assurance: Evidenced by: What do DBC have in place? Gaps and areas to 
develop

arrangements that key 
controls have been in 
operation for the 
period and will 
continue to operate 
until accounts signed 
off.

(Structured process and 
standard documentation to 
ensure consistency of 
coverage and common 
understanding of level of 
assurance given)
 Completed Control & 

Risk Self-Assessment 
questionnaires

 Annual governance 
assurance statements 
evaluated by officer 
team or committee 
charged with the 
responsibility of 
preparing the AGS.  
Evaluation to include 
‘reality checking’ of 
sample of assurance 
statements

4. External assurance reports 
are collated centrally 
 Reports are reviewed by 

relevant senior 
management team and 
reported to appropriate 
committee

 Action plans are 
prepared and approved 

 Sources of external 
assurance relevant to 
authority are identified 
and agreed, including 
partnerships

 External assurance 
reports will vary 
according to type of 
authority and could 

Audit Plan
Annual Audit letter

All reported to Audit Board

Reports to Management Team and Audit Board 

Action plans produced if required and monitored



APPENDIX B

Page 62 of 65

Possible sources of assurance: Evidenced by: What do DBC have in place? Gaps and areas to 
develop

as appropriate
 Follow up reports on 

recommendations are 
requested and reviewed 
by relevant senior 
management team and 
progress is regularly 
reported to relevant 
committee

include comment and 
input from the 
following (the list is not 
exhaustive):

 Audit Commission 
 External Auditor (either 

from direct audit work 
or from work jointly 
commissioned

 Social Services 
Inspectorate

 PURE assessment 
(police service)

 HMIC
 Police Standards Unit
 Home Office 

commissioned reports
 Senior management 

team minutes
 Follow up reports to 

appropriate committee
5. Internal Audit Arrangements  Reports of Audit 

Manager to Audit 
Board or equivalent 
throughout the year

 Annual report of Audit 
Manager, including 
opinion on internal 
control and risk 
management 
framework

Regular report to Audit Board
Risk based audit priorities across Council, 
including Partnerships

Annual Report to Audit Board

External Audit Review

6. Corporate Governance  Annual corporate Report to Audit Board – June each year



APPENDIX B

Page 63 of 65

Possible sources of assurance: Evidenced by: What do DBC have in place? Gaps and areas to 
develop

Arrangements governance assurance 
statement

 Internal or external 
audit review of 
corporate governance 
arrangements

 Monitoring reports to 
committee on delivery 
of action plans in 
response to reviews of 
corporate governance

Regular internal audit review 

External Audit review as part of the annual audit

7. Performance monitoring 
arrangements

 Annual and in-year 
reports on delivery of 
key performance 
indicators by internal 
and/or external review 
agencies

Reviews of performance
Performance Management Framework
Internal Audit reports to Audit Board
Policy Overview Committee reviews
Service Plans



APPENDIX B

Page 64 of 65

OBJECTIVE 5: Evaluate assurances and identify gaps in control/assurances

STEP 1: The authority has made adequate arrangements to identify, receive and evaluate reports from identified internal and external 
assurance providers to identify areas of weakness in controls 

Possible sources of assurance: Evidenced by: What do DBC have in place? Gaps and areas to 
develop

1. Responsibilities for the 
evaluation of assurances are 
clearly defined throughout the 
organisation

 Minutes of committee 
meetings

 Training plans
 Job descriptions
 Committee terms of 

reference
 Annual assurance 

statement of ethical 
governance to Audit 
Board

Committee reports and minutes
Monitoring Officer Annual Report to the Audit 
Board
Terms of Reference of committees
Statutory Officers’ defined roles
Job Profiles
Management Team minutes  

2. Mechanism established for 
collecting governance 
assurances
 Overall responsibility 

allocated to governance 
senior officer group

 Required assurances 
are agreed and 
recorded

 Central record of all 
assurances (either 
evidence file, or 
showing clear link to 
where evidence is held)

 Clear guidance as to 
evaluation procedure 
including assurance 
over risks, 
independence and 
objectivity of 

 Terms of 
reference and key 
responsibilities

 Record of 
assurances required 
and received is held 
and is complete

 Approved 
written guidance re-
evaluation procedure

 Scoring 
matrix/methodology 
(Not all assurances 
are suitable for 
grading; many will be 
subjective anyway  
Key points are that 
there is a consistent 
and reliable 
assessment process 

Audit Board Terms of Reference
Internal audit function
External auditor reports
Risk Management Strategy
Management Team
Monitoring Officer Annual Report



APPENDIX B

Page 65 of 65

Possible sources of assurance: Evidenced by: What do DBC have in place? Gaps and areas to 
develop

assurances
 Defined evaluation 

mechanism
 Timetable for 

completion by statutory 
deadline 

 Gap assessment – 
performed and 
challenged

and that the 
conclusions drawn are 
in line with the 
evidence produced)

 An agreed 
timetable, allowing for 
in-year evidence 
gathering and 
assessment and for 
the period between 
the year-end and the 
date of the 
governance 
assurance statement 
(timetable driven by 
that for the production 
of the annual 
statement of 
accounts)

 Gap 
assessment results 
and actions arising 
there from

 Minutes of 
meetings

 Annual report 
of Audit Manager – 
including opinion on 
internal control and 
risk management 
framework

 Reports of 
external auditor and 
other external review 
agencies





Governance Action Plan 2016-17 Appendix C
         

Action - Principles Milestones Date Lead 
Officer(s)

Progress

1 Complete revised set of Financial 
Regulations.

Report to Management 
Team

Report to the GAC

Sept 2016

Oct 2016

Financial 
Services Manager

Completed – See 
report to same 
agenda.

2 Review of the Corporate Code of 
Governance in the light of revised 
CIPFA publication.

Report to Management 
Team
Report to Audit Board

Oct 2016

Dec 2016

Financial 
Services Manager

Agreed by 
Cabinet.

3 Develop Workforce Strategy Report to Management 
Team

Dec 2016 HR Business 
Advisor

Draft in progress 



Governance Action Plan 2016-17 Appendix C
         

Action - Process Milestones Date Lead Officer(s) Progress

A Finalise the review and update of 
HR policies and employee 
handbook including statutory 
officer disciplinary procedures and 
codes of conduct.

Programme for each 
policy

Final sign off by MD

Oct 2016 HR Business Advisor First draft of all 
policies completed. 
To be reviewed.

B Service management overviews to 
be reviewed with links to the 
Corporate Plan as appropriate

Initial Review 
completed

Report to Management 
Team

Sept 2016

Oct 2016

Policy and Corporate 
Support Manager

New template for 
service management 
overview developed. 
It will be rolled out 
once the new 
Corporate Plan is 
adopted.

C Establish IT recovery capability at 
Fairfield leisure 

Report to Management 
Team

July 2016 ICT Manager Final connection to 
the internet in place 
and DR site is now 
live.  Further tests to 
be carried out.

D Asset Management Review Report to Management 
Team

Dec 2016 Head of Legal 
Services 

Delayed due to other 
work priorities.

E Update Induction Process Report to Management 
Team

July 2016 HR Business Advisor To be reviewed as 
part of the policy and 
procedure project



Governance Action Plan 2016-17 Appendix C
         

F Training Programme to be 
developed

Report to Management 
Team

Oct 2016 HR Business Advisor Delayed due to other 
work priorities. To be 
rolled over to next 
year.

G Update Anti-Fraud and Corruption 
strategy 

Report to Management 
Team

Report to Audit Board

August 
2016

September 
2016

Audit, Risk and Anti-
Fraud Manager

Approved at Audit 
Board

H Compile staff declarations of 
interest into central register

Report to Management 
Team

October 
2016

Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

Ongoing, 
Investigating IT 
solution for smooth 
and comprehensive 
process.





Governance Action Plan 2017-18 Appendix D
         

Action - Principles Milestones Date Lead 
Officer(s)

1 Develop Workforce Strategy Report to Management 
Team

Dec 2017 HR Business 
Advisor



Governance Action Plan 2017-18 Appendix D
         

Action - Process Milestones Date Lead Officer(s)

A Finalise the review and update of 
HR policies and employee 
handbook including statutory 
officer disciplinary procedures and 
codes of conduct.

Programme for each 
policy

Final sign off by MD

Oct 2017 HR Business Advisor

B Asset Management 
Review/Properties’ Strategies

Review commissioned Sep 17 Head of Legal 
Services 

C Compile staff declarations of 
interest into central register

To be incorporated into 
part of the appraisal 
process.

Sep 17 Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

D Update training on ethical 
governance

Training Provided Dec 17 Head of Legal 
Services

E Corporate Plan to be refreshed 
and key PIs to be reconsidered

Cabinet 

General Assembly of 
the Council

June 17

July 17

Policy and Corporate 
Support Manager

F Review of data protection practices  
to comply with GDPR

Create Action Plan Sept 17 Head of Legal 
Services

G Further training to be provided to 
managers on risk management

Identify Training Plan

Deliver Training

Aug 17

Sep 17

Financial Services 
Manager



Governance Action Plan 2017-18 Appendix D
         

H Review Capital Project 
Assessment Process

Proposal to 
Management Team

Sep 17 Financial Services 
Manager / Strategic 
Director (Internal 
Services)

I Operational and Strategic Risks to 
be added and monitored through 
the Covalent system

Transfer risks and 
actions and develop 
reports

Dec 17 Policy and Corporate 
Support Manager

J Financial Guidance to be updated Management Approval Dec 17 Financial Services 
Manager





AUDIT BOARD
28 JUNE 2017

INTERNAL AUDIT ANNUAL REPORT 2016-17

1. Summary

1.1 This report provides Members with a summary of the work of the Internal Audit 
Service during 2016-17.  The report outlines the achievements of the Section 
during the year and, based on the work completed, informs the Board of the 
Principal Auditor’s overall opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
internal control environment, which is timed to support the Annual Governance 
Statement.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That Members note the content of the Annual Internal Audit Report and 
support the work undertaken by the Internal Audit Service during 2016/17.

2.2 That Members support the conclusion of the Chief Audit Executive, that the 
Council had effective internal controls, risk management and governance 
arrangements in place for delivering its objectives and the management of its 
business risks during the period 1 April 2016 to end of 31 March 2017.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 Members will be aware that Internal Audit reports annually to the 
Board, to outline the audit work completed during the year. The Audit 
Team work in partnership with Sevenoaks District Council. 

3.2 The Internal Audit Annual Report for 2016/17 is attached at Appendix 
A.  The report follows a similar format to that presented to the Board 
last year and informs Members of the audit work completed during the 
year, in addition to information on developments and initiatives 
affecting the Internal Audit function.  

3.3 Members are requested to note the work undertaken by the Internal 
Audit Section during 2016/17 and to support the Chief Audit 
Executive’s overall conclusion that the Council had effective systems of 
internal controls, risk management and governance arrangements 
operating during the period 1 April 2016 to end of 31 March 2017.  

3.4 The report was prepared in compliance with the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations 2015 and professional guidance issued by the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA). The report also 
took account of the outcome of the review of effectiveness of the 
Internal Audit Function which is attached as a separate agenda item for 
this meeting. Members should note that this report also supports the 
Council’s Annual Governance Statement (AGS) which will also be 
considered by the Board at this meeting. 



AUDIT BOARD
28 JUNE 2017

4. Summary of Issues Raised Within the Report

4.1 Appendix A sets out the Council’s arrangements for delivering an 
adequate and effective Internal Audit Function and details the work 
done in completing the Annual Internal Audit Plan for 2016/17, 
including the outcome of each audit review. 

4.2. Based on the work completed in 2016/17 and other sources of 
assurance available to the function, the Chief Audit Executive’s overall 
annual assurance opinion is that the Council’s arrangements for 
internal control, risk management, governance and anti-fraud during 
the period is “effective” (see paragraph 2.3 of the Appendix) for 
regulatory purposes. 

5. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

5.1 The work of the Internal Audit Section contributes to the achievement 
of the Council’s aims under its two corporate values, Quality Service 
and Corporate Health.

6. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None

Risk Assessment The report addresses the risk associated with 
non-compliance with the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations 2015 and the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards. It is management’s view that 
the relevant risks are effectively being managed.

7. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

8. Appendices

Appendix A Internal Audit Annual Report for 2016-17



AUDIT BOARD
28 JUNE 2017

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

1.The Accounts and Audit 
Regulations 2015

2.The Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards 2016 

3. Internal Audit Plan 2016-17
4. Reports to the Audit Board 

during 2016-17

Strategic Director 
(Internal services)
01322 343402

Internal 
Audit

N/A





APPENDIX A

June 2017

INTERNAL AUDIT ANNUAL REPORT 2016-17



1

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background to Internal Audit

1.1.1 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, Regulation 5
(1), requires the Council to “undertake effective internal audit to 
evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control and 
governance processes, and taking into account public sector internal 
audit standards or guidance”. 

1.1.2 The Internal Audit Service is provided through a shared services 
agreement with Sevenoaks District Council.  During the year, the 
Principal Auditor reported to the Financial Services Manager and 
Section 151 Officer (who also has the role Chief Audit Executive) on 
operational matters.  Both the Chief Audit Executive and the Principal 
Auditor report formally to the Audit Board and have direct access to the 
Chair of the Audit Board.

1.1.3 The team works in accordance with the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards (PSIAS).  The PSIAS reflect the requirements set out in the 
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 and outlines the proper practices 
that Internal Audit should follow.  The standards require that Internal 
Audit provide a formal report to “those charged with governance”, which 
should include an opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of 
the Council’s internal control environment.  For the purposes of this 
report, ‘internal control environment’ means the system of internal 
control, risk management and governance processes. The purpose of 
this report, therefore, is to inform Board Members of the Chief Audit 
Executive’s Annual Opinion on the overall effectiveness of the Council’s 
internal control environment and to provide a summary of the Internal 
Audit work completed, to support that opinion.

2. OPINION ON THE  CONTROL ENVIRONMENT

2.1 Purpose of the control environment

2.1.1 The internal control environment is based on an on-going process to 
identify, evaluate and manage the risks to the Council in the 
achievement of its objectives.  It is management’s responsibility to 
establish, maintain and ensure compliance with the internal control 
system.  Assurance of the effective operation of the system of internal 
control can be sought from the work of Internal Audit, external audit, 
risk management processes, other review bodies and the Annual 
Governance Statement.

2.1.2 The internal control environment  should:

 Set out clear responsibility for policy and decision-making;
 Establish the Council’s objectives;



2

 Identify, evaluate and manage the risks which may impact on 
the Council’s ability to meet its objectives;

 Ensure compliance with law, regulations, policies and 
procedures;

 Ensure the economic, efficient and effective use of resources;
 Ensure the accuracy and reliability of financial statements and 

other published information;
 Ensure that proper arrangements are in place to safeguard the 

Council’s assets and the prevention of fraud, bribery and 
corruption.

2.2 Basis of the opinion on the Council’s internal control environment

2.2.1 The Chief Audit Executive’s opinion on the Council’s internal control 
environment is primarily based on the work of the Internal Audit Section 
during 2016-17, details of which can be found in Section 4 of this report 
(page 3).

2.3 Opinion on the Council’s internal control environment

Whilst it was identified that management had, in the main, established an 
effective control environment within the areas reviewed by Internal Audit 
during 2016-17, there were areas which presented opportunities for further 
improvement within the control environment, or where compliance with 
existing controls could be enhanced, to reduce the financial, legal or 
reputational risk to the Council.  Where such findings were identified, 
recommendations were agreed with management to further strengthen the 
controls within the systems/processes they affect.

The control environment is designed to manage risks to a reasonable level 
rather than to eliminate all risks of failure to achieve policies, aims and 
objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute 
assurance of effectiveness.

Based on the work done throughout the year, responses to the audit 
recommendations and  fraud and irregularity investigations; and having 
regard to other sources of assurance; in my opinion as Chief Audit 
Executive, Dartford Borough Council’s Control Environment contributes 
effectively to the proper, economic, efficient and effective use of resources 
in achieving the Council’s objectives.  This opinion is based on the work of 
the Internal Audit Service during 2016-17 and having regard to the work of 
the External Auditors and other sources of assurance. ‘Control 
environment’ means the entire system that contributes towards, identifying 
and delivering organisational objectives (In particular, internal control 
processes, risk management and governance).

                                             



3

3. STAFFING

3.1 Internal Audit staff resource

During the year the audit trainee resigned and the Audit Risk and Anti-
Fraud Manager has been absent for a significant amount of time. The 
Principal Auditor had stepped up to the Audit Manager’s role to ensure 
continuity of the audit service.   As a result current staffing resource for 
the audit partnership with Sevenoaks District Council, consists of a 
Principal Auditor (Acting as Audit Manager) and 3.8 FTE Senior 
Auditors and an Administration Assistant (0.54 FTE). A temporary 
Senior Auditor was used to cover the audit assignments allocated to 
the audit trainee.  
                                                                  

3.2 Net staff out-turn

3.2.1 Net staff resources for the year allocated to Dartford Council (as 
detailed in Appendix 1) amounted to 790 productive days.  The planned 
net resources for the year, was 810 days. The shortfall in productive 
days is mainly due to the vacant Internal Auditor post.

3.2.2 Absence as a result of sickness totalled 31 calendar days.  This was 
mainly due to one member of staff being on long term sick. The total 
average sickness, without long term sickness, is 4.09 days which 
compares favourably against the Council’s average sickness level of 
6.77.

4. DETAILS OF AUDIT WORK COMPLETED TO SUPPORT THE OPINION ON 
THE INTERNAL CONTROL ENVIRONMENT

4.1 Programmed audits

4.1.1 Each year, the programmed work of the Internal Audit Team is based 
on the Annual Internal Audit Plan approved by senior management and 
the Audit Board.  The original Annual Audit Plan for 2016-17 was 
approved by the Audit Board on 23 March 2016 and contained 28 
reviews for 2016-17 and five reviews in reserve. The plan was revised 
for operational reasons and to reflect changes in assurance 
requirements for 2016-17.  The revised plan contained 19 reviews and 
was approved by the Audit Board in January 2017.  A summary of the 
reviews carried out during the year and details of the audit opinions are 
included in Appendices 2 and 3 below.

4.1.2 69 audit recommendations were agreed with management in final 
reports issued to date during 2016-17; of which 27 recommendations 
relate to reviews carried out within the 2015/16 Annual Audit Plan. 
Management undertook to implement the agreed recommendations 
within agreed timescales. 



4

4.1.3 To date, 39 recommendations (57%) have been implemented, 12 
(17%) are in progress and 18 (26%) are not yet due for implementation. 
The recommendations agreed would further strengthen the Council’s 
internal control arrangements.  It should be noted that the number of 
recommendations made do not fully reflect all system and procedural 
enhancements implemented by management during the course of 
internal audit work, as on-going advice provided during the audit 
process, or separately, are not included in this figure. 

4.1.4 The Internal Audit team operate an audit follow-up process whereby 
recommendations agreed with management are revisited within a given 
timescale (usually 3 to 6 months) after the agreed implementation date, 
to obtain confirmation from management regarding the effectiveness of 
the recommendations implemented.

4.2 Advice on controls and risk issues

4.2.1 A key role of Internal Audit is to provide advice and guidance to other 
departments within the Council on internal control and risk.  Four key 
requests for ad-hoc advice were received and responses were provided 
promptly to management, as necessary.

4.3 Selective invoice checks

4.3.1 At each of its quarterly meetings the Board selects a small sample of 
payments made by the Council for checking by Internal Audit – hence 
the term ‘selective invoice checks’. 

4.3.2 These checks, colloquially known as ‘Cardiff checks’, entail tracking 
payments back to the source order/requisition in order to  provide 
Members with a level of assurance that goods or services for which 
payments have been made, have been properly ordered, authorised 
and received for the benefit of the Council. Tests carried out during the 
year, confirmed that Council procedures were being complied with.

5. INTERNAL AUDIT PERFORMANCE DURING 2016-17

5.1 Client satisfaction exercises

5.1.1 A client satisfaction questionnaire is issued after the completion of each 
programmed audit assignment to obtain feedback from audit clients 
regarding the effectiveness of the audit process and client’s perception 
of the value added to their service.  The purpose of this questionnaire is 
to enable monitoring of the audit process, to provide assurance that 
individual audits have been conducted in a professional manner; that 
reported findings and recommendations are soundly based; and that 
the audit client has been appropriately consulted during the audit 
process.



5

5.1.2 During 2016-17, 22 client satisfaction questionnaires were issued, of 
which; 17 completed questionnaires have been returned to date (77% 
response rate).  Feedback from the questionnaires indicates that clients 
were satisfied with the audit process and outcomes, in 92% of cases. 
An analysis of the responses to client satisfaction questionnaires is 
attached as Appendix 4.

5.2 Quality Assessment 

5.2.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards requires the Internal Audit 
Service to carry out an annual self-assessment of compliance with the 
standards, and an external review by an independent firm every five 
years. The outcome of this year’s annual review is set out as a 
separate agenda item at this meeting. The external review was carried 
out in 2014 and an action plan produced to address areas identified for 
further improvements. 

5.3 Performance measures

5.3.1 The team were measured against performance indicators approved by 
the Board in March 2015. Details of these and the achievement for 
2016-17 are set out in Appendix 5.  The key measure of performance 
which impacts on the team’s ability to provide an appropriate level of 
assurance is the completion of the Internal Audit Annual Plan.  

6. AUDIT SECTION DEVELOPMENT

6.1 Training

6.1.1 Auditors are required to engage in continuing professional development 
in order to maintain their professional competence and keep up with 
technical developments.  During the year, staff received training 
relevant to their roles in the following areas:

 Team Mate (Internal Audit Software) Training
 Local Authority Accounts Workshop
 Secondment to the Revenues and Benefits Service
 Personal Best
 Insights into Internal Audit Standards (CIPFA Professional 

Standards and CIPFA Introduction to Internal Audit)
 Ivy soft (In-house on-line training on a range of subjects)

6.1.2 The team also participated in the County Wide Kent Audit Group where 
best practice is discussed and disseminated.

6.2  Internal Audit development

6.2.1 It is important that the Internal Audit team continuously reviews and 
develops its approach and working practices to ensure that the team 



6

meets both the changing needs of the Council and the developing 
requirements of proper practice guidance.

6.2.2 The Principal Auditor completed a self-assessment of Internal Audit 
practices against the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, which 
requires an annual self-assessment of the service. The outcome of the 
review is presented at this meeting under a separate agenda item. 

6.3 Partnership working 

6.3.1 During the year, all auditors from both Councils were given the 
opportunity of experiencing working at both sites and have been 
involved in developing best practices from this experience, thus 
contributing towards a more effective assurance process.  

6.4 Liaison with other authorities

6.4.1 Dartford Borough Council is represented at meetings of the Kent Audit 
Group (KAG), which involves all local authorities in the County, 
including KCC and Medway.  Meetings are held four times a year, 
during which developments affecting Internal Audit and assurance 
matters in local government are discussed and opportunities for greater 
co-operation and shared best practice are explored.

7. INTERNAL AUDIT SUMMARY
 
7.1 Summary

7.1.1 During 2016-17 the Internal Audit team continued to provide support to 
the Council in ensuring the on-going robustness of its internal control 
arrangements.  The work of the team during the year enabled the Chief 
Audit Executive to deliver the opinion that Dartford Borough Council’s 
system of internal control effectively contributes to the proper, 
economic, efficient and effective use of resources in achieving the 
Council’s objectives.  

7.1.2 A summary of resources and the work completed are attached as 
appendices 1 to 3 below.



APPENDIX 1

USE OF INTERNAL AUDIT RESOURCES TO 31 MARCH 2017

Actual Expected

Total workdays from April 2016 790 810

LESS:
Bank holidays and authorised leave 188 127
Staff development & training 58 36
Sick leave 30 18

Total 276 181

AUDIT DAYS AVAILABLE 514 629

Audits 261 283
Fraud, irregularity and special projects 7 30
Contract audit 1 6
Systems advice 5 23
Selective invoice checks 7 12
General administration/Board 
reporting/service development/risk 
management/joint working

175 245

Audit management 58 30

Total 514 629

Note:
The above relates only to Dartford Borough Council



      APPENDIX 2
PROGRESS AGAINST 2016-17 INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN

*Postponed

PROGRESS AGAINST 2016/17 INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN                                              As at 6/6/17   

System audited Final 
report 
issued

Draft 
report 
issued

Feedback 
process in 
progress

Fieldwork 
in progress

Brief 
issued

Cancelled     
or Defer to 

2017/18
1 Fraud & Error Reduction x
2 Capital Building Programme x

3 Fairfield Pool x
4 Implementing CIL Reserve
5 Environmental Health Services Reserve
6 Electoral Services x
7 HR Contract x
8 Asset Management* x
9 Council Tax & Benefits x
10 Payroll x
11 Key Financial Systems x
12 Business Rates (Revenues) x
13 Anti-Fraud Arrangements x
14 Inventories/Insurances Reserve
15 Parking x
16 Litter Enforcement x
17 Kent Resource Partnership x
18 Planning Applications x
19 Licensing x
20 Markets Income x
21 Consultants & Agency Staff x
22 Performance Management x
23 Corporate Governance x
24 Risk Management x
25 Channel Shift x
26 Authorisation Process Reserve
27 Business Continuity & Emergency 

Planning 
x

28 IT Strategy/Acquisitions Reserve
29 Transparency Code x
30 Audit Universe x
31 Members’ Allowance x
32 Contracts Register x
33 Data Protection & Freedom of 

Information
x

Total 18 0 1 0 0 9 (5 Res)
COMPARATIVE POSITION JUN 2016 13 9 0 0 0 6



APPENDIX 3

PROGRAMMED AUDIT WORK COMPLETED DURING 2016-17
FINAL REPORTS ISSUED DURING 2016-17 RELATING TO THE 2015-16 AUDIT PLAN

Audit title Report to Audit 
Board

Opinion

Car Parking Services 2015/16 27.04.16 Good/Satisfactory

New Banking Contract 2015/16 06.05.16 Good/Good

Safeguarding 2015/16 13.05.16 Good/Good

Procurement (Contract Waivers) 2015/16 25.05.16 Good/Good

Human Resources 2015/16 31.05.16 Satisfactory/Satisfactory

Council Tax/NDR 2015/16 06.06.16 Good/Good

Council Tax Support 2015/16 14.06.16 Good/Good

Corporate Fraud Post DWP 2015/16 16.06.16 Good/Good

Payroll 2015/16 16.06.16 Good/Good

Service Level Agreements with UDCs 
2015/16

06.07.16 Good/Good

Regeneration & Planning 2015/16 06.07.16 Good/Good

Collection & Enforcement of Debit 2015/16 22.07.16 Good/Good

Risk Management 2015/16 12.09.16 Good/Good

Significant Contracts 2015/16 14.09.16 Satisfactory/Satisfactory

2016-17 AUDITS COMPLETED WITH FINAL REPORT ISSUED

Audit title Report to Audit 
Board

Opinion

Litter Enforcement 2016/17 06.07.16 Substantial Assurance

Channel Shift 2016/17 13.09.16 Limited Assurance

Transparency Code 2016/17 14.09.16 Substantial Assurance

Fairfield Review 2016/17 28.09.16 Substantial Assurance

Business Continuity & Emergency 
Planning 2016/17

05.10.16 Limited Assurance



APPENDIX 3

Fraud & Error Reduction Incentive Scheme 
(FERIS) 2016/17

10.10.16 Full Assurance

Kent Resource Partnership 2016/17 20.10.16 No opinion – for guidance 
only

Consultants & Agency Staff 2016/17 2.11.16 Substantial Assurance

Planning Applications 2016/17 11.11.16 Substantial Assurance

Key Financial Systems 2016/17 10.01.17 Substantial Assurance

Council Tax 2016/17 27.01.17 Substantial Assurance

Capital Building Programme 2016/17 01.02.17 Substantial Assurance

Members’ Allowances 2016/17 29.03.17 Full Assurance

Markets Income 2016/17 03.04.17 Substantial Assurance

Contracts’ Register 2016/17 13.04.17 Substantial Assurance

Performance Management 2016/17 16.05.17 Substantial Assurance

Anti-Fraud Arrangements 2016/17 15.05.17 Substantial Assurance

Payroll 2016/17 07.06.17 Limited Assurance

Asset Management 2016/17 Postponed

Overall Opinion See Para 2.3



APPENDIX 4

ANALYSIS OF RESPONSES TO CLIENT SATISFACTION QUESTIONNAIRES 
(17 returned)

Question
Strongly

Agree Agree Slightly
Disagree

Strongly
Disagree N/A

1 I was given adequate notification and opportunity 
to contribute and comment prior to the Audit 
Brief being issued

9 6 2 0 0

2 Appropriate staff were interviewed 11 5 0 0 1

3 Audit grasped relevant issues 6 9 0 1 1

4 I am confident with the accuracy of the audit 
findings 8 8 1 0 0

5 I was given adequate opportunity to 
a) discuss audit findings and 

recommendations 11 6 0 0 0
b) my views were adequately reflected in the 

final report 10 7 0 0 0

6 The final audit report was 
a) timely 8 7 1 0 1
b) clear and understandable 8 9 0 0 0

7 The audit recommendations in the final report 
were 

a) relevant 5 9 1 1 1
b) practical 5 9 1 1 1
c) realistic 4 11 0 0 2

8 This audit has 
a) added value 3 8 3 3 0
b) assurance of adequacy (or not) of internal     
controls 6 9 1 0 1

TOTAL 94 103 10 6 8

Did this audit identify any unknown issues? Y 3 N 14



APPENDIX 5

INTERNAL AUDIT PERFORMANCE – 2016-17

Performance Measure Performance 2016-17 Performance 
2015-16

1 Production of an annual audit 
plan for approval by the Audit 
Board at its March meeting 
each year.

The annual audit plan for 
2016-17 was approved by the 
Audit Board at its meeting on 
23.3.16.
Achieved

Achieved

2 100% of audits in the revised 
annual plan to be completed 
to draft stage (and issued to 
management) by end of 
financial year.

(Revised KAG measure:
90% of audits in the agreed 
annual plan to be completed 
to draft report stage (and 
issued to management) by the 
end of the financial year)

As at 31/3/16, 18 out of 19 
(95%) of audits of the revised 
plan were completed to final or 
draft stage. 

Not achieved 

Achieved

3 Provision of an annual 
assurance on the system of 
internal control and risk 
management.

Principal Auditor’s annual 
report and overall opinion 
submitted to the Audit Board 
on 28.6.17.
Achieved

Achieved

4 80% of staff time (excluding 
holidays, sickness etc.) to be 
spent on productive audit 
activity (e.g. audit reviews and 
advice on risk and internal 
control).
(Revised KAG measure: 70%)

Overall performance for the 
year 86.43%.
 Achieved 

*(74.85% against KAG criteria)

Achieved

5 95% positive responses from 
clients to audits completed.
(Revised KAG measure: 90%)

92% positive responses for 
final reports issued during 
2016-17. 
**(92% against KAG target)
Not achieved 

 Achieved



APPENDIX 5

Performance Measure Performance 2016-17 Performance 
2015-16

6 Positive statement by the 
External Auditor regarding 
satisfaction with the work of 
Internal Audit.

External Audit has been able 
to place reliance on the work 
of Internal Audit during the 
year.
Achieved

Achieved

7 90% of recommendations 
made in Internal Audit reports 
to be accepted by 
management for 
implementation.

98% of recommendations 
made in final reports issued 
during 2016-17 accepted for 
implementation.
Achieved 

Achieved

Note:

*Item 4. The Kent Audit Group (KAG) uses a slightly different measure to Dartford. It 
does not include some unplanned productive work and work on risk management.
 
**For item 5, the KAG criteria does not include question 7 on the Dartford 
questionnaire, which relates to client perception of the value they attached to the 
review.


	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 12 April 2017
	6 Annual Report 2016/17 of the Monitoring Officer on the Review of Ethical Governance Arrangements and Ancillary Matters
	Item 6 - Final MO Report Appendix 2017

	7 Complaints Monitoring and Procedure Review -  2016/2017
	Item 7 Complaints Monitoring 2016 and 2017 APPENDIX A
	Item 7 Complaints Monitoring 2016 and 2017 APPENDIX B

	8 Planned Audit Fee for 2017/18
	Item 8 Appendix A Dartford BC Fee Letter 2017-18 - Final

	9 Financial Regulations
	Item 9 App A Financial Regulations

	10 Counter Fraud & Compliance Team Annual Report 2016/17
	11 Annual Review of the Effectiveness of the Internal Audit Service 2016-17
	Item 11 Appendix A - FINAL- Effectivenmess of Internal Audit Self-assessment Check List

	12 Review of Internal Audit Recommendations - Progress Report
	Item 12 Appendix A - FINAL - Recommendations Progress - V1
	Item 12 - Appendix B - FINAL - Recommendations Progress App B - V1.3

	13 Audit Reports Issued Since Last Meeting of the Board
	Item 13 - App. A Reports Issued Since Last Meeting Appendix V2
	Item 13 App. B Reports Issued Since Last Meeting V4
	Item 13 Appendix C - Reports Issued Since Last Meeting V1

	14 Selective Invoice Checks
	15 Annual Governance Statement
	Item 15 App. A - Annual Governance Statement - 2017-18
	Item 15 Appe. B - Corp Gov review App B
	Item 15 Appx. C - Action Plan - 2016-17 - with updates
	Item 15 App. D - AGS  2017-18 PLAN

	16 Internal Audit Annual Report 2016-17
	Item 16 Appendix A - FINAL - Internal Audit Annual Report 2016-17 Appendix A V1.5


